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FOREWORD

Aad D. Bac

Government is continuously developing all over the world and over time. Especially in
the last decades the role of government has changed. In several countries the tasks
government has taken up grew out in number and size. The idea that nevertheless the
specific characteristics of government from an economic point of view as well as from
an organizational point of view, government activities should be able to be performed on
an efficient basis and managed in a more business-like way won adhesion. The
adherence to this way of looking at government proved even to be exaggerated insofar
that blind application of private sector management instruments was seen.

In the same period, which for the majority of countries was characterized by fiscal stress,
the interest in accrual accounting increased. The instrumental importance of confronting
real cost with fares or usefulness was increasingly recognized. Furthermore it was
assumed that control of government activities cost would improve by means of accrual
accounting. Nevertheless the consequences of an accounting reform should not be
underestimated. Logically a number of countries and especially those who had to cope
with important macro-economic challenges still saw advantages in cash-based
accounting or at least hesitated whether the advantages of accrual accounting would
exceed the disadvantages. ICT-developments increased the possibilities of offering more
than one type of accounting figures from the same accounting system. That is why we
still see a wide range of different accounting systems all over the world. The variety goes
from pure cash accounting to full accrual accounting, with a series of modified variances
inbetween, depending the dominant aspects either called modified cash or modified
accrual.

The demands on types of information differs when looking at either central government
or local and regional government. For instance macro-economic information needs are
less to be expected on another level than the central government level.

As far as a judgement on the adequacy of government accounting systems is concerned a
financial accounting as well as a management accounting point of view is possible.

Starting from a financial accounting point of view it should be recognized that the
financial accounts play a role in the political discharging process of the magerial
execution of by means of the budget assigned tasks to the Executive of a government
entity. On the other hand they play a role in the accountability of Parliament or Council
to the electorate. If regularity, efficiency and effectiveness are the key aspects of
accountability, in the first role regularity and efficiency are dominant and in the second
role regularity and effectiveness are. In the first role accountability concentrates on
budget-execution or policy-execution and in the second role especially policy-choice is.
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Of course in the second role the aspects of the first role play a secondary role and are not
completely irrelevant.

This being the case it can be stated that dependent on these circumstances the general

characteristics of financial reporting can be defined. This stipulates a number of

differences between private sector financial reports on the one hand and public sector
financial reports on the other hand. Taking the functions of a budget and a financial
report as a point of departure they are as follows:

- The allocative function brings about that budgets and financial reports are to be made
up on a functional basis and not like in the private sector on a categorical basis.
Because of the underlying societal goals of policy information is needed with respect
to the intended and realized outcome in order to be able to judge effectiveness.

- The authorization function implies that the budget amounts are esteemed to be
limiting and presenting fixed amounts to designated policy areas (functions) and has
for a consequence that financial reports have to render insight in the degree of
budgetcompliance realized.

- The macro-economic function implies for central government the importance of
(additional) cash-based figures irrespective of the current or the capital character of
income and expenditure. For local and regional governments this function implies the
need of the possibility of aggregation, which brings with it the importance of
uniformly defined policy-areas(functions).

- The management function implies the availability of performance indicators in order
to have an opportunity to judge efficiency. Especially at the local government level
but also for certain central government activities the awareness of the relevance of
more business-like management makes a plea for the application of accrual
accounting methods. This has also for an advantage the better matching possibilities
now matching in government is less matching cost with revenue and more matching
cost with usefulness created.

- The control function of the budget demands reference information with respect to
regularity, efficiency and effectiveness in order to be able to confront it with
realization figures in the financial report.

It is esteemed important, that financial reporting is as understandable as possible in order
to involve the electorate more intensively with the democratic process. Who would not
agree with such an aim. In that case as less as possible differences between private sector
financial reporting and public sector financial reporting is favorable.

From a management-accounting point of view it is obvious that a lot can be learned from
the business sector. This implies an increased relevance of the accrual accounting basis.
Looking at these circumstances and developments it is logical that a development has
come visible to harmonize private sector financial reporting and public sector financial
reporting.

But it should not be forgotten that undeniable differences between the private sector and
the public sector remain to be of importance. Therefore the motto should be: Harmonize
where it could but differentiate where it should.

It could be concluded that the recent initiative of the IFAC Public Sector Committee to
produce a set of International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS) with the
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International Accounting Standards (IAS) as a point of departure is completely in line
with this view.

This background was the reason to choose the theme for the 7" CIGAR-conference,
which in June 1999 was organized by Tilburg University, as:

The similarities and differences between central government accounting and local
government accounting within or between countries.

The proceedings of this conference are brought together in this book. The different
contributions have been brought in order by creating 4 parts.

The first part contains contributions from plenary speakers dealing with the state of the
art with regard to Dutch Government Accounting.

In his opening address Ad J.E. Havermans, member of the Dutch Court of Audit, the
supreme auditing institution of the Netherlands has set out the view of the Court of Audit
on the Dutch government accounting system and the way in which they contribute to
accountability and discharging.

In the next contribution Harman W.O.L.M. Korte, Director Budget Affairs at the
Ministry of Finance, responsible for accounting and financial reporting at the central
government-level sketches the developments within the central government accounting
system in the Netherlands.

In the third chapter Cees Schouten, Deputy Director-General Public Administration
of the Ministry of the Interior and Kingdom Relations, responsible standardsetter for
accounting and financial reporting of provinces and municipalities, elaborates the
government accounting systems in use at the provincial and municipal government level
and the evolution they are undergoing.

The last contribution of this part is from Pieter G. van der Poel, controller of the City
of Tilburg. The city of Tilburg has gained worldwide recognition for its Financial
Management System. This chapter contains information on this system and about the
continuous developments thereof.

In part II, papers are combined which could be categorized as International Comparative
Research.

The paper from Mark Christensen and Hiroshi Yoshimi concludes, from a
comparison between developments in Australia’s New South Wales and Japan’s
Hokkaido that New Public Management cannot fully explain why differences in
development originated. They mention some additional possible explanations, which
need further research before they have proven to be relevant. Attention is given to the
differences between government in a western type culture and a specific Asian type of
culture.

Hassan A.G. Ouda compares in his paper the central government accounting systems
of Egypt and the Netherlands. He concludes to a number of influences, which are likely
to have been reasons for differences in the existing accounting systems of countries and
gives attention to differences between developed countries at one hand and developing
countries at the other hand.

Anatoli Bourmistrov and Frode Mellemvik present in their paper an interesting
comparison between democratic governance and accounting in Leningrad county
(Russia) and Nordland county (Norway) and they interrelate these aspects as explaining
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factors. Special attention is given to differences between a country with a stable old
democracy at one hand (Norway) and a young democracy in evolution at the other hand
(Russia)

In part III, papers belonging to the category National Comparative Research have been
brought together.

Johan Christiaens’ paper enters into the comparison of a number of different
government levels in Belgium where accounting system changes have been implemented
or are in the process of change-preparation. He concludes that the lack of a conceptual
framework leads to unexplained and not explicitly considered differences. He predicts a
number of conflicts in accounting, because of the use of characteristics of different
accounting systems in the new accounting regulations.

The paper of Norvald Monsen and Salme Nisi enters into the question whether
departing from a case in a Finnish municipality can be concluded to favorable effects
from the accounting reform from cash-based accounting and accrual accounting. In their
opinion the favorability of these effects is at least questionable.

Jan van Helden and Nico P. Mol compare the inherent and evolutional aspects of two
initiatives in the Netherlands aiming at improvements of management in government. At
the lower government level they analyze the so-called Policy and Management
Instruments project and at the central government level they analyze the Result Oriented
Management Control. They conclude that a number of differences exist and that
numbers of practical problems still have to be solved.

June Pallot takes as a point of departure for her study the two ways of viewing at the
role of local authorities, either functionalistic or autonomistic, being the international
development into the direction of the autonomistic view. She concludes that New
Zealand is at a crossroads where both views are recognizable in nowadays local-
authorities position. She poses the question whether recent reforms in the local
authorities area and with respect to accounting direct into the opposite direction. So the
question remains whether these reforms serve central government or local government
aims.

Vicente Montesinos, José Manuel Vela and Bernardino Benito present a view on the
differences between regional government accounting at one hand and central
government and local government accounting on the other hand. The latter being
traditionally consistent with each other. The paper enters into this remarkable difference,
because of existing autonomy at the regional level as well as into the mutual differences
between the several regions.

Sheila Ellwood researched the development of three different parts of the UK public
sector during the last two decades and especially focuses on the diversity which
nevertheless a lot of convergence remained to exist. She also draws a comparison with
the contemporary developments in the private sector.

A similar point of departure, has been chosen by Josep L. Cortes, in his paper on
different approaches chosen by different standardsetters in the USA. He enters into the
different ways of accounting for capital assets this implies.

Kiyoshi Yamamoto, whilst paying attention to some special aspects of the Japanese legal
structure of government, describes and explains the background of similarities and
dissimilarities between central and local government accounting systems.
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Part 4 contains a number of contributions which are related to the motto of the
conference but not comparative and is called Non-Comparative Research.

Wojciech A. Nowak and Barbara Bakalarska have presented a country study on the
structure of the Polish public sector after very recent State reforms and give a clear
insight of the specific solutions, which a country in transition has to choose.

Alan D. Godfrey, Patrick J. Devlin and M. Cherif Merrouche have tried to integrate
Liider’s contingency model with theories of diffusion of innovations in an as they call it
“new hybrid diffusion-contingency model and tested it through analyzing its application
to government accounting innovations in Albania.

James L. Chan, Cong Shuhai and Zhao Jianyong present a study in which the way of
economic and social reform from an orthodox socialist economy to a socialist market
economy is compared to the way of accounting reform. The unique way of an economy
in transition, which can be seen in the People’s Republic of China is the object of their
research and delivers an interesting view on reform in the largest country of the world.
They conclude to some suggestions for further reform.

Jean-Baptiste Gillet and Claude Heiles describe the transitional phase in which the
French municipal accounting system has to grow from several different (types) of
accounting systems to a more accrual accounting system. They enter into the legal- and
public finance constraints which are encountered and have to be solved.

Helge Mauland and Frode Mellemvik deliver a critical analysis of the rather peculiar
Norwegian local government accounting system. They doubt the value of information
rendered by the system. They confront figures coming from local government financial
reports with reports according to private sector accounting regulation and comment
them.

The last contribution to this book comes from K. Cichocki, J. Kleimo and J. Ley.
They comment on the consequences of the lack of segregation between capital and
operating budgets as to the controllability of issuing debts by local governments in
Poland. They also make recommendations for adaptations of the accounting system for
local governments in Poland.
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CHAPTER 1

DUTCH GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTING FROM THE PERSPECTIVE OF THE
SUPREME AUDITING INSTITUTION

Ad J E. Havermans

1.1. Introduction

It was with great pleasure that I accepted the invitation to present the opening address at
this conference. My credentials as a mayor of various municipalities between 1963 and
1996 - the last being The Hague, our seat of government - and my membership of the
Netherlands Court of Audit since 1996 have placed me in a position which allows me to
offer a few introductory observations from the Dutch perspective on the theme of this
conference: ‘The similarities and differences between central government accounting and
local government accounting within or between countries’. My change of appointment also
brought about a change in my position with regard to reporting: as a mayor I was
responsible every year for drawing up and presenting the municipal accounts on time to the
municipal council. My role as a member of the Board of the Netherlands Court of Audit is
to independently audit the accounts of central government ministries.

My address will follow a course which reverses the order of my official appointments: first
I shall discuss the remit and methods of the institution to which I am currently attached, the
Netherlands Court of Audit (to be referred to as “The Court’ in the rest of my address). I
shall trace the developments in the reporting practices of central government and then
explain how the Court is involved in this. I then intend to briefly explore the potential
implications of these developments for local and regional governments.

1.2. The Position and the Role of the Court of Audit

First, the remit and methods of the Court within the body politic. The Netherlands is a
constitutional monarchy. The Constitution allows for a clear separation of powers. Central
government comprises the monarch and ministers, but the Constitution specifies that it is
the ministers who are accountable to the States General for all the actions of central
government. There are 13 ministries. Some of these have central responsibilities, for
example, the Ministry of Finance coordinates and supervises the financial management of
all ministries. At lower levels of government, both the provinces and the municipalities in
the Netherlands are responsible for different aspects of administering and managing local
and regional services and programs.

Before 1848 the Court served the King by keeping a check on the ministers. In this year a
radical change to the Constitution transferred the power of the monarch to parliament. The
Court performed the same function but, this time, in the service of the Lower House.

1

A. Bac (ed.), International Comparative Issues in Government Accounting, 1-7.
© 2001 Kluwer Academic Publishers.



2 Ad Havermans

Ministers are responsible for the proper and effective use of the public money that they
administer. This responsibility stretches beyond the walls of their ministries; for it also
involves certain important supervisory obligations. First, there is the responsibility that they
bear towards local and regional governments. The Netherlands has a highly centralized tax
collection system. Local and regional governments may levy taxes only within certain
limits. There is no local or regional income tax. Hence, the funding of local projects
involves a substantial flow of cash between central and local government. Part of this cash
flow takes the form of a general grant and part of it takes the form of specific payments
which may be spent by the municipalities only under certain conditions. The ministers must
supervise that these specific payments are spent well.

The ministers are also required to monitor the disbursement of public funds that are
distributed to organizations in the form of subsidies, loans or guarantees, and the collection
and expenditure of public resources by legal entities engaged in carrying out a statutory
duty. In recent years, as more and more public sector duties have been hived off, many
such legal entities have appeared on the fringes of the ministries. Finally, ministers are also
expected to supervise the way local and regional governments and other organizations
spend European money.

The Constitution provides for a series of High Councils of State, including the Court. The
Court is independent of both the ministers and the States General, and has a high degree of
freedom in determining the audit program. The Constitution specifies that the Court is
responsible for auditing state revenue and expenditure. The work of the Court is governed
by the Government Accounts Act, which provides for the following types of audit to be
performed by the Court:
regularity audits (financial audits) at the ministries: audits of the regularity, orderliness
and auditability of departmental financial management and of the reliability of depart-
mental and central government financial statements;
- performance audits at the ministries: audits of the effectiveness and efficiency of
departmental policy, management and organization;
- regularity and performance audits at organizations that are financially linked to central
government or that perform a statutory duty.

The Court is statutorily authorized to audit these organizations and is hence in a position to
monitor the way they use the money. The Court has no authority at the level of local and
regional government. Given the ministerial accountability for the expenditure of certain
public resources by local and regional authorities, the Court believes that it should be
officially empowered to directly demand information on this expenditure. Accordingly, the
Court has submitted a request to the central government and the States General that its
powers be widened. The Court does not want its authority to extend to local and regional
government. It wants additional authorization for the sole purpose of keeping abreast of
ministerial accountability. The auditing of local and regional accounts can easily take place
on the spot, whenever possible through independent audit offices. The example of the
Rotterdam Audit Office is well worth following! The Court has offered to advise local and
regional authorities on setting up similar audit offices.
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The reports of the Court are submitted to the States General and, being official
parliamentary documents, are in the public domain. They are usually considered by the
parliamentary State Expenditure Committee, which has the authority to call ministers to
account and to seek further evidence from the Court. The Lower House frequently uses the
reports of the Court to question ministers. The Court recognizes that it needs parliamentary
support if its work is to be successful.

The mission statement of the Court is: ‘to audit and improve the operation of central
government and the connected bodies’. To achieve this, the Court provides the
government, the States General and those who are responsible for the management of the
audited bodies with audit-based information, which consists of audit findings and
judgements as well as recommendations on organization, management and policy. The
Court considers the distinguishing features of its products to be objectivity, reliability and
usefulness and believes that independence and efficiency should be reflected in its
production process.

In the next few years the Court plans to intensify its performance audits; primarily through
assessing the policy information that is obtainable from the ministries. The Court aim in the
case of legal entities with statutory duties is to ensure that ministers can be reasonably
certain by 2005 that everything is proceeding lawfully in the sectors for which they are
accountable, and that regularity and financial management will mirror the situation within
central government. I shall return to this presently.

The Court has played a role in two large-scale operations which were of great importance
to financial reporting and the underlying financial management at central government.
These were the Government Accounting Reform Operation and a recent project on
financial reporting quality improvement. I shall now explain these two operations briefly.
Mr. Korte of our Ministry of Finance will address the latter of the projects into more detail
later on in the program.

1.3. The Government Accounting Reform Operation

In the late 1980s the Dutch government carried out a large-scale operation to improve
financial management at the ministries: the Government Accounting Reform Operation.
The primary objective was to improve financial information (budget information and
accounting information) and financial management. This operation was given the go-ahead
by a motion passed by the Lower House in 1985 and stemming from a report by the Court
which indicated that there was an unacceptable delay in the delivery of financial statements
from the central government. In those days it was not uncommon for financial statements
to be submitted to the States General many years after the budget year. In response to the
motion the Minister of Finance announced a plan of action to improve the situation. In the
years that followed the Court closely monitored the realization of this long-term plan of
action through its reports to the States General. In broad terms, a reasonable degree of order
was introduced into the financial management of the ministries, regularity of public
expenditure and income was to a large extent assured and, last but not least, financial
information became available in an acceptable form at an acceptable moment. Let me give
you an illustration: in the initial phase of the Government Accounting Reform Operation
the percentage of expenditure over which there was no assurance on regularity stood at
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around 25% and the percentage of receipts at around 60%. These percentages now stand at
over 99% in both cases. The success of the operation was dependent on an interaction of
players each of whom accepted that he/she was accountable: the critical audit report by the
Court, the parliamentary motion, the plan of the Minister of Finance, actual implementation
at the departments and the progress report by the Court were all indispensable factors in the
success of the operation.

14. The Follow-up of the Reform

Despite the progress, there was still some dissatisfaction with the budgeting and accounting
process. This dissatisfaction was expressed mainly by the Lower House of the States
General. In the first instance, it found that accounts were often published too late in the
year. Moreover, it was of the opinion that the accounts were not accessible enough, too
large, too technical and too narrow in their scope. Although the Government Accounts Act
has stated since 1995 that annual ministerial accounts must include information on the
realized policy and activities, and on the performance and effects, they were still primarily
financial documents. It is partly for this reason, that the parliamentary control function was
inadequately exercised.

To enhance its control function, the Lower House itself (in the form of the Public
Expenditure Committee) took the initiative to bring forward the publication of the accounts
of the previous year from September 1 to May 15 as well as to improve the quality of the
financial statements. In consultation with representatives of the Ministry of Finance, the
other ministries and the Court, proposals were put forward to achieve these goals.

To bring about the desired qualitative improvement, the departmental financial statements
had to provide more insight into the realization of policy objectives and the performance
delivered by means of the available budget. Such policy-oriented statements do not come
about of their own accord. Policy objectives need to be specified in the budgets in more
concrete and quantifiable terms. To this end, indicators must be used more explicitly in the
budgets and the statements, particularly with regard to efficiency (cost-related information
linked to products and/or performance) and policy effectiveness. The financial statements
relating to longer-term policies should provide insight into the progress made towards the
policy objectives by means of annual expenditure targets. This must be further refined by
the appointment of ‘policy priorities’ in the budget. The Lower House has already selected
the priorities to be addressed in the departmental reports for this year. A working party led
by Lower-House member Van Zijl has formulated proposals for this purpose. At its
request, the Court recently issued recommendations on the feasibility of justifying policy
priorities on the basis of performance data suggested by the working party. Other starting
points for qualitative improvements are to organize the financial statements into more
general sections and to disclose the relationship between policy, operations and financial
resources. The statements will be organized into more general sections by reducing the
current number of budget items. Increasingly, each item should represent a distinct and
recognizable area of policy. The section on ‘operations’ should also be organized along
general lines. An important aspect of this is a management statement issued by the minister
in which the operations are reviewed against certain fixed benchmarks. The initiative to
report special events and variances will then rest with the minister. To reflect the increase
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in the scope of accountability, the term ‘annual report’ will be used rather than ‘financial
statements’.

Government-wide accounts, known as the State Annual Report, will be prepared, enabling
the government as a whole to report at national level on policy, operations and financial
resources. This report will form the basis for an annual plenary debate in the Lower House
on or immediately after the third Wednesday in May.

The new version of the annual report will be presented to the States General by 2003 and
will serve, together with the relevant audit report by the Court, as a basis for endorsing the
ministers’ conduct.

The new style annual report of every ministry will have to be audited internally by the
ministerial auditing department. The current, mainly financially-oriented audit measures
will have to be supplemented with performance-oriented procedures. The focus of the audit
will therefore shift. Once all of this has been realized the Court, as external auditor, can
base its examination of the annual statements largely upon a review of the departmental
audit.

All of this indicates that, in the coming years, the annual statement will gradually cease to
be a document in which financial data takes central place and will become an annual report
which provides coherent information on policy (activities, performance and effects),
business management and finance. The Court has actively helped to pave the way for this
key change by participating in the working parties that developed the proposals and by
issuing the recommendations on responsibility for policy priorities. Yet again interaction
between the parties responsible, initiated by the supervisory body - the Lower House - has
lain at the heart of a major change of course.

1.5. The Central Government Accounting Basis

Another relevant theme in relation to central government reporting is the accounting basis.
Mr. Korte will also address this issue into more detail, I will draw some headlines. The
central government has traditionally used a cash basis. Many people have argued in the
past for a switch to an accruals system - the first time as long ago as 1916! However, up to
1995, accruals accounting was used only in state-owned enterprises.

The accruals system became obligatory for agencies (independent ministerial service units)
on January 1, 1995. The arguments in favor of this system are presented from the
perspective of internal management: a service can be made more effective by introducing
transparency into the expenditure (result-oriented management). Meanwhile, the Minister
of Finance, approaching the matter from the same perspective, has suggested that other
services be allowed to use an accruals system under certain conditions. The rise in the
number of agencies and the prospect of other services using the system have created a
situation in which accrual-based accounting is steadily gaining credibility and will soon be
applied by many government bodies. Inevitably, this means the parallel existence of two
systems for budgeting, administration and accountability in the coming years: an obligatory
or optional accruals system for some services and a cash system for the parent departments
and the remaining services. Hence, information on cash and commitments in the budgetary
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and financial documents presented to the States General will have to be accompanied by
ever-increasing information on accruals. I fail to see how this can contribute to greater
transparency in the information submitted to the States General. Moreover the co-existence
of two systems will not make the business operations or the auditing more effective. If this
situation continues two types of administrative systems will have to be regulated and
maintained; staff will have to be trained to understand both systems and audits will have to
be performed from two perspectives.

Accordingly, I believe that it would be legitimate to ask what the ultimate aim of this
exercise is. Is accrual-based accounting eventually to be accepted as the main system
(supplemented by cash information) or is cash-based accounting to be retained as the main
system (supplemented by accruals information from certain departments)?

Over the years discussions have revealed that it is impossible to give an objective answer to
this question. What really matters is the importance that is attached to the strengths and
weaknesses of each system. It is however clear that the benefits and drawbacks should be
weighed up from other relevant perspectives in addition to internal management.
Perspectives which are especially important if the States General is to properly fulfill its
authorizing and supervisory role. Allow me to mention a few.
* What are the pros and cons of each system regarding:
- better allocation of financial resources over investment expenditure and consump-
tion expenditure?
- monitoring and reporting on the size and composition of the public capital?
- monitoring and reporting on the fulfillment of EMU norms?
= How far are the basic principles of ‘result-oriented management’ applicable to the
relationship between the States General and the ministries as a whole? Which system is
better equipped in this context to express the financial resources needed by the
ministries for their activities, performance and effects?
= Is it logical or desirable that principles inherent in the accruals system (such as the
recognition of provisions) are used only for executive services?
* How do the two systems compare in relation to the complexity and objectivity of
information?
=  What are the extra costs of introducing and applying the accruals system across the
board?

It is important to develop a well-founded vision on the budget system we eventually want
to see; a vision which integrates all of these perspectives.

1.6. Lower Government Accounting Aspects

I shall now concentrate briefly on the local and regional governments. In the last ten years
many municipalities and provinces have been strengthening their planning and control
instruments. It is for this purpose that the Ministry of Internal Affairs initiated the ‘Policy
and Policy Instrument’ project in the 1980s. Major themes of this project were multi-year
planning, product budgeting and interim progress reports. Many local and regional
governments have partly or fully adopted the instruments developed by this project. But
what about the ‘finishing touch’: the official annual statement submitted by the executive
board to the democratic control body (namely the municipal council and the provincial
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council)? The legislation states that the annual report of the executive board to the control
body consists of an annual statement and a report. The annual statement is purely a
financial document drawn up according to an accruals system. There are no general
regulations governing the content of the report in relation to the accountability on financial
management. How much scope is there for improvement here?

The central government has recently made considerable progress in defining general
principles for more policy-related accountability. Particular attention was paid to the
primacy of policy: having taken the initiative to improve quality and set policy priorities
the Second Chamber will have to accept the proposals that are formulated. One could
conceivably ask how these developments will reverberate upon the reporting practices of
local and regional governments, where business management has had a powerful boost in
the past decade and budgeting and accountability has evolved along modern financial lines.
But how far have the local and regional governments progressed in establishing a
relationship between accountability for financial data on the one hand and performance on
the other? And how far does the democratic control body set requirements for the content
of the statements which form the basis for discharging the executive board? These
questions are bound to arise later in the program. As has already been mentioned, the Court
has declared itself willing to advise the municipalities and provinces on setting up an audit
office. This service could also provide useful impulses to enrich accountability.

1.7. Conclusion

In conclusion: the Court is in a changing political context. The role of government is
changing at central, local and regional level. Major trends such as the separation of policy
from implementation and the internationalization of policy framing in, among others, a
European context are creating complex administrative relationships. Within the complex
framework of ‘good governance’ it is crucial to guarantee transparency of government
dealings and electoral accountability. The Court is endeavouring from its specific position
to promote these fundamental values at national level and by participating in international
alliances such as INTOSAI, EUROSAL Initiatives are also being developed within these
contexts to advise and assist developing nations in setting up their own auditing facilities.
Hence, the Court is directing his efforts at English speaking countries in southern Africa.
Independent, expert and authoritative audit offices are essential if the government is to
enjoy the trust of the people. I sincerely hope that your conference will produce inspiring
visions which will help to consolidate this trust.



CHAPTER 2

DUTCH CENTRAL GOVERNMENT BUDGETING AND
ACCOUNTING SYSTEM

Harman W.O.L.M. Korte

2.1. Introduction

The subject of this contribution will be approached by means of answering two major
questions. These are the following: what is the role for accrual accounting and budgeting
in the Dutch central government system and what is the content of recent government
proposals to renew the budget and report structure? The answering will be done by
means of entering into a number of sub-questions.

As ‘the Dutch central government budgeting and accounting system is a rather long and
tiresome expression’, it will simply be mention ‘the Dutch system’. One should keep in
mind two things when using that abbreviation. Firstly it is concentrated on central
government and secondly it deals with both budgeting and accounting. In the ministry of
Finance we are convinced that it is necessary to use the same system for both.

Let us firstly describe the general characteristics of the present system. As holds for
most other central governments, the Dutch system is cash based. But in the mid-eighties
it was concluded that for better control of public spending, a complete system for control
of commitments was needed. The then existing system was not able to produce clear
insight into the payments that would result from commitments already entered into in
previous years. In the early eighties this shortcoming had resulted in unexpected
payments in years that were already characterized by serious fiscal stress due to the
almost absence of economic growth. In 1992 the so-called integrated cash/commitments
system was implemented. This means that at present all new commitments have to be
presented in the budget and have to be authorized by Parliament. Moreover the
budgetary information systems must be able to produce the information in which year,
what part of a commitment will result in actual payments. To keep such an information
system up to date, it is necessary to relate each payment to the commitment it stems
from, and to adjust the estimates of future payments resulting from a commitment, as
soon as new information on the cash pattern comes available. This system works
relatively satisfactorily.

Traditionally the finances of the so-called state enterprises where incorporated in the
budget system. These enterprises, like the State Mines, the State Mint and the State Post
and Telecom enterprise, used the accrual system. Their budget and report figures were
translated into cash terms to consolidate them in the overall totals for the central
government budgets and accounts. In the wave of privatization of the nineteen eighties
all state enterprises were transformed into private enterprises, so accrual accounting and
budgeting was on the verge of disappearance from the Dutch system.
9
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2.2. The Reintroduction of Accrual Accounting and Budgeting in at least Part of
the Dutch System

By the time the state enterprises were almost extinct, the Dutch government, influenced
by the example set by the United Kingdom, decided to introduce agencies. The status of
an agency is assigned to government bodies, which need accrual accounting and
budgeting, and some other specific rules, to accomplish greater efficiency than otherwise
possible. Another driving force to introduce agencies was that in the late eighties a
tendency was discovered to transform government bodies into what in the UK are called
quango’s, quasi autonomous government organizations, for what were felt as the wrong
arguments. The first wrong argument was that it would not be possible to work in a
result-oriented way under the hierarchy of a minister.

The other wrong argument - never expressed openly - was that as a quango it would be
possible to evade budget and staff cuts. Government decided that the only valid
argument to transform a government body into a quango should be that there are specific
reasons to reduce the ministerial responsibility for its operations. If no reasons for a
reduction of ministerial responsibility exist, the government body should remain part of
a ministry and could - if necessary to work more result-oriented - become an agency.
The first agencies started in 1994. By now there are 21 of them and their number will
gradually grow in the next years. Examples are the Government Housing Agency, the
Custodial Institutions Service (the jails) and the Plant Protection Service. All agencies
have to use the accrual system. So at present the overall system is an integrated
cash/commitments system while 21 agencies use the accrual system.

A next question could be how this dual system can work in practice. An important clue
to the answer is that each agency has a budget of its own and that money transfers from
ministries to agencies are recorded as cash payments in the budgets of the ministries, and
as income in the budgets of the agencies, and vice versa. The accrual-based budgets of
the agencies have to balance over time. A negative operating-result in any year has to be
offset by a positive one later on. Furthermore agencies may use a deposit and loan
facility that is provided by the ministry of Finance on quasi-commercial conditions. So
the ministry of Finance operates more or less as a commercial bank for the agencies. To
prevent unpleasant surprises for the total of the budget outcome in cash terms, agencies
have to bid for a maximum use of the loan facility in the process of budget preparation.
These provisions ensure that agencies can focus on cost per output, while on the
aggregate level, cash totals are kept within limits.

Indeed, the Netherlands has a long tradition of discussing whether some sort of accrual
system should be applied by central government as a whole. Between 1927 and 1958 the
state budget knew a formal distinction between a current account and a capital account,
and was subjected to the golden rule of finance. This implied that in principle current
expenditure and the depreciation on capital expenditure should be equal to current
income (a balanced current account). It also implied that net borrowing was allowed
only for the financing of net capital expenditure.
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In 1958 the golden rule of finance was abandoned. Gradually the Keynesian thinking on
the macro economic function of the budget led to a total norm for the budget deficit
without a role for the difference between current and capital expenditure.

In 1976 the formal distinction between current and capital account was abolished. In the
late eighties interest in the issue reappeared. It was argued that the absence of a
distinction between treatment of current and capital expenditure had made capital
expenditure relatively vulnerable to cuts in periods of fiscal stress. Investment
expenditure would be crowded out of the budget by non-investment expenditure. This
crowding-out would be caused by the fact that while the investment expenditure has to
compete for the full amount with other types of expenditure in any year, the benefits of
the investment expenditure are spread over many years ahead.

In 1991 mister Kok, presently Prime-Minister and then Minister of Finance sent a policy
document on the capital account to Parliament. It treated both the issues of full accrual
accounting and budgeting, and of replacing the norm of the total budget deficit by the
golden rule of finance.

On the issue of the accrual system the conclusion was as follows. There are two
principal arguments in favour of introducing the accrual accounting system - firstly, that
it would enable the cost and utility of government action to be compared and secondly,
that it would provide the clearest possible picture of changes in the net asset position of
central government. However, these two arguments would not hold for central
government, or at least not entirely. On the other hand it was argued that the
introduction of the accrual system could be worthwhile for parts of the budget, and that
this need not damage the unity of the budget.

On the issue of the golden rule of finance the conclusion was that it was not to be
recommended that the golden rule of finance be adopted as one or the main guiding
principle for all, or part of the central government budget. Three reasons against were
given. Firstly, it was argued that there would be a very real danger that one aspect of the
golden rule - financing capital expenditure by means of borrowing - might be embraced,
while the other - balancing the current account - was insufficiently respected. This
would cause erosion of control of expenditure and would endanger efforts to curb the
growth of national debt. Secondly, it would be difficult to arrive at a worthwhile and
practical definition of capital expenditure and to tackle the problem of accounting for
depreciation. Thirdly, it would lead to ‘a new administrative imbalance in connection
with budgetary decisions’ because when major investment project are carried out, the
political/psychological and macro-economic benefits are reaped in the short term, but
the full impact of the burden on the budget is not immediately felt.

On the basis of the 1991 policy document Parliament accepted that: firstly, the capital
account would not be re-introduced in central government; secondly, full accrual
accounting and budgeting would be limited to government agencies; thirdly, the golden
rule of finance should serve as an additional point of reference in the budgetary process,
but not as the sole, overriding norm.
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2.3. Continuing Discussions

These conclusions have not made an end to discussions in the Netherlands. Already in
1994 circumstances had changed in such a way that a new discussion took place. Let me
mention the most important changes. Firstly, the 1994 coalition agreement on which the
first cabinet Kok was based, mentioned a perspective of the introduction in time of a
capital account. Secondly a trend-based fiscal policy was introduced. Real expenditure
ceilings were defined in such a way that under cautious economic assumptions specific
ceilings for the budget deficit would be respected automatically. More importantly it was
agreed that fluctuations in tax revenues would not automatically affect the expenditure
ceilings as long as the budget deficit would remain below its ceiling. This implied that
the direct role of the budget deficit as the sole compass for fiscal policy ended. Thirdly,
the conviction grew that government should apply a result-oriented management system
wherever feasible. This implies working with agreements on output and associated cost.
It was recognized that the accrual system is more suited to this model than the
commitment/cash system. Fourthly, developments in other countries like New Zealand
and the United Kingdom fuelled a renewed discussion. Fifthly, a new Economic System
of Accounts was established. Thus came available an international standard for the
demarcation between current expenditure and capital expenditure.

Analysis of the ministry of Finance led to the conclusion that given the new cir-
cumstances and under certain conditions a total conversion from the commitment/cash
system to the accrual system for central government as a whole would be possible
without endangering the control of expenditure.

A number of implications of this conclusion are the following: Firstly, indeed central
government would make a complete transition to accrual accounting and budgeting.
Secondly, the already existing expenditure ceilings would be converted into net cost
ceilings. Thirdly, the costs of capital expenditure would comprise depreciation and a
capital charge. Fourthly, the demarcation between current expenditure and capital
expenditure would be based on the new Economic System of Accounts without
exception. Fifthly, the existing rules of budgetary discipline would apply to net costs in
the same way as they did to net expenditure.

This would not be enough to avoid dangers to the control of expenditure. The additional
conditions to be met to avoid dangers to the control of expenditure were described as
follows. ‘The budgets should be integrated in a cost framework based on cautious
assumptions; the budget deficit should continue to be allowed to vary as a result of
fluctuations in tax revenue, provided the budget deficit ceiling has not been reached. The
switch to cost ceilings would mean that more fluctuations than at present would occur in
the cash-based budget deficit. Fluctuations would also occur if shifts took place under
the cost ceilings from current expenditure to capital expenditure and vice versa. A
precondition for a smooth changeover would therefore be that there is a large enough
difference between the budget deficit provided for in the coalition agreement and the
ceiling to be agreed under the coalition agreement to absorb these fluctuations.
Moreover, that value will have to be sufficiently below the EMU ceiling of 3% of GDP
to restrict the risk of censure in connection with the excessive deficit procedure.” So far
for the rather technical analysis of the ministry of Finance.
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2.4. Parliamentary Opinions on the Subject

In 1997 this analysis with the possible solution just described, was sent to Parliament.
Remarks against and in favour of the solution were given. And a new conclusion was
drawn.

Let us start with the assumed advantages. The cost system could contribute to a ‘neutral’
decision between current expenditure and capital expenditure. Budgetary integration of
an extra capital expenditure would be simpler than it is at present, because the full
amount would not immediately have to be made available in the cost budget, but rather a
multi-annual series of smaller amounts for depreciation and interest. The cost system
could at the same time encourage sound management decisions on the existing capital
goods stock of central government, because the associated costs would be visible in the
budget. And finally, a link between the state balance sheet, and budget and accounts
would lead to a consistent overall approach and a clear demarcation. Just as in the
private sector there is a connection between balance sheet and profit-and-loss account.

On the other hand the following arguments against the solution were given. An
important argument against was that the concept of capital expenditure is not equivalent
to expenditure conducive to sustainable economic growth. For instance, expenditure on
education and research cannot be classified as capital expenditure except for buildings
and equipment owned by central government. On the other hand, some capital
expenditure, such as government offices, does not have a particularly positive effect on
growth. Expenditure on the physical infrastructure, too, is capital expenditure only if it
results in infrastructure that is owned by central government. Investment contributions to
other government authorities and to companies not owned by the state fall outside the
concept of capital expenditure as a result of the ownership criterion, which is implied in
the adoption of the Economic System of Accounts demarcation. This consequence was
described as a specific disadvantage in the decision-making framework of the Economic
Structure Enhancing Fund (FES).

The second argument against the solution was that the cost system would create two
different steering systems for budgetary policy. The Maastricht Treaty and the Pact for
Stability and Growth require separate objectives and conditions for the cash-based and
transaction-based budget balance. In addition, the general introduction of the cost
system would assign central importance to costs rather than to cash expenditure.
Although this could be taken into account by means of an extra safety margin in the
budget balance target and/or a separate assessment of the cash required by capital
expenditure, it would not make budgetary policy simpler or more transparent.

The third argument against was of a very practical nature. A smooth, general switch to
the cost system would require a major modification of the budget classification system
and the budget records. The government said it had rejected temporary, less radical
solutions on account of the risks they entail for financial management. In view of the
fairly limited benefits to be obtained from a general switch, major changes are seen as
manifestly disadvantageous. This was seen as especially true when one would consider
that the modification costs are not purely incidental: the cost system is undeniably more
complex than the current system. In addition it was mentioned that in the next years,
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priority would have to be given to preparing accounting systems for the introduction of
the euro and the computerization problems concerning the year 2000.

2.5. Recent Considerations about the Subject

On the basis of the given arguments in 1997 government proposed to Parliament that on
the aggregate level of central government the present cash based system of budgeting
and reporting be maintained. So, no ‘Big Bang’ transition to the accrual system was
considered. On the other hand in the same policy document government announced
measures to propagate the use of the more result-oriented management model supported
by full accrual accounting and budgeting for individual government bodies wherever
possible.

The thinking behind this approach as described in the policy document is that efficiency
and effectiveness can be improved by making visible the products (output) delivered by
a government service and the related costs. Determining the costs of government
activities and attributing them to products or services is expected to facilitate decisions
on resource deployment. For instance, it allows the cost of providing public services to
be charted. By monitoring movements in the cost per product, or by comparing them
with costs in comparable organizations, management is rendered more transparent and
an insight can be gained into efficiency and effectiveness. As a result, steering can be
modified too. Agreements can be made between different tiers of management on
product costs. Certain forms of market forces can be introduced by creating relationships
between suppliers and customers, and costs can be passed on to buyers. This requires a
transfer from the budget of the supplier to that of the customer. This promotes cost
awareness on the part of both the supplier and the customer.

A more result-oriented management model means that the organizations themselves can
determine the combination of input factors (personnel and equipment) used to produce
their products. Steering on the input side must therefore change: the organization must
be able to make transfers between the individual cost types within the total agreed output
budget. This will make integrated management possible. The government expressed as
its view that working with the accrual system instead of expenditure makes the use of
this management model even more beneficial.

Firstly, a full accrual system allows better cost-price calculation. If expenditure is
attributed to products without further adjustment, capital expenditures cause fluctuations
from one year to the next that are of no relevance to the assessment of efficiency, and
this impedes comparisons with other organizations. It would also mean the use of
annually fluctuating prices if ‘costs’ are passed on. Secondly, with integrated
management, the organization itself determines the optimum mix of input factors, and
shifts can take place between current expenditure and capital expenditure. Steering
should therefore focus on the cost level rather than cash effects. Thirdly, the full accrual
system has the advantage that the cost level is partly determined by capital expenditure
costs from the past. These depreciation costs are derived from the balance sheet, and
interest attribution occurs too. This means that the organization is constantly forced to
consider whether a capital good should be retained or sold, leading to efficient capital
goods stock management. This incentive does not exist in general in the current
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commitments/cash system. It also means that the sale revenue from a capital good is
credited to the organization concerned.

A cost-oriented system means that the budget, too, can be drawn up in cost terms and
this naturally means that the financial statements are also drawn up on a cost basis. As a
result, cost-based steering (assessment and authorization) will be able to take place up to
the level of Parliament. Agencies already use this more result-oriented management
model, linked to the income/expenditure system. In the government's view, it is worth
examining whether this model can be used more widely. So government announced it
intended as part of the procedure for inter-ministerial policy studies, to carry out an
overall management study in various major executive services which are not agencies.
The aim should be to ascertain whether the introduction of a more result-oriented
management model, linked to the full accrual system, would benefit the management of
these services. In addition to these intentions government announced the already
mentioned loan facility for the smooth operation of part of government working in the
accrual system and said it would consider the possibility for government services to
adopt the accrual system without naming themselves agencies.

Parliament decided to postpone the debate on the document until the results of the
announced inter-ministerial studies would be available. The studies themselves led
mostly to the conclusion that a system of result-oriented management with the accrual
system would be the optimal solution for the respective services. This means that in the
next few years the count of services with this system will rise.

It is not certain what the future will bring on this topic. Clearly one of the arguments
against the total transition to the accrual system as described in 1997 will not hold for
long. By 2002 we will have overcome the year 2000 troubles and we will have
introduced the euro. In addition recently critical remarks have been made on maintaining
two systems next to each other in central government. Add to this that slowly but
gradually some other OECD countries introduce the accrual system. New Zealand and
the UK have got company of Iceland and Australia, and there are signs that one or two
will follow in the near future. I think the results in those countries and the development
of introduction for individual services in the Netherlands will be important factors for a
new discussion. For now enough about the role of the accrual system in Dutch central
government.

2.6. Renewal of the Budget and Report Structure

It’s time now to devote some attention to the second subject. That is the content of
recent government proposals to renew the budget and report structure. In the
Netherlands the state budget is made up of budget documents for each ministry
separately. Those documents have to pass the legislature just as any other bill. Each
minister has to defend his own budget in the two chambers of Parliament. Also each
minister has to draw an annual report on the outcome of his budget. The Minister of
Finance produces accompanying overview documents, and is responsible for overall co-
ordination of the budget process. In May 1999, mister Zalm, the Dutch minister of
Finance, presented to the president of our Lower House of Parliament, a policy
document with the title ‘From policy budget to policy report’. This document explains
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why the budget document structure and the report structure need reshaping, and what the
results should look like. Originally the proposal for the budget structure and the proposal
for the report structure stems from two different initiatives. The first initiative originated
from the staff of our Lower House of Parliament. They organized a working conference
on the speeding up and the improvement of annual reporting on the budget outcomes, in
which members of Parliament and of the National Court of Audit and the minister of
Finance participated. The general impression of all participants was that the time was
right to organize more political attention for the reports. This resulted in an agreement
on a new time frame for the end of the budget cycle, and the start of an informal
working party on the subject of quality improvement of the annual reports. The new
time frame agreed upon is, that the annual reports have to be presented to Parliament by
the middle of May and that Parliament will finish the discussion with government on the
reports before the parliamentary summer recess. The finishing of the discussions in
Parliament before the summer recess is important, in order to ensure the attention
wished for, because after the summer recess, all attention is focused on the policy for the
next year.

The informal working party on quality improvement of the reports consisted of people
working for our National Court of Audit and some ministries, and was presided by a
staff member of the Lower House. The result of their work was published last year under
the title: ‘The annual report in the political arena’. Main conclusion was that annual
reports should cover policy, management and the financial outcomes in an integrated
way, focused on main issues, and fitted to the needs of Parliament. Ideally the main
issues should be the policy priorities that should be listed in the process of establishing
the budget. The working party recommended to introduce a management statement to
cover the control of normal management issues and to limit the attention in the report for
management issues to special issues in that area, like reorganizations. It was also
recommended that the judgement of the National Court of Audit be included in the
report and that this judgement should cover all aspects. The working party advised to fix
the day of the presentation of the report to Parliament on the third Wednesday in May.
The third Wednesday was chosen with a wink to the third Tuesday of September, the
constitutionally established day for the presentation of the budget for the next fiscal
year. The message was that rendering an account of the results should be considered as
at least as important as presenting plans. Parliament, the National Court of Audit and
government welcomed the proposals of the working party in general, and the minister of
Finance announced that he would take care to government proposals on that basis. So far
for the first initiative.

The second initiative leading to the recent publication of government proposals for a
new structure for the budget document and the annual report, stems from the ministry of
Finance itself. About a year ago the ministry of Finance reached the conclusion that the
time was right to investigate whether a new structure for the budget-document would be
better suited for the central purpose of the budget. This central purpose is that the budget
of each ministry should give answers to three simple questions. What policy goals does
government want to achieve, what actions is government going to undertake to achieve
those goals, and what may those actions cost. Interviews with users of the existing
documents brought to light that they considered them to be difficult to read. Answers to
the central questions could not, or only with great difficulty be found, they said. One
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parliamentarian confessed to use the press-briefing document instead of the budget
document, while preparing himself for the debate in Parliament. The budget documents
appeared to have grown too thick and too little focused on the three simple central
questions. The growth process of the existing documents is in itself perfectly
understandable. Most additions were the result of questions from parliament. Once an
addendum with a new subject was added, it appeared difficult to get rid of it in the next
year. Moreover the basic structure was highly focused on control of public expenditure
in answer to the fiscal stress mentioned earlier. Relatively little structured attention was
devoted to the relation with the policy goals and activities.

The main elements of the recent government proposals are:
the budget document will be structured as follows:

- the budget law;

- areaders guide;

- the policy paragraph;

- the management paragraph;

- the agency paragraph;

- the in-depth-addendum.

Let us explain the most important elements. Time fails to go cover all. The policy
paragraph will become the heart of the document. It will consist of a policy agenda and
the policy line items. The policy agenda will in brief present the proposed policy
priorities for the coming year, and the way by which the minister proposes to realize his
goals. In addition the policy agenda will contain a summary of the financial effects of
the proposed policy measures for the next fiscal year and at least the four years
following.

The policy line items in the policy paragraph will represent the most important change in
the budget structure. In the new structure each policy line item in the budget will be
focused on a separate operational policy goal. Information for each item should answer
the already mentioned three central questions: what policy goal does government want
to achieve, what actions is government going to undertake to achieve that goal, and what
may those actions cost. At present there are different line items for program expenditure
and running cost expenditure. In the new structure all expenditure and income related to
the actions to reach a specific policy goal will be brought together in one policy line
item. As a consequence it will be possible within the constraint of the attainment of a
specific policy goal to shift between the different types of expenditure without prior
consent of Parliament. It will suffice to render account of the choices in the annual
report. The major challenge in the transition process towards the new budget structure is
going to be the definition of the policy line items. Clearly Parliament will want to have a
say in that process, as the result will have an impact on the extent to which the
parliamentary vote can directly alter the direction of government spending. The
ministries may experience even more radical changes. It is quite likely that in some
cases the organizational structure will have to be adjusted to ensure the focusing on the
attainment of the explicit policy goals. And at least the process of defining the
appropriate operational goals, and of sorting out the activities and the expenditure and
income related to those, will be time and energy consuming. We all know the rich
literature on the difficulties of measuring the quantity and quality of government output.
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And nevertheless government decided that it is worthwhile to make a major effort to
reach the optimum in this area. The ministry of Finance is preparing itself to help the
other ministries in this process as much as possible.

Essentially the structure of the annual reports of the ministries will follow the structure
of the budget as just described. The annual reports will focus on answers to three related
questions. Did government reach its goals as set in the budget, did government complete
the actions as planned in the budget, and did the costs of the actions remain within the
limits as set in the budget? Government decided also to follow most of the other
proposals of the working party mentioned earlier. The judgement of the National Court
of Audit will be included in the reports and lengthy paragraphs on management issues
will be replaced

at least partly by a management statement.

2.7. Implementation of these Plans

It is not just a matter of regrouping already existing information. Real work has to be
done on several subjects:

- The redefinition of the budget line items on the basis of operational policy goals.

- The definition of meaningful output, activity and outcome indicators.

- The definition of the scope of the management statement.

- The adjustment of information systems to cope with the new information needs.
According to the timetable presented to Parliament, the 2002 budget is scheduled to be
the first budget in the new structure. So it has to be ready in September 2001. As a
consequence the first annual report in the new structure will appear on the third
Wednesday of 2003. This may seem far away. But this schedule implies that little more
than a year is available for basic preparations, because the budget preparation process
for the year 2002 starts in the fall of the year 2000. This is why government announced
that it will report in May next year on the progress of the project and whether the
timetable will hold.

The last question to enter into is, whether there is a relationship between the two topics
covered in this presentation. There is in two ways. Firstly, it is clear which topic has
priority now. That is the new budget and report structure. Secondly, once we have
successfully managed that project, it might be argued that we have a new argument to
make the overall transition to the accrual system. Cost-information is superior to
expenditure-information, in relation to outputs. A few countries, notably New Zealand
and Australia, have even made the two steps at once. The Dutch government is ready
make to make the first.



CHAPTER 3

THE DUTCH PROVINCIAL AND MUNICIPAL ACCOUNTING SYSTEM

Cees Schouten

3.1. Accountability in an Administrative and Social Context

The first rules governing financial ‘reporting’ obligations imposed by central
government on the municipalities in the Netherlands date from 1800. In that year rules
were introduced that obliged municipalities to account in May of each year for the local
receipts and expenditure in the presence of representatives of the local citizenry. They
were also required to produce a brief statement of property, debts and possessions. Since
1800 the rules have been regularly changed and adapted in keeping with the spirit of the
times. It follows that today’s rules bear no resemblance to the original rules. The role of
financial reporting too has therefore changed considerably over time.

In this paper we will concentrate on the changes to the accounting rules in 1985 and
1995. In consequence of these two sets of changes, the present Dutch municipal and
provincial accounting rules are to a large extent based on the rules that apply to the
private sector and are thus an application of accrual accounting. These far-reaching
changes are the result of the social and economic developments that have taken place in
the last few decades and, as a corollary, the increasingly exacting demands made on
local authorities. The modern view of the role of government differs fundamentally from
that which held sway, for example, in the 1950s.

This proposition brings us to the essence of this paper, namely that, as a result of the
present view of the role and duties of government, financial reporting can no longer be
regarded simply a matter of ‘bookkeeping’ and should instead be seen as administration.
This means that we will place the accounting rules in a broader context in this paper.
The rules, and in particular the changes to the rules, are a reflection of the changing
ideas about the duties that government should take upon itself, how it should perform
these duties and how it should communicate with the public. We will also extrapolate
from this evolving line and look into the future. The present debates and developments
provide an indication about the future development of the relationship between
administrative and financial management.

This paper is arranged in the following way. Section 3.2. provides a survey of the
position and role of municipalities and provinces in the Netherlands. Section 3.3.
examines how views on the role of government in general and the local authorities in
particular have changed in the 1980s and 1990s. Attention will also be paid to the
developments in the administrative management of the local authorities that have led to
an improvement of the financial management during the first half of the 1990s; the so-
called PMI project (BBI in Dutch). The changes to the accounting rules are described in
section 3.4. Although the accounting rules are admittedly based on accrual accounting,
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there is and must be scope for tailoring the financial reporting rules specifically to the
needs of the municipalities. However, what constitute the distinctive characteristics of
municipalities and how they might influence the reporting requirements was and is a
topic of discussion. Section 3.5. identifies some present and future developments that are
of importance to both municipal financial reporting and administrative management.
The last section contains some final remarks.

3.2. Municipalities and Provinces in the Netherlands

This section describes the position and importance of the municipalities and provinces in
the Netherlands. It examines the statutory basis of the local authorities (i.e. the provinces
and municipalities), their scope and duties as well as their income and how they obtain
it. As we shall see, the municipalities especially play an important role in the
Netherlands. The duties and finances of the provinces are of much more limited scope
than those of the municipalities. This is why this paper will confine its attention to the
municipalities. Many of the aspects that will be dealt with, for example the accounting
rules, are in fact the same for the provinces as for the municipalities.

3.2.1. STATUTORY BASIS OF MUNICIPALITIES

The Netherlands has three tiers of government: central, provincial and municipal. There
are 12 provinces and 538 municipalities in the Netherlands. The Dutch municipalities
are of extremely varied size and composition. For example the number of inhabitants of
municipalities varies from 1,003 (Schiermonnikoog) to 721,000 (Amsterdam) and the
area covered ranges from 179 (Bennebroek) to 49,365 (Noordoostpolder) hectares.
Table 3.1. provides a breakdown of the municipalities by size.

Municipalities 1999 by number of inhabitants

<5,000 20
5,000 10,000 105
10,000 20,000 187
20,000 50,000 168
50,000 100,000 33
100,000 150,000 15
150,000 250,000 7
>250,000 3

Table 3.1.: Dutch Municipalities by Size

The role of the municipalities is laid down in the Constitution. The 1848 Constitution,
which - despite some changes - still largely corresponds to the present Constitution in
terms of the political organization of the country, forms the basis for the present Dutch
constitutional structure. This Constitution provides that the Netherlands is a
decentralized unitary State. Generally speaking, this means that the central government
is responsible for determining general policy. The central government fixes the
framework within which other government bodies discharge their duties. The provinces
have a supervisory and coordinating role. The municipalities are charged mainly with
performing duties that have a more immediate impact on the public.
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The Position of Municipalities

Municipalities have an independent position in the Netherlands. This is recognized in the
Constitution. The Constitution states that the municipalities are competent to regulate
and administer their own internal affairs as they see fit and discharge their duties in their
own interest. Municipalities may therefore assume responsibilities of their own volition;
municipalities are autonomous. The actions of the municipalities are limited only by
statutory rules adopted at provincial or central government level. However, there are
also duties in respect of which the municipalities have an obligation to cooperate. The
Constitution also provides that municipalities may be required by or pursuant to Act of
Parliament to provide regulation and administration in order to implement the policy of
other tiers of government. The contrast between the two types of duty, i.e. those
assumed by the municipality itself (autonomous duties) and those whereby the
municipalities help central government to implement policy (joint administration) has
become less marked as time has passed. Many duties have been imposed on
municipalities by or pursuant to Act of Parliament, but in a way which allows the
municipalities much latitude in the manner of implementation and in how priorities are
set and the money is disbursed (subject, of course, to the statutory rules). At the same
time, the policy freedom of the municipalities in areas in which they are supposedly
autonomous is sometimes limited. In other words, there is a kind of a sliding scale
ranging from full autonomy at one end to joint administration at the other.

Democratic Legitimacy

Municipalities are independent entities that have their own democratically legitimate
government. The municipal council elected by the inhabitants of the municipalities
chooses from among its members the executive councillors who, together with the
burgomaster (a Crown-appointed mayor), constitute the executive of the municipality.
Matters of general administration come under the authority of the municipal council and
the day-to-day administration is the responsibility of the burgomaster and executive
councillors, irrespective of whether the duties in question involve matters of autonomy
or joint administration. The powers of the municipal council, i.e. general administration,
include in any event the adoption of municipal legislation (bye-laws), the adoption of the
budget, and supervision of the (financial) policy pursued by the burgomaster and
executive councillors, among other things by approval of the annual accounts.

The municipalities play an important role in the Netherlands. They form the
administrative tier closest to the citizen, and municipalities are primarily responsible for
many matters that affect members of the public in their daily life. Decisions regarding
the budget can therefore have a major impact on the inhabitants of the municipality. The
main items of municipal expenditure are: spatial planning and housing, social provisions
and social work, general administration and public order, education, traffic and culture.
The contact between municipalities and their inhabitants is often more intensive than the
contact of the other tiers of government with the public: the involvement and
participation of citizens can take place more easily at this level. For example, local
people often have a say in traffic safety plans and building plans in the vicinity of a
residential area.
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3.2.2. FINANCES

Municipalities also play an important role financially in the Netherlands. In 1998
municipal expenditure accounted for approximately one third of total public spending in
the Netherlands'. Central government expenditure too accounted for about one third, as
did the expenditure of the social funds. Figure 3.1. gives an indication of the ratios of
public spending as a percentage of the gross domestic product (GDP) of the three

Figure 3.1.: Public spending of Central Government, Local Authorities and Social
Funds as a Percentage of GDP, 1977-1998
Source: Miljoenennota 1998, p. 2258

The municipalities have three kinds of income: the general grant from central
government (municipal fund), the specific grants from central government, and their
independent sources of revenue. The transfers from central government form by far the
largest source of their income. Figure 3.2. gives the breakdown of these three sources of
income in their entirety in 1998. The specific grants, which account for almost half of
their income, are payments for duties which the municipalities undertake in the context
of joint administration. The general grant and the independent revenues are general
resources, in other words funds that the municipalities can spend as they see fit, but
within the limits of the law.

Figure 3.2.: Sources of Income of the Municipalities, 1998
Source: Miljoenennota 1999, p. 255

' The municipal expenditure also includes expenditures on joint administration tasks.
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The amount of independent revenues of municipalities in the Netherlands is relatively
modest. This is because it was considered socially unacceptable in the late 1920s that the
level of tax and the quality of services should vary widely from municipality to
municipality. The quality of the roads, the fire service and primary education differed
greatly. Several important municipal taxes were therefore abolished in 1929. By the late
1980s the municipalities’ independent revenues accounted for less than 10% of their
total income. As figure 3.2. shows, this figure has now climbed again to 16%, mainly
caused by higher costs of environmental protection. The municipalities’ own revenues
consist mainly of taxes and levies. Property tax, sewerage charges and refuse collection
charges are the most important.

When a large part of the municipal taxes (including municipal income tax) was
abolished in 1929 the Municipal Fund was established. This Fund is replenished from
national taxes. Since the new 1997 Allocation of Finances Act especially, the fund has
been distributed among the municipalities by means of a cost-oriented system of
allocation. Like the individual revenues, the general grant from the Municipal Fund
forms part of the general resources of the municipality. The importance of the Municipal
Fund has increased again since the late 1980s. After the Second World War, there was a
trend towards centralization. This is reflected in the sharp increase in the importance of
the specific grants. In 1987 the specific grants accounted for almost 70% of income.
Although there has been a trend towards decentralization (also see section 3.3. below)
since the 1980s, the specific grants remain important as Figure 3.2. shows. The decline
in specific grants has come about largely as a result of the transfer of specific grants to
the general grant. The total municipal income in real terms was only slightly lower in
1998 than in 1987.

3.2.3. DEMOCRATIC LEGITIMACY AND FINANCIAL REPORTING

Municipalities in the Netherlands play an important role in the contact between
government and citizens. Although Dutch municipalities have only very limited powers
of taxation when compared with municipalities in many other countries, they play an
important role, particularly in policy matters. They perform a large part of government
functions and account for one third of public spending. Half of the expenditure is
allocated by municipalities to autonomous functions. In performing their functions
Dutch municipalities often have more powers than their counterparts in other West
European countries, even in cases where local taxes in those countries are of a more
substantial volume than in the Netherlands.

The political primacy rests with the municipal council, which is elected by the local
citizens. Municipalities have their own democratic legitimacy. This is why the greatest
importance is attached to careful consideration of decisions and the rendering of
account. Municipal financial reporting plays a crucial role in the taking of decisions and
in rendering account for these decisions. A transparent and professional administration is
in the interests of the proper functioning of democracy. This is first of all because of the
knowledge of the financial position of municipalities (see section 3.4.) and, second,
because of the account rendered by the administrators to the citizens (see section 3.5.).
Before we discuss the accounting system of Dutch local authorities, we will consider
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the view on the role of government in general and of the municipalities in particular. The
evolution of this view also affects municipal financial reporting.

3.3. View of the Role of Government

3.3.1. BACKGROUND TO NEW VIEW OF THE ROLE OF GOVERNMENT

As in most other West European countries public spending rose considerably in the
Netherlands in the 1970s and the first half of the 1980s. As a result, the public spending
ratio reached 66.6% of GDP in the Netherlands in 1983. This ratio was one of the
highest of the Western countries. In view of the high burden of taxation and social
charges, measures to cut public spending were taken from the early 1980s onwards. As a
result of these substantial cuts, public spending was reduced to 50.9% by 1998. In figure
3.1, already an indication is given of the public expenditure of the central government,
local authorities and social funds. Figure 3.3. shows the burden of taxation and social
charges as a percentage of GDP from 1977 to 1998. This burden has decreased only
slightly.

Figure 3.3: Burden of Taxation and social Charges as a Percentage of GDP, 1977-1998
Source: Miljoenennota 1998, p. 260

The high burden of taxation and social charges resulted not only in spending cuts but
also in a different view of the role of government. This different view was also a product
of the increasing complexity of society and the functions and functioning of the
legislation. These were found to hamper effective government policy.

In the following section we will discuss in broad outline how this view of the role of
government (particularly municipal government) evolved in the 1980s and 1990s.
Afterwards we will examine the PMI project, in which the administrative management
of municipalities takes precedence. This project is in essence a consequence of the new
view of the role of the lower authorities.
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3.3.2. THE 1980s AND 1990s

Increasing Autonomy and Decentralization

The need to cut spending meant that more attention had to be paid to efficiency and
effectiveness. The aim was to achieve a slimmed-down government that confined itself
to its core tasks. A number of large operations were designed among other things to
bring this about. Deregulation, increasing autonomy, privatization and the retreat of the
public sector (rolling back the frontiers of the State) were major operations which were
started in the 1980s and were intended to lead - and did lead - to a different type of
government.

Privatization, deregulation and increasing autonomy have also taken place intensively in
the municipalities in the Netherlands. This can take the form, say, of contract
management. A far-reaching form of increasing autonomy is a non-governmental
organization in which the organization itself has a large degree of autonomy but the
municipality retains ultimate responsibility for the formulation and implementation of
policy. These developments require new and more business-oriented forms of financial
control and reporting. Performance agreements, performance measurement, cost prices,
financial implementation information and accounting information, planning and control:
some of these are new requirements for financial reporting and others are existing
requirements that are now applied more strictly.

The developments coincided with a major operation of great importance to the
municipalities, namely decentralization. As already mentioned in section 3.2., the
percentage of specific grants has fallen substantially since the 1980s while that of both
the general grant and individual revenues has risen. This shift reflects the
decentralization as municipalities now have less money for the functions that they
perform by way of joint administration and more money for those functions which they
perform autonomously (or largely autonomously). Figure 3.4. shows how the specific
grants and general grant and the independent revenues changed in the period from 1987
to 1998.

Figure 3.4.: Specific Grants, general Grant and Independent Sources of revenue as a
Percentage of total Income, 1987 - 1998
Source: Miljoenennota, various Issues
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The decentralization process coincided with the privatization and deregulation
operations, which were intended among other things to cut public spending. In addition,
both the central government and the municipalities believed that the latter could carry
out their duties better and more efficiently. Although the shift of duties from the central
government to the municipalities was accompanied by a transfer of funds to the general
grant, this was therefore reduced on the assumption that efficiency could be improved.
The cuts in the municipal budget combined with the increase in duties mean that
municipalities are now exposed to greater financial risks. Here too, municipal financial
reporting has become more important from the point of view of decentralization and
must therefore be placed on a still more professional footing.

A responsive and Pro-active Government

The market orientation and emphasis on efficiency led not only to a realization that
government should confine itself to its core tasks but also to a different view on how the
government should perform its tasks. In addition to this development, citizens are acting
more and more like consumers in their relations with government: there is a ‘market’ for
the authorities in which members of the public can be both citizen and customer. A
market for the authorities means that it is becoming increasingly important for the
authorities to adopt a customer-oriented approach. Less bureaucracy and more
responsiveness are the watchwords. This is particularly essential for the municipal
authorities because the municipality is closest to the citizen. Responsiveness entails open
and active government that gives pride of place to the citizen and a customer-oriented
approach. A responsive government provides information, anticipates developments and
reacts adequately. And it co-ordinates issues and priorities of the community at large and
those responsible for running the municipality. The view that the authorities should be
pro-active takes this reasoning one stage further. This means that the citizen need no
longer always ask for something and need no longer always fill out forms in order to get
what he or she is entitled to. Instead, the authorities come to the citizen, for example by
automatically linking databases (taking account of privacy rules) and spontaneously
send the citizen information about the schemes to which he/she is entitled. Information
and communication technology is a major factor in the ability of the authorities to play
such a role. More and more municipalities are therefore capitalizing on the new
information and communication technology in order to approach the citizen actively.
The automatic implementation of schemes and the streamlining of the supply of
information to citizens can enhance the efficiency of the authorities. After all, automatic
implementation means that fewer application forms and questions are received. A pro-
active approach by the authorities can therefore benefit efficiency. Clearly, however, the
reverse is also true. Transparent and consistent financial reporting and a well-developed
planning and control cycle are essential if the municipality is to discharge its duties to its
citizens effectively.

3.3.3. THE PMI PROJECT

As a result of the ever greater demands on municipalities, for example to work more
efficiently and effectively, increasing attention was paid to their administrative
management. Municipalities were found to lack sufficient modern administrative
instruments. This is why all kinds of measures were taken in many municipalities to
improve this situation. Ultimately this led to the PMI project. PMI means Policy and
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Management Instruments for municipalities (the Dutch acronym is BBI). Under the PMI
project a framework for systematic administrative (financial) management was
developed for municipalities.

The aim of the PMI project was to strengthen the position of the municipal council, to
allow better control of the organization and to enhance customer-orientation. For the
purposes of implementation of the framework PMI distinguishes between phases based
on the budget cycle. Important steps in the process are, for example, the translation of
political wishes and desires into concrete policy plans, interim management and
administration reports, development of the annual report and annual accounts as policy
instruments and development of instruments for measuring effectiveness.

The PMI project, which lasted from 1990 to 1995, was very successful. Almost all
Dutch municipalities applied and are still applying the PMI ideas (or aspects of them).
Tilburg is a well-known example - also recognized internationally - of how things can
and should be done. Nonetheless, the impact in many municipalities has in the end
proved to be limited (see, for example, Ter Bogt and Van Helden, 1999, and Van Helden
and Ter Bogt, 1998).

The innovations and improvements brought about by the PMI occurred mainly in the
economic field, to a lesser extent in the administrative area and to an even smaller extent
in the area of relations between government and citizen. However ‘technically perfect’
innovative processes and instruments may be, they still require administrative backing if
they are to be adequately applied and integrated in the day-to-day practice of the
administration. It should be noted in this regard that the positive effects of PMI have
occurred mainly in relation to the municipalities as organizations. Other possible reasons
why the PMI project had less impact than expected are the sheer size and extremely
varied nature of the project and the fact that it may not have lasted sufficiently long to
enable the ambitious administrative aims to be fulfilled. Recently, the Ministry of the
Interior and Kingdom Relations restarted a number of projects for the purpose of
strengthening the financial function of the municipalities. Incidentally, these projects
deal with aspects of the financial function and are of a more practical orientation. The
accounting rules play a major role in these projects, as they also did in the PMI project.

3.4. Accounting Rules

The accounting rules for municipalities and provinces specify the criteria to be met by
the budget and accounts. The budget has many functions. For example, approval of the
budget by the municipal council serves as an authorization for the plans of the municipal
executive (burgomaster and executive councillors). In addition, the budget plays an
important role in decisions on the allocation of resources. The municipal budget has a
function in macroeconomic terms too. The budget shows how the municipal finances
can influence economic processes. The annual accounts are important, first of all for the
purpose of rendering account and, second, for the measurement and evaluation of
performance. In short, municipal financial accounting plays an essential role in the
functioning of a municipality not only as an organization responsible for the
performance of certain functions but also as a democratic organization. Article 3 of the
present accounting rules therefore provides that ‘The budget, multi-year budget, annual
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accounts and notes provide, in accordance with generally accepted accounting standards,
such information that it is possible to form a sound opinion of the financial position and
of the income and expenditure’.

In this section we will deal with the last revisions of the accounting rules in 1985 and
1995. Two views on the basic criteria of the accounting rules played a role in both
revisions. First of all, there is the tendency of local authorities to operate increasingly on
commercial lines (see section 3.3.). As a result, the criterion that municipalities should
comply with the guidelines for commercial accounting has become increasingly
important. The 1985 accounting rules therefore took a big step in this direction, and a
further step was taken when the 1995 accounting rules were introduced. This process has
not yet stopped. Even now there is a debate on whether the rules should not be brought
even more into line with the Civil Code. The financial reporting rules of the private
sector are contained in Title 9 of Book 2 of the Civil Code (referred to below as CC2).

The second criterion explicitly adopted in the revisions of the accounting rules is the
unique character of municipalities - for example the fact that they take social
considerations into account when deciding on the allocation of resources This is termed
specificity (of local authorities) in the remainder of this paper (see section 3.4.3.)
Commercial and financial considerations therefore often play a less important role than
in the case of enterprises. In addition, the budget of the municipalities has a
constitutional basis, (see section 3.2.). It follows that political and legal principles may
be in competition with commercial and financial considerations. However, specificity
may never excuse a lack of clarity. On the contrary, the democratic legitimacy of
municipalities means that the financial reporting must be transparent and reliable.

There is a clear tension between the two criteria. This tension is a central element of the
present debate on the accounting rules. A description of the debate is given in section
3.4.3. First, however, the 1985 and 1995 accounting rules are discussed in sections 3.1.
and 3.2.

3.4.1. THE 1985 REVISION: THE FIRST STEP

The 1929 accounting rules were still in force until the 1985 revision. Although they had
been repeatedly modified since the Second World War, they had never been revised in
their entirety. There were two main arguments for a comprehensive revision in 1985.
First, there was the need of the municipalities to respond to the developments
concerning the function, role and position of municipalities as described in section 3.3.
Methods and techniques derived from the private sector were of importance in this
connection. Second, there was a need for more and different information from the
municipalities for macroeconomic purposes.

The 1985 accounting rules represented a drastic change for they entailed a switch from
cash based accounting to accrual accounting. However, the system introduced in 1985
was by no means identical to the guidelines for annual financial statements that applied
to the private sector. Besides introducing accrual accounting the revision also made
other changes designed to improve information about the financial position. The multi-
year budget and the notes to the budget are important examples of this. As a result of the



The Dutch Provincial and Municipal Accounting System 29

introduction of the concept of the multi year budget (albeit non-obligatory) the
municipalities were encouraged to take account of long-term considerations when
making decisions. The notes to the budget were intended to increase the transparency of
policy and policy aims.

To facilitate the collection of macro-economic information, the rules stipulated that
income and expenditure had to be classified according to the nature of the municipal
involvement. These classifications are known as functions, such as education and
housing. Simultaneously expense and income categories were introduced, e.g. interest
and tax revenues. They too were intended to facilitate the gathering of macroeconomic
data. In addition, these categories were intended to improve the internal control of
municipalities, as the categories were based on the subdivision of income and
expenditure customarily employed in the private sector.

3.4.2. THE 1995 REVISION: THE SECOND STEP

A further set of new accounting rules came into force as early as 1995. The main reason
for amending the accounting rules again in 1995 was the entry into effect of the new
Local Government Act and Provincial Government Act on January 1, 1994. As a result
of these new Acts various technical alterations had to be made to the accounting rules.?
However, there were also other reasons for revising the rules, in particular the
continuing evolution of local authority operations along commercial lines and the PMI
process (see above).

As already mentioned, the specificity of municipalities played an important role in the
new accounting rules. However, the rules represented a further step in the direction of
business-oriented financial reporting. This section will examine both the CC2 aspect and
the specificity aspect of the accounting rules.

Changes in the Direction of CC2

Most of the changes made in 1995 involved further modification of the statement of
income and expenditure and the balance sheet to bring them more closely into line with
CC2. Once again, a few of the changes were also intended to improve the information
about the financial position. For example, it now became obligatory to include a risk
statement.

The Balance Sheet. Until 1995 the profit and loss account was supplemented by a capital
statement. The capital statement was essentially a relic of the old cash-based accounting
rules. When the accounting rules were altered in 1995 the capital statement was
abolished and the balance sheet was introduced. The transition from capital statement to
balance sheet was presented as a procedural matter and not as a fundamental change
(Besluit comptabiliteitsvoorschriften 1995, Klop; 1994). It was reasoned that the
difference between the balance sheets of two successive years is the same as a capital
statement. In addition, the introduction of the balance sheet was accompanied by a rule

2 One consequence is that since 1995 the accounting rules for municipalities and provinces have

been the same.
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making it obligatory for municipalities to produce a financing and investment statement
too. By submitting this statement with the budget, the municipal council is still able to
authorize investment decisions.

Not everyone was in favour of introducing the balance sheet and abolishing the capital
statement. Some people considered that the capital statement was a clear and informative
instrument (Borderwijk; 1993, Hofman; 1994). However, the advantage of a balance
sheet is that it corresponds to the practice of the private sector. The use of common
terminology is conducive to clarity both for municipal accountants and controllers and
for local administrators. Another argument against introduction of the balance sheet was
the concern felt by some people as to whether the municipal council could still obtain
sufficient information about the separate investment decisions. As mentioned above, this
problem was solved by making it obligatory for municipalities to have a financing and
investment statement. The last and most important argument against the balance sheet
was that although it is useful for an income-earning organization it has little merit for an
organization such as a municipality whose main function is to spend income. The
balance sheet and notes are important to an income-earning organization because they
provide a clear and systematic picture of the extent of the assets and liabilities and their
composition. This information is less important for a municipality because its object is
not to generate profit. Nonetheless, a municipality can obtain interesting information
from a balance sheet, namely about the income that has not been spent; in other words,
about the financial position of the organization.

Whether a balance sheet actually provides information about the financial position
depends on what information it contains about assets and liabilities. At present, this
information is of unclear value in many municipalities. The valuation of assets, the
manner of calculating depreciation, the reserves and provisions are three subjects that
are often currently not regulated in such a manner that the balance sheet actually
provides a clear picture of the financial position. Some of the problems involved are
discussed in a subsection of 3.4.2.

The Risk Statement. To obtain a clear picture of the financial position of municipalities,
it is therefore of great importance not only to have a true valuation of the assets and
liabilities but also that there should be adequate information about events and risks not
revealed in the balance sheet. Since 1995 it has therefore been obligatory for
municipalities to submit a risk statement with the budget. This is a new instrument that is
a further step in the direction of a system designed to allow better assessment of the
financial position of the municipalities. The risk statement is intended to allow for the
inclusion of internal and external risks that cannot be quantified. This is why the balance
sheet makes no mention of the risks described in the risk statement. Provisions have to
be made for quantifiable risks. Although many municipalities are aware of the
importance of the risk statement and of risk management in general, the risk statement is
an instrument which municipalities still seem to have difficulty in applying in an
adequate manner. Various measures to develop risk management have been taken by the
municipalities themselves, by the authorities that supervise the municipalities and by the
Ministry of the Interior and Kingdom Relations.
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Differences owing to Specificity

The 1995 accounting rules still differ in some respects from the CC2 provisions. It is
debatable whether some of these differences are really necessary and whether they do
not tend to obscure the information contained in the municipal accounts. As long ago as
1997 a report was published by the Netherlands Institute of Chartered Accountants
(NIVRA) on the subject of fixed assets in municipal accounts. The report was highly
critical of the valuation of assets, the depreciation policy of municipalities and discretion
allowed by the accounting rules in these areas.

Two examples are given below of problems that are frequently cited. Both concern
subjects in respect of which the accounting rules are in principle the same as those of
CC2, but permit exceptions owing to the specificity of municipalities.

Possibility of Net Valuation of tangible fixed Assets. Under the Civil Code only gross
valuation is permitted. In the case of net valuation of assets, the contribution of third
parties (e.g. central government subsidy) is set off directly against the assets. It follows
that assets are undervalued on the balance sheet. In the case of gross valuation the total
amount of the assets is shown on the balance sheet, and any contribution by third parties
is treated as a special-purpose reserve. Although the end result is in principle the same,
net valuation allows the municipality greater flexibility in the short term since the
contribution is not transferred to reserves. In due course, however, a sum must be
transferred to reserves for replacement. The disadvantage of net valuation is that it is less
clear what funds will be needed in the future. This increases the risk that too little will be
set aside to the reserve for replacement and thus poses a threat to the continuity of the
level of service provided to the citizens.

Result-dependent Depreciation. The accounting rules provide that the depreciation of
fixed assets should be on the basis of the diminution in value. However, result-oriented
depreciation is permitted if this is desirable for administrative reasons. The Civil Code
does not allow result-oriented depreciation. Generally speaking, result-dependent
depreciation makes it more difficult to obtain a true idea of the financial position of the
municipality: since the assets are not valued on the basis of expected economic life, this
affects both the financial position and the information about the reserves needed for
future replacement. Result-oriented depreciation may be properly used where the future
value can be determined administratively. This applies, for example, to assets that have
not been designated for replacement in the future. A square, park or even a building
need not necessarily have the same function in a few decades’ time. In such cases, there
is less need for depreciation on an economic basis.

3.4.3. PRESENT DEBATE ON CC2 AND SPECIFICITY: A THIRD STEP?

The increasing tendency of the municipalities to operate on lines for the private sector
and the introduction of the obligation to adopt accrual accounting represent a break with
the past. This is in itself may be a reason for examining the adequacy of the accounting
rules and how they are applied in practice. In addition, there are signs (for example the
NIVRA report) that the process of improving financial reporting has not yet been
completed. It is, of course, debatable whether it ever could be.
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The main problem identified by the NIVRA report (and which also emerges in the above
examples) is that there is a substantial continuity risk in various respects and also a lack
of transparency. The lack of transparency in municipal financial reporting seems to be a
product of the departures of the 1995 accounting rules from CC2. Although the reason
given for these departures was the specificity of the municipalities, no explicit definition
of this specificity is given in the accounting rules. This leads to the following questions.
Are the departures on account of the specificity of municipalities actually necessary?
And, if so, what is the precise nature of the relationship and are the rules geared to take
account of this relationship? The Ministry of the Interior and Kingdom Relations has
started a project designed to provide an answer to these questions. The discussion below
is based on this project and reflects the stage it has now reached.

Specificity and Financial Reporting Rules

The main distinctive characteristic of municipalities from the point of financial reporting
is that they are spending organizations. Enterprises try to generate profit by producing
goods and services, in other words they endeavour to acquire income. By contrast,
municipalities do not seek to make a profit and have the object of looking after the
welfare of the local population. To achieve this object, they are mainly concerned with
the disbursement of income. They obtain this income from central government and from
taxes, levies and charges. A possible effect of this characteristic of municipalities on
financial reporting is that the balance sheet may serve a different purpose. The balance
sheet is often seen not as a statement of the financial position but as a settlement of
accounts with the inhabitants of the municipality. Often municipalities see no point in
providing the public with information about the financial position. It may, after all, be
difficult to justify an increase in property tax if this is necessary mainly for reasons of
business administration. Municipalities are therefore inclined to arrange the balance
sheet in such a way as to show why increases in taxes and levies are necessary.

Other distinctive characteristics of municipalities - for example the wide range of
functions that municipalities are required to perform, the fact that Dutch municipalities
cannot in principle become bankrupt, and the primacy of politics in decisions on
functions and policy - seem to influence above all the organizational structure (an
enterprise might well adopt a very different structure and simply hive off functions).
However, the need for different guidelines for financial reporting has not been clearly
demonstrated. For example, the fact that Dutch municipalities cannot become bankrupt
may influence the depreciation periods. Municipalities may well, for instance, continue
to use personal computers that would have long been completely written off by
businesses operating in the private sector; after all, businesses cannot afford to use
outdated equipment since their prices then become non-competitive. These arguments
do not apply to municipalities. As long as the PCs do the job, there is no need to replace
them. The only rule about the depreciation periods is that they must be in proportion to
the diminution in value of the assets. In other words, although the depreciation periods
used by municipalities may be longer than those used in the private sector, this does not
mean that the manner of depreciation and hence the accounting rules should be different.

Reconsideration of Specificity
In short, the influence of specificity seems to be limited in terms of impact. CC2 should
apply to the municipalities and provinces too, unless the spending nature of
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municipalities necessitates a different approach in respect of specific points. It follows
that the accounting rules and their application should perhaps differ less from CC2 than
is at present the case. Or, to put it another way, specificity played a relatively important
role in the 1985 accounting rules. This role was much reduced in the 1995 rules and
could be reduced still further in the future. At present, there would seem to be a
‘transitional period’ in this respect.

Although the trend may still be towards CC2, it is important that the specificity of
municipalities should not be overlooked. If this specificity justifies departures from the
CC2 rules, such departures should be possible. However, such departures should be
explicable to administrators and public alike and an alternative must be provided.
Specificity is not an excuse for less clear guidelines. On the contrary, the transparency of
municipal reporting should take precedence. The authorities should operate on the lines
for the private sector where this is feasible and efficient, but should not allow this to
undermine the principles of democratic accountability to the municipal council and
citizens.

3.5. Future Developments
3.5.1. FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ADMINISTRATIVE MANAGEMENT

Before the demands made of a modern government body were examined from the
administrative angle in section 3.3. and the rules for the budget were described in section
3.4. What is common to the two sections is that municipalities are increasingly having to
operate on lines for the private sector, which makes great demands on the clarity,
consistency and reliability of the information. Partly as a result, administrative and
economic developments are going hand in hand more and more often. For example, the
word accountability originally meant simply a duty to account: public officials were
required to show how public funds had been administered. Now, however, the term has
the much broader meaning of stewardship; not only officials but also and above all the
municipal executive (burgomaster and executive councillors) should render account for
their actions to the municipal council and hence to the inhabitants of the municipality.

Owing among other things to the ever wider and more complex range of functions of
municipalities, administrators too are attaching more and more importance to a clear and
well-organized budget and accounts, particularly in respect of the implementation of
policy and its effects. At the same time, the local inhabitants are demanding more and
more value for their tax money and are claiming the right to information about income
and expenditure. It is to be expected that this trend will continue. In a democratically
functioning municipality the legitimacy of the administration becomes ever more
important. In recent years it has been mainly a matter of accountability: the will and
desire of the administration to render political account for - in the present case - the
financial policy. Local people desire this too, not only as clients but also most certainly
in their capacity of citizens. In this section we will briefly examine the concept of
accountability and the instruments that can support it.
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3.5.2. CHANGING NATURE OF ACCOUNTABILITY

Nowadays accountability tends to be interpreted more broadly in local government
circles in the Netherlands. Indeed, the terminology has changed: ‘verantwoording’ is
now used instead of ‘rekenschap’ to express this more active form of rendering account.
This is a logical step after the PMI process, which led above all to improvement of the
internal municipal administration. Improvement of the management process is a
precondition for the next step: the further improvement of relations between
administration and citizen. A pro-active approach to accountability plays an important
role in this. It is no longer sufficient to produce an auditor’s report that the figures give a
true and fair view. Nowadays, the process of rendering account is a kind of two-way
traffic: between the municipal executive and the municipal council and, thereafter,
between the municipal council and the citizen. The municipal executive wishes its
actions to be checked by the council, and the council by the citizen. The essential point -
which is important to the issue of legitimacy - is that the person rendering account can
demonstrate reliability and responsiveness. The concept of reliability denotes the extent
to which the control exercised by the municipality is in keeping with expectations. And
the concept of responsiveness refers to the extent to which the municipality is receptive
to stimuli from its environment and responds to them (see section 3.3).

3.5.3. INSTRUMENTS

This new-style accountability entails the possibility of public debate. What is crucial to
any such debate is the availability of transparent, correct and timely information that
enables people to form a reliable impression of the financial position of the municipality.
Transparent information is of particular importance in the administrator-citizen
relationship. The public wish to know whether they are getting value for money. The
administrator wishes to show that this is indeed the case. This imposes greater demands
on the financial reporting. We will illustrate this by reference to two instruments.

The Annual Report

Municipalities have the duty to render account for the policy they have pursued. This
means that the policy in question must be evaluated. Such evaluation involves
assessment of both the financial and non-financial aspects of the policy. At the same
time, lessons for the future can be learned from the evaluation. The annual report is an
instrument that is ideally suited to rendering account, first of all to the municipal council
and, second, to the citizens too; an annual report can do justice to these elements of the
accounting.

The 1995 accounting rules were therefore amended by order of August 25, 1997 in such
a way as to impose an explicit duty on the municipality to prepare an annual report. This
means that not only an annual account but also an evaluation is required. Such an
evaluation necessitates answers to questions such as what was the policy and to what
extent was it achieved, and these answers should preferably be supported by
performance data.
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In view of the functions of the annual report, i.e. the rendering of account with regard to

both financial and non-financial data and the expounding of a policy for the future, the

annual report should contain the following elements:

- the aims of the municipality in the short, medium and long term

- the data on resources and performance, i.e. whether the past aims have been achieved
and the productivity and quality of performance

- the operational performance too is important, for example information about the
number of people used for a particular job, how the organization is structured, how
the process of planning and control is organized and whether these arrangements are
suitable now and in the future in the light of expected changes.

These three elements of the annual report should not only be described but also,
wherever possible, evaluated. Evaluation entails analysis of the aims of policy and
whether they have been achieved. It is extremely important in relation to all three
elements, in particular because the instruments used sometimes yield unexpected results
or have unforeseen and undesired side-effects. Evaluation can lead to adjustment of
existing instruments or of the aims. Often evaluation occurs to some extent implicitly,
but explicit evaluation - and hence the formulation of the aims too - may be important,
for example with a view to changes in the composition of the personnel and the
administration.

Acceleration of Annual Account and Report

At present, the municipal council must have dealt with the annual accounts and the
annual report by September 15 and the budget by November 15. As there is only two
months between these dates, the emphasis is on the budget. In addition, many
municipalities prepare a spring budget memorandum covering various aspects of policy.
The annual report therefore has only a limited added value. Municipalities could try to
emulate the private sector and central government and speed up the process by which the
annual accounts and annual report are dealt with by the council. If the annual report
were to be completed by around March 15 and dealt with by the council in, say, May,
the findings in and regarding the annual report could be included in the budget. It is
essential that the process by which the annual report is dealt with by the council be
speeded up because even an annual report that meets all the other criteria has little added
value if it is not dealt with shortly after the end of the financial year.

3.6. Final Remarks

Social and economic developments have led to a different view of government.
Nowadays, government authorities and hence municipalities too are expected to be
efficient, effective and market-oriented and, at the same time, to take as much account as
possible of the citizen. In addition, municipalities are expected to have their own
democratic legitimacy, and hence to retain the characteristics of government bodies. In
other words, much is expected of municipalities and these expectations will not diminish
in the future. The evolution of the financial function is assisting municipalities in the
process of adapting to their new role. Transparency of financial reporting is a central
feature of the financial function. Both the market and customer orientation of the
municipalities and the democratic legitimacy and new-style accountability require first
and foremost clear and reliable financial reporting. It does not in fact make any
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difference in this connection whether CC2 is followed more closely or whether the
significance of the specificity of the municipalities is reflected more clearly in the
accounting rules. However, the rules should be modified in such a way that they
promote the clarity of financial reporting as far as possible and allow the municipalities
the scope to operate both as government bodies and as market-oriented undertakings.

The significance of the changes - past and future - in the field of financial reporting
should not be underestimated. These are changes that have a far-reaching impact on the
organization of the municipalities and on the manner in which they are administered. It
is precisely because the financial reporting can and must help the municipalities in the
way in which they give effect to their new role than it is more than mere bookkeeping. It
is essential in this regard that there should be a basis of support in the administration for
changes in the field of financial reporting. As we saw in the case of the PMI project,
such support is crucial to the success of innovations that go beyond the municipality as
an organization. With a view to future developments it is of paramount importance that
innovation in the field of financial reporting and the financial function in general should
be decided not only by officials but also by administrators.
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CHAPTER 4

THE FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT SYSTEM OF THE CITY OF TILBURG

Pieter G. van der Poel

4.1. Introduction

The concern controller of the municipality of Tilburg is officially responsible for the
management model and the means policy of this city. It gives great pleasure to be able to
tell something about the current state of affairs in this field.

First of all, I shall tell you a little about the aims of this address. In order to give you an
idea of the context, the position of Tilburg both as a city and as an organization will be
described. Then I shall tell something about the essence of the Tilburg Model as it
developed during the years 1985 to 1995. After that, we will have a look at the essence
of the Permanent Development Process, which started around 1995. Finally, after giving
you an insight into the current situation, a few general conclusions and recom-
mendations will be given.

The aim of this lecture is to give an insight into the guiding or management philosophy
of the municipality of Tilburg and to show how that philosophy has been put into
practice through the years. It will give an insight into the effects this management
philosophy has had for the citizens of our city. Finally, a number of critical factors for
success and a number of conditions for further development will be mentioned.

Tilburg is the sixth biggest city of the Netherlands. It has around 190,000 inhabitants
which makes it just about the same size as Groningen. Amsterdam, Rotterdam, Utrecht,
The Hague, and Eindhoven are bigger than Tilburg. Tilburg’s growth as a city was
largely due to the textile industry. This branch of industry ran into serious problems
during the sixties when textile products from Third World countries began to glut the
world market. The result was that the entire textile industry in the western world - and
therefore also in Tilburg - collapsed in a very short time. The financial and social
problems that ensued put a great strain on the local administration. That administration,
however, discharged its duties admirably. Partly thanks to the favorable economic
climate in the Netherlands, Tilburg is once again one of the most vital large cities in the
Netherlands.

The struggle to get the municipal finances back into shape also led to Tilburg developing
itself as a forerunner with respect to the design and working of the local administration.
An indication of this is the membership of Tilburg in the international network for better
government, called the Cities of Tomorrow. This membership was gained thanks to the
city’s nomination for the ‘Carl Bertelsmann Preis 1993°. Tilburg is also the first tilted
government body in the Netherlands. Since 1997, Tilburg has based its organizational
structure on the logic of the citizens instead of on the logic of its own production
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processes. And lastly there is the wide range of publications that has appeared about the
Tilburg Model. At the beginning of 1999, for instance, Mr. Joost Monks obtained his
doctorate from the University of Geneva with a thesis entitled ‘Towards performance
oriented and participatory public administrations’, in which the developments in Tilburg
are analyzed and commented upon.

4.2. Essentials of the Tilburg Model

The next paragraph will explain a number of essentials about the Tilburg Model as it
developed in the period from 1985 to 1995. In the first place, something about the
philosophy. In the mid-eighties the idea that the government should not only strive
towards rightfulness but also towards efficiency gained more and more support. Of
course, this development was primarily the result of the enormous financial and
economic problems confronting Tilburg at that time and the extremely high local taxes
that ensued from that. During the middle of the eighties, Tilburg was one of the three
most expensive cities in the Netherlands. During that time the idea was born that the
principles of good commercial management could also be applied to governments.
Among the examples that inspired the city council at that time about how this could be
achieved were a number of American models, including that of the Pentagon.

The idea that business-like management is also applicable in government organizations
led to an attempt being made to define areas of policy in terms of suppliable products.
This did not only concern well-known items such as passports, but also products like
‘management and administration of public education’. In addition, an attempt was made
to describe those products in more detail in output terms, such as the pupil intake figure,
the pupil outflow figure, the number of students with and without a diploma, etc. At the
same time, the relevant costs were integrally assigned to those products. These measures
make it easy to see exactly what the municipality provides in the way of services, at
what cost, and at what percentage of cost-effectiveness. This system also makes it
possible to identify and control the financial economic and administrative risks per
product. A further consequence of the ideas on business-like management is that
responsibilities are redistributed. The responsibilities of the council regarding policy -
the decision of what products and services should be provided in what quantities - are
emphatically differentiated from the executive responsibilities of the management for
the implementation of the policy. In Tilburg it is the heads of department who are
accountable to the audit committee for the manner in which policy has been
implemented, and not the political accounting officer. In addition, the executive
responsibilities have been drastically decentralized, right down to the product level. The
product holder is fully responsible for all managerial aspects in connection with his
product. This approach implies a substantial de-staffing. Tilburg has by far the smallest
Concern Staff department of all the large cities; 35 persons including the secretaries of
the Aldermen.

The decentralization of responsibilities, which was revolutionary for its time, was
supported by a well-balanced control armamentarium. The principle of self-control
played a leading role in this respect. The various departments and services were fully
equipped for carrying out their tasks in a proper manner. That means that they got their
own departmental controller, their own accounting officer, their own P&O functionary,
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their own information advisors, and so on. In the context of each department’s
individual responsibility a report obligation was imposed on that department. The
management report instrument was developed for this purpose. Departments must report
three times a year about deviations from the budget. They must indicate how any such
deviations should be interpreted in terms of policy, what corrective measures the director
has undertaken in terms of conduct of business, and what corrective measures he
recommends that the council must take if policy issues are concerned.

It was crucial, in this context, that the Anglo-Saxon model of controllership was
simultaneously introduced. The controller is the person who must ensure that the
administrative provision of information complies with the set of standards of quality, i.e.
timely, complete, correct, reliable, etc. As far as that is concerned, the controller has the
authority to bypass the directorate, just as the concern controller has the authority to
bypass the city manager. This is done in order to ensure that the council has a clear
insight into the state of affairs at the executive level at all times.

4.3. The Audit Committee’s Role

The control armamentarium is further complemented by the advent of the audit
committee. This committee normally inspects the annual report on behalf of the city
council. In Tilburg, the audit committee has gradually developed into a local auditor’s
office. In other words, the committee does not restrict itself to inspecting the annual
accounts but also carries out investigations on a permanent and independent basis into
the functioning of the council and the functioning of the municipal organization. The
subjects to be investigated are determined by the city council. Important investigations
that have been carried out during the past few years, for instance, are the study on
information protection and privacy and the investigation into the policy with respect to
putting work out to tender. This last study was concerned with the efficacy of the labour
market policy. The audit committee is authorized to call in external expertise and to hear
members of the council, officials and other witnesses. The working method of the
committee is first to investigate all the facts. On the basis of these facts the committee
then comes up with conclusions. The conclusions are submitted to the Mayor and
Aldermen for comment. After the Mayor and Aldermen have given their response, the
committee formulates conclusions and recommendations on behalf of the city council.
The committee restricts itself to the facts and the conclusions ensuing from those facts.
Interpretations or political judgements are emphatically avoided. That dimension falls
under the exclusive rights of the council.

All fractions in the city council are represented in the audit committee. Thanks to the
clear role awareness and the meticulous method of working, the committee has always
been able to reach unanimous conclusions and over the past years it has developed into
an authoritative body.

4.4. Preventive Departmental Investigations and Concern Control

The last major control instrument is the preventive departmental investigation.
Preventive departmental investigations entail that each department is investigated once
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every four years as to the quality of its business conduct. The investigations are carried
out by an external agency that is commissioned by the city council.

The investigations deal with issues such as the strategic orientation of the department,
the administrative organization, the staff policy, the satisfaction of the workers, the
relationship between the department and the council, the relationship between the
department and other departments, etc. A preventive departmental investigation gives a
picture of the vitality of the business conduct and of the quality of management. The
preventive departmental investigation leads to the drafting of a plan for improvement.
This is also an instrument designed to support a continual improvement in the way
business is conducted. Preventive departmental investigations do not infrequently lead to
the conclusion that a department head is not functioning as he should. It is not
uncommon for a department head to fall as a result of a preventive departmental
investigation.

In the sphere of planning, the so-called Perspective Memorandum was introduced. In the
Perspective Memorandum the city council outlines its vision with respect to the
administrative and financial developments in the long term. The Perspective
Memorandum is then worked out in more detail in a budgetary context in terms of the
consequences for the coming year.

A few words about the positioning and the duties of concern control. Concern control
includes all the means functions of the municipality. Concern control has three main
tasks: firstly, the development of the management philosophy - call it the development
of the Tilburg Model. Secondly, taking care of a well coordinated input and application
of that management philosophy. What we are concerned with here is the development
and upkeep of the policy unity, for example the communal ICT architecture, the
financial policy, or the guidelines for drawing up a budget, management report, or
annual report. The third main task is the mirror function, ensuring that the control
armamentarium is functioning properly with the result that the quality of the
administrative provision of information is safeguarded on a permanent basis. This task is
given shape by means of controlling memoranda arising from departmental productions
as well as by means of consolidated reports to the council. Concern control starts with
the reports as submitted by the departments, asks questions, but never instigates an
inquiry on its own.

The Tilburg Model has prevented a financial economic débacle in Tilburg. The city has
never had to go begging to the State because its finances were in bad shape. This by
contrast with a number of other cities. The second effect of the Tilburg Model is the fact
that the local taxes have decreased systematically. Tilburg is currently number thirty five
on the list, which makes it the cheapest big city in the Netherlands. A third important
effect is the quality of the housing conditions. The basic quality in Tilburg, on average,
is reasonable. There are no serious downs as far as impoverished neighbourhoods or run
down industrial estates are concerned. Finally, the establishment climate for the business
community has improved dramatically. In comparison with other big cities, the vitality
of the business community in Tilburg, on average, is fair to good. That was a very
different story during the sixties and seventies.



The Financial Management System of the City of Tilburg 43

4.5. Objections to the Original Tilburg Model

There were also a number of objections to the original Tilburg Model, however. First of
all, there was the increasing distance between the management and the council. This was
caused by the relatively large degree of autonomy the directorates had in connection
with the integral responsibility they had for their own conduct of business. In a certain
sense a process of technocratization was taking place in the council. In this context, the
principle of integral management was leading to a relatively pronounced division among
the municipal departments. Officials belonging to one department did not regard the
officials of other departments as their colleagues. For the citizens the result was that they
were often sent from pillar to post. At the same time, the city council was repeatedly
confronted with contradictory recommendations. An example: a negative report by the
department for Environmental Affairs concerning the development of industrial estates
alongside the motorway was followed within a few months by a positive report from the
Public Works department about the same subject. The above-mentioned disadvantages
led - partly as a result of the social criticism they caused - to a further refining of the
management philosophy in 1995. We will enter into that in more detail a little later on.

Before that, it is necessary to point out two critical factors for success in connection with
the development of the Tilburg Model. These were, a widely supported feeling of
urgency in connection with improving the way business was conducted on the one hand,
and the leadership factor on the other. As far as the feeling of urgency is concerned, we
refer back to the high local taxes and the disastrous financial situation of the
municipality mentioned earlier. At the same time, the leadership at both executive and
official level was characterized by an external orientation, by the ability to correctly
estimate the value of concepts that fell outside the own way of thinking and to remould
these concepts to suit the context, added to this was the courage to take fundamental
decisions and to implement them.

These critical success factors also proved instrumental for the further development of the
model. The general criticism that the Tilburg Model was really only an internally
oriented planning and control model and that, on top of this, it excluded the political
administration, caused a new feeling of urgency. At the same time, the original type of
leadership was strengthened, rather than weakened, due to the fact that the success of the
Tilburg Model had also formed and attracted enterprising accounting officers and
managers.

4.6. Recent Developments

Let us now have a closer look at the developments that have taken place since 19935.
These developments are known by the name POP. The letters POP stand for Permanent
Organizational Development Process. The POP should be seen as the next stage of
development of the Tilburg Model. The essence of the management philosophy has been
retained but the POP has added something to it. Two things in particular: in the first
place, the transition from supply management to demand management. We came to the
realization that we could no longer take our own way of thinking, our own products and
services, and our own methods of production as point of departure for the administering
of the city, but that we needed to base our activities on the citizens and their way of
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thinking instead. We usually refer to that process simply as thinking inwards from the
outside. It is interesting to note that, here again, Tilburg took the liberty of borrowing
ideas from the business community. The second important enrichment of the
management philosophy is the transition from thinking like linear engineers to thinking
in terms of developments and mutually influential systems and processes. Here Tilburg
is taking advantage of a social trend drawing inspiration from the concept of a learning
organization.

The concept of demand orientation led us to the idea of distinguishing between three
forms of citizen. The term ‘citizen’ in this sense should be taken to include businesses
and institutions. We identify the citizen as the representative of a shared interest. Think,
for example, of a representative from an environmental organization, an employers’
organization, or a shopkeepers’ association. Secondly we see the citizen as an inhabitant
of his district or neighbourhood, and thirdly the citizen as a customer of municipal
services. We then got the idea of also distinguishing between three forms of
municipality geared to the three forms of citizen I have just mentioned. Opposite the
citizen as a representative of a shared interest we put the interactive municipality. The
citizen as an inhabitant is met by the participating municipality. And finally the citizen
as a customer is faced with the service-providing municipality. We realized that this
division in fact defines three different domains or playing fields for the government. In
each of those playing fields the municipality has a different mission and a different role.
That inspired us to structure the municipal organization according to the distinctive
forms or roles of the municipality. Finally, we formulated a mission per type of service
which positions the municipality within the three different domains.

As a result of all this, we now have a City Affairs department which represents the
interactive municipality and focuses on the representatives of shared interests for the
purpose of developing a basis of support for strategic choices at city level. The
participating municipality is represented by the department District Affairs, which
focuses on the inhabitants of a district or area in order to support them and help them
live together in a responsible way. The service-providing municipality is represented by
the Public Affairs department, the Municipal Businesses division, the Fire Brigade, the
Municipal Cleansing department, and the department of Social Workshops. These
departments focus on providing good and inexpensive services. It goes without saying
that the principles of good business-like management are particularly applicable to these
last types of department. It is worth noting that these departments represent more than 80
% of the staff complement of the municipal organization! This last group of departments
has been given the order to provide their products and services in conformity with the
market. That is easily measurable, for instance by benchmarking. As regards the Public
Affairs department, Citizens Charters are currently being developed.

As an aside, I should like to point out that the executory services that are provided for
the municipal organization as a whole - such as administration, legal affairs, staff
services, engineers’ office, information and computerization - have all been grouped
together under the Municipal Businesses division. This division functions as a
contracting department for the other departments. We are developing an internal market
for this which is controlled by service provision agreements and a free truck system.



The Financial Management System of the City of Tilburg 45

4.77. The main Ideas of POP

If one takes the logic of the citizen as starting point, one will discover that the needs of
the citizen are almost by definition integral needs. The citizen in his role as customer
really does not want a building permit. He wants to build and he wants to arrange all the
matters that are linked to that, such as buying the land, being issued with a permit,
registration in the resister of population, information about local taxes, and so on,
quickly and if it is at all possible preferably at a single counter. If one wants to meet the
citizen in this wish one will have to turn the whole organization upside down. The staff
will have to learn to think in a demand oriented way, work processes will have to be
redesigned, the provision of information will have to be drastically adjusted. And
certainly not least importantly, the system of control will also have to be reviewed.
Clearly, this will take years of work! And a similar story about the development of
integral policy focused on the citizen as inhabitant and, respectively, as representative of
a shared interest would be possible.

The concept of demand orientation cannot be supported by a divided official apparatus.
Departments and services are becoming increasingly aware that they need each other
more than ever. As a result, the will to agree on shared frameworks is also undergoing a
phase of rapid development. These frameworks are developed and agreed on in intra-
municipal consultative structures. At the top of these is the Management Consultative
Body; the team of directors. Under mandate from the City Council, the Management
Consultative Body supervises the unity of policy and means. The Management
Consultative Body gets advice from intra-municipal theme groups for the development
of strategic policy. The Controllers’ Consultative Body supervises the unity of the means
policy under mandate from the Management Consultative Body. The Controllers’
Consultative Body is advised by an intra-municipal P&O consultative body, the
consultative body of the Accounting officers, the consultative body of the Information
Consultants, and the intra-municipal development team Tilburg Model. In practice the
primacy of the integral management at departmental level was supplemented by the
primacy of the unity of policy and means at intra-municipal level. The Concern Staff
department plays a specific role in this context due to the fact that it supplies the
chairmen and secretaries for all the intra-municipal consultative structures.

The POP is a comprehensive and long-lasting process. Nonetheless, a number of
significant results can already be mentioned. Municipal services are obtainable for the
citizens at a single counter. The single counters are decentrally located. The Public
Affairs department has set up so-called city-shops in the former villages of Udenhout
and Berkel-Enschot, as well as in the new housing estate Reeshof. All counter services
can be obtained at these shops. This includes such matters as employment counselling,
social security payments, taxes, citizen affairs, building and environmental permits,
public information, etc. The city-shops are extensively visited and the citizens appear to
be very content about their functioning. The District Affairs department has formed
integral area teams. These teams are involved with the development of integral district
development plans in dialogue with inhabitants, businesses, and institutions. Interrelated
social, economic, and physical aspects in this connection are researched and developed.
The first indications are that problems at district level can be dealt with more effectively
and with a broader basis of social support by using this approach. The POP has also led



46 Pieter van der Poel

to strategic policy at city level being handled more interactively and integrally than
before. This should ultimately lead to increased effectiveness and a stronger basis of
social support. We will return to this topic when we discuss the Large Cities Policy. The
fact is that the method of working described is also connected with the relationships
between the various government levels and the way in which those relationships are
controlled.

Just like any other development, however, the POP also has its drawbacks. The intensity
of the organizational developments have indisputably resulted in a temporary production
loss. In addition, the workers are under considerable pressure. The traditional official, in
particular, is being confronted with quality demands to which he cannot always comply.
We are trying to minimize loss of personnel by means of a modernization drive among
the work force.

The ideas about demand orientation and integrality also lead to other forms of planning.
As from last year, Tilburg has been developing a City Vision with a planning horizon of
around ten years. During the preparatory phase, a first attempt was made to involve the
population and representatives from the interest groups in an interactive way. This
development, by the way, is emphatically in line with the State’s Large Cities Policy.
The State links greater policy freedom on the part of the large Cities in the form of extra
financial means and deregulation to two requirements: being tuned to the objectives of
state policy and broadly-based support from the population. The last requirement to be
achieved by means of interactive policy preparation and co-financing by social partners,
including the province. In that connection, a long-term investment program is currently
under development which will provide an insight into which measurable effects,
performance and programs contribute to the realization of the City Vision, as well as
which parties contribute to this and to what extent. On the basis of the long-term
investment program, the municipality will be entering into a covenant with the province
and the State at the end of this year. As far as controlling is concerned, the State and the
municipalities are working on a monitoring system in order to measure the intended
effects and performance. In addition, a two yearly self-analysis by the municipalities is
foreseen in combination with an independent audit committee to be appointed by the
State.

4.8. Conclusions and Recommandations

Let us wind up with a few general conclusions and recommendations, which will be put

in the form of a number of propositions.

1. The quality of the public administration can be substantially improved by application
of management concepts from the business community.

2. In view of the specific function of the public administration, however, the
application of business-like managerial concepts demands a differentiation of the
public domain.

3. Atlocal level, the public domain can be divided into three areas or playing fields:

a. policy-making and implementation at city level (City Affairs);
b. policy-making and implementation at area level (District Affairs);
c. public service provision.
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®

In each playing field the municipality has a specific mission and role. Specific laws
and management mechanisms are also applicable.

In the field of public service provision - and this concerns over 80% of the
organization - business-like management is optimally applicable. With the use of
specific instruments, such as benchmarking, Citizens’ Charters, and service provision
agreements, marketing activities can be developed and/or stimulated.

Brussels, The Hague, and the Association of Dutch Municipalities should give strong
support to the comparability among municipalities, among other things by setting
standards in connection with the provision of information.

In the fields of policy-making and implementation, business-like concepts lead to
quality improvements in the form of greater integrality when the principle of demand
orientation is applied.

The realization of marketing activities is not an option in the case of policy-making.
In the fields of City Affairs and District Affairs, far-reaching improvements in
quality can be realized by means of interactive policy development aimed at defining
effects and performance.

10. Effect and performance management calls for drastic adjustment to the management

armamentarium. One could think in terms of the development of

a. monitoring systems;

b. covenants between governments and covenants between governments and social
partners;

c. program management and control;

d. self-analysis and external audits.

11. A municipality that professionalizes its conduct of business builds on its credibility

and trust. These are the most valuable conditions for a well-functioning democracy.
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CHAPTER 5

A COMPARISON OF JAPANESE AND AUSTRALIAN SECOND TIER
GOVERNMENT PERFORMANCE REPORTING

Mark Christensen and Hiroshi Yoshimi

5.1. Introduction

In recent years a rapidly growing body of literature has developed around the theme that
public sectors across a wide variety of countries are changing. Within this literature has
been a category of contributions examining changes in performance reporting and
measurement but little of it has considered comparison across countries. Comparative
public administration theory and methodology is challenging (Heady, 1996; Moon &
Ingraham, 1998; Peters, 1988; Peters, 1990) and so the literature is not extensive. This
paper adds to that literature by examining recent changes in Australian and Japanese
public sector performance reporting by 2" tier governments.

Public sector performance reporting is an important topic in many respects. Firstly, good
reporting by the public sector to various stakeholders is crucially important to the
operation of an informed democracy since voters should be able to form informed
opinions as to the performance of governments when they cast votes. Secondly,
performance reporting by any management (public or private sector) is the important
fourth function in addition to the three ‘classic’ functions of planning, doing and
controlling. Thirdly, performance reporting has undergone significant change in a
number of public sectors and as such it forms an area of interest to analysts of public
sector change in general.

Section 5.1. of this paper establishes a theoretical framework within which to consider
performance reporting in the wider area of public sector accounting. Section 5.2.
provides a case study report of two recent developments in Australian and Japanese 2™
tier performance reporting and so provides the information on which section 5.3. can
consider the differences which emerge between Australia and Japan. Section 5.4.
explores some of the factors capable of explaining the observed differences and so leads
to section 5.5. some tentative conclusions as to what light the experience of Japanese and
Australian performance reporting can throw on New Public Management.

5.1.1. A THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK: NEW PUBLIC MANAGEMENT AS A
RESEARCH AGENDA

By arguing for a ‘new global paradigm’ in public sector management, Osborne and

Gaebler (1992) sowed the seeds for a growing body of literature which examined the

phenomena known as ‘New Public Management’ (NPM) or managerialism. The
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literature on NPM' is now quite wide and includes official exhortations to adopt various
elements of NPM, academic considerations of the advantages and disadvantages of NPM
and various texts dealing with specific elements of NPM techniques.

This paper considers the impacts of public sector performance reporting as one of
NPM’s techniques. This is done within the context of a ‘crisis of confidence with
performance measurement’ (Williams, 1998: 21) which calls for further research at both
a supra-organizational level (such as in this paper) and at an individual organizational
level.

The usefulness of NPM as a theoretical framework for this cross-country examination of
public sector performance reporting is twofold. Firstly, the NPM literature provides a
broad contextual base upon which performance reporting can be considered and research
hypotheses identified. Secondly, NPM changes have been pervasive but have not
followed a strictly consistent path across nations (Olson, et al., 1998; Rhodes, 1998) thus
analysis of public sector performance reporting as an NPM technique will add to the
available data related to this issue. The literature has advanced since Hood described the
discussion as ‘close to being a data free zone’ (1995: 98) but there is still need for
additional data in order to test theories in this field (Humphrey & Guthrie, 1996). This
Section will now describe the NPM theoretical framework adopted by this paper.

NPM forms a research agenda by establishing a framework from which to consider a
range of public sector management issues. By the mid 1990s a number of authors had
identified features of public sector change loosely called ‘managerialism’ (Halligan &
Power, 1992; Mayne & Zapico-Goiii, eds, 1996; Parker & Guthrie, 1993; Wanna,
O’Faircheallaigh & Weller, 1992). However, by 1995 these various features were being
drawn together into a framework that is of use by this paper. The framework described
by Hood (1995) involves different conceptions of public accountability with different
patterns of trust and distrust leading to altered requirements of and responses from public
sector accounting systems. Hood notes that public sector systems of administration may
be considered in terms of two cardinal elements, namely, their degree of distinctiveness
from the private sector and the extent of rules operating to maintain buffers against
political and managerial discretion. Using these two cardinal elements of public sector
administration, 7 underlying doctrines can be identified as shown in table 5.1.

Hood argues that doctrines 1 to 4 from table 5.1 involve NPM techniques aimed at
reducing the distinctiveness of public sector administration compared to the private
sector. Similarly, he argues that doctrines 5 to 7 involve NPM techniques aimed at
reducing public sector rules and so increasing the discretion available to public sector
managers. It is possible to be too forensic here. That is, the separation of the seven
doctrines into the two cardinal elements of distinctiveness and discretion can be

' For a cross section of the literature on NPM or its elements see for example Aucoin (1990),

Considine & Painter (1997), Common et al (1993), Farnham & Horton (eds) (1996), Flynn
(1990), Guthrie (1995), Halachmi & Bouckaert (eds) (1996), Hirst & Khilnani (eds) (1996),
Hood (1995), OECD (1998), Olson et al (eds) (1998), Parker & Guthrie (1991), Parker &
Guthrie (1993), Pollitt (1993), Public Services and Merit Protection Commission (1997),
Pusey (1991), Zifcak (1997).
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somewhat artificial and in fact can partly obscure the often observed inter-related aspects
of various NPM features.

Doctrine

Operational significance

Some accounting implications

1.

Unbundling of the PS
into corporatized units
organized by product

Erosion of single service
employment; arms-length;
devolved budgets

More cost center units

. More contract-based

competitive provision,
with internal markets
and term contracts

Distinction of primary and
secondary public service labour
force

More stress on identifying
costs and cost structures; cost
data become confidential and
cooperative behaviour
becomes costly

. Stress on private-sector

styles of management
practice

Move from double imbalance
PS pay, career service,
unmonetized rewards ‘due
process’ employee entitlements

Private-sector accounting
norms

4. More stress on

discipline and frugality
in resource use

Less primary employees, less
job security, less producer-
friendly style

More stress on the bottom line

. More emphasis on

visible hands-on top

More freedom to manage by
discretionary power

Fewer constraints on handling
of contracts, cash, staff; more

measurable standards

management use of financial data for
management accountability
6. Explicit formal Erosion of self-management by | Performance indicators and

audit

professionals
and measures of
performance and
success

7. Greater emphasis on
output controls

Move away from detailed
accounting for particular
activities towards broader cost
center accounting; may
involve blurring of funds for
pay and for activity

Doctrinal Components of New Public Management (Hood, 1995: 96)

Resources and pay based on
performance

Table 5.1.:

This paper argues that Doctrine 6 (‘explicit formal measurable standards and measures
of performance and success’) which is of central interest here, has a strong relationship
with Doctrines 2, 3, 4, and 7. The use of performance measures is what makes it possible
to establish and enforce contracts with specific service levels. Further, performance
measurement emerging from Doctrine 6 facilitates implementation of private sector
management styles of practice, increased stress on resource usage and a greater emphasis
on output controls. It is difficult to envisage how Doctrines 2, 3, 4, and 7 can be more
than rhetoric without the measures of performance that are core to Doctrine 6. In fact, a
great deal of the controversy surrounding NPM relates to the difficulty of the explicit
performance measures to adequately underpin Doctrines 2, 3, 4, and 7 thus, the counter-
argument proceeds, exposing the pure rhetoric of NPM (eg. Considine, 1990: 175-176;
Painter, 1998; Trosa, 1997; Considine & Painter, 1997; Guthrie, 1998a; Guthrie, 1998b;
Guthrie & Parker, 1998; Olson et al., 1998; Rhodes, 1998).
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5.1.2. RESEARCH METHOD

Liider (1992) provides a critique of research methods applied by various scholars in their

analysis of causal factors hypothesized to impact on the adoption of altered accounting

methods in a number of public sectors. Since changes in public sector performance

measurement are an example of accounting system change, Liider’s analysis of research

methods is useful to this paper. Most of the research methods reviewed by Liider are of a

quantitative empirical nature and he expresses three specific concerns about them

(Liider, 1992: 106-107):

1. the relationship between accounting system change (as a dependent variable) and the
various tested independent variables is not monocausal but is multicausal;

2. it is frequently very difficult to directly measure the independent variables (such as
‘political competition’, ‘professionalism’, ‘user socioeconomic status’ and so on);

3. it is questionable as to whether accounting system change is a binary variable since
there are variations of change rather than simply ‘on’ or ‘off’.

Liider’s concerns are supported by others (Cheng, 1994: 64; Covaleski & Dirsmith,
1990: 555) and they heighten this paper’s view that a quantitative research method alone
is not suited to its research interests. Instead, it is necessary to apply a qualitative
research method with the objective of determining if identified observations are
consistent with elements of a theoretical explanation of the broader phenomena.
However, since ‘cause and effect, or accounting change and organizational impact, tend
to be loosely linked or even nonexistent with respect to manifest relationships and
involve many additional forces, research focus should remain on the social context and
the interpretations of actors as opposed to a priori theories or the research methods
employed’ (Covaleski & Dirsmith, 1990: 548 - 549).

The social context and interpretations of actors provides a framework from which to
view accounting change. In order to understand accounting practice, such as public
sector performance measurement, ‘we must start by recognizing that accounting
provides a structure of meanings which are drawn upon in organizations, but which are
themselves the outcome of organizational activities. ... It is necessary to locate practice
in its historical, as well as its economic, social and organizational contexts. Case studies
are particularly suitable for this type of research. They allow the researcher to adopt a
holistic orientation and to study accounting as part of a unified social system. ... Such
studies do not provide the type of predictive theory which is sought by positive theorists.
But social scientists would argue that accounting practices are socially constructed and
can therefore be changed by the activities of the social actors themselves. Nevertheless,
it is still possible to construct social theories of accounting; viz. explanatory theories
which will help to understand the social structures which shape current practice. It is
here that case studies have an important role in the research process. Descriptive,
illustrative, experimental and exploratory case studies are all potentially useful, and
explanatory case studies are essential.’ (Scapens, 1990: 268)
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The research method adopted by this paper is to provide two descriptive case studies of
performance reporting in Australia and Japan and to use NPM as a theoretical
framework to explain observations from this case. As will be shown, NPM is inadequate
as a full explanation and so we complement it with additional themes.

Accounting can be considered in isolation of its context or it can be viewed as having an
impact on (and being impacted by) specific contexts (Hopwood, 1985). Broadbent &
Guthrie identify the former approach as being ‘the technical approach ... (which)
assumes that accounting is a powerful force for change and perceives the context within
which it exists as unimportant’ (1992: 6). In preference to the technical approach some
researchers have retained a technical focus but have included as variables in their
analyses the specific contexts of change; Broadbent & Guthrie (1992) describe this
approach as ‘technically contextual accounting’ (1992:11) and they provide a most
useful review of ‘alternative’ accounting research that has adopted this approach. This
paper adopts a technically contextual view of accounting in its case studies on Australian
and Japanese performance reporting.

A technically contextual view of accounting helps to demonstrate that accounting has
played an important role in the two cardinal elements of NPM. Firstly, accounting
information was necessary to identify assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses which are
arguably the core concepts of the private sector and so if identified for the public sector,
can reduce its distinctiveness. Secondly, accounting information was necessary to
measure results so that the explicit can replace the implicit as is required if levels of trust
must be reduced. As an example, the introduction of program budgeting allowed
accounting information to show the inputs (expenses) used by each of the programs
which were previously embedded in agency budgets. Further, as annual reports were
produced to recount a year’s activities which were funded out of a program budget,
accounting information was used to attest to the activities. So strong was the role of
accounting information (or so weak was the role of non-accounting information) that it
has been accused of capturing the debate (Guthrie, 1995b: 42).

Whilst accounting might have captured the debate it has been attacked as being ‘not
particularly informative’ (Harris, 1995: 10) with respect to inner budget (non-trading
government) organizations. Attacks have also been aimed at accounting as being
inadequate for State owned enterprise reporting (Guthrie, 1994: 95-97). As a result in
1991 the Australian Accounting Research Foundation noted: ‘financial information is
only a sub-set of the information necessary to allow an adequate assessment of a
Department’s performance’ (1991: 87-88). Thus the picture emerges of significant
deficiencies in the usefulness of accounting technologies that have been an integral part
of the underlying philosophy behind recent public sector reforms (Miller, 1996).

This paper takes a broad view of performance measurement as advocated by the US
General Accounting Office (GAO) to describe performance measurement as regular
collection and reporting of data on: inputs (money, staff and materials), workload or
activity levels, outputs or final products, outcomes of programs, and productivity
(efficiency cost per unit of output or output per unit cost) (GAO, 1992: 2).
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Performance reporting is thus any on-going collection and disclosure of information
which can be of use in the judgement of whether a program has achieved its objectives.
The disclosure is necessarily public rather than being limited to the agencies that
generate the performance information or limited to a central agency.

5.2. 2" Tier Performance Reporting in Australia and Japan

Australia and Japan both have a government structure based on a federal, state or
prefectural and local governments. This paper will describe case studies of performance
reporting by governments at the State (in Australia) and Prefectural (in Japan) levels.

5.2.1. AUSTRALIAN PERFORMANCE REPORTING: THE NSW CASE

Almost all States in Australia have devoted increased resources and rhetoric to
performance reporting since the 1980s. However, within these developments a recent
change deserves most attention and is the subject of this case study: the publication by
the New South Wales Government (NSWG) of service efforts and accomplishments
statements (SEAs).

SEA reporting has been advocated in the USA since 1990 when Hatry et al, completed a
research report for the GASB and subsequently a number of authorities have advanced
the concept (for two sources of some commentaries see the Special Edition of
International Journal of Public Administration, 1995; and, Halachmi & Bouckaert, eds.,
1996). NSW embarked on SEA reporting in 1996 in a special project initiated and
conducted by the Office of the Council on the Cost of Government (OCCG, 1996: 34-
36). Inspite of experience in developing program statements and publishing performance
indicators (albeit somewhat limited in nature), NSW agencies were not able to fully
explain a 20% increase in real spending over the eight years to 1996 and so OCCG
decided to devote resources to the SEA reporting project (McDonald, 1996: 2). SEA
Statements were designed to address the main performance reporting deficiency:
inadequacies in the ‘ability to report on their accomplishments, in terms of outputs and,
particularly, outcomes’ (OCCG, 1996: 34).

The 13 SEA reports, of which 10 have been published, do not report agency performance
but they cover separate policy areas dealing with the accomplishments achieved
(outcomes), activities undertaken (outputs or ‘service efforts’), resources consumed
(inputs) and efficiency measures (unit costs of outputs and outcomes). In addition to
numerical measures being reported, the SEA reports also provide contextual information
which assists interpretation of the performance measures.

The move away from agency related performance measures meant that a more complete
picture could be presented (OCCG, 1997d: 72). Thus performance indicators are ‘set in a
broader context which defines and delimits the role of the NSW Government activities in
a particular industry or sector’ (McDonald, 1996: 3); also, data discontinuities resulting
from agency changes are avoided (Walker, 1998: 116). However, this advantage came at
the cost that agencies had difficulty to think in terms of policy areas rather than their
limited activities (OCCG, 1997c: 44) and there were resultant complex negotiations, for
example ‘in one case 25 agencies had an interest in the development of outcome
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indicators for one policy area’ (OCCG, 1997c: 43). The resultant complexity of the SEA
Statements and their mismatch to the bureaucratic boundaries of NSW delayed
production of SEA reports and caused some to be too long (Walker, 1998: 122) and to be
based on poor data (OCCG, 1997d: 71).

The other reasons for delay in the release of SEA reports seem to be

- given the public release of SEA reports, agencies were very cautious thus making the
Council prepare initial draft reports using publicly available information to promote
action (OCCG, 1997c: 43), and

- extensive and meaningful SEA contextual information meant that the performance
indicators reported are more comprehensive than earlier efforts which tended to
merely ‘decorate a budget document’ (Greiner, 1996: 16).

Inspite of difficulties in preparing SEA reports OCCG compiled 1,700 SEA outcome and
output indicators which compared to 870 indicators previously published in the NSW
Budget Papers (OCCG, 1997c: 44). Not all these indicators have been published but the
comprehensive nature of SEA reports is nevertheless a strength.

A review of the SEA reports presents evidence of their ‘work-in-progress’ nature. 3
reports (school education, transportation and environment) remain to be published even
though they are complete; input measures account for 31% of all measures; outcome and
output measures are subject to warnings of possible data problems in each report; the
data is not audited and has been criticized for its inadequacies (Walker, 1998: 121); and,
as an indication of potential for improvement, proposed future measures amount to 37%
of reported measures.

The published SEA reports are but a small part of the achievement of the OCCG SEA

project. The more important results from this on-going project are:

- ‘in several cases ..(they have).. led to a fundamental re-examination of agencies’
roles and functions’ (OCCG, 1997c: 43) as well as understanding their roles in the
whole of government delivery of service (Walker, 1998: 120);

- use by Treasury and the NSWG of SEA indicators (OCCG, 1997c: 45);

- enhanced coverage of indicators; for example, in prior Budget Papers the relatively
few performance indicators meant each indicator covered $104 million in health
policy area expenditure whereas the SEA indicators will represent an average of $26
million (OCCG, 1997c).

In summary of the SEA project’s achievement: ‘What started out as an attempt to
meaningfully report government activity to stakeholders has expanded into a program to
lead substantial reform of the performance monitoring regime within agencies’ (OCCG,
1997d: 71). The performance monitoring regime can be likened to the ‘balanced
scorecard’ view of performance reporting as advanced by Kaplan & Norton (1992).
Whilst a typical SEA report does not have Kaplan & Norton’s four headings, it presents
diverse information which is capable of providing insights into customer, financial and
internal views of the performance being reported. Further, the diversity of information
addresses the inadequate predominance of accounting information in NSWG
performance reporting (Walker, 1998: 117 for example cites one performance document
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with ‘about 300 performance indicators’ of which only 3 related to services and most of
the others being accounting based).

The diversity of information in SEAs includes accounting and non-accounting
performance measures and is necessary in order to achieve a high rating in terms of
usefulness (PSMPC, 1997; Hatry, et al, 1990; Greiner, 1996). Within this diversity is
essential non-accounting information that complements and completes typically cost
based accounting information. As noted by the (USA) Federal Accounting Standards
Advisory Board ‘performance measurement requires both financial and non-financial
measures. Cost is a necessary element for performance measurement, but is not the only
element’ (FASAB, 1997: 335). Both OCCG and the PSMPC have found deficiencies in
the abilities of the NSW and Commonwealth public sectors to measure costs accurately
(OCCQG, 1998a: 14), however, it is apparent that once these technical difficulties are
reduced, SEA reporting will significantly improve the usefulness of available accounting
based performance information.

The NSW SEA project is in its early days with ‘mixed success’ (OCCG, 1998a: 4;
Walker, 1998: 122) and it is ‘anticipated that with improved data these indicators will be
modified, replaced and augmented over time’ (OCCG, 1997a: 9). The real test will be if
improvements in performance reporting are on-going in the face of a series of dangers.
There is a danger that agency managers may alter their work practices so as to artificially
report improved performance as a result of the closer scrutiny achieved by SEA
reporting (Halachmi, 1996: 79). Equally, there is the danger that the NSW Government
may not sanction publication of SEA reports that do not show successful performance -
especially in an election year. This was an initial reaction in the USA when eight major
State and Local Government associations objected to the GASB regarding SEA
reporting (Halachmi, 1996: 90). An additional danger is that if the OCCG championing
of SEA reports wanes, so too will the efforts of agencies in maintaining their SEA
measures (the importance of a high level ‘champion’ in SEA reporting is recognized by
Greiner, 1996: 18).

Against the risks faced by SEA reporting must be placed the significantly increasing
pressure for performance reporting from the community and special interest groups.

5.2.2. JAPANESE PERFORMANCE REPORTING: THE HOKKAIDO CASE

In Japan, the 2" tier of government is based around prefectures. The 3™ tier of
government is based around cities, towns or villages®>. However, some of the largest
cities usually with a population of over one million population have special rights of
prefectures.

These governments have both an elected assembly of representatives and a government
office. Both assembly members and the head of the government are directly elected by

2 Tokyo is not a city, but 23 wards which consist of Tokyo metropolitan area have their own

rights which are like as other cities. Tokyo metropolitan government is one of prefecture
which include the 23 wards and other cities, towns and villages.
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residents.’ This system was introduced in Japan after World War I as an adaptation of
the US government system. However, most tax revenue is still collected by the central
government as it was before the War, so the 2™ and 3™ tier governments in Japan have
limited original tax sources. Consequently, both sets of governments receive budgetary
allocations from the central government.

Japan is divided into 47 prefectures and Hokkaido is one of these prefectures. Japan
consists of four main islands, of which Hokkaido island is the northernmost. Hokkaido
prefecture covers all of this island so the Hokkaido Government governs the largest land
mass of any 2™ tier government. Hokkaido is mostly agricultural land and as such it is a
relatively poor area in Japan.

Hokkaido has an extreme climate with periods of intense cold which have caused it to be
the last land area to be opened in Japan. Since the Meiji era, large amounts of money
have been invested in Hokkaido by the central government. However, even now,
Hokkaido continues to receive more central government funds and dedicated projects
such as roads, dams or other social infrastructure. In 1998, the budget of the Hokkaido
government was around 3.5 billion yen and so was the second largest Japanese
prefectural government budget after Tokyo.

Prefectural government budget decisions in Japan are made by elected assembly
members. Under such a system the government has a responsibility to report its
performance mainly to its assembly. However, there have been serious problems
experienced in the acquitting of this responsibility.

Firstly, even if it is sometimes considered that a performance report to the assembly is
important, the direct reporting or disclosure of performance information to its residents
is not so important. For example, there are no documents labelled ‘performance report’
available from the Hokkaido government. Whilst the Hokkaido government has an
‘administrative information office’, which discloses most published documents available
for the public, free copies of these documents are limited and most documents must be
photocopied at a cost to the user. Most documents are copies of the originals which were
submitted to the Hokkaido Assembly and so they are not easily understood by the
general public. Some books or brochures are available free of charge, but such free
brochures are limited. For example, the Hokkaido Government publishes Zaisei Jokyo
(Financial Status) semi annually. In the preface of this publication, the Governor of
Hokkaido noted ‘this Zaisei Jokyo is published in June and December in every year to
inform residents of the current financial status of Hokkaido’, but only ten copies are
available in the administrative information office. As a result, most Hokkaido residents
cannot get this brochure; indeed, most don’t even know of its existence.

Secondly, once a project has had its budget determined, it has been very difficult to
review or reconsider its effectiveness. In Hokkaido, large sums have been invested in
many development projects. Some of them are obviously not effective, but there has
been no system to stop or reconsider the projects.

> The head of local government is called a governor in prefecture, a mayor in city or town, a

head in village.
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To cope with this situation, the Hokkaido Government decided to introduce ‘Time
Assessment’ from 1997. According to the Hokkaido Government (1997), ‘Time
Assessment calls for the checking, re-evaluating and, if necessary, drastically changing
measures and, based on an objective time scale’. This assessment tries to re-consider
projects that have not been in progress for a long time. In 1997, the Hokkaido
Government selected 9 projects for Time Assessment. By early 1999, 8 of the 9 projects
were either stopped or abandoned because of the time assessment process. As an
example, the Hokkaido Government decided to stop the construction of Shihoro Heights
Road in 1999 in accordance with the result of its Time Assessment. This construction
project faced difficult geography and it was pointed that it would seriously damage the
environment by running through the Taisetsu Mountain National Park. The reason for
the suspension of this project was its low expected effectiveness compared with its high
cost and adverse environmental impact.

Time Assessment would appear to be based on a performance measurement process, but
its method is not apparent. It is carried out by a Government investigation team but it
seems that its reports are based mainly on public or mass media opinions rather than a
numerical index. Future Time Assessments are capable of significant improvement by
development of a performance measurement process.

The importance of Time Assessment for the Japanese experience of performance
measurement is that the government and the public became to recognize that
accountability is one of the key concepts to pursue. Accountability has not been a
common word or concept for the Japanese people (Van Wolferen, 1994). Through the
Time Assessment, at least the Hokkaido Government and its residents realize the
importance of the concept and this can be seen as part of a broader realization (Kokubu,
et al, 1998: 149). A further significant development is that the Japanese central
government is paying attention to Hokkaido’s trial, and is trying to introduce Time
Assessment.

Future changes in performance reporting are likely to be the adoption of external
auditing use of Time Assessment and the development from next year of ‘Policy
Assessment*’ as a process of qualitative appraisal of funded project priorities. Both these
developments will improve the quality and extent of accountability by the Hokkaido
Government and so they form part of Hood’s 6™ Doctrine within his NPM framework.

This system was trialed in 1998 using the experience of Time Assessment to expand the
performance measurement process in each annual budget. Its purpose is to classify every
funded project into 4 priority categories using qualitative factors on both departmental and
whole-of-government bases. On the basis of the 1998 trial 199 projects (20.3 billion yen) were
stopped or abandoned, 108 projects (15.9 billion yen) were reduced in scale, 193 projects
(123.5 billion yen) were altered in scope, but 2,113 projects (1,958 billion yen) were continued
and 101 projects (14.9 billion yen) were expanded.
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5.3. Differences in Performance Reporting

The two case studies of performance reporting presented here demonstrate some
interesting points of comparison. The comparisons consist of similarities and differences.
The main similarities are:

- both the Japanese and NSWG developments have been in the context of broader
changes to public administration which have demonstrated a lower level of trust by
both governments and citizens;

- there has been a recognition in both Japan and NSWG that performance reporting
needed improvement;

- whilst not over stating the case, the power of bureaucrats has been reduced in both
countries as performance reporting changes have been implemented; in the case of
Japan (Moon & Ingraham, 1998: 88) perhaps less than in the NSWG context but this
has been from a more powerful starting point;

- in the NSWG case there has been only relatively minor publicity and hence little use
of the published SEAs reports whilst the Hokkaido Time Assessments have been
limited in their number so it is reasonable to expect that there has not been significant
change in the level of public confidence in performance reporting;

- at least to date, there has not been explicit linking of the performance reporting
developments in either country to the doctrines of NPM as suggested by Hood
(1995). The absence of linkage might result from the newness and incomplete nature
of both developments but it could also mean that the rhetoric related to improvements
in accounting related performance reports is not to be realized (Miller, 1996).

Perhaps the differences between Japan and NSWG performance reporting are more
enlightening than the similarities. The differences that can be observed, and will be
further discussed in section 5.4. are:

- extent of performance reporting effort: the NSWG experience is one in which greater
effort has been expended than in the case of Japan. The full SEAs project in the
NSWG has extended for 2 years and it has required significant resource input
whereas the Hokkaido effort is only at an embryonic stage given the large number of
projects capable of being subject to Time Assessment;

- motivation for changes in performance reporting: in the case of the NSWG
experience there has been a motivation for change from within the bureaucracy’
whereas in Japan the bureaucracy has been resistant to change and reluctantly drawn
along by public demand;

- role of central agencies in promulgating changed performance reporting: in the
NSWG context there was competition between central agencies for a main role in
improved performance reporting whereas in Hokkaido central agencies have not been
important;

- degree of accountability discharge resulting from performance reporting: the
discharge of accountability in the NSWG context is more comprehensive (although
still incomplete) than in Japan where the limited number of projects reduces the
scope of accountability discharge.

However, it should be noted that change in the NSWG context has been driven by an
accounting professor who has taken a part-time Chairmanship of a central agency.
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5.4. [Explanatory Factors

The case studies present evidence for and against the view advanced in section 5.1. of

this paper, that NPM-type change is dependent upon performance reporting changes and

that NPM provides an explanatory model from which to understand changes in per-
formance reporting. The evidence in support of this is mostly from the NSWG case
study:

- linking future performance reporting to the budgetary cycle: for example, the OCCG
comments that ‘significant longer term benefits of the SEAs project will be its
contribution to the development of performance measures as budgetary tools’
(OCCG, 998a: i-ii; PSMPC, 1997);

- explicitly linking performance measures to organizational change as a central
coordinating agency policy (Pierce & Puthucheary, 1997);

- emphasis given in performance measures to accounting based information (Walker,
1998: 117; OCCG, 1997a);

- unbundling the public sector is facilitated by production of performance measures
that go beyond organization unit but relate to government purpose (eg. the Law,
Order and Public Safety SEA Report measures performance of activities undertaken
by some 16 agencies; OCCG, 1997a).

Evidence against the argument that performance reporting changes act to underpin other

NPM changes is from both the NSWG and Hokkaido cases:

- whilst accrual accounting has been introduced as predicted by the NPM model, it has
not produced more useful performance measurement information (OCCG, 1996;
Guthrie, 1994; Guthrie, 1998a);

- instead of accountability requirements being discharged, there has been a tendency to
label information as ‘commercial in confidence’ to withhold performance measures
related to contracting out (and other information) from the public (ABC, 1998;
Harris, 1998; Zifcak, 1997);

- as the public sector has been unbundled into corporatized units, performance
reporting has not been standardized (or even overly useful) for these corporatized
units (Guthrie, 1994);

- the failure to audit performance measures in either NSW or Hokkaido (Guthrie &
Parker, 1998) does not reflect support for Hood’s 6™ doctrine;

- performance measures have inconsistent uses: published measures are not the same
as used in contract-based competitive provision (Harris, 1998) and different measures
of the same concept are used for different audiences without justification (OCCG,
1998a: 14);

- the underdeveloped nature of performance measures in NSW and especially
Hokkaido reflect at least a retardation behind other NPM changes and thus cannot be
said to be a prerequisite to those changes.

On balance the comparison of the two case studies shows that the NPM view is not
capable of fully explaining the observations. It does hold some explanatory power but it
needs complementing from additional views of this complex area. Three views worthy
of consideration are contingency theory, governance views and the role of epistemic
communities. Proof of the validity of these views is beyond the scope of this paper but
some conjecture is posed here to encourage further research.
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The Contingency Model of Accounting Innovation posits that the interactions between
four modules explains change: stimuli, structural variables of information users,
structural variables of information producers, and implementation barriers. On the face
of both the NSWG and Hokkaido cases there is support for the Contingency Model in
that the differences can be attributed to more favorable conditions in NSW for both
structural variables of information producers, and lower implementation barriers.
Nevertheless, the unknown is the extent to which these modules interact and so the
predictive ability of the Contingency Model is limited.

One factor which the Contingency Model specifically incorporates in its stimuli and in
its structural variables is the role of professional bodies. A refinement of this factor has
recently been posited by other authors in their argument that epistemic communities can
be an important part of a ‘middle range’ theory to explain public sector accounting
change (Laughlin & Pallot, 1998). The concept of an epistemic community can be
extended from Haas’ more limited view (1992: 3) to include structures such as the large
management consulting firms. These firms have been active in advising governments in
the adoption of NPM changes and as such are contemplated as being an important
explanatory factor. For example, Saint-Martin’s (1998) three-country study explains
variety in NPM changes as a result of differing influences exerted by management
consultants. In the same way the greater influence of management consulting firms in
NSW may explain why it has advanced its performance reporting beyond Hokkaido’s.
Clearly, this is not fully explanatory but it does seem to be informative.

A third complementary view to be added to NPM is that of governance. The dominant
feature of the governance model is that networks now control public policy partly
because of the crisis ridden delegitimated role of the State (Peters, 1998). Such a model
has similarities and differences to the NPM model and it can be found to be consistent
with selected parts of both the Contingency Model and a view on the role of epistemic
communities. Indeed, the NSW and Hokkaido cases support the governance view as a
explanation of both change and stability. In the NSW case the power of networks
extending beyond the State (and including epistemic communities such as international
management consulting firms) has been strong; in contrast, networks between the
bureaucracy and business in Japan has been stronger than other networks and so their
inclination to resist change has proven to be a barrier which has retarded change.
However, as shown by the Hokkaido case, such resistance is limited and is becoming
less important as accountability expectations rise.

The three explanatory views added to NPM are seen in the light of the case studies to be
plausible and certainly deserving of further research effort.

5.5. Conclusion

Performance reporting has changed in both NSW and Hokkaido at the same time that
other NPM changes have been observed. However, there are sufficient differences in the
observations to conclude that NPM alone cannot fully explain the path taken in the
performance reporting developments. There is apparent worth in adding contingency
theory, the role of epistemic communities and governance to our toolbox but additional
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work is required before we can be confident of the strength of these tools in explaining
complex matters such as the role of performance reporting in public sector accounting
change. In applying additional explanatory factors it is important to recognize that NPM
paths are varied across the many countries experiencing change in their public sector
accounting. The variety of paths is best understood by considering the context of the
governmental traditions of each relevant public sector.
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CHAPTER 6

CENTRAL GOVERNMENTAL ACCOUNTING OF EGYPT AND THE
NETHERLANDS: SIMILARITIES AND DIFFERENCES

Hassan A.G. Ouda

6.1. Introduction

No doubts that the nature and the structure of the accounting system in the governmental
entities differ from one country to the other, whereas this depends on the regulations, the
restrictions and the procedures which are applied in every country. As a result, it is
difficult to find uniform GAAP that can be applied in different countries or to set
standard procedures, which can serve all the countries in the same degree.
Notwithstanding there are differences among the governmental accounting systems;
these differences will be more apparent between the developed and developing countries.

This paper will give an overview of the central governmental accounting systems of
Egypt and the Netherlands. Egypt and the Netherlands are using different governmental
accounting systems, whereas Egypt is using the fund accounting system and the
Netherlands is using the cameralistic accounting system. Moreover, the legal and the
political system in both countries are different, and the Netherlands is one of the
developed countries while Egypt is among the developing countries. In addition, the
paper is structured as follows: In the first and second sections, a short overview of the
central government accounting systems of both the Netherlands and Egypt is given.
Herein, the following points are tackled: Legal framework for the central government
accounting; accounting system of the central government; bases of accounting and
measurement focus; and financial reporting and auditing. Thirdly, the aspects of
similarities between the two central government accounting systems are discussed.
Fourthly, the aspects of differences between both systems are discussed. Finally, the
paper discusses the reasons underlying the similarities and differences among the
government accounting systems.

6.2. Central Governmental Accounting of the Netherlands
6.2.1. LEGAL FRAMEWORK OF THE CENTRAL GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTING

The central government accounting regulation has been laid down in the Accounts Act
of 1976 (Bac, 1998). This act has replaced the Accounts Act of 192 6. In the course of
years the Accounts Act of 1976 has been adapted six times, the last adaptation was in
July 10, 1995. According to the Dutch public system, the Minister of Finance is carrying
the responsibility for the central government Accounts Act. Unlike the central
government, the Minister of Internal Affairs carries the responsibility for the decentral
government Accounts Act (by law).
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The Accounts Act of 1976 (including the latest [sixth] adjustment of July 10, 1995)
comprises the regulations of the central government budget. These regulations deal with
different aspects of the budget such as budgetary year, whereas this coincides with the
calendar year, and estimates, herein, the budgets include estimates of the commitments,
expenditures and receipts. Moreover, the budget regulation comprises other aspects such
as structure, compilation, timetables and the amendment of the budget. Also the Act of
1976 deals with the regulation concerning the financial and non-financial management
of the central government. This includes management of the central government budget,
herein, different Ministers are designated to manage different budgets. Moreover, the
regulation of the management of cash and non-monetary assets, bookkeeping and
auditing, and the recording of the commitments, expenditures and receipts are tackled in
this Act.

In this Accounts Act, the supervisory function of the Minister of Finance was further
elaborated, whereas the Minister of Finance exercises a supervisory function in respect
of budget implementation (Accounts Act, section 35), this function includes making
assessments in the light of general financial policy. Moreover, the Minister of Finance
determines the information to be supplied to him for the purposes of the supervisory
function and he exercises a supervisory function in respect of the structure of the
financial records and the audit process involved in budget implementation. In addition,
this Act tackles the regulation of the Court of Audit: whereas this includes the
membership and internal procedures of the Court of Audit, and the role and the task of
the Court of Audit within the central government. The Court of Audit is playing an
essential role within the central government. In this respect, it is scrutinising the
Ministers financial management and associated annual financial statements, and the
financial records kept for the said management and statements.

The Accounts Act also deals with the regulation of the central government financial
statements: these financial statements comprise the accounts of commitments,
expenditures and receipts and the trial balance as at December 31 relating to these
accounts, accompanied by explanatory notes. In addition, the Accounts Act comprises
the regulation of Agencies. This includes the agency budget, accounting system, and
financial statements. So the Netherlands has a legal framework for the central
government accounting that comprises the regulations which are required for organizing,
managing and controlling the budget process; determining the role and the task of the
Ministers and the Ministries within the central government; and discharging the
accountability for the resources which are entrusted to them.

6.2.2. ACCOUNTING SYSTEM OF THE CENTRAL GOVERNMENT

Dutch central government accounting system is organized and operated as a cameralistic
accounting system. The cameralistic accounting system is a non-balancing method that is
because it is a single-entry system. As a result, its internal control is not strong and its
scope is limited. According to the cameralistic accounting system, the subject of the
administration is the cash (het inkomen), under this system receipts are reported as being
earned in the accounting period in which they are received in cash. Expenditures are
deducted from receipts in the accounting period in which cash is disbursed in their
payment. As a result, net income is the difference between revenue receipts and
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expenditures disbursements. Moreover, no adjustments are made for prepaid, unearned,
and accrued items. In addition, no difference is made between current expenditures and
capital expenditures. So the cameralistic accounting system gives a survey about a
certain period in which the receipts and the expenditures have really occurred. And it
only takes into account the changes in cash position and nor claims and debts nor stocks
and changes in assets.

The cameralistic accounting system in the Dutch central government is developed from
the single entry to double entry and from cash based-accounting system, which is applied
in 1976 according to Accounts Act of 1976, to the cash-obligation based-accounting
system. The latter was a result of introducing the obligation basis in the administration of
the central government in 1987.

Furthermore, Dutch central government has attempted to use the accrual based-
accounting system within the central government through the establishment of several
agencies.

According to the Dutch government accounting system, the financial statements of the
central government entities must be seen in connection with the budget, whereas the
budget system/basis has fundamental influence on the establishment of the accounting
system, which will be used to administrate the budget. These financial statements are
budget execution (implementation) statements, which are based on a cameralistic
accounting system. Moreover, the cameralistic accounting system is called budget
bookkeeping. By the budget of the central government, the cash-obligation basis is used.
As a consequence, the cameralistic accounting system is a cash- obligation based-
accounting system. This is a two-fold system consisting of two elements as follows:

- a commitments (encumbrances) accounting system (obligation basis);

- an expenditures and receipts accounting system (cash basis).

The two elements should be kept with the budget registration (this includes: the multi-
year estimates/available budget amounts of commitments, expenditures and receipts) in a
close relationship to each other, in order to make it possible to provide information about
available budget space concerning commitments and expenditures. Furthermore, the
commitments and expenditure bookkeeping should be kept in close relation to each other
in order to give insight in the existing commitments. The two elements of the
cameralistic accounting system should be established and kept with a ledger account
system. Requirements of the efficiency and the control determine the way of the
establishment. There should be opened at least one ledger account c.q. subledger per
budget section.

In the commitments bookkeeping system the following ledger accounts can be

distinguished (see the regulations of departmental budget administration):

- commitments account inside the budget framework, in which the commitments are
chargeable to a budget section;

- commitments account outside the budget framework, in which the commitments may
be recorded in accounts outside the budget framework if the settlement takes place
with another sector of the central government or with a third party.
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Also in the expenditures and receipts bookkeeping system of a department (Ministry) the

following ledger accounts can be distinguished:

- expenditures and receipts ledger account inside the budget framework (for the
expenditures and receipts which are debited or credited on the budget section; there
is a separate ledger account for every expenditures and receipts budget section);

- expenditures and receipts ledger accounts outside the budget framework (those are
ledger accounts on which by exception expenditures and receipts are recorded. These
should not be debited or credited on the budget, because they can be settled with
third parties. These accounts are also called third parties accounts;

- financial accounts such as the accounts of cash money (liquide middelen) and current
account with the central head bookkeeping (rijkshoofdboekhouding [RHB]) which is
kept at the Ministry of finance;

- closing accounts with cash keepers, these are the accounts, which show the current-
account-relation with independent administration of the services belonging to the
department.

The accounting system of the central government is formed by the whole of the central
head bookkeeping (RHB), which is kept at the Ministry of Finance, to which are
attached the decentral receipts and expenditures bookkeeping which are kept at every
department (Ministry). The department receipts and expenditures bookkeeping are
connected to the central head bookkeeping (RHB) by current accounts, which are
included in every bookkeeping and the central head bookkeeping (RHB).

In connection with the cameralistic accounting system a numbers of extra- accounts are
kept. These are supportable accounts, which are kept in connection with and as
complementary on the other parts from the cameralistic accounting. This means that the
extra-accounts report on the financial assets and liabilities are not comprised in the
cameralistic accounting system. Herein one can think about debtors, creditors,
guarantees, stocks, rights, shares and advanced money (voorschotten). The extra-
accounts are needed because the control of accounts is often stretched over a period
larger than one budget year. While the concerned accounts inside the budget framework
are closed per calendar year, the settlement of the items such as creditors, debtors,
guarantee, etc. and the management of shares are stretched out over more years.
Moreover, the operations in the extra-accounts are not recorded according to the double
entry system.

In addition, if one part of a ministry is granted the status of agency, the budget and the
financial statements are based on an accrual basis. The characteristics of the accounting
system of the agency are largely coinciding with those of the commercial accounting
system. As a consequence, the financial statements are consisting of the profit and loss
account, and the balance sheet on which all assets (including physical assets) and
liabilities (including accrual liabilities) of the agency are mentioned.

6.2.3. BASES OF ACCOUNTING AND MEASUREMENT FOCUS
The accounting bases determine the elements to be recognized in the financial

statements. The measurement focus determines what is being measured. Different types
of measurement focus include total-economic resources concept, total financial-



Central Governmental Accounting of Egypt and the Netherlands 75

resources concept, current financial resources concept and cash flow and cash balances
concept. In the Netherlands the cash-obligation basis is used. This means that the central
government accounting system is organized to measure the flow of current financial
resources. It measures cash and obligations by recognizing transactions and events,
which have occurred by year-end and are normally expected to result in a cash receipt
and/or disbursement within a specific period after year-end. Furthermore, the total-
economic resources and total financial resources can not be measured according to the
accounting bases of the Dutch central government accounting system. Whereas the total
economic resources can only be measured through the using of accrual accounting, and
the total financial resources can only be measured by the use of modified accrual
accounting.

6.2.4. FINANCIAL REPORTING AND AUDITING

One of the main objectives of the financial reporting for government accounting is
demonstrating the accountability. Financial reporting should assist in fulfilling
government’s duty to be publicly accountable and should enable users to assess that
accountability by providing the relevant information.

According to the Dutch Accounts Act, each Minister is accountable for the management
of financial affairs and the use of financial resources entrusted to him. In other words, he
is fully responsible for the budget, which he manages. This budget is connected with
financial statements. These financial statements are important means by which each
Minister demonstrates his accountability.

By submitting the following documents the accountability of the Ministers is discharged:
1. provisional accounts;

2. financial statements of a Ministry;

3. financial statements of central government;

4. state balance sheet.

1. Provisional accounts
By March 1 of each year, the Minister of Finance submits to the State-General the
provisional accounts for the preceding year. These accounts give a survey about the
realized amounts of expenditures and receipts. Moreover, these accounts should be
seen as a discharge of the rough accountability, and not to start discussion about the
budget polices and results. So these accounts are nothing more and nothing less than
a provisional summary of the actual expenditures and receipts.

2. Financial statements of a Ministry

According to Accounts Act (section 65) the Ministers, each in respect of the budget

which he manages, should draw up the following financial statements:

- the accounts of the commitments, expenditures and receipts, accompanied by
explanatory notes;

- the trial balance as at December 31 relating to these accounts, accompanied by
explanatory notes.

These financial statements should give insight in the financial position of the

Ministry concerned at the end of the fiscal year. Moreover, it should help in making

evaluation of the budget policy and budget management, which are pursued during
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the budget year. In order to fulfil the above mentioned objectives, the accounts of
commitments, expenditures and receipts indicate for each budget sector, besides, the
actual amount, also the original estimates and the various changes to the estimates
made by Act of Parliament. The explanatory notes to the accounts provide for each
budget section an explanation of the policy pursued. The trial balance of a Ministry
comprises besides the monetary assets integrated in the cameralistic accounting
system, also the financial assets and liabilities that are not included in the
cameralistic accounting system. The above-mentioned accounts and trial balance
before to be submitted to the Minister of Finance should be accompanied by an
auditor’s report.

. Financial statements of central government

After the Minister of Finance has received the financial statements from all
Ministers, he draws up the financial statement of the central government as a whole.
This is an aggregation of the financial statements of the Ministries and comprises the
accounts of central government expenditures and receipts, accompanied, if necessary,
by explanatory notes and the central government trial balance as at December 31
connected with these accounts. Further, the Minister of Finance forwards by May 15
of the year following the budgetary year to the Court of Audit the following
documents:

- the financial statements of the ministries with the related auditor’s report;

- the comments that the documents referred to may prompt hem to make;

- the central government’s financial statement.

The Court of Audit draws up for each financial statement a report of the Audit it has
conducted. In this connection, the Court of Audit examines whether commitments,
expenditures and receipts have been made in accordance with budgetary legislation
and other statutory provisions and whether in general the requirements of order and
control have been met. Next, the Court of Audit draws up a statement of approval
relating to the central government financial statement. After the Final Acts have been
accepted by the Parliament, the accountability of the Ministers is discharged and the
financial management of the budget implementation concerning the previous
financial year is closed (Van Boven, 1995).

. State balance sheet (Staatsbalans)

Notwithstanding, the cameralistic accounting system and the accounting basis which
are used by the Dutch central government do not enable to draw up the balance sheet,
the State balance sheet is prepared by the central government. As from 1996, the
preparation of the State balance sheet takes place according to European basis/system
of national and regional accounts (ESR-95). The annual preparation of the State
balance sheet has the purpose of giving insight into the composition and size of the
net worth of the central government, the change in the net worth elements during the
last year, and the causes of increasing and decreasing the net worth balance. This
balance sheet is prepared at the end of the fiscal year using the trial balance of the
central government, on which the financial assets and liabilities are mentioned, and
using the statements of ministries regarding the goods under their control.

The balance of the assets and liabilities represents the net worth. This figure does not
represent the wealth of the State because there are several assets, which are financed
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by the central government budget such as tangible and intangible infrastructure
assets, which are not included in the State balance sheet. Moreover, this balance
sheet does not give a fair view of the financial position of the central government
(van Boven, 1995).

6.3. Central Government Accounting of Egypt

6.3.1. THE LEGAL FRAMEWORK OF THE CENTRAL GOVERNMENT ACCOUN-
TING

Before 12-04-1981, there was no legal framework for the government accounting in
Egypt. The government accounting was subjected to financial regulation of the budget
and accounts. This regulation is a group of instructions and periodical books issued by
the Ministry of Finance during different periods. This regulation was not formulated in a
form of law and, of course, did not have the power of law. As a consequence, the
accrued revenues that should be collected during the budgetary year are delayed and the
earmarked appropriations for the governmental units are not precisely followed and most
of the governmental units have expended more than their appropriations. This, in turn,
has led to an increase of the budget deficit. Therefore, there was an imperative for
enacting the Government Accounting Act NR. 27 of 1981. This Act aims at:

- setting the basic regulations of government accounting in central government units,
local government units and public services bodies instead of using a huge number of
instructions concerning the rules of expending, collecting and control;

- supporting the financial control on expenditures, whereas the Ministry of Finance is
authorized and empowered to exercise a pre-expending and post-expending control
on the operations of the government sector;

- providing the required information for the decision-making process in respect of
economizing the expenditures, developing the resources through setting the
regulation of follow-up the budget for the country and disclosing its results and
reporting on the budget performance;

- making guidelines for the government accounts that result in uniformity of
definitions and terminology and codification of accounts which leads to the use of
computers;

- making a combination between the cash basis and the accrual basis that is applied on
the investment budget according to the Act of establishment of the National
Investment Bank.

The Government Accounting Act NR 27 of 1981 comprises three parts as follows:
= Part 1: is concerned with determining the objectives of the government accounting
and where it should be applied. The objectives of government accounting according
to the Act 27 of 1981 are:
- fulfilling pre-expending financial control and an internal monitoring system
regarding the financial means of the governmental units which are subjected to
the Act 27 of 1981,
- economizing the expenditures;
- controlling the obligations of the governmental units and following-up the
redemption of it;
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- demonstrating the implementation results of the general budget of the country
and finally;
- furnishing the required information for determining the financial positions and
decision making.
Moreover, this part deals with the government accounts whereas these accounts are
divided into budget accounts, assets and liabilities accounts. Also this part deals with
the governmental units that are subjecting to the Government Accounting Act. These
units are central government, local government and public services bodies.
s Part 2: this part regulates the rules of expending and collection of the estimated
expenditures and revenues.
= Part 3: this part includes general rules. For instance, the accrued compensations and
salaries of the civil servant can be added to the general treasury if the civil servant
does not ask for them within five years from the accrued date.

6.3.2. ACCOUNTING SYSTEM OF THE CENTRAL GOVERNMENT

The accounting system of the governmental entities is considered to be the main
instrument required to carry out the financial operations that are performed by these
entities and for which the general budget is prepared in the form of dedicated
appropriations associated with the governmental expenditures and revenues of the
country. The government accounting system of Egypt means, according to the
Government Accounting Act NR 27 of 1981, a group of regulations and restrictions that
governmental entities have to follow in the implementation of the general budget for the
country and in recording and classifying the financial operations which are carried out
by those entities. Further on, it includes the rules of pre-expending financial control and
the internal monitoring system, and demonstrates and analyses the results that are
expressed by the financial positions and financial statements of the governmental entities
in order to give fair view of them.

The government accounting system of Egypt is uniform for the whole governmental
sector (includes central and local government). This system is organized and operated on
a fund basis. This means that the fund accounting system is used in governmental
entities. A fund is defined as an independent fiscal and accounting entity with a self-
balancing set of accounts recording cash/or other resources together with all related
liabilities, obligations, revenues, and equities which are segregated for purpose of
carrying on specific activity or attaining certain objectives in accordance with special
regulations, restrictions, and limitations (NCGA, 1968). This means that the concept of
allotted funds is consistent with appropriations of the governmental entities (Saraya,
1998). The appropriations, that are allotted in the general budget for purpose of carrying
on specific activity or attaining certain objectives, are earmarked funds to expend on
those objectives and activities within the limits of regulations, restrictions and Acts
which are applied in Egypt. Then the fund is a synonymous for appropriation. In some
countries the appropriations are divided into categories: general fund, special revenues
fund, working capital fund, special assessment fund, bond fund, trust and agency fund.
In Egypt, the appropriations are divided into two categories:
1. fundamental appropriations: these are the appropriations that are adopted according
to the Budget Act and their value is estimated in the beginning of the financial year;
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2. additional appropriations: these are the appropriations that should be added to the
fundamental appropriations in order to encounter contingent circumstances after
adopting of the budget. These appropriations are further segregated into
supplementary appropriations to cover any deficit in any item in the general budget
and exceptionally appropriations that should be approved by the People’s Council to
encounter specific circumstances.

According to the Act 27 of 1981, the government accounts are categorized into four

categories (Government Accounts Guideline):

1. budget accounts: these comprise the accounts of expenditures and resources
according to the budget classification. Whereas the budget is divided into current
budget and capital budget, further, the capital budget is divided into investment
budget and capital transfer budget;

2. assets accounts: these include the accounts of fixed and current assets and the
balances of current deficit;

3. liabilities accounts: this represents the obligations of the governmental entities for
third parties and among each other;

4. intermediate accounts: these are the accounts that are used for control purposes and
they should be cancelled as soon as their purpose is fulfilled.

The ingredients of the government accounting system of Egypt are:
1. control agency of government accounts;

2. documents of government accounting;

3. books and records of government accounting;

4. periodical reporting and financial reporting.

The first three elements can further be explained as follows:

1. Control agency of government accounts

The Ministry of Finance is responsible for controlling the government accounts in all
government entities included in the general budget: Ministries, local units, public
bodies, and financing funds. This control is performed through appointment of a
group of its officials by the government entities. The officials exercise the
supervisory function on the accounting units of the governmental entities; control the
implementation of the budget and audit its expenditures and revenues accounts and
submit the financial statements to the Ministry of Finance.

2. Documents of government accounting

Government accounting system of Egypt relies on a group of documents that have to
be used by all government entities that are subjected to the general budget Act,
whatever activities are performed by these entities. These documents are considered
to be enough to furnish an objective evidence for recording the financial operations
in the framework of line item budget (traditional budget). These documents are used
to record in accounting books and records; they are an important source of
information and they undertake a control role on the operations of the governmental
entities. These documents are categorized into:

- documents of original entry by which the financial operations can directly be

recorded in journals and ledger accounts;
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- supplementary documents which are enclosed in the documents of original entry
in order to enhance the operations of those documents.

These documents are divided, according to the nature of government operations, into

expenditure documents and revenues documents, store documents, and others.

. Books and records of government accounting

The government accounting system of Egypt requires that all governmental entities
included in the general budget should use a unified group of books and records of
accounting, controlling and statistics. Further, it is not allowed for these entities to
use new books of accounts, to make adjustments for these books, to open new forms
or to use the forms for purposes other than predetermined. These books and records
of government accounting are segregated into three parts as follows:

- part 1: journal books;

- part 2: ledger books;

- part 3: statistical and controlling books.

The first two parts represent the fundamental accounting books that, in turn,
represent the main structure of the government accounting system. The journal and
ledger books are used according to the double entry system. Part three: comprises a
group of statistical and controlling books which are used to furnish the required data
that can not be provided by the accounting books. These books do not use the double
entry system.

The aforementioned three parts will be tackled as follows:

» part 1: journals books: these books include a group of books which are used to
record the financial operations of the governmental entities based on the double
entry system. These books are:

- general journal book for expending forms (NR 244);

- general journal book for reconciliation;

- cash book.

s part 2: ledger books: these comprises:

- budget accounts: these are separated into ledger book of expenditures item
and ledger book of revenues items;

- general current accounts: such as, book of cash account, book of cheques,
book of bond, book of remittance and others;

- current accounts under reconciliation: these comprise the ledger books of debt
current accounts under reconciliation and of credit current accounts under
reconciliation;

- regular accounts: government accounting uses some of regular accounts to
furnish additional accounting information about the contingent rights and
obligations. For example, accrued accounts for the government (debt) and
account of prepaid amounts (debt);

- others.

= part 3: statistical and controlling books:

The government entities use statistical records besides the accounting books to

follow-up some certain aspects that are not available in the accounting records.

Furthermore, the main reason behind the use of these books is to compensate the
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lack, which emerges as a consequence of using the cash basis as an alternative of

the accrual accounting. These books are:

- encumbrances records;

- records of rent contracts of places and land,;

- records of contractors contracts;

- records of accrued debt of the government;

- statement of daily trail balance. This statement represents the daily trial
balance of financial operations of governmental entities and it is divided into
two sides: credit and debt. The debt side should equal the credit side at the end
of the day.

6.3.3. THE ACCOUNTING BASES AND MEASUREMENT FOCUS

By virtue of the Government Accounting Act NR 27 of 1981, the cash basis is applied
on the current budget with respect of expenditures and revenues and the accrual basis is
applied on the investment budget. The application of the accrual basis on the investment
budget means that the operations associated with the capital projects should be recorded
on basis of what is actually achieved as soon as this achievement is fulfilled whether it
was accompanied by the payments or not. On the other hand, the government
expenditure on purchases of fixed assets is treated as a current expenditure (they are
considered as assets to be consumed in the current fiscal year). Moreover, the cost of
such assets is not depreciated or allocated as an expense over their useful live.

Furthermore, the cash basis is not applied on all items of the current budget, especially;
the items that have given rise to obligations to a third party such as salaries and contracts
of contractors. Whereas the accrued obligations are charged on the current budget year,
despite the fact that they will be paid out in the following year. This means that the
current budget year is debited by the accrued obligations, which credit a trusts account at
the end of the year. In the following year, these obligations will be paid out of the trusts
account. Apart from what is above mentioned the government accounting system of
Egypt and its periodical-and financial reporting is organized to measure the monetary
position of the government. This means that the measurement focus according to the
aforementioned is on the cash balances and changes therein.

6.3.4. FINANCIAL REPORTING AND AUDITING

The financial statements are considered as an output of the accounting system of the
governmental entities. These statements have a certain form and content which are
determined by law. This depends heavily on the regulations and restrictions of each
country. Further, these statements should be submitted to the different parties. In Egypt,
these parties are the Ministry of Finance, Central Accounting Agency, and People’s
Council (Ahmed & Kamal, 1999). The main objective of the financial statements is to
determine the compliance with the budget regarding the appropriations and revenues,
which are adopted, and to indicate whether these appropriations and revenues were
obtained and utilized in accordance with legal and contractual requirements. According
to the articles No. 53, 56 and 57 of the Executive Manual of the Government Accounting
Act No. 27 of 1981, all governmental entities are required to submit the following
financial statements to the Ministry of Finance:
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approximate monthly follow-up reports of revenues and expenditures;

. monthly reports of revenues and expenditures, as well as the balances of financial

accounts;

quarterly reports of revenues and expenditures, as well as the balances of financial
accounts;

the end-of-year final account.

These financial statements will be dealt with as follows:

1.

Approximate monthly follow-up report of revenues and expenditures

This report should be submitted on the fourth day of the following month and it
comprises the value of revenues and expenditures that are recorded in the accounting
books until the last day of the month.

Monthly report of revenues and expenditures

Since the approximate monthly follow-up report is quickly prepared in order to
enable the Ministry of Finance to get a rough view of the financial positions of the
governmental entities at appropriate time, it is prepared before closing the accounts.
Further, this report does not include the balances of financial accounts.

As a consequence, the monthly report is prepared to show the actual financial
position of the governmental entities, moreover, it encompasses the opening and
closing balances of the treasury (fund) and the balances of the credit and debt
accounts. Furthermore, attached with this report is a statement that shows the still
existing amounts of credit and debt current accounts which exceed one thousand
pound and which are included in the credit current accounts under reconciliation and
debt current accounts under reconciliation. The governmental entities forward this
report to the Ministry of Finance in the tenth day of the following month.

Quarterly reports of revenues and expenditures

This report should be presented every three months and it comprises the
expenditures, revenues and the balances of the financial accounts of this period. In
addition to that, it includes the expenditures, revenues and the balances of the
financial accounts of the preceding three-quarters. Further, it should be forwarded to
the Ministry of Finance on the tenth day of the following month. As for the last
quarter report that will be sent according to the time, which is fixed by the Ministry
of Finance this usually is two months after the end of the financial year.

The end-of-year final account

This final account is prepared after the end of the financial year in order to show the
actual expenditures and revenues and the surplus or deficit if it exists. The actual
expenditures and revenues are compared with the adopted expenditures and revenues
in the budget in order to demonstrate to what extent the government entities have
complied with spending mandates and the financing of activities. In addition, the
final account encompasses the obligations of the country to third parties and its rights
by third parties at the end of the financial year. The final account is prepared in the
light of the periodical book that is issued by the Ministry of Finance. On the other
hand, copies of all the aforementioned financial statements should be sent to the
Central Agency for Accountancy (CAA). The Central Agency for Accountancy is an
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independent auditing body that reports directly to the People’s Council, it carries out
the continuous and final audits of the records, accounts, and financial statements of
all governmental entities and enterprises owned by the government. Adopting the
financial statements by the People’s Council results in the accountability of the
Minister of Finance and other governmental entities being discharged.

6.4. Aspects of Similarity between the two Central Government Accounting

Systems

It is obvious from the overview that there are some aspects of similarity between the
central government accounting systems of Egypt and the Netherlands.
These similarities are:

1.

Both central government accounting systems have a legal framework

This contains the regulations, restrictions and limitations which are considered as an
imperative to attain an effective control on the expending of appropriations and
collection of revenues; to strengthen the internal monitoring system; to avoid the
expenditures which have no real justification; to follow-up the budget
implementation and disclose its results and reports on its performance. Since the
main objective of the government accounting system is to demonstrate the
accountability, it will be difficult to demonstrate this accountability in the absence of
the legal framework that sets forth the ingredients and the limits of that
accountability. For instance, the government accounting of Egypt had no legal
framework until the beginning of 1981, and this has resulted in serious distortions
and extravagance. Obviously this has led to an increase in the budget deficit and the
delay of the development plans and the privatisation program. Worthwhile, the
Netherlands has the precedence in setting a legal framework for the central
government accounting in comparison with Egypt. Whereas the first Government
Accounts Act for the Netherlands was in 1927.

Both systems are using the line item budget (traditional budget)

The traditional government budget is an aggregation of line items or inputs such as
rent, maintenance, salaries, expenses, and the like. So this budget system stresses
inputs rather than outputs, it provides data on what government consumes instead of
data about what government does or about purposes for which money is spent.
Moreover, the appropriation for each input such as salaries, rent, etc. does not
indicate the relationship between expenditures and results and this prohibits the
formulation and execution of economically meaningful budgetary policy (Ouda,
1997). The only use of the traditional budget without moving to or making a
combination with other budget methods such as program-performance budgeting is
considered as a main obstacle in developing the two government accounting systems.

The Netherlands has attempted to apply performance budgeting in central
government in accordance with the Budget Act 1976. This Act contains the
regulations according to which performance budgeting should be applied wherever
this is possible and useful. But this attempt has failed. The main reasons behind this
failure were (Bac, 1994):
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- shortage of personnel;

- lack of interest for the instrument in the services and in official and political top-
management;

- lack of an analysis of the information needed;

- insufficient stimulating and co-ordinating by the steering group.

However, we see that the substantial reason underlying the failure of the application

of the performance budget in the central government was the adoption of the cash

basis instead of the accrual basis, whereas the nature and the requirements of the

performance budget is consisted with the implication and concept of the accrual

basis.

In Egypt, according to Budget Act No. 53 of 1973, the government entities are
required to set their activities in the form of programs. This means that these entities
should prepare program budgets for their activities, this in addition to the current and
capital budget. This was an initial step to switch from the traditional budget to the
program-performance budget. However, up till now this attempt did not assist in
switching to program-performance budgeting.

The cash basis is considered as an overriding accounting basis by the two
government accounting systems

The use of cash basis by both systems is the result of the fact that the traditional
budget is used by the two systems. The nature and the requirements of the traditional
budget are consistent with the implication and concept of cash basis. Furthermore,
the use of the cash basis has led to serious distortions and the miss of important
information.

Both systems are using the double entry system

As pointed out earlier, the cameralist accounting system which is used by the central
government of the Netherlands is a single entry system. But this system is developed
from single entry to double entry. On the other hand, the fund accounting system,
which is used by central government accounting of Egypt, is originally a double
entry system.

Both systems are segregating the government accounts into two categories

These are budget accounts and others than the budget accounts. In the Netherlands
the budget accounts encompass the estimates of commitments, expenditures and
receipts. The other accounts are called Extra-accounts; this includes the accounts of
debtors, creditors, shares, guarantee, advanced money, and stocks. On the other hand,
in Egypt, the budget accounts includes the estimates of expenditures and revenues.
The other accounts comprise the assets accounts, liabilities accounts, and
intermediate accounts.

6. Fixed assets are not capitalized by the two systems, hence, depreciation is not

recognized

This is a natural consequence of using the cash basis by both systems. Whereas there
is no difference made between the capital expenditures and current expenditures and
all expenditures are considered as costs of a given year.
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6.5. Aspects of Differences between the two Systems

In addition to the aforementioned similarities there are some aspects of differences
between the two systems as follows:

1. Both systems are using different accounting systems

The cameralistic accounting system is used by the central government of the

Netherlands (see section 6.2.2). This system is not divided into separate funds and

the accounting system is considered as a whole. Further, a program called in Dutch

‘Operatie Comptabel Bestel’ supplemented this system. This program has assisted in

improving the cameralistic accounting system. But in principle, this system is

primitive; it is subjected to constant changes. This system has three variants:

a. old cameralistic: Herein, only the real made receipts and expenditures are
recorded;

b. the new cameralistic: As well the real made receipts and expenditures as the
anticipated and deferred entries are registered;

c. the improved cameralistic: This is the new cameralistic system supplemented
with the accrual accounting (Volmer, 1992). The Dutch central Government is
using the second variant. Moreover, this system has a limited scope and its
internal control is not strong. Inherent to the system, it is not possible to prepare a
balance sheet because the system does not support it.

The fund accounting system is used by the central government of Egypt. This system
is divided into different funds, each fund is considered as a separate accounting
entity, a complete self-balancing group of accounts should be established and
maintained for each fund. This group should include all general ledger accounts and
subsidiary records necessary to reflect compliance with legal provisions and to set
forth the financial position and results of financial operations of the fund. In Egypt,
the classification of the appropriation is departed from, within a certain limit, what
other countries for instance USA and UK adopt. Whereas the appropriation is divided
into two categories: Fundamental appropriation and supplemented appropriation.
Moreover, the fund accounting system provides, in comparison with the cameralistic
accounting system, detail information and its control system is strong.

2. Both systems are using different accounting bases

In the Netherlands, the cash-obligation basis is used by the central government
accounting system. We see that the contents and implication of this system have
almost the same contents and implication of modified cash basis. While the cash
basis recognizes the transactions and events only when cash has been received or
paid (IFAC, 1991), the obligation basis records transaction when goods and services
are ordered and thus represents obligations incurred by government. On the other
hand, the modified cash basis measures the cash and obligations by recognizing
transactions and events which have occurred by year-end and are normally expected
to result in a cash receipts and/or disbursement within specific period after year-end
(IFAC, 1993). So it can be concluded that the cash-obligation basis is a synonymous
for the modified cash basis. Hence, the modified cash basis is applied by the central
government accounting system of the Netherlands with the exception of the agencies,
which are using accrual accounting.
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In Egypt, the budget is divided into a current budget and a capital budget. The cash
basis is applied on the current budget and on capital transfer budget, while the
accrual basis is applied on the investment budget. Unlike, the Netherlands, the part of
a Ministry, which is granted the status of agency, its budget and financial statements
are based on the cash basis.

. Different measurement focus

The central government accounting of the Netherlands is organized to measure the
flow of current financial resources and changes therein. This means that this system
is organized to furnish information about cash flow during the period, those
obligations that must be met within a short period from reporting date and current
cash balances and receivables available to meet these obligations.

Unlike, the central government accounting of Egypt is organized to measure the
monetary position of the government. In other words, it measures cash flows and
balances (changes therein). This means that this provides information on cash
receipts, cash disbursements and cash balances. Furthermore, it furnishes information
on what is actually achieved from the capital projects as a consequence of the
application of accrual accounting on the investment budget.

. Different control and auditing system
In Egypt, the Ministry of Finance is the main body that is responsible for the internal
control system on the government entities. Its officials who are appointed at all the
government entities perform the internal control. The officials are authorized to
control the financial operations associated with the budget implementation process of
these entities. In addition, there are other bodies participating in the control and
auditing process. These are:

- Central Agency of Accountancy: this is responsible for the external auditing;

- Central Agency for Organization and Management: this is responsible for
determining the governmental entities needs of human resources. This affects
the appropriation of wages. This means that it is controlling the appropriation of
wages by the government entities;

- Control Agency of Administration: this agency aims at pursuing the fraud and
stealing of the public money, hence, it is participating in financial control on the
public money;

- Ministry of planning: this Ministry prepares the development plan for the country,
it performs the control task on this plan, whereas it follows-up the carrying out of
the capital projects in accordance with appropriated costs and determined
timetable.

Notwithstanding, the budget implementation process is controlled and scrutinized by

many people, who act as ‘multiple checks’, the control and auditing process is neither

efficient nor effective.

Unlike Egypt, in the Netherlands each Ministry has its internal control system. This
is addressed to daily and operational procedures concerning the financial
management. It also aims at avoiding the mistakes and irregularity (Kraak, 1997).
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In addition, there is an internal Audit Department (DAD); this is given the task of
auditing the financial management and the financial statements thereon. The Audit
Department should prepare an auditor’s report about the budget implementation
process of the Ministry concerned. Moreover, the Court of Audit is an external
auditing agency. However, the Netherlands has less control and auditing bodies than
Egypt, but it does not mean that the control and auditing process of Egypt is more
efficient and effective than that of the Netherlands.

5. Different financial reporting
There are many differences between the two countries regarding the financial
reporting. These differences are concerned with the contents of the financial
reporting; numbers of statements and the reporting date. The financial statements are
only submitted at the end of the financial year to the Dutch Ministry of Finance. The
statements comprise:
- provisional accounts;
- financial statements of a Ministry;
- financial statements of central government;
- state balance sheet.

Unlike, in Egypt, some financial statements should be submitted monthly and

quarterly to the Ministry of Finance. In addition, the final account should be

submitted at the end of the fiscal year. These statements encompass:

- approximate monthly follow-up reports of revenues and expenditures;

- monthly reports of revenues and expenditures, as well as the balances of financial
accounts;

- quarterly reports of revenues and expenditures, as well as the balances of
financial accounts;

- the end-of-year final account.

6.6. The Reasons underlying the Similarities and Differences among the
Government Accounting Systems

Since the environment of the government accounting has been influenced by different
factors, there is no standard or uniform government accounting system that can be used
by all countries. On the other hand, there are some countries, which use the same
government accounting system; for instance, Germany, the Netherlands and Austria use
the cameralistic accounting system. But the contents and ingredients of this system are
somewhat different in these countries. Also there are some countries that use different
government accounting system; for instance Egypt uses the fund accounting system and
the Netherlands uses the cameralistic accounting system, notwithstanding, there are
some aspects of similarities. So the differences and similarities can be found whether the
same or different government accounting systems have been used. Further, the degree of
similarity and difference is variable. This depends on different factors. Herein, we pose
the following question:

Why might government accounting systems be similar or differ among the countries?

We see that the following reasons or factors underlie the aspects of the similarities and
differences among the government accounting systems:
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political system;

legal system;

degree of the development, culture and consciousness of the people;

qualification of the staff that is required to develop and implement the government
accounting system,;

the language influence;

the colonialism influence.

These factors can be explained in short as follows:

1.

Political system

The nature of the political system whether it is democratic or dictatorial has a
substantial influence on the development of the government accounting systems,
hence, on the similarities and differences of these systems. Moreover, the formation
of the political system whether this is a coalition or not can affect the government
accounting systems. However, how can the government affect the government
accounting? So if the government does not like to report bad news, it will change the
rules used to measure and report financial information.

For instance, one government would like to measure the monetary position of the
country, while others would like to measure the flow of current resources, total
financial resources or economic resources. This relies heavily on to what extent the
government would like to disclose the truth, whether it is positive or negative, for its
people’s and to be responsible for its actions.

Legal system

The degree of the flexibility of the legal system affects the government accounting
systems, hence, their similarities and differences. So if a certain government wants to
develop or to make some changes of the government accounting system, these
changes can not be made without legal supporting. If the legal system is inflexible,
this will result in delaying or not making these changes. On contrary, if the legal
system 1is flexible changes are possible. Then, the flexibility and inflexibility of the
legal system affect the similarities and differences among government accounting
systems.

Degree of the development, culture and consciousness of the people

Whenever the people are developed and have a high degree of their consciousness,
they will be able to elect their real representatives and to hold them accountable for
the resources entrusted to them. On the other hand, the representative will take into
consideration that their people have reached a degree of consciousness that enables
them to measure or evaluate the performance of the government. Therefore, the
government should choose the appropriate rules used to measure and report the
financial information that are consistent with the degree of the culture and
consciousness of their people.

Qualification of the staff that is required to develop and implement the government
accounting systems

The lack of qualified accountants is critical for government accounting changes. This
also assists in making the differences and the similarities of the government
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accounting between the developed and developing countries. Whereas it has been
noticed from the experience of different countries that the personnel with qualified
knowledge in government accounting are scarce (Ouda, 1999). Especially developing
countries face a serious shortage of qualified trained accounting personnel. That
explains why most of the developing countries are still using the cash basis and
traditional budget in their government accounting systems. Therefore, most of the
government accounting systems of the developing countries are in somewhat similar.

5. The language influence
It has been noticed that most of the Anglo-Saxon countries are using the fund
accounting system in their government sector. On the other hand, most of Roman-
Germanic countries such as Germany, the Netherlands, Austria, etc. are using the
cameralistic accounting system. This means that the language can affect the aspects
of the similarity and difference of the government accounting systems among the
countries.

6. Colonialism influence
The colonialism influence can add one more reason for why a certain country uses a
fund accounting system or a cameralistic accounting system. Most of the colonialism
countries have imposed their accounting system on the occupied countries. For
example, Egypt was a colony of England; therefore, the Egyptian government
accounting system has been based on the British fund accounting system.
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CHAPTER 7

ACCOUNTING AND DEMOCRATIC GOVERNANCE:
A COMPARATIVE STUDY OF ONE NORWEGIAN
AND ONE RUSSIAN COUNTY

Anatoli Bourmistrov and Frode Mellemvik

7.1. Introduction

Accounting is a social construction which can be found in all types of organizations, e.g.
private and public. It cannot be isolated from its context, e.g. the social processes
operating in and around organizations (Mellemvik et al., 1988; Hoopwood, 1983). In this
sense, accounting is context influenced and vice versa (see e.g. Grenhaug et al., 1997,
Garrod & McLeay, 1996). Through the process of interaction with its context accounting
becomes institutionalized (Bergevéam, 1995).

Local governments are public institutions which operate in a specific context, i.e.
institutions which combine reflection and action as basis for legitimation (Brunsson,
1985 and 1989). From one side, these institutions are supposed to be democratically
govemed, i.e. the expression of political ideas and decisions and talk about future actions
are important for the electorate. From another side, these organizations are responsible
for production of public services to the local population. These two sides are supposed to
be closely interlinked - actions are reflected in accounts and ideas are reflected in
budgets.

Accounting is meant to connect dimensions of the past and the future (Mellemvik &
Olsen, 1996). Interpretations and explanations of past experiences are said to be given by
accounts (Meyer, 1986). Accounts are in this way important because they (March and
Olsen, 1995; p. 46) ° ... make actions imaginable and consequences interpretable by ...
[defining] the meaning of history, the options available, and the possibilities for action.
Accounts are used both to control events and to provide reassurance that events are
controllable’. Accounting can also help to fill the gap between the worlds of decisions
and actions (Hogheim et al., 1989; Olsen, 1997). Thus, accounting is not only important
as an instrument of formal registration of the past, but as an instrument which allows
learning to be introduced into financial management processes.

Politicians are seen to be major users of municipal accounting information (Brunsson &
Jonsson, 1979; Olson, 1983). Accounting is meant to function as a tool for politicians in
their decision-making and for other governance purposes. The rise of the ‘new’ public
management and ‘new’ public financial management reforms could be, for instance,
understood, as a respond to the fact that municipal accounting techniques had became so
complicated that politicians could not understand the accounts (Olson et al., 1998).
Politicians in general do not have and are not meant to have accounting competence, i.e.
91
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especially not detailed knowledge about accounting techniques. Rather they have
competence in governance.

The relation between municipal accounting and governance has therefore been
characterized by tensions, e.g. accounting is supposed to be used for the political
governance but is too complicated to be useful for politicians. The recent development of
‘new’ public management may even be regarded as a way of trying to overcome these
tensions. The problem is, however, that the solutions found in ‘new’ public management
mostly are copies of business companies, i.e. organizations that are not meant to be
democratically governed. If accounting should contribute to democratic governance, it is
important that politicians could easily understand the accounts, and that the accounting
information reflects what is relevant for the politicians.

There has not been much accounting research in the area of exploring nature of these
tensions between democratic governance and accounting. That is why, in this paper we
discuss the interrelationships between accounting and democratic governance in two
local governments, one in Norway (Nordland county) and one in Russia (Lenigrad
county).

In order to discuss the interrelationship between accounting and democratic governance
we have structured our paper in the following way. Firstly, we will discuss how to
understand accounting and democratic governance from different perspectives.
Secondly, we will describe method and methodology of our study. The formal political
and accounting systems of Nordland county and Leningrad county will be described in
the third part of the paper. The paper ends with a discussion and analysis of
interrelationships and tensions between accounting and democratic governance.

7.2. Frame of Reference

In this frame of reference we will discuss the concepts accounting and democratic
governance as well as interrelationships between these concepts based on different
theoretical approaches found in the contemporary research literature.

7.2.1. ACCOUNTING

Accounting can generally be characterized as having several important features, and
could be studied from several perspectives. Because we focus on accounting and
democratic governance we firstly will emphasize that accounting is about relations, i.e. it
reflects relations between the principal and the agent. Accounting is about giving
accounts for some actions to someone. The intended function of accounting is to be a
language which facilitates the reduction of uncertainty in a principal-agent relation in
order to improve accountability, stewardship, control and decision making (Mellemvik et
al., 1988). In this sense, accounting reflects relationships between different parties with
different interests, i.e. according to Ijiri (1975) these parties could be described as the
principal (accountor), agent (accountee) and accountant.

A second element of accounting that is important when studying accounting and
democratic governance is that accounting is a language which is meant to allow
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communication between the parties involved, e.g. between politicians and
administration. Accounting has its own means of communication, e.g. verbally through
texts. Accounting textbooks underline that accounting is a language. As to any other
language, accounting can be given some general characteristics. Any language is a
system of written symbols, like several conceptual words, quantities and numbers
associated with economic transactions, which might be arranged in a pattern matter
through the rules of grammar and used for the purpose of communication (Hawes,
1972). Through the rules of the accounting ‘grammar’ the accounting ‘sentences’ are
formed, e.g. numbers and texts are combined. Through such a process the text receives
its qualitative features. The intended reader (the principal) of the text constructed by the
accountor is meant to receive information about the past actions of the accountee. The
accounting language is, however, constructed on an analytical view of the world
(Mellemvik et al., 1988). There is no uncertainty in the ‘grammatical’ technology, e.g.
double-entry record keeping clearly based on certain causal effects of the single
transaction (Jjiri, 1975). In this sense, the accounting language is built on a logic of
consequentiality. Levitt & March (1988) showed that this kind of logic is applied when
behavior can be described as driven by preferences of actions and expectations of their
consequences. Intentions and the calculations of different choices are major
characteristics of this logic.

Though the grammar of accounting is solid and consequentiality oriented, the text of the
accounting report - as all kind of texts - is given for interpretation. To guide
interpretations of accounting texts rules of accounting presentation are formalized, i.e.
norms and standards are created to guarantee the quality of the text. However, these
norms and standards reflect different traditions, i.e. the accounting language is
characterized by different dialects, accents and pronunciations. It is for sure not
harmonized between nations or organizations. Moreover, different users of an
accounting report might even interpret the same report in different ways (e.g. Macintosh,
1985; Mellemvik, 1997).

Such consideration leads us to a third element of accounting that is important when
studying accounting and democratic governance, i.e. accounting is a social construction
and cannot be isolated from its context. In this sense, accounting is context influenced
and through the process of interaction with its context accounting became
institutionalized. At the societal level such institutionalization processes can be
described as interaction between accounting practices and accounting norms and
standards (Nobes, 1991; Hopwood and Page, 1987; Watts and Zimmerman, 1979).
Institutionalization might proceed through different mechanisms, e.g. through coercive,
mimetic and normative processes (DiMaggio and Powel, 1983) and through hierarchical
and ideological learning (Bergeviérn et al., 1995).

7.2.2. DEMOCRATIC GOVERNANCE

Democratic governance is a complex concept combining two other complex concepts -
democracy and governance. Democracy has a direct meaning of a form of government in
which the people rule, i.e. it originates from Greek demokratia where demos represents
people and kratos - rules. However, there exists a great variety of different models both
in theory and in practice of what is democracy (Held, 1987). The contemporary
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understanding of democracy is associated with the existence of at least the following

features:

1. government legitimacy is based on a claim of doing what people want;

2. political representatives are elected regularly from a number of several alternative
candidates;

3. all adult population can participate in secret elections, and

4. freedom of speech, press and assembly exists (e.g. Powell, 1982).

Through the elections, different democratic bodies or political institutions (with high or

low autonomy) are formed with the intended function of making decisions for related

constituencies. These bodies can be formed at different governmental levels which

interact in different ways, e.g. counties and municipalities. In this way democracy is

linked to representation and structure between representatives and bodies.

Another important aspect of democracy is about continuous interaction between
individuals, organizations and ideologies where sometimes conflicting aims are pursued,
e.g. interests of majority and minority groups are conflicting. In this interaction,
information represents an important factor for setting up ways of handling conflicts
(Brunsson & Jonsson, 1979). In this way democracy is about processes which require
information openness.

Governance can be identified as a synonym to the word government, i.e. a process or
activity of governing (Finer, 1970). There exist, however, other understandings of the
phenomena (Rhodes, 1997), e.g. corporate governance (where governance is about
giving overall directions), the new public management (where governance is seen as
steering), self-organizing networks (where governance is defined in relation to
management of networks). What is common, however, to all such views is that the
governance generally is about to take care of interests of many, about the future and a
model of handling decisions.

The concepts of democracy and governance are combined when one talks about
democratic governance. The governance part of the phenomena stands for models of
finding solutions or a way of handling problems (e.g. reforms, decisions) in the future in
the interest of many. The democracy part stands for representation, a structure of the
representative bodies in the society, information openness and participation, e.g. the
decisions should be made openly in the interests of many by elected representatives.

Democratic governance is, thus, built much on a logic of appropriateness, i.e. the logic
which involves consideration of future actions’ legitimacy and matching procedures to
the situation (Levitt & March, 1988). March and Olsen (1995; 1989) point out that this
logic is reflected in existing rules, identities and roles, which define what is acceptable,
right, appropriate and desirable in the society. Thus, the future action might be
determined by a conception of necessity and appropriateness in connection to existing
rules.

7.2.3. ACCOUNTING AND DEMOCRATIC GOVERNANCE

Evidently, there are many tensions between accounting and democratic governance. For
instance, accounting is about the recognition of clear principal-agent relations (e.g.
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shareholders-manager). Democratic governance, however, emphasizes several principal-
agent relations between different kind of principals, e.g. electorate-politicians and, in its
turn, politicians-administration. The question is then what principal accounting focuses
on in organizations characterized by democratic governance?

Accounting technology is certain and based on a logic of consequentiality. On the
contrary, democratic governance is based on a logic of appropriateness. The question is
then how a language based on a logic of consequentiality is applied in context of actions
and behavior based on a logic of appropriateness?

Accounting often implies that some authorized norms have to be applied. The question is
then who determines norms and rules for the accounting language that have to be used
by democratically governed institutions?

Such questions indicate the complexity of issues involved into the discussion of tensions
between democratic governance and accounting. In the following section we will present
how we have approached the study of relations between democratic governance and
accounting.

7.3. Research Methodology

In order to explore the stated purpose of the paper, i.e. to discuss the interrelationships
between accounting and democratic governance, we used frame of reference to
construct, structure and analyze our empirical descriptions. The research purpose of the
paper is exploratory with focus on interpretation and understanding.

7.3.1. RESEARCH SETTING

Two counties, one in Russia (Leningrad oblast’) and one in Norway (Nordland fylke)
and their political/administrative and accounting systems were used as our research
setting. There are at least two different reasons for this choice. First of all, we as one
Russian and one Norwegian researchers know these counties very well. There are
similarities and differences between these counties which give an opportunity to study
interrelation between accounting and democratic governance in two different contexts.
Norway has a relatively long history of representative democracy (since 1834). On the
contrary, representative democracy in Western understanding in Russia is a relatively
new phenomena which was introduced in 1990 after the 70 years of totalitarian
Communist Party leadership. Counties in both countries have different functions in the
governmental hierarchy. Public sector accounting is also expected to develop differently
in these two countries.

Secondly, this paper is a part of a bigger project. According to policy of Norwegian
Ministry of Foreign Affairs, one of the important elements of the activity program for
Eastern Europe is assistance in the development of democracy. Representatives of
Nordland county have initiated a project which intended to give assistance to its sister
county in Russia. The main idea of the project is to transfer theoretical and practical
competence which Norwegians have within fields of democratic governance and
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financial management. This study, at its beginning stage, was seen as a preliminary work
towards identifying relevant areas for the cooperation.

7.3.2. DATA

In order to explore the state research purpose of the study, we collected, analyzed and
presented data on democratic governance and accounting system in two counties. Some
data was easily accessible and openly published, for example, norms on local
governmental accounting. To obtain some, however, it was necessary to work in achives
and to use personal networks, e.g. personal characteristics of politicians. We have also
conducted several interviews (e.g. face-to-face and telephone) especially in order to
verify that our understandings and interpretation of information were correct.

Based on a theoretical frame of reference we have operationalized and, consequently,
collected data on concepts of democratic governance and accounting system in the way
shown in table 7.1. For each county, we presented general characteristics like size,
population, number of municipalities. After that, each county’s political and accounting
systems have been given characteristics, presented in the table.

Representation highlights the questions of how elections are made and who is elected
into local governmental bodies, i.e. descriptions of system of elections as well as charac-
teristics of politicians, like sex, age, occupational background. Autonomy concerns the
organization and its independence of other organizations. For local governments autono-
my is associated with self-government and the degree of independence from the state.
The interconnection between functions and tasks of the county, its municipalities and the
state was an important dimension to describe. Through descriptions of the formal politi-
cal and administrative structure, we could picture how the political and administrative
institutions are organized and how these institutions are interrelated. Finally, we tried to
present and analyze information on how often politicians are gathered into assemblies
and meetings, how many cases are and nature of cases discussed.

Characteristics of Democratic Governance Characteristics of Accounting

- Representation (e.g. election system, characteristics | - Relations (e.g. for whom the accounting
of politicians) reports are prepared)

- Autonomy and structure (e.g. functions of local - Language and communication (e.g. the
government, interrelation with state and frequency of report’s
municipalities, number of political/administrative presentation, contents of annual reports,
institutions within local government) technical accounting system)

- Information (e.g. number of council meetings, - Institutionalization (e.g. ways in
number of cases discussed, nature of cases and development of new systems, practices and
decisions) norms)

Table 7.1.:  Characteristics of Democratic Governance and Accounting

When characterizing accounting in a local government, we have focused on descriptions
of the following characteristics: relations, communication, and institutionalization.
Relations deal with who is accountor and who is accountee in the local government.
Communication and language characteristics included frequency of reports presentation,
the qualitative characteristic of reports as well as some descriptions of the accounting
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technical system. We, however, mainly analyzed annual reports in the following
qualitative dimensions: number of statements included, nature and type of statements,
content of statements, means of information presentation (verbal/graphic). We have also
been interested in general characteristics of accounting system, e.g. how economic
transactions are generally recorded and summarized. Finally, we also discussed the
institutionalization of accounting by referring to development in local governmental
accounting norms and practices and their interactions.

7.4. The Case of Leningrad County (Oblast’), Russia

Leningrad county is situated around the City of St. Petersburg in North-West Russia.
The size of the total territory is 85.900 km® which is populated by 1,7 millions of
inhabitants. County’s administrative-territorial division comprised 17 regions and 6
cities of county’s subordination. However, since the beginning of local governmental
reform and approval of the Municipal Code in 1995, 29 municipalities' were established
in 1996 according to the preferences of the local population. The size, population and
financial potential of such municipalities vary, however, much more considerably than
before the process of transition started.

In a new Federal structure, the county is one of 89 rightful subjects of the Russian
Federation. Its rights, functions and obligations are regulated by the Russian Constitution
(1993), Federal Treaty? (1993) and Statute of Leningrad county (1997). The legal and
functional relations as well as division of responsibilities between county and its
municipalities are determined by the Statute of Leningrad county and Statutes of each of
the municipality.

7.4.1. FUNCTIONS OF COUNTY GOVERNMENT

These laws define what kind of responsibilities, or what we also refer to as functions,
governmental authorities should have at different governmental levels, i.e. the state,
subjects of the Federation (e.g. counties) and municipalities. From the texts of these
documents, the county should perform several functions. First of all, the county
government is seen as an agent of the state power in the Russian Federation, e.g. it has to
provide correspondence of all locally issued norms and laws to the Constitution and
Federal Laws. It is also supposed to participate in the development and realization of
some Federal programs. Secondly, government in the county plays the role of guarantist,
e.g. on behave of the state power the county should protect human rights and freedom of
the citizens on the county territory; guarantee the acceptable level of living for citizens
introduced by the Federal standards. Thirdly, a county has some functions which
emphasize its autonomy, e.g. the right to approve county’s own laws, to develop and
utilize county’s natural resources, to make international economic contacts.

To perform such functions, on the county’s territory, ‘... both state government and local
self-government are executed’ (The Statute of Leningrad County, 1997; Article 3, p. 2).

In Russia they are called municipal formations (municipal 'nie obrazovaniya).
The Federal Treaty is a special agreement between authorities of all subjects of the Russian
Federation and the Federal authorities.

2
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The state power is executed by the population through, first of all, the forms of direct
democracy (i.e. referendums and democratic elections), secondly, through the
functioning of the representative councils and the administration, and finally, through the
courts. Local self-government is guaranteed through formation of municipalities in rural
and urban regions, where issues of local importance in jurisdiction of local authorities
are considered.

Thus, the duality of governance in Leningrad county is a major characteristic where both
state governance and local self-governance are emphasized. These two forms of
governance are interactive. From one side, self-governance assumes the local autonomy
for county and municipalities by handling local issues in their jurisdiction. County and
municipalities are having authority only over the issues of local importance and tasks
which are given to them by the state. From the other side, county government acts also
as an agent of the Federal authorities when e.g. implementing Federal programs.

There are many different activities that a county usually is responsible for, e.g. financing
of professional schools, large hospitals, public transportation, majority of fire
departments (Wallich, 1993). However, through the system of fund transfers, county
government might influence the level of public services produced in a particular
municipality.

7.4.2. REPRESENTATION

Through the process of free democratic elections deputies of the representative council
as well as the governor of the county are elected for the period of four years. The
elections in the Russian Federation are basically conducted based on both majoritarian
and proportional election systems. At the national level, for example, the proportional
election party-system is used when elections of 225 deputies of 500 into the State Duma
are conducted. In this case, the number of representatives for each party in the Duma is
determined on the basis of votes each party received. Another 50% is elected according
to the majoritarian system (Lukin, 1997).

At the level of subjects of the Russian Federation, the laws of a particular subject should
specify what kinds of election system are chosen, e.g. majoritarian or proportional. In
Leningrad county, the majoritarian system is used. Applied to the elections into the
county representative council, 50 electoral districts are determined in the county. Several
candidates are proposed in each district but only one would be elected as a representative
from that district. The right to propose a candidate is given directly to the electorate, i.e.
the candidate can be proposed by the people from the place of work (enterprise,
organization), study (university) or living (see e.g. Kutaphin & Fadeev, 1997).

There are more than 70 different officially registered parties in the Russian Federation
(Lukin, 1997). However, at the county and municipal levels it is not obligatory to be a
member of one or another party to be elected into the representative council. Moreover,
if some politicians are members of one or another party, this fact is not stated in any of
the records kept. We have analyzed characteristics of politicians, elected into the
county’s representative council in 1997. These characteristics are occupational
background, sex and average age.
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Figure 7.1. shows the occupational background. As one can observe, the majority of
deputies are represented by managers of private enterprises (38%), for example,
directors of different limited companies and partnerships. Some of them are partially
owned by the county. Top and middle level managers of public organizations, like state
enterprises, heads of public organizations, even leaders of trade unions, represent 22% of
all deputies. Professionals, like doctors, teachers, economists, military officers represent
20%. The same percentage of representative is represented by non-professionals (e.g.
deputies which currently are not having any other occupation than deputy).

Non-Professional
Employees
20%

Figure 7.1.: Occupational Background for Politicians in Representative Council of
Leningrad County

The number of deputies with higher education among members of the representative
council is very high, i.e. 96% of all deputies are having at least one higher education.
The list of the deputies shows that male deputies are extremely dominating, i.e. there is
only one women out of 50 deputies. The average age of members of the representative
council is 50 years.

7.4.3. POLITICAL/ADMINISTRATIVE STRUCTURE OF LENINGRAD COUNTY
GOVERNMENT

The political/administrative system of Leningrad county is represented by elected and
appointed representatives working in several governmental bodies. There are three major
elements of the political/administrative structure: the representative (legislative) council
(zakonodatel’noe sobranie), governor of Leningrad county (gubernator) and the
administration (administratsia). The structure of county authorities and interrelationships
between them are shown in the Figure 7.2.

I
. ! .
election 4 Electorate { _election
, ¢

The Governor of

The Representative control Leningrad Oblast’
(Legislative) Council initiation
instructions/
control/ appointments
initiation Administration]

Figure 7.2.: The Structure of the Government of Leningrad County
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The representative council of Leningrad county is comprised of 50 representatives which
are elected from all electoral regions of the county. The number of representatives has
changed in 1997 from being 25. The structure of the representative council consists of
eleven permanent committees and other structural elements, which are shown in
Appendix 7.1. The work of the representative council is led by the Chairman of the
representative council who is elected for four years. He introduces the structural
committees of the council and govern their activities.

The governor has the highest position in the Leningrad county government. He is also
chief administrative officer of the administration. He has the right of introduction of new
county laws. His obligations are different, e.g. to represent Leningrad county inside and
outside of its region, to govern the work of administration, to introduce by his own
decisions the top positions in the administration, to be fully responsible for the
functioning of the administration. He controls the obedience of the Statute of Leningrad
county and of human rights and freedom of citizens. Thus, he and the administration
play mostly guarantist and agent roles. The governor in Leningrad county can be seen as
a ‘managing director’ of the public institution called ‘Leningrad county’.

There are several functions which are prescribed to the representative council e.g.
making local legislation, the right to take legislative initiative in the Duma of the
Russian Federation, determination and control of the use of the resources and ownership,
approval of budget and execution of control over the budget implementation. Such
functions underline the autonomy of the representative council. The representative
council, thus, has a function of post-action control of the ‘managing director’, i.e. the
governor.

The major function of the representative (legislative) council, however, is to approve
different kinds of laws. The representative council is working in sessions (meetings)
where politicians discuss different cases which are usually approved as county laws. Not
all cases discussed, however, result in approval of laws (zakoni), e.g. some laws can be
returned for further handling and processing. Any law might be discussed in three trials
and finally approved or dismissed. Any decision of the council other than law can be
regarded as enactment (postanovlenie). Some cases are just of informative nature, i.e.
more oriented towards presentation of information than a case for decision. For example,
during the year 1998, there were organized 17 meetings of the representative council.
441 cases were discussed and resulted in approval of 68 laws and 300 enactments. In
addition, 2 laws were dismissed, 35 were in the process of discussion and 3 were
returned for further preparation and handling.

In summary, the governor has a relatively high degree of power mostly in all fields. The
governor manages the financial resources of the Leningrad county. His function can be
summarized as law initiation in the representative council, appointments and issuing
instructions for the administration. His decisions and actions are regulated and controlled
by the representative council. The decisions of the representative council, which are
approved in the form of laws, are obligatory for implementation. The actions of
administration are also accountable to the representative council. Thus, the
representative council has mostly a control function and a function of initiation for the
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administration. By approving laws and decisions, the representative council makes a
kind of ‘frame’ for the work of the administration and the governor.

7.4.4. ACCOUNTING SYSTEM OF LENINGRAD OBLAST

Accounting Norms

Norms for Russian local governmental accounting, in accordance with the old Soviet
tradition, are still very detailed regulated and control oriented (see e.g. Bourmistrov &
Mellemvik, 1999), which was generally the case of countries with centrally planned
economies (e.g. Chan, 1996; Jaruga & Nowak, 1995). In a centrally controlled norm
system such regulations are often based on instructions and standards from the Federal
Ministry of Finance. The major intention with strong central regulation is to make the
processes of comparison and generalization of accounting information for the central
authorities easier, i.e. to lower the cost of handling such information (see e.g. Ash &
Strittmatter, 1992).

What do such instructions and standards regulate? The answer would be almost
everything. Some norms are old (issued during the Soviet time and still in force), some
relatively new. Norms regulate the bookkeeping procedures, charts of accounts, forms of
all reports, timing of reports (monthly, quarterly and annually). The norms usually
regulate in detail what should be regarded as a transaction, how it should be recorded
and how this transaction should be handled in accounts.

Moreover, all reports and statements are printed in a standardized form and distributed
among the departments of local government before the end of the year. The instructions
of the Ministry of the Financed are issued each year which regulate accounting reporting
(i.e. forms and structures of reported statements) for particularly this year.

It is compulsory for all organizations and especially accounting and financial
departments to abide by the decisions and instructions, e.g. the chief bookkeeper has a
personal responsibility for conformance of all norms.

Characteristics of Accounting System

The accounting system in the Leningrad county can be characterized as budget
accounting, i.e. accounting is considered as a tool which is used to control and monitor
the budget implementation. The bookkeeping system has both actual and memorial
accounts for that purpose. In this system, the budgeted amounts and actuals are
continually compared to each other. The main objective of accounting is, thus, to control
that payments made are not higher than appropriated and all revenues are collected as
planned.

The accounting system mainly operates with cash receipts and payments (i.e. on the cash
bases). The major purpose of the county government is to collect and disburse cash.
Accruals are not recorded at the level of county, rather in the balance sheets of particular
organizations financed from the county budget. When consolidated, the value in the end
of the year for main balance sheet items are summed and reported in the special
statement ‘Note about fixed assets and materials of organizations financed from the
budget’. In this sense, there is no comprehensive balance sheet.
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Other accounting reports rather balance sheet are considered to be important by the
Ministry of Finance for statistical and control purposes. Mainly two statements are
prepared and communicated by the financial department of Leningrad county
consequently monthly, quarterly and annually. These reports are

1. balance of budget implementation (balans ispolnenia budgeta), and

2. statement of budget implementation (otchet ob ispolnenii budgeta).

The balance of budget implementation is a kind of balancing statement where opening
balance of cash, year’s revenues and expenditures as well as cash closing balance are
presented. The statement of budget implementation is actually the statement of income
and expenditures, where those are listed in details, according to the items of budget
classification. Both county’s own accounting reports (sobstvenno-oblastnoy otchet) and
consolidated reports including both county and all municipalities are prepared by the
financial department of Leningrad county.

Accounts Reporting at the End of the Year to the Representative Council

Each month and quarter the mentioned above accounting reports are presented to the
county’s chamber of auditors for auditors’ consideration (12 times/year!). However, as
one official said in an interview, these reports are given to the representative council
only when it is found necessary by members of the representative council! There are two
exceptions from this rule, however. The first one concerns the accounts reporting at the
end of the year. The second one is in case when the budget should be adjusted during the
year. In the second case, the accounting report is prepared to the permanent budget
committee. It shows what has been actually received in income and what kind of
expenditures have occurred since the beginning of the year and the proportions of these
amounts compared to initially budgeted.

We have mainly analyzed these documents which are presented at the end of the year to

the council. Last year accounts are approved in form of law. Mainly five documents are

prepared for consideration by the members of the representative council (totally placed

on 60-80 pages). These are:

1. the proposal for the law about the accounting report of budget execution;

2. explanatory notes to the accounting report of budget execution;

3. statement of the budget implementation (only statement of income and expenditures
are included; the balance of budget implementation is not);

4. conclusions of the legislative committee, and finally

5. the enactment of the administration concerning the results of the budget implemen-
tation.

The proposal for the law about the accounting report of budget execution is a draft of the
law which should be approved. This document states only total amounts of income and
expenditures, and excess of income over expenditures (or deficit).

Explanatory notes to the accounting report of budget execution give short explanation of
why particularly this situation within income and expenditures has occurred during the
year. This report is filled with different kinds of information, especially tables. The
document gives characteristics to the budget implementation in static perspective (when
the actuals are compared to the budget) and in dynamic perspective (when the increase
(decrease) in income and expenditures are considered in comparison to the subsequent
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year). The explanations are given why there is a difference between planned and actual
performance.

This document is very close in its context to the enactment of the administration
concerning the results of the budget implementation. The enactment shortly summarizes
the explanatory note and signed by representatives of the administration and the
governor.

The conclusion of the legislative committee is prepared to secure that the prepared law is
not violating the current national and local legislation.

The proposal, explanatory notes and conclusions of the legislative committee are kind of
juridical texts, while the statement of income and expenditures is of a financial nature.

The structure of the statement of budget implementation (statement of income and
expenditures) is shown in Appendix 7.2. In this statement, the Russian concepts income
(dohodi) and expenditures (rashodi) are used. However, these income items are cash-
inflow and expenditures are cash-outflows. The structure of the statement is mainly in
conformity with norms (e.g. the norm on the budget classification). The major elements
are total income, total expenditure, excess of income over expenditures (or deficit, in
opposite case) and specification of how the deficit is financed. In the statement,
expenditures are classified according to the functional budget classification® (i.e.
functions performed by the governmental entities). However, in notes to the statement,
some expenditures are given according to the economic budget classification, i.e.
according to economic consideration, especially for operational and capital purposes
(e.g. purchase of goods and payments for services, interest payments, capital
investments, subsidies). Some balance sheet items are also given, e.g. receivables and
creditors.

The statement presents information about the planned amount according to budget or
adjusted budget, actuals to the end of the year and the variation between planed and
actual amount for each item.

The annual report is presented personally by the governor who also writes introductory
comments on the budget execution.

7.5. The Case of Nordland County (Fylke), Norway

Nordland county (fylke) is situated in Northern Norway. It is one of 18 Norwegian
counties. The size of the total territory is 38.327 km’ with approximately 240.000
inhabitants. There are 45 municipalities in an administrative-territorial division of the
county.

> The Federal Law ‘On Budget Classification of The Russian Federation’, N115-f3, approved

15.09.1996.
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7.5.1. FUNCTIONS OF COUNTY GOVERNMENTS

Counties in Norway could be regarded as large municipalities, i.e. there is one common
law regulating the activities of both municipalities and counties. The main difference,
however, is that in counties the public services should be produced on the large territory,
covering several municipalities. Usually, the county’s authority has responsibility for
public services which can be run more effectively at the county level due to e.g.
economy of scale effect (Fevolden et al., 1994). The counties operate, thus, at a regional
level which is differentiated from the local level of municipalities. The main activities of
counties are connected to regional high schools, hospitals, transportation,
communication and culture (Mellemvik & Pettersen, 1998).

There is a clear and relatively stable division of responsibilities between the state,
counties and municipalities in Norway. However, the formal state-county structure
describes a principal and agent relation, i.e. the state is the principal and the counties are
regarded as its agents. Counties have to perform public services in the ways which are
defined by the centrally issued laws and regulations. There are many kinds of
regulations, e.g. norms and standards, supporting and guiding documents, as well as
claims on different kinds of evaluations. These laws, rules, norms and instructions are
used by the state to regulate counties' activities, even though the last Local
Governmental Act of 1993 as all former Norwegian local governmental acts officially
have guaranteed local government independence.. In this sense, the state delegates
responsibilities to the counties and monitor how these services or functions can be
performed.

The state can also regulate and influence the activities of counties through transfers of
central funds. It is argued that it is done mainly to provide equal opportunities for
citizens of all counties. Counties, however, are more dependent on central fund transfer
than municipalities (see e.g. Fevolden et al., 1994; Mellemvik & Monsen, 1993).

In addition, there is in each county a state representative, the district governor, who is a
link between the central state and local governments. The district governor is appointed
by the central government. The main function of the governor is to evaluate the legality
of all decisions made by both county and local municipality councils. If a decision
violates central laws, the governor will suspend that decision.

Recently, especially with association of the ‘new’ public management reform, the state
regulation has shifted at least a little from regulation of processes to regulation of results.
Mellemvik & Pettersen (1998) show however that Norway is hesitant in following the
international trends associated with new public management.

7.5.2. REPRESENTATION

The county council representatives are elected for four years. A proportional election
system is in use in Norway, i.e. the number of representatives from each party is
determined on the basis of votes each party received during the elections. Nine parties
are represented in Nordland county council, see Figure 7.3. The highest representation is



Accounting and Democratic Governance 105

hold by the Norwegian Labor Party (34%), the Center Party (17%) and the Conservative
Party (15%).
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Figure 8.3.: Party Representation in Nordland County Council

Figure 7.4. shows the occupational background of the politicians in Nordland county.
The majority of politicians (47%) are professionals, e.g. doctors, teachers, drivers,
nurses, etc. Politicians with a background of executive and middle managers of public
and private enterprise represent 23%. Only a few politicians (11%) are self-employed,
like farmers and entrepreneurs. 50% of all deputies are woman. The average age of the
deputies is 50 years.
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Figure 7.4.: Occupational Background for Politicians in Nordland County Council

7.5.3. POLITICAL/ADMINISTRATIVE STRUCTURE OF NORDLAND COUNTY

The political/administrative system in Nordland county is build up by several bodies.
The structure of the county’s authorities and interrelationships between them are shown
in Figure 7.5. The main bodies are Nordland county council (fylkestinget), the Nordland
executive board (fylkesutvalget) and administration (administrasjon).
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Figure 7.5.: The Structure of the Government of Nordland County

Nordland county council consists of 53 members who are elected politicians. The
council has the highest authority and makes decisions and approvals on behalf of the
county. Council politicians are working on sessions and plenum sittings where decisions
are taken and political issues are discussed.

The politicians in Nordland county are also working in 6 permanent committees, an
infrastructure committee, a health and environmental committee, an industry and
business committee, an education and competence committee, a culture and adolescence
committee, a protocol and control committee. The main task of these committees is to
prepare cases for political discussions and decision-making.

The Nordland executive board consists of 13 members elected by the county council.
Parties represented in the county council are also represented in the board. The main
function of the board is according to the Municipal Act of 1993 to prepare proposals for
long-term economic plans, the year budget and taxation policies. However, it is the
county council that might determine the area of the board’s functioning. The executive
board of Nordland county is responsible for day-to-day affairs of the county. Meetings of
the board are usually held every 14th day. The cases discussed vary greatly, e.g. health,
education, commerce. However, cases which need more comprehensive political
discussions have to be discussed and decided in the council.

The political leadership of the county is represented by the county’s mayor. He is elected
by the council’s members on the first council meeting. The mayor’s major function is to
lead the meetings of both the council and the board. At the same time, the mayor
officially represents the county and is empowered to sign documents concerning the
county’s affairs. The major can also be empowered by the county council to make
decisions which are not of the matter of great importance”.

The administration of Nordland county is led by a chief executive, and he and his
administration are responsible for preparing issues for political decision-making. The

4 See e.g. Lov om Kommuner og Fylkeskommuner, Ch. 2, §9, art. 5.
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chief executive has to be appointed by the county council. He is the top leader of the
county’s administration. The chief executive can be empowered by the county council to
make decisions in cases of an administrative nature.

The main task of the administration is to secure that all cases which are discussed by the
elected political organs are cleared up and that their approvals and decisions are
implemented. The work of the administration is organized in 6 departments, education,
culture and recreation, transportation and communication, health, trade and commerce
and dental service.

The major functions of the county council is to make decisions. While the executive
board is responsible for day-to-day affairs, the main tasks of politicians in the county
council are to develop policies and long-term strategies. The council is working in
meetings where politicians discuss different cases which are usually prepared by the
administration, committees or executive board.

During 1998 the county council had 5 meetings were 129 cases were discussed. The type
of cases discussed varies much. 43% of all cases presented to and discussed by the
council are informative in their nature, e.g. orientation about public services situation
and new central laws. 30% of all cases can be characterized as planning activities, e.g.
discussion of budget, strategic and operational plans and programs for different sectors.
24% of the cases were some kind of evaluations of past actions, e.g. the accounting
report of the past year and evaluation of implemented programs, and decisions made by
the executive board and the administration. The remaining cases (3%) concerned
elections and appointments to governmental bodies and organizations.

7.5.4. ACCOUNTING SYSTEM OF NORDLAND FYLKE

Accounting Norms

In Norway, municipal accounting is regulated by centrally issued laws. The Norwegian
Parliament has delegated the responsibility to give detailed accounting norms to the
Ministry of Local Governments and Regional development. All municipalities have to
adapt to these accounting norms because they have the power of the law. This way of
regulating local governmental accounting reflects the view of the state on municipalities
as the state’s agents. The state is monitoring the economies of all municipalities and
counties.

Bergevim et al. (1995) showed that local governmental accounting norms have emerged
from the norms own history, rather than from local practices in counties and
municipalities action systems. The latest issued norms of 1993 allow local governments
some degree of freedom in choosing accounting system and accounting procedures as
long as all transactions can be converted to the system required by the norms. However,
the norms require four statements to be prepared by all local governments:

1. operating statement (driftsregnskap);

2. capital statement (kapitalregnskap);

3. fund statement (bevilgningsregnskap), and

4. balance sheet (balanseregnskap).
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Though three of these statements have many similarities with statements that had to be
prepared also according to former norms, these ‘new’ statements include more ‘business-
like’ concepts as surplus, deficit, revenue, operating statement, fund statement. The
fourth statement - the balance sheet - is a blue print of that statement prepared for an
enterprise.

The technical bookkeeping system was not changed in 1993. A very much complicated
bookkeeping system has still to be applied by Norwegian local governments. This
system builds on a mixture of cash-based and accrual-based accounting.

Accounting Reports presented to the County Council

Accounting information is discussed by the council about each fourth month. The main
accounting report is called ‘Evaluation of Accounting and Results’. It is prepared as a
feedback report from the chief executive to the county council on the utilization of the
resources, implementation of activities and development in resource productivity in
relation to the budget. The major purpose, stated in the document, is to give basis for
decision-making in respect to next year’s long-term plans and budgets by presenting an
overview over the present economic situation and volume of service production.

This report is structured in two major parts:

1. an overview of the county’s economy which gives total budgetary performance and
changes in the budget, and

2. comments on performance in different sectors (administration and departments). This
report consists of 147 pages totally.

The structure of the report is following:

1.1. Budget, adjusted budget, accounting and variance (for income and expenditures).

1.2. Adjustments in the budget summarized. Allocations to funds.

1.3. Budget implementation for each sector with tables, charts and short verbal analysis.

2.1. Operational statement (see appendix 7.3.1.). Besides the statement there are
comments on revenue, expenditures, loan interests and repayments. Tables and
charts are also applied.

2.2. Capital statement (see appendix 7.3.2.).

2.3. Balance sheet (see appendix 7.3.3.).

2.4. Evaluation of liquidity. Assessment of working capital and ‘liquidity reserves’.

2.5. Fund Statement (see appendix 7.4.).

2.6. Summary including evaluation of total performance.

7.6.  Analysis: Political and Accounting Systems Compared

The characteristics of the political and the accounting system in the two counties reveal
many differences and similarities. In this section we would like to summarizes and
analyze these differences and similarities.

7.6.1. DEMOCRATIC GOVERNANCE

When it concerns democratic governance, we can observe considerable differences in all
characteristics we have studied, i.e. structure, nature of autonomy, representation and
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information demand (see table 7.2.). In the political/administrative system of Leningrad
county, the governor plays an important role as a separate political institution which is
not the case in Nordland county. The fact that the governor of a Russian county is
directly elected by the electorate makes his positions in many cases independent of the
council. The council, however, is supposed to limit, monitor and control actions of the
governor and the governor’s administration. In Nordland county, on a contrary, the
council has a much stronger position than the major who is elected out of the council
members. There is in fact no independent governor in Nordland county.

Characteristic Leningrad Oblast’ Nordland County
Structure The Strong Governor The Strong Council
Representation ‘Male Management Elite’ ‘Professional Advocates’
Autonomy of Local ‘Responsible’ ‘Decentralized Liberalism’
Government

Information demand ‘Immunity oriented’ ‘Initiation oriented’

Table 7.2.:  Characteristics of Democratic Governance. Comparison between
Nordland and Leningrad Counties

Characteristics of ‘representation’ are very different in these counties. The only
similarity is average age. The politicians in both counties are middle aged people, about
50 years old in average. Their occupational and educational backgrounds represent
different groups of the society. In Leningrad county male managers are dominating in
the representative council. In Nordland county politicians are people mainly representing
several kinds of professions. In Leningrad county, 50 politicians are supposed to
represent an electorate of 1,7 millions, while in Nordland county 53 politicians represent
a population of 0,24 millions. ‘Representation’ in Nordland county is, therefore, 7 times
higher than in Leningrad county. In this sense, the electorate representation in Leningrad
county forms an elite. In Nordland county the council politicians reflect more different
interests and in this way could be characterized as advocates. These differences might be
explained by the differences in the election system, e.g. in Russia people vote for the
‘personality’ of a particular politician while in Norway people elect parties and their
representatives.

Autonomy or ‘the search for autonomy’ is an important characteristic of any local
government (Goldsmith, 1994). Clark (1984) identifies three types of local governmental
autonomy (high, medium and low) based on primary principles of self-government and
local independence, i.e. the power of initiation and the power of immunity. Initiation is
about the freedom of local government to define its own goals and tasks. The power of
immunity is determined by constrains imposed on local government by the central
government. Any local government can be characterized in these two dimensions.
Particularly, by having both powers of immunity and initiation local governments have
high autonomy. On the contrary, when a local government does not posses powers of
immunity and initiation the autonomy is low and the local government can be
characterized as ‘“Weberian bureaucracies’ (Goldsmith, 1994).
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These two counties, can be characterized having medium autonomy, i.e. the central
government constrains work of local governments both in Russia and Norway. However,
the reasons for the medium autonomy classification are different. In Leningrad county
the local government (both council and governor) has little power of initiation, i.e. the
county government is constrained by national and local laws in the choice of tasks it
might perform. However, at the same time, the county government seems to be immune
from the central government concerning how tasks devoted to the county are performed.
Moreover, Leningrad county approves its own laws concerning implementation of tasks.
According to Goldsmith (1994) such governments are called ‘Representative and
Responsible’. The Leningrad county government fits ‘responsible’ characterization,
because it has to take care of many predetermined tasks and public services. However
the representation in case of Leningrad county is mainly limited to the male management
elite. In this sense, it is questionable whether the council could be characterized as a
‘representative’ one.

Nordland county, on contrary, seems to have substantial power of initiation, i.e. the
Municipal Code gives much autonomy to the county in defining what tasks the county
could take care of. The county could in fact do whatever it would like to do as long as it
does not violate any national laws. The central authorities, however, constrain local
governments in the ways of how services and activities that the local governments have
to take care of, might be performed. Particularly, it is done by regulating local
governmental activities through number of centrally issued laws and regulations. In this
sense, Nordland county can be characterized in terms of ‘decentralized liberalism’
(Goldsmith, 1994), i.e. the strong Norwegian state has decentralized many tasks to the
county and in this way allowed the county liberty and local autonomy. In Norway local
autonomy has been important for local governments for more than 150 years. Already in
1836 when Norway was a part of the Swedish Kingdom, the Local Government Act
declared that Norwegian local governments were independent of the Swedish king. The
tensions between the central state and local governments did, however, survive the
dissolution of the union with Sweden. Even the current Norwegian king addressed the
importance of local government autonomy when he in 1995 criticized central
government politicians for being too eager in focusing on state-wide issues in instead of
local problems and local opportunities: ‘Without doubt local government autonomy is an
important part of our democracy. I will honor all those who through many years have
devoted most of their time to local politics. Maybe the media before the [last] election
could have focused to a larger degree on such people and their local problems. That may
have helped to re-establish the dignity and honor of local government elections. Central
politicians will have enough opportunities to present their primary aims and political
ideologies’ (H.R.H. King Harald’s speech to Parliament, November 15, 1995).

We can expect that the freedom of defining its own tasks (initiation) and the degree of
constraints imposed by the central government (immunity) will influence what kind of
information local council demands for its functioning. In the case of Leningrad county,
which mainly approves different kind of laws, information demand is ‘immunity
oriented’, i.e. the local council discusses cases and makes decisions on future actions
through approval of rules (norms, laws, standards) and, thus, making institutional
constraints. In Russian local governments such decisions are even named and stated as
‘laws’ and not as decisions.
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Contrary to that pattern, politicians in the council of Nordland county, constrained in
power to defining ways of implementation, discuss cases and make decisions on future
actions through approval of task-oriented programs, plans and strategies. In this sense,
they demand information which is in it nature ‘initiation oriented’. These decisions on
local level are in Norway never referred to as laws because the law is a concept that is
only applied by the national Parliament.

7.6.2. ACCOUNTING

Table 7.3. reports the main characteristics of accounting in these two counties. The main
difference seems to be how the principal-agent relations are understood, the difference
that reflects the political/administrative structure of the county. In Leningrad county this
relation is more complicated than in Nordland county. ‘The strong governor’ of
Leningrad county is a principal for the administration, but, at the same time, is an ‘agent
of people’. He is in some cases also an agent for the council, especially when he has to
legitimate his and the administration’s actions by presenting accounting reports and
making explanations to the council. In this case, the principal-agent relation is blurred,
1.e. it is difficult to say who is the principal and who is the agent without referring to a
particular situation. Moreover, this blurred principal-agent relation can be understood as
a kind of ‘competition’ between two principals (the council and the governor). For both
of them it is important to show that they are responsible and powerful. In Nordland
county it is a more pure and straightforward principal-agent relation where the council is
the principal and the administration is the agent.

Characteristic Leningrad County Nordland County

Relations (P)Council? (P) Governor? (P) Council
(A)Governor? (A)Administration? (A) Administration

Communication Regularly and when requested Regularly

Language ‘Cash Flow’ Oriented ‘Results’ Oriented

Technical System Numbers Oriented Numbers Oriented
Budget Accounting Allowance Accounting

Institutionalization | Coercive Hierarchical Learning Hierarchical Learning

Table 7.3.:  Characteristics of Accounting. Comparison between Nordland and
Leningrad Counties

When we compare the formal for procedures of presentation of accounting information,
they seem to be much the same in Leningrad and Nordland counties, i.e. accounting
reports are presented before the councils regularly 2 - 3 times a year. However, in
Leningrad county accounting information could also enter the council discussion more
irregularly. Councils’ politicians can request accounting information when they need it
and, thus, question the legitimacy of ‘the strong governor’s’ actions. In Nordland county,
information to the principal (council) would be prepared and reported by the agent (the
administration) only according to the formal procedures.

When we compare the accounting languages of the two counties, we find that different
accounting concepts and accounting statements are used. The accounting language in
Leningrad county is cash oriented. Even though the accounting statements are filled with
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concepts like income and expenditure, they report cash inflows and cash outflows. In
Nordland county the accounting language is much more a mixture between cash and
accrual accounting and the language also has many similarities with the enterprise
accounting language. The language focuses on concepts that are close to ‘results’ of
economic activities, e.g. operational surplus or deficit. All accounting statements could
be interpreted according to ‘enterprise-accounting’, e.g. there is a balance-sheet that is a
blueprint of the balance-sheet prepared by Norwegian enterprises. The fund flow
statement is also much inspired by such statement in the private sector. However, the
mixture of cash and accrual based accounting makes accounting information confusing
(Mauland & Mellemvik, 1999).

The difference in languages used does not imply, however, difference in the technical
accounting systems. In both counties, the budget accounting system is used, i.e.
accounting is considered as a tool which is used to control and monitor the budget
implementation by continually comparison of budget items and actuals. In Norway, the
accounting report has changed name from ‘budget accounting’ to ‘allowance
accounting’. This change of name might reflect an influence from the private sector
where budget are more closed and usually not reported together with the accounting
statements. In spite of this change there have been no substantial change in the
accounting techniques in Nordland county.

Finally, the national ministries have important influence on local governmental
accounting in both countries. This influence of the state seems, however, to be stronger
in Leningrad county, i.e. the county has to follow all norms of the Ministry of the
Finance. The same is true for the Norwegian county, but the county could develop
whatever accounting reports they wanted as a supplement.

7.7. Summary and Conclusions

The purpose of this exploratory study was a discussion of the interrelationships between
accounting and democratic governance in two local governments in two different
countries. Based on our study, this discussion can be summarized in relation to three
questions we have raised based on this study’s frame of reference. These questions focus
on three dimensions of tensions between accounting and democratic governance.

7.7.1. PRINCIPAL RELATIONS INFLUENCE ACCOUNTING PROCEDURES AND
THE DEMAND FOR INFORMATION

The first question was what principal accounting focuses on in organizations
characterized by democratic governance? Accounting is meant to function in relations
between principals and the agents. However, our study showed that several relations
might exist involving different kinds of principals (and, thus, agents) reflecting on a
common and at the same time complicated political and administrative structure. The
political and administrative structure affects communication. When the principal-agent
relation is straightforward (as in the Norwegian county) communication between bodies
involved seems to be regular and frequency of reporting formalized as a standard
operating procedure. However, in the case of ‘blurred’ principal-agent relations (e.g. two
principals) communication becomes irregular. The confusing situation is that there are
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two principals. As in all democracies the elected politicians are only substitutes of the
real principal (the electorate). When there are two or more principals there is an opening
for competition for power and responsibility. This competition makes the frequency of
reporting to be determined in other ways than through formalized operating procedure.
The ‘controlled’ principal (e.g. governor) has always to be prepared to give accounts for
his actions to the ‘controlling’ principal (e.g. the council), i.e. formal procedures are only
needed for formalized accounting rule-oriented control. The political control of the
representative principal is done continuously by another representative principal.
Accounting communication, thus, becomes symbolic in both cases, i.e. in order to follow
procedures, in the first case, and to challenge another principal, in the second.

We also found that principals in democratically governed institutions demand different
kind of information depending on the institution’s relations to other institutions which
they are dependent on. Both local governments studied search for local autonomy,
immunity and/or initiation. When the search is immunity oriented it is important to
define borders (i.e. laws), making the local government less dependent on others.
Agreement about future actions are then build into the a set of local rules. When the
search is initiation oriented, local decisions, where agreement about future actions is
compressed into new strategies and plans, are important.

7.7.2. THE ACCOUNTING LANGUAGE DOES NOT PORTRAY THE POLITI-
CIANS

The second question was how a language based on a logic of consequentiality is applied
in contexts of actions and behavior based on a logic of appropriateness? First of all, the
understanding of representative democracy is different in these two counties. In
Leningrad county, the local council is governed by directors of private and public
enterprises. On the contrary, Nordland county council is populated by professionals. This
difference might be explained by differences in democratic traditions. In Russia,
democracy is quite a new phenomena which is associated with the changes in the
Russian society at the end of the 1980s. The council, thus, is populated by
representatives who reflect ideas and institutions that where more or less unacceptable in
the communist regime, e.g. private enterprises. These representatives do therefore fit
well into the picture that when democracy is developing, institutions that were regarded
nearly as illegal now are regarded as builders of the society. In Norway, on the contrary,
the representative democracy has a strong tradition which has been developed during
decades. Professionals, reflecting different and conflicting interests might, thus, be
regarded as important promoters of democracy.

Different accounting models are applied in these two counties. Surprisingly, we observe
a kind of contradiction between the characteristics of political representation and the
accounting language used. Directors in Leningrad county uses some kind of complicated
household oriented accounting language, i.e. accounting reports are strongly cash
orientated. Professionals in Nordland county have to use something that has similarities
to enterprise accounting. Why will directors used to enterprise accounting reports apply
complicated cash oriented accounting reports? And why will professionals who are not
meant to be experts in accounting accept enterprise-alike accounting reports? We do not
know much about politicians real use of accounting information. These seem, however,
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to be a mismatch implying that enterprise oriented politicians do accept cash oriented
accounting, and that politicians with a background from public sector accept enterprise
oriented accounting. Both these accounting models are however complicated, and maybe
the case is that when these models are complicated it is difficult to argue against.

In Russia, local governments have gained higher autonomy than they had during the
Soviet time. However, accounting systems for local governments are much the same as
they were 20 years ago. On the contrary, local governments in Norway have for more
than 150 years been more or less autonomous. Though local governmental accounting in
Norway has not changed much each decade, it has changed in the 1990s. In this sense,
we have two situation where, in the first case, the organization changes, but its
accounting system does not. In the second, the organization does not change much, but
its accounting develops. We concluded, thus, that accounting and organizational
development might be independent of or at least not linked closely to each other.
Contradictions observed between politicians’ characteristics and accounting information
in the two counties we studied, thus, can be understood as a part of such missing link
between organizational and accounting changes.

7.7.3. ACCOUNTING NORMS DO NOT REFLECT DEMOCRACY

In understanding why contradiction exist between politicians’ characteristics and
accounting information, the third question is relevant. The question was who determines
norms and rules for the accounting language that has to be used by democratically
governed institutions? We observed strong state regulation of accounting in both
counties. In Russia, this regulation is more detailed and still coercive, while local
governments in Norway have some flexibility after fulfilling central rules and norms
(e.g. through supplementary statements). The central rhetoric in both countries
emphasizes local autonomy, but the state still regulates and often by coercive methods
local governmental accounting. In this sense it is easy to conclude that accounting norms
are in these two countries developed through other than democratic processes, i.e.
accounting norms do not reflect democracy.

Such a situation might be given an understanding if we consider central-local relations.
The position of the state is very strong in both these two countries. Through the
continuos quest for autonomy, local governments create much uncertainty for the central
state. In this situation, the central government needs stabilizers. Local governmental
accounting could function as such a stabilizer, and in that way reduce uncertainty for the
state. By using accounting for monitoring and controlling local government accounting
becomes less important as an instrument to be used by local politicians for the purpose
of local governance. Accounts are said to give interpretation and explanations of
experiences, which make consequences interpretable and actions imaginable. The
problem with local governmental accounting is that it should be interpretable both for
the central and the local levels of governments. When it only can be meaningful for the
central state there seem to be two available solutions at hand for the local level. Do not
bother too much about accounting but let accounting symbolize that most things are
under control, or introduce procedures which imply which that the actors involved have
to presenting accounts continuously.
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Appendix 7.1.: Structure of Representative Council of Leningrad County Govern-
ment
Source: internet page: www.lenobl.ru/struct/zs_strukt.htm
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Appendix 7.2.: The Statement of the Budget Implementation Leningrad County
Code Code | Adjusted | Executed| % of
According to | Item of the | Plan since the
Budget line forthe |01.01.9X] exe-
classification Year cution
Income
1000000 Tax Income (with corresponding subitems) | 01
2000000 Non-tax income (with corresponding subitems) | 17
3000000 Grants and transfers (with corresponding 33
subitems)
4000000 Income of restricted off-budget funds 41
Total income 45
Expenditures*
0100 State and local government 02
0500 Police, fire department and state security 04
0600 Fundamental research and technological 06
progress
0700 Industry, power generation and construction 08
0800 Agriculture and fishing industry 10
0900 Environmental safety and protection of natural |12
resources
1000 Transportation, road keeping and 14
communication
1100 Development of market infrastructure 16
1200 Housing and communal economy 18
1300 Prevention and elimination disasters 20
1400 Education 22
1500 Culture, art and movie production 24
1600 Mass media 26
1700 National health and physical culture 28
1800 Social policy 30
2100 Financial support to other budgets 32
3000 Other expenditures (subsidies) 34
3004 Expenditures of restricted off-budget funds 38
Total expenditures 40
Excess of income over expenditures (or 42
deficit)
(continued from previous page)
Sources of finance (for the deficit)
0120 Change of cash on bank account 71
0270 State and (municipal) bonds 73
0400 Subsidies received from other budgets 75
0700 Loan from banks and other commercial 77
organizations
0500 Other sources of internal financing 79
Total amount of sources of finance 81
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Given as a note:

Salaries of state and municipal employees (code 110100) 100
Payments of social insurance (code 110200) 101
Capital investments in fixed assets (code 240000) 102
Receivables: 103
- payments for communal services (code 110700)

Creditors: 104
- salaries of state and municipal employees (110100)

- payments of social insurance (code 110200) 105

Comment. the amount in the line 42 is equal to the amount in the line 81, with "“-".

*. in addition, some of expenditure items are further classified according to economic

classification. example:

code item

0100 state and local government
including:
- salaries (code 110100)

- capital construction (code 240200)

- purchase of equipment of long-term use (code 240100)
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Appendix 7.3.:

7.3.1. Operating Statement

Accounting Statements (Nordland County)

descriptions

acc.
1996

approved
budget
1997

adjusted
budget
1997

acc.

1997

changes
in real
terms
96/97 (%)

budget
variance
1997 (nok)

revenué

operating revenue
excluding interests

expenditure

operating
expenditures
excluding interests

gross operational
surplus

net interest
expenditures

repayment of loans

total interest and
loan repayments

net operational
surplus/deficit

financial transactions

total financial
income

total financial
expenditures

net financial
transactions

accounting surplus
of the year

7.3.2. Capital Statement

descriptions

acc.
1996

approved
budget
1997

adjusted
budget
1997

acc.
1997

changes
in real
terms
96/97 (%)

budget
variance
1997
(nok)

use of capital

need for capital

financing

total financing
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7.3.3. Balance Sheet

assets

1995

nok %

1996

nok %

1997

nok %

changes

nok
1996/97

cash

funds

receivables

inventory

total current assets

shares

loans

equipment/real estate

total fixed assets

total assets

liabilities and equity

1995

nok %

1996

nok %

1997

nok %

changes

nok
1996/97

total debt

fund

liquidity reserve

capital account

total equity

total liabilities and
equity
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Appendix 7.4.: Fund Statement (Nordland County)

changes in real
1993 | 1994 1995 [1996 (1997 |terms 96/97 (%)
sources of funds
operating revenue
other revenue
total sources of
funds

changes in real
1993 |1994 1995 1996 (1997 |terms 96/97 (%)
uses of funds
operating
expenditures
investments

total operating
expenditures and
investments
interests
repayments

loans

allocation to funds
sum of use




CHAPTER 8

TRANSFERABILITY OF REFORMED LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTING
TO PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTING IN BELGIUM

Johan Christiaens

8.1. Introduction

Nowadays there is a strong tendency in Belgium to reform Non-Profit and Public Sector
Organizations from cameralistic/cash accounting, which was primarily set up to measure
and control the spending of budgetary means, towards business-like accrual accounting.
The most important examples are: Hospitals (1987), Health Service Insurances (1990),
Pension Funds (1991), Flemish Universities (1995), Flemish High Schools (1995) and
Local Governments [Municipalities (1990)] and OCMWs' (1998).

For the moment the Belgian legislator is preparing the accounting reform of Provincial
Governments and the reform of other governmental entities such as the Ministry of the
Flemish Community is also taken into consideration. For provincial governments a draft of
the reformed legislation particularly considering the accounting system has recently been
edited. More precise regulations as to the further implementation are currently still in
progress.

According to provincial officials an important motivation for reforming the provincial
accounting system would be the pursued replacement of the accounting and administrative
software due to the euro and the tendency to ERP software.

This paper aims at presenting a general view of the current accounting reform in Belgian
provinces and the similarities and differences with the recently reformed local
governments, which are municipalities and official centres for mutual welfare. After
presenting the different characteristics of local and provincial governments, section 8.3.
focuses on the objectives of their accounting systems. In section 8.4. the research question
of this paper is discussed. The remainder is devoted to an exploratory study of the
similarities and differences of the local accounting systems vs. the provincial accounting
systems using an empirical study of municipalities as well as the draft of accounting
legislation in provinces.

' An OCMW (Official Centre for Mutual Welfare) is a governmental non-profit entity providing a
number of additional municipal services such as health care, care of the elderly, etc. Each
municipality is related to just one OCMW and vice versa, both providing well-defined municipal
services. In Belgium the OCMWs are juridically separated from the municipality, whereas in
other countries such entities are part of the municipality.
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8.2. Characteristics of Local and Provincial Governments
8.2.1. NUMBERS

The Belgian local governments mainly consist of 589 municipalities, which have dealt with
an important accrual accounting reform since 1995 and 589 official centres for mutual
welfare (OCMWs), which are currently confronted with an accrual accounting reform.
These local governments are part of 10 provinces, which are currently confronted with an
accounting reform inspired by the local government accounting reform of municipalities.

8.2.2. SERVICES

Looking at the services provided by provinces, there appear to be a lot of similarities with
respect to the local governments, particularly municipalities. Provinces provide services
such as administration, recreation, education, safeguarding and maintenance of art
patrimony, care for the environment, public works and infrastructure, sports and cultural
activities similarly as municipalities. The most important exception is the police and fire
department for municipalities.

OCMWSs are more specialized in individualized efforts such as health care services,
financial support of poor citizens, social services and care for the elderly, but provinces are
also providing similar services.

8.2.3. ORGANIZATION

In terms of organization provinces as well as local governments can be related to so-called
‘autonomous non-profit organizations’. Both also consist of governmental enterprises for
services that are provided by means of market mechanisms. Examples of such enterprises
are recreation parks with entrance fees, harbour facilities, water distribution, etc. These
enterprises are not juridically autonomous, but are part of the concerned government,
although their accounting systems are mostly separated from the rest of the governmental
administration.

8.24. MANAGEMENT

Although provinces are more extensive than local governments, they have mostly a
centralized accounting system. Due to their geographical spread they have to assign
decentralized provincial treasurers whereas local governments are able to centralize this
function.

8.3. Objectives of Local and Provincial Government Accounting

Generally, the current accounting reforms in Belgium aim at providing complete, objective
and transparent information. Business-like accrual accounting is seen by the legislator as
the most important means to reach this objective. A second important objective is to
improve governmental management by introducing managerial tools transferred from the
profit sector.
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The objectives set forward in the ongoing provincial accounting reform are the following:

- achieving one similar accounting system for all governments;

- providing complete, objective and transparent accounting information;

- conformity with double-sided business-like accounting systems;

- valuing and disclosing all assets and liabilities;

- disclosing completely the provincial contingencies;

- preparation of an integrated cost accounting system in order to obtain cost information
of services provided;

- keeping the traditional decentralized tasks and responsibilities unchanged.

These objectives are fairly similar to the objectives of the municipal accounting reform in
1990 with date of implementation 1995 where the major focus is on transferring business-
like financial accounting just like that hoping that the advantages of business-like
accounting such as management tools, measuring performance, using cost accounting
information, etc. could also be transferred automatically.

In the other form of local governments, i.e. Flemish OCMWs the reform goes even further
and includes organizational (e.g. the introduction of activity-centres appointing account
responsibles) and managerial changes such as the introduction of long term and short term
planning system, an internal and external auditing system as well as cost accounting
techniques.

For local governments as well as for provincial governments user needs are shown up to
the best advantage as an important objective, but, in Belgium these needs have not been
determined even after an important number of years of implementation of the changed
governmental accounting systems.

As is the case in local government accounting, the reformed accounting reporting of
provinces is not guaranteed for several reasons: firstly the new financial accounting
system will be added without changing or adapting the role and supremacy of the
budgetary accounting system, which will result in accounting conflicts. Secondly, the
financial accounting system risks to be made insufficiently important: the budgetary
resources do not depend in any respect on the financial accounting system. Thirdly, there
is insufficient professional guidance for the implementation and the reporting. Fourthly,
audit following-up the implementation and the outcomes is unexisting. Lastly, as is the case
in other foreign studies (CICA, 1985; Collins, Keenan and Lapsley, 1991) one can argue
that there will be a very limited use of the annual accounts by stakeholders and citizens.

8. 4. Research Question

The lack of accounting research on this topical subject, the presumed occurrence of a poor

adoption and a weak harmony in reforming public sector accounting and the differing

function of a central provincial government, lead to the research questions of this paper:

- RQI1 Are the concepts of the recent local government accounting reforms transferable
to provincial governments?

- RQ2 What are the major areas of differences in provincial accounting systems?
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In previous research there are some descriptive, exploratory studies regarding
governmental accounting practices, often set up by regulatory authorities. Examples are
GASB: Jones et al. 1985, CICA 1980 and CICA 1985 for American and Canadian States
and local governments. Through examining the annual accounts these studies
empirically describe the different types and possibilities of accounting techniques,
assertions and principles (e.g. full accrual vs. modified accrual and cash; consolidated
vs. fund type of statements).

Some studies concentrate on the compliance of governmental accounting practices with
accounting regulations. Faber & de Jong (1988) looked at the municipal accounting
reform towards accrual accounting in The Netherlands involving the investigation of
annual accounts. The major findings were non-compliance to regulations and a serious
heterogeneity (Faber & de Jong, 1988:38).

In this study attention is given to an ongoing accounting reform in Belgian provinces in
light of earlier accounting reforms in local governments (i.e. municipalities and
OCMWs).

This exploratory comparative study is firstly based on the findings of an earlier empirical
study of the financial accounting reform in Flemish municipalities (Christiaens 1997,
1999). Secondly the concept of the reformed provincial accounting legislation forms the
basis of a preliminary analysis and evaluation combined with an attempt to study the
provincial situation using interviews with the provincial treasurers of 4 of the 10 provinces
(i.e. East-Flanders, Limburg, Province of Antwerp, Flemish-Brabant).

8.5. Transferability to Provincial Governments
8.5.1 CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK

Looking at the different regulating accounting legislation in municipalities, in local official
centres for mutual welfare and in provinces, one can demonstrate that there is actually no
adequate conceptual framework supporting the accounting and reporting objectives in
Belgium.

Furthermore, the analysis will indicate that provinces are trying to take over local authority
accounting concepts, whereas local government accounting is itself a unsuccessful copy of
business accounting disregarding major public sector characteristics.

The fact that the reformed municipal accounting differs conceptually from the accounting
systems set up for local official centres for mutual welfare leads to additional problems in
the transferability to provinces. Therefore, a number of problems regarding transferability
will occur. Hence, a possible negative consequence is the drifting apart of the
governmental accounting systems instead of reforming convergently governmental
accounting in Belgium.
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Referring to the classification alternatives of Vela in his analysis of the local government
accounting systems in several European countries (Vela, 1997), the reformed accounting
systems can be shown in the next table.

Local Governments | Reformed Accounting System

*  Municipalities Budgetary Accounting = Financial Accounting

- The (new) financial accounting system is linked with the remaining
budgetary system and influenced by budgetary rules

- Cost accounting and management accounting are not developed

= Walloon Mainly the same system as for municipalities
OCMWs
* Brussels’ Budgetary Accounting = Financial Accounting

OCMWs - The (new) financial accounting system is linked with the remaining
budgetary system and influenced by budgetary rules; however, the
accounting standards differ from municipalities and from Walloon
OCMWs as well

- Cost accounting is legally foreseen, but in progress; management
accounting is not yet developed

*  Flemish Financial Accounting -> Management Accounting
OCMWs - The former budgetary accounting system is abandoned and is
replaced by the (new) financial accounting system including an
integrated cost accounting system and budgeting

- __Management accounting is in progress

* Provincial Reformed Accounting System
Governments
*  Provinces Generally the same as for municipalities, more precise regulations still
have to be defined

Table 8.1.:  Accounting Systems in Belgian Governments

It is important to clarify that municipalities and provinces are regulated by federal
legislation whereas OCMWs are regulated by the different districts in Belgium
(Flanders, Brussels’ Capital and Wallonie).

Because the Walloon legislator has decided to comply with municipal accounting
regulations, the accounting concepts of their OCMWSs are from a conceptual point of
view as good as completely in line with those of the municipalities.

Despite the fact that accounting reforms are induced by the legislator instead of being
self-generative (Lapsley & Pallot, 1997), which could have been a guarantee for a more
consistent approach, the reforms of the accounting system appear to drift apart.

Supremacy of Traditional Budgetary Accounting

Contrary to Flemish OCMWs the Belgian municipalities, Brussels’ OCMWs, Walloon
OCMWs and Belgian provinces have not abandoned their traditional budgetary
accounting system, which is actually a cameralistic cash-based system primarily
concentrated on the recording of authorized spending. On the contrary: in several ways
budgetary accounting is dominating the new financial accounting system although the
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two systems have different targets. This dominance of the budgetary accounting system
creates a number of accounting differences and problems.

Apparently a diverging approach in conceptual framework is driving away the accounting
standardsetting, reporting and auditing. The needs for generally accepted standards
becomes more and more apparent.

8.5.2. IMPORTANT ACCOUNTING ISSUES

Community Assets

In local governments all fixed assets juridically belonging to the municipality are
considered and treated as if they were financial economic business assets just like that.
Therefore all the properties have to be disclosed no matter their perspective or background.
However, a number of assets having only a cultural, social, artistic, historical, military
background and function are actually not real business assets and their valuation in the first
balance sheet can seriously be questioned. They are not at all used in a financial economic
perspective; they have no economic significance. On the contrary, their inalienable
presence is costing the municipality a lot of maintenance and safeguarding. Moreover, the
reckless legal assumption of business assets is contrary to public sector accounting in other
countries’ and contrary to ideas and suggestions’ of conceptual framework researchers
(Pallot, 1992).

In the concept of reformed provincial accounting the legislator does not seem to have
heard of the concept of public assets. One can expect that the provinces will use the
same approach as municipalities.

Accounting Entity

Similarly as for local governments the concept of the provincial government accounting
system is based on the legal entity concept instead of on an economic or an ownership and
control or a political accountability concept (CICA, 1985:35-36). This implies that the
provincial accounting system only recognizes activities carried on within its legal
framework. As well as for local governments consolidation of the provincial governments
is not regulated nor intended.

Some of the Belgian provinces organize high school education and since Flemish high
schools are regulated by separate accounting legislation (1995) a problem of integration
and harmonization will occur. To show the disparities with respect to the accounting
regulations of schools, a comparison of the accounting treatment of school buildings as
used by different organizations and governments is shown in table 8.2.

2 For local authorities in the UK a separate category ‘community assets’ was created on April 1,

1994 (Allen CIGAR 1995, p. 5.)
*  See also Lapsley AAAJ 1988, p. 27.
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Balance Buildings
Organizations sheet disclosedas | Revaluation*? | Depreciations?
existing? assets?
Municipality Schools YES YES OBLIGATORY SO YEARS
Flemish Universities YES NO N/A 1 YEAR
Secondary Schools NO NO N/A N/A
Private Schools YES YES PROHIBITED VALUATION
RULE
Flemish High Schools YES YES PROHIBITED 33 YEARS
Provincial Schools
- before reform NO NO N/A N/A
- after reform YES YES PROHIBITED NOT YET
DEFINED _ |
Table 8.2.:  Accounting Practices School Buildings

A third remark considering the accounting entity is the choice for one and only one
accounting system in Belgian government according to their legal entity. Methods of fund
accounting in which a government could be divided into several accounting entities
according to their nature is unknown or disliked and thus avoided.

Stocks

Empirical research (Christiaens, 1997) has revealed that local governments, particularly
municipalities are not convinced in recording stocks, although imposed by accounting
legislation. It is obvious that each government does have stocks, but there seem to be
different opinions as to the necessity and desirability of disclosing them.

Although it is rather early to conclude, provinces are expected to develop a suchlike
behaviour as the local government as to their limited attention to stock recording.

This issue should not be overstressed, but stock accounting information would
contribute to the pursued improvement of governmental management, which is one the
aims of the current accounting reforms.

Art Patrimony

In local governments empirical research revealed (Christiaens, 1997) that 34.6% of the
municipalities showing art patrimony applied the legal valuation rule of ‘insurance
value’. For these municipalities ‘not-insured’ implies ‘not-disclosed’ and this legal rule
can seriously be criticized.

For provincial governments, which have also properties of art patrimony, the accounting
rules are not yet clearly defined. Anyway, their conceptual framework is similar as for
local governments and thus similar problems can be expected.

Revaluation means that the disclosed value of fixed assets can be increased according to their
current value.
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Audit of Reformed Financial Reporting
The implications of the accounting reforms in local governments and in provincial
governments regarding internal as well as external auditing are compared in table 8.3.

Local Governments Internal auditing External auditing
= Municipalities, No reformed internal auditing | Not regulated; just Provinces as
Walloon OCMWs, efforts Oversight Body
Brussels’ OCMWs
*  Flemish OCMWs - Compliance audit by the - Financial audit by an
OCMW-treasurer external committee
- Operational audit by a consisting of officials
committee consisting of - Comprehensive audit,
OCMW-president, particularly Value-for-
treasurer and secretary money audit is not regulated
Provincial Governments Internal auditing External auditing
®* Provinces No reformed internal auditing | Not regulated, just La Cour des
efforts Comptes - Rekenhof as

Oversight Body in a limited way

Table 8.3.:  Auditing Systems in Belgian Governments

This comparison reveals that the efforts to install a reformed auditing function in Flemish
OCMWs principally driven by modern auditing concepts, is set aside in the most recent
ongoing reform in provinces.

On the other hand, the accounting reform in Flemish OCMWs is not at all perfect in that
the function of auditing is not far-reaching and the auditor needs not to be an independent
professional. Installing such a professional audit function could have been a better
guarantee for the follow-up of the implementation and for the quality of the accounting
outcomes.

Other Elements

The following table evidences some weak elements found in the analysis of local
government accounting (Christiaens, 1997) and reveals the consequences towards
provincial accounting.
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Accounting elements Municipalities{ Flemish | Provinces
OCMWs
Fixed assets, particularly public goods are exhaustively YES YES YES

inventoried and recorded in the governmental accounting
system irrespective of their nature, purpose and service-

providing character
Land and buildings have to be revaluated according to YES NO NO
certain price level rates without any further conditions
Provisions for risks and charges are incorrectly defined YES NO Not yet
by regulations defined
Accruals and deferrals are weakly defined and regulated YES YES YES
There is a lack of attention for stocks YES NO YES
The cut-off of the Profit and Loss Account is YES YES-NO | YES
insufficiently regulated
| Writing down of assets is insufficiently regulated YES YES-NO | YES
The de minimis level of recognizing purchases as fixed YES YES 100.000
| assets is not regulated BEF
Redemptions of loans are recorded as costs and are YES NO NO

readjusted in a separate part of the Profit and Loss

Account. Therefore, they are incorrectly accounted for

twice

Credit lines are recorded as if they were assets and YES NO NO

liabilities instead of registering them as contingencies in
the Notes of the annual accounts

Table 8.4.: Weak Elements regarding Accounting Practices in the current Governmental
Reforms

OCMWs of Brussels’ Capital District and of the Walloon District are not further enclosed
in this table because their characteristics are similar to those of municipalities. This table
reveals that a few issues, such as revaluation fixed assets, redemptions, credit lines, ... are
ameliorated towards provinces, but a number of weakly regulated items remain even after a
number of years of experience in local government accounting.

8.6. Differences in Provincial Accounting Systems
8. 6.1. CONCEPTUAL DIFFERENCES IN PROVINCIAL ACCOUNTING SYSTEMS

Regarding the homogeneity across the different provinces little is known at this moment
since the legislation is not yet definite. However, based on the interviews with provincial
treasurers and other officials, there appear to be different points of view in the approach of
implementing the reformed provincial accounting system.

Some provinces would prefer a similar approach as in the reformed municipalities which is
the system of keeping the traditional budgetary accounting system and linking it with a new
form of financial accrual accounting.
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Other provinces seem to be resistant to the business-like accounting reform and prefer to
keep the traditional cameralistic accounting system without a serious accounting reform.

A third possibility would be a reform inspired by the accounting system of Flemish
OCMWs in which the accrual accounting system is prevailing combined with a business-
like cost accounting system. Driven by this new accrual accounting system, budgets and
budgetary accounts are set up and are followed up.

In table 8.5. these possible accounting systems are summarized accompanied of three other
possibilities which are not very well known nor accepted. In addition, some important
strengths and weaknesses are presented.

Strengths, weaknesses

Integated accounting systems

1) Traditional budgetary accounting +
New financial accrual accounting (re-
formed accounting system of municipali-
ties)

+

Accrual accounting is introduced and
budgetary accounting is maintained

Such a linked system needs compromises
Unsuccessful combination leading to conflicts

2) New financial accrual accounting with
an integrated cost accounting system and in
addition a budgetary accounting system
(reformed accounting system of Flemish
OCMWs)

+ + |

Accrual accounting is prevailing

Integrated system of cost accounting

Lay-out of budgetary accounting is defined by
accrual accounting concepts '
Overemphasis on accrual accounting

3) Cameralistic accounting system (current
accounting system of provinces)

Tool of control of the ‘public purse’
No patrimonial view
No system of management accounting

4) Maintaining of the traditional budgetary
accounting system extended with a
separated  system  of  accounting
adjustments and reclassifications in order
to develop additionally at the year accrual
| accounting reports

Budgetary accounting is maintained

Rather easy to implement

Different reports for different purposes
Accrual accounting information supporting
management purposes is not available during
the year

5) Fund accounting in which the different
activities of the government are separated
and accordingly treated: thus different
accounting systems for different activities
(=funds)

Different approaches and different reports for
different purposes

Advantages of the other systems are kept
whereas the disadvantages are avoided

Need for defining the different funds

More complex to implement

6) A kind of “Triple accounting’ (?) in
order to combine accrual, cost and

budgem accounting information

Would be an integrated accounting system
Is not yet developed

Table 8.5.:

Forms of Possible Integrated Accounting Systems

8.6.2. DIFFERENT TIMING OF IMPLEMENTATION

The interviews with provincial treasurers who will be responsible for the accounting
system revealed that the objectives of the financial provincial accounting reform is not very
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clear. There appear to be different interpretations with respect to the goals of the new
accounting system. Apparently, there is not yet a conceptual framework considering the
aimed targets and consequences of governmental accounting systems in Belgium.

Furthermore, it appeared that a certain province has already started implementing the new
provincial accrual accounting system before the legislator has approved definitely the
concept of provincial accounting reform. The reason for this early start was the need for an
information technology (IT) improvement and the search for ERP software.

One could argue that this starting of the reform ‘avant la lettre’ will create problems in
timing, consistency and compliance with the provincial accounting reform.

The need for a user oriented conceptual accounting framework and harmonized
governmental accounting regulations becomes clear. Many of the unsuccessful findings
have to do with the lack of audit and the shortcomings in supporting a traditionally rather
isolated sector.

8.6. Conclusions

The objectives of the recent accounting reforms are in a first perspective the creation and
improvement of management tools. In a second perspective the purpose is to improve
the transparency and accountability towards external users. Obviously, this reform
implies a changing role of accounting.

There appears to be a lack of a conceptual framework for governmental accounting in
Belgian local governments as well as in provincial governments, although important
aspects of know-how exists in a number of other countries. This lack explains the
problems of transferring business-like accrual accounting towards local governments
which were the first as well as towards provincial governments which is happening for
the moment. Both provincial and local governmental accounting are dealing with similar
problems and a single approach would be desirable.

The standardsetters prescribing the provincial reform have not taken into account
sufficiently the lessons drawn from the local government accounting reforms; the need
for a centralized professional standardsetting body appears.

The provincial accounting system seems to be easily copied from municipal accounting
which was copied from business accounting. This took place actually without user need
research nor applications regarding the use of accounting data in the fields of
management accounting, management control, planning and control, management tools,
accountability, auditing.

Finally, the coming provincial accounting system does not seem to have been made
indispensable, which might weaken the application, the reporting and the continuity.
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CHAPTER 9

COMPARING CAMERAL AND ACCRUAL ACCOUNTING IN LOCAL
GOVERNMENTS

Norvald Monsen and Salme Nisi

Motto: ‘Refining sugar is a means of raising the quality and utility of the finished product by
separating out the elements of the raw material not wanted. The refining of initially classified
accounting data has the same kind of objective’

(A.C. Littleton, 1953, p. 57).

9.1. Introduction

Historically the accounting models applied in the governmental and business sectors
differ strongly. This difference is due to the fact that there are differences between
governmental and business organizations, a point to be discussed further in the next
section of the paper. In spite of these differences, however, there seems to be an
international trend towards the replacement of traditional governmental accounting (e.g.,
cameral accounting) with business accounting (i.e., accrual accounting). For example,
such a change occurred in the local governmental sector in Sweden in 1986 and a similar
change occurred in Finland 10 years later. Currently there are similar changes going on
with regard to state accounting in these two countries.

It seems to us as the experiences of local governmental accounting were not taken into
account in the current argumentation for replacing cameral with accrual accounting in
the local governmental sectors in different countries. Why was cameral accounting
thinking introduced in the local governmental sector in the first place as opposed to
accrual accounting thinking? What is the objective of the cameral accounting system
compared to the accrual accounting system? What are the similarities and differences
between the cameral and accrual accounting models? And how do these similarities and
differences relate to the local governmental and business organizational contexts? Such
and similar questions have not been addressed in the current debate about how to
develop local governmental accounting. One purpose of this paper is therefore to
compare cameral and accrual accounting thinking, and to relate this discussion to local
governmental accounting.

The recent change from cameral to accrual accounting in the local governmental sector
in Finland, beginning with fiscal year 1997, offers the opportunity to undertake an
empirical study of such a change. The second purpose of this paper is therefore to study
the accounting development of one particular Finnish local government (the City of
Vaasa), and relate this empirical study to the theoretical comparison of cameral and
accrual accounting which is referred to above.

The paper is structured as follows: The following section will focus on organizational
metaphors, followed by a discussion of various accounting models. Thereafter, an
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empirical study on the change from cameral to accrual accounting in Finnish local
governments follows, with a comparison of cameral and accrual accounting information.
Layout of financial statements of Finnish local governments are presented (in Appendix
9.1. and 9.2.) and used as a case example of governmental accounting reform. The paper
ends with an analysis and some conclusions.

9.2. Organizational Metaphors

Accounting is a phenomenon that should be studied in its organizational and societal
contexts (see e.g., Hopwood, 1983). Before studying the development of local
governmental accounting in Finland, an organizational frame of reference will therefore
be presented in this paragraph.

According to Mellemvik et al. (1988), there is an interdependence between accounting
and its context. Furthermore, the organizational context of accounting consists of
complex and paradoxical phenomena that can be understood in many different ways:

‘... our theories and explanations of organizational life are based on metaphors that lead
us to see and understand organizations in distinctive yet partial ways.’ (Morgan, 1986:2).

Morgan underlines that we use metaphor whenever we attempt to understand one
element of experience in terms of another. One of the interesting aspects of metaphors
rests in the fact that it always produces a kind of one-sided insight. However, by using
different metaphors to understand the complex and paradoxical character of
organizational life, we are able to manage and design organizations in ways that we may
not have thought possible before (Morgan, 1986). Moreover, Morgan suggests use of the
following eight metaphors for building our ‘images’ of organizations: organizations as
machines, organizations as organisms, organizations as brains, organizations as cultures,
organizations as political systems, organizations as physic prisons, organizations as flux
and transformation, organizations as instruments of domination.

A detailed overview of these different metaphors may be found in Morgan (1986). For
the purpose of this paper, however, it suffices to focus on the two metaphors that mostly
have been used in previous studies of local governments: organizations as machines and
organizations as political systems (see e.g., Brunsson, 1986; Jonsson, 1982).
Organizations that are designed and operated as if they were machines are now usually
called bureaucracies. But most organizations are bureaucratised in some degree, for the
mechanistic mode of thought has shaped our most basic conceptions of what
organization is all about (Morgan, 1986: 22). For example, when we talk about
organization, we usually have in mind a state of orderly relations between clearly
defined parts that have some determinate order. Although the image may not be explicit,
we are talking about a set of mechanical relations. We talk about organizations as if they
were machines, and as a consequence we tend to expect them to operate as machines: in
a routinized, efficient, reliable, and predictable way (Morgan, 1986).

Organizations do not - and should not - always operate as machines. Politics and
politicking may be an essential aspect of organizational life, and are not necessarily an
optional and dysfunctional extra. In this regard it is useful to remember that in its
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original meaning, the idea of politics stems from the view that, where interests are
divergent, society should provide a means for allowing individuals to reconcile their
differences through consultation and negation (Morgan, 1986).

When one applies the machine metaphor in organizational studies, the focus is on the
organization as one unit with common interests(s) and objective(s). In business
organizations, the generation of profit is a common motive, and the machine metaphor
fits well when studying this type of organizations. On the other hand, when the political
metaphor is used, the focus is on different interests, conflicts and power relations which
are present in organizations. This latter description pictures the situation in local
governments, because we here find different political actors with different opinions.
Consequently, the political metaphor has been used in previous studies of local
governments (see e.g., Jonsson, 1982; Monsen, 1993; Olson, 1983; Brunsson, 1986,
Rombach, 1986).

In the following paragraph, we will turn our attention to different accounting models.
We will focus on the two accounting models that have been used in the business sector
(accrual accounting) and governmental sector (cameral accounting) and relate these
models to the organizational context of local governments, as we see this context by help
of the machine and political metaphors. Moreover, the cash flow accounting model will
also be discussed, because such an accounting model could provide a link or bridge
between the cameral and the accrual accounting models. In practice, a cash-flow
statement is often prepared as an additional statement to the cameral and accrual
accounting statements both in the governmental and business environments.

9.3. Different Accounting Models

Financial accounting models can be categorised in many ways. Jones and Pendlebury
describe in their public sector accounting textbook five different accounting techniques:
budgetary accounting, cash accounting, accruals accounting, commitment accounting
and fund accounting, stating that these five are not mutually exclusive and that it is
possible for one organisation to adopt more than one technique simultaneously (Jones
and Pendlebury, 1996, pp 139-165). Some of these techniques, like accrual accounting,
are mostly used in the business sector organisations, and some others, like fund
accounting, are used in the public sector.

9.3.1. CAMERAL ACCOUNTING

In the public sector, the annual budgeting system 1s a mean to allocate resources and to
fix the level and distribution of taxes. The main purpose of a traditional governmental
accounting system is to control the execution of the annual budget approved by the
parliament, municipal council or an equivalent decision maker. For this control budget
and accounting numbers are continuously compared and at the end of the fiscal year
variances between the budget (ex-ante) and the accounting (ex-post) figures are
reported. The term ‘budgetary accounting’, as used by Jones and Pendlebury, is a term
well suited to describe accounting models used in public sector organizations, where the
budget plays such an important role. Another term used for such accounting modes, is
the term ‘cameral accounting’ (German ‘Kameralistisches Rechnungswesen’) (see e.g.
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Walb, 1926; Wysocki, 1965; Filios, 1983 and Monsen and Nisi, 1996, for more
information about cameral accounting). Because the cameral accounting system has
influenced governmental accounting in many countries, including Finland, we will focus
on the specific cameral accounting model, as opposed to the more general budgetary
accounting model, to which cameral accounting belongs.

One of the main features of cameral accounting is the central role of cash and money
management (see e.g., Monsen and Nisi, 1996). Another characteristic feature of
cameral accounting is based on the central role of the budget in the public sector
economy. The important task of accounting is to control the execution of the budget
approved by decision makers (budgetary control). The third feature of cameral
accounting - non-existence of a comprehensive balance sheet - follows from the two
previous features. The focus of accounting is the budgeted expenditures and revenues
and corresponding cash payments instead of profit measurement and asset calculation.
Figure 9.1. summarizes these 3 important features of cameral accounting.

Cameral Accounting:

- money focus

- budgetary control

- non-comprehensive balance sheet

Figure 9.1.: Cameral Accounting

The term ‘cameral system’ is often used in Finland to refer to the set of the annual
budget and financial accounts and reports which are tightly linked together as to their
detailed structure and contents. The key concepts of both the budget and accounts are
revenues and expenditures; the former referring to different sources of money (taxes,
state grants, service fees and loans) and the latter to usage of money (listed by the nature
of expenditures, like salaries, materials, rents, repayments of loans, etc., or by the
function or activity, like general order and safety, health care, social services, education,
general administration etc.). Based on these wide concepts of revenues (sources of
money) and expenditures (usage objects of money), the cameral accounting model can
be said to be money- or cash-focused.

Accounts in cameral accounting relate to the budget for a particular time period, a fiscal
or financial year. Therefore, even accounts have a ‘year-to-year life’, rather than an
indefinite life. Thus the going concern assumption which is fundamental in accounting
for profit-seeking entities is not entirely applicable to public sector budgetary accounting
(compare Hay and Mikesell, 1974, p. 387). The ‘year-to-year life’ of accounts means
that the cameral or other traditional budgetary accounting systems do not generate
financial data for a comprehensive balance sheet. Investments in long-term assets (e.g.,
fixed assets) and payments of loans and debts, for instance, are recognized and reported
as expenditures and revenues for the budgetary year in question. As a matter of fact,
cameral accounting whose function is limited to monitoring the execution of the budget
with different sources and uses of money, can be interpreted to represent a single-entry
bookkeeping system even though every single transaction in bookkeeping is recorded on
two accounts, on debit and credit side (compare Chan et al., 1996, p. 14 ).
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9.3.2. ACCRUAL ACCOUNTING

The accrual-based accounting refers to a form of bookkeeping that records not only
transactions that result from the receipt and disbursement of cash but also the amounts
that the entity owes others and that others owe to the entity. The realization principle is
employed in the revenue recognition, and the matching of revenues and expenses in
closing annual accounts (compare Belkaoui, 1993, p. 448-49). The matching principle
states that expenses should be recognised in the same period as the associated revenues;
that is, revenues are recognised in a given period according to the realization principle,
and the related expenses are then matched against the revenues in closing the accounts.
The association is best accomplished when it reflects the cause-and-effect relationship
between costs and revenues (Belkaoui, 1993, p. 240, Littleton, 1953, 67-68).

The general objective of accrual accounting is to calculate the annual income (profit or
loss) and display the financial position of the accounting entity at the end of the financial
year. Annual income measurement is necessary in the business firm context, and
therefore, business accounting is often used as a vague synonym for accrual accounting.
Accrual accounting rests on the concepts of accrual, deferral, allocation, amortisation,
realisation, and recognition (see Belkaoui, 1993, p. 195). By requiring the entity to
provide periodic, short-term reports, the accounting-period postulate imposes accruals
and deferrals, the application of which is the principal difference between accrual
accounting and cash accounting. Each period, the use of accruals and deferrals is
required in the preparation of the financial position of the firm in terms of prepaid
expenses, uncollected revenues, unpaid wages, and depreciation expense (Belkaoui,
1993, pp. 232-233).

Accrual accounting yields an income figure but it is not absolute or objective. Accruing
depreciation, stock valuations, provisions for doubtful debts, etc., are subjective
judgements which make historic cost profit subjective, especially under conditions of
changing prices (Jones and Pendlebury, 1996, p. 153-54). All allocations are subjective.
Belkaoui refers to the A.L. Thomas text The Allocation Problem in Financial
Accounting Theory (1974) with an explicit statement that all allocations which are the
basis of accrual accounting, are arbitrary and incorrigible. Accrual accounting also
yields a measure of capital. The idea of capital maintenance has economic significance:
income is only recognised after capital has been maintained intact. Just as with profit
measures, capital measures of historic cost accrual accounting are affected by changing
prices. The question is, which capital maintenance concept, financial capital or physical
capital should be used, and should it be measured in units of money or units of
purchasing power.

Three distinct views about measuring annual income are identified (see Belkaoui, 1993,
p- 189-193): the asset/liability view, the revenue/expense view and the nonarticulated
view (see figure 9.2.). The asset/liability view, also called the balance-sheet or capital
maintenance view, holds that revenues and expenses result from changes in assets and
liabilities. The revenue/expense view emphasizes measuring of earnings of the firm as
the difference between revenues in a period and the expenses incurred earning those
revenues, and not the change in net capital. Assets and liabilities, including deferred
charges and credits, are considered residuals that must be carried to future periods in
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order to ensure proper matching. The revenue/expense view is also called the income
statement or matching view and represents a dynamic accounting theory (see
Schmalenbach 1933'), whereas the asset/liability view represents a static accounting
view or theory. The third view, the nonarticulated view, is based on the belief that
articulation leads to redundancy, since all events reported in the income statement are
also reported in the balance sheet, although from the different perspective. This view
represents a dualistic view of accounting.

Accrual Accounting:

- the asset/liability view

- the revenue/expense view
- the nonarticulated view

Figure 9.2.: Accrual Accounting

9.3.3. CASH FLOW ACCOUNTING

Cash flow accounting recognises only cash inflows and cash outflows.? Cash flows into
and out of a business enterprise are the most fundamental events upon which accounting
measurements are based and upon which investors and creditors are assumed to base
their decisions. Hendriksen (1982, p. 236) writes: ‘Most accounting measurements are
based upon past, present, or expected flows of cash. Revenues are generally measured in
terms of the net cash expected to be received from the sale of goods or services.
Expenses are generally measured in terms of the cash paid or expected to be paid for
goods and services used by the firm. Accruals represent the allocation to the current
period of expected future receipts or disbursements for services. Deferrals represent the
allocation to current and future periods of past receipts and disbursements for goods and
services. (...) Because of the deliberate and inherent biases created by the use of
allocation procedures and historical transaction prices, there is some doubt that
traditional accounting methods are adequate to report the complex economic activities of

' The concepts of statics and dynamics (which Schmalenbach first formulated) are classic
criteria for categorising theories of accounting. ‘According to the dynamic view, the main
function of accounting is the calculation of profits. In this process the outcome of a
comparable period is taken as a measure of efficiency; profits are defined as the difference
between expenses and revenues. The calculation of profits is seen as the primary task of the
annual accounts; so the profit and loss account is given priority over the balance sheet.
Diverging from the established view, Schmalenbach interpreted the balance sheet as an
auxiliary to the calculation of profits. He viewed the individual items of the balance sheet as a
collection of transitory and anticipatory quantities. In his approach the assets include, as well
as money, payments to be received and expenses to be incurred in later accounting periods
(advance performance).; the liabilities on the other hand, as well as the capital, comprise
'subsequent performance’, i.e. money to be paid out and revenues of later periods.” Potthoff
and Sieben, 1994, p. 83.

2 Belkaoui (1993, p. 449) writes: ‘The cash-flow basis of accounting has been correctly defined
as the recording not only of the cash receipts and disbursements of the period (the cash basis
of accounting) but also of the future cash flows owed to or by the firm as a result of selling
and transferring the titles to certain goods (the accrual basis of accounting).’
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today. One way to avoiding some of these biases is to emphasise the reporting of cash
flows...’

Sterling (1979, p. 209-211) writes that “sometime ago financial analysts began talking
about ‘cash flow income’. They adjusted the income statement by adding back
allocations such as depreciation. The resulting figure was termed cash flow income or
cash flows from operations, and it was considered to be more useful than the net income
figure. Most accountants reacted with alarm and pointed out that cash-basis accounting
had long ago been abandoned and replaced by accrual-basis accounting because the
accrual basis provided the more accurate, more useful figures.” Later in his text Sterling
states that at the present time many accountants - and their numbers are growing rapidly
- have adopted the view that cash-flow income is the superior concept. The reasons are
three: 1) cash flows are relevant; 2) the concept avoids the allocation problems; 3) it
avoids the valuation problem. Sterling agrees mostly with these reasons, but he also
argues that not only flows but also stocks are relevant and we must report stocks as well
as flows, and therefore we are faced with the problem of valuing those stocks.

T.A. Lee (see e.g., Lee, 1986) is another researcher who has published extensively on
cash flow accounting, and who has argued in favour of this type of accounting. For
example, in the article entitled ‘4 case for cash flow accounting’ (1972), he states; ‘The
proposition being made in this section is that cash is the key resource of a company and
consequently, it is suggested that investors should have a much better knowledge about a
company’s cash than they do at present by means of the conventional profit statements,
balance sheets and funds statements.’ (Lee, 1972: 28).

A pure cash flow accounting system is independent of other accounting systems, such as
the accrual accounting system. However, in practice the accrual-based income statement
and balance sheet have often formed the basis for preparing a financial statement
showing how a company has acquired and spent its financial resources during the fiscal
year. Different terms have been used for such statements, including ‘funds flow
statements’, ‘funds statements’ and ‘cash flow statements’.

Monsen and Olson (1996) argue that funds flow statements vary in several dimensions:
the definition of ‘funds’ (i.e. the ‘bottom line’); structure (e.g. sources and uses of funds
or sectors); initial concept (e.g. net income, revenues and expenditures, or cash inflows
and cash outflows); adjustments, if any (e.g. when reconciling net income to net cash
flow from operations); and the location of these adjustments in the statement. Based
upon their discussion, Monsen and Olson (1996) argue that we can classify funds flow
statements into 3 groups: (1) Traditional Models, (2) Cash Flow Oriented Models and
(3) Pure Cash Flow Models (see figure 9.3.).

Funds Flow Models:

- Traditional Models

- Cash Flow Oriented Models
- Pure Cash Flow Models

Figure 9.3.: Funds Flow Models
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The main characteristic of traditional funds flow statements or models are that they
define funds as working capital and that they are divided into two separate sections,
namely the sources and uses of funds. They also use net income as the starting point
(ie., initial or starting concept), and they incorporate various adjustments. These
adjustments are of two types, which are called Type 1 and Type 2. Type 1 adjustments
refer to non-cash expenses and revenues, for example depreciation expenses. These
adjustments are required in order to reconcile net income to changes in working capital.
Type 2 adjustments, on the other hand, refer to working capital adjustments apart from
cash. Type 2 adjustments are included in order to reconcile net change in working
capital and net change in liquid assets.

Cash flow oriented models differ from traditional models, among other things, because
they define ‘funds’ as ‘cash and cash equivalents’, as opposed to ‘working capital’.
Moreover, they only include Type 2 adjustments (i.e. working capital adjustments apart
from cash) within the statements themselves. If Type 1 adjustments (non-cash expenses
and revenues) also are carried out, they are presented as a note to the funds flow
statement (cp. the reconciliation of net income and net cash flow from operations which
is presented as a note when the so-called ‘indirect’ method is used for preparing a funds
flow statement for a business company). This means that the initial or starting concept in
the statement itself is working capital. Furthermore, a funds flow statement showing
expenditures and revenues also belong to the group of funds flow models termed ‘cash
flow oriented models’. Such a funds flow statement is for example used in the local
governmental sector in Norway. It is a funds flow statement with no reconciliation to a
net income figure, i.e. no Type 1 adjustments, because the initial or starting concept is
working capital. The model ends, however, with showing net change in liquid assets
after Type 2 adjustments have been carried out in order to disaggregate change in
working capital to show change in liquid assets.

The third group of funds flow models are called ‘pure cash flow models’. In such a
model, cash inflows and outflows are reported on all lines in the model. No adjustments
is required, because the initial concept is cash, all the transactions represent cash inflows
and outflows, and the model ends with a cash concept (i.e. liquid assets). Figure 9.4.
summarizes how the three groups of funds flow models - Traditional Models (TM),
Cash Flow Oriented Models (CFOM) and Pure Cash Flow Models (PCFM) - differ in
two dimensions: their initial concepts (i.e. income, working capital or liquid assets) and
their fund concepts (i.e. working capital or liquid assets).

Initial Concept

Working Liquid
Income  Capital Assets

Working ™

Capital

Fund

Concept Liquid CFOM PCFM
Assets

Figure 9.4:  Funds Flow Models (Source: Monsen and Olson, 1986: Fig. 2)
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9.4. Change from the Traditional (cameral) Accounting Model to the Accrual
(Business) Accounting Model in Finnish Local Governments

The cameral accounting model of the Finnish local governments is closer to the cash
flow accounting than to the accrual accounting. The cameral accounting is money- or
cash-focused: revenues refer to sources of money and expenditures to uses of money and
in most cases, sources of money equal to cash inflows and uses of money to cash
outflows but not exactly. Due to the annuity of the budget, accrued expenses, deferred
charges and prepayments are considered even in the accounts. The matching of expenses
and revenues and allocation of e.g. investment expenditures as deprecation for
accounting periods do not belong to the cameralistic model. Based on the budgetary
balance principle it is important that enough revenues are collected (as taxes, state
grants, and service fees) to cover expenditures or uses of money for different purposes -
as it is important to have enough cash inflows to cover cash outflows in cash flow
accounting. The cameral system in the Finnish local governments has identified
expenditures and revenues in three categories: operative expenditures/revenues,
investment expenditure/revenues and financial expenditures and revenues (see Appendix
9.1).

The new financial accounting model in the Finnish local governments was adopted from
the business sector and implemented in 1997 in all (452) municipalities and (about 250)
joint municipalities. The Finnish business accounting model is based on the Expenditure
- Revenue - theory developed by Professor Martti Saario during the 1940s (see Saario,
1945 and 1968) and it represents historical cost accrual accounting and its dynamic,
revenue/expense, income statement or matching view. The matching principle is
strongly rooted in the Finnish business accounting and therefore the annual profit is
primarily calculated in the income statement as the difference of revenues and expenses
matched against each other.> The income or profit and loss account is perceived as the
primary financial statement, and the balance sheet plays the role of a ‘transfer account’
between the two accounting periods. In practice, however, financial accounting and the
balance sheet information in Finland is often interpreted from the nonarticulated or
dualistic view - in case of financial statement analysis, particularly.

Change from traditional cameral accounting to business accounting in Finnish local
governments was motivated by some very general reasons: to add comparability among
municipalities and between different sectors (business and public) of the economy;
business accounting is more known than the cameralistic public sector accounting; to
improve the financial accounting information in local governments; to enable
preparation of consolidated accounts etc. (see Nisi, 1995, 1996).

The two intended functions of accounting are to provide information for control and to
reduce uncertainty in decision-making (see Mellemvik et al., 1988). The proper control
of public money is based on two concepts: stewardship and accountability. Stewardship
refers to the holding of someone else’s assets by a steward. The responsibility of

3 The membership of the European Union and the accounting harmonization by the
implementation of the 4th and 7th Council Directives has eroded the own, Expenditure-
Revenue-theory -based accounting thinking in Finland. This has happened in two accounting
legislation reforms (in 1992 and 1997).
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stewardship is to demonstrate that those assets have not been misappropriated. From the
stewardship point of view, the balance sheet shows the financial position (assets and
liabilities) of the entity at the end of the year and the income statement the increase or
decrease in net assets over the year (Jones and Pendlebury, 1996, p. 116-117).
‘Accountability refers to the responsibility for your actions to someone else:
...accountability goes beyond the narrowly defined stewardship of assets to include
responsibility for the performance of those assets.” (Jones and Pendlebury, 1996, p. 117)
Accountability is therefore a much wider a concept than stewardship and can only partly
be concerned with financial accounting information.

Balance of the economy is a central demand in the Finnish municipal legislation (1976
and 1995). But is it a question of the balance of the budget or accounts? These two
elements may live their own life (see Hogheim et al., 1989). Or balance of the economy
measured by revenues and expenditures, or revenues and expenses, or of cash inflows
and cash outflows? These are some of the many questions which keep us occupied.

Useful information for decision making in the local governmental context would mean
information to balance the economy of the municipality. The balance requirement is
based on the intergenerational equity - concept which means that every generation
should finance the public services it gets or consumes.* The intergenerational equity -
concept is operationalised by the interperiod equity -concept and therefore, it should be
possible to measure its realization on the basis of the financial accounting information.
Does the historical cost accrual accounting provide measures to analyze the balance of
the economy (or finance?) for the municipal decision makers and are these measures
found in the income statement or in the balance sheet? And is this information new,
brought by the new accrual or business accounting, or had it been possible to provide the
same information based on the cameral accounting system?

From the control point of view, financial accounting reports can fulfil the stewardship
aspects of the control but the wider accountability aspects can be achieved only in a very
limited way. Financial accounting reports do not say anything concerning the level of
services in a municipality. Economic or financial measures can be very good but the
service level may be very poor in a municipality and vice versa (cp. Meklin, 1998). A
municipality can make profit on the cost of services - amount and quality.

9.5. The Cameral and Accrual Financial Information Compared: the City of
Vaasa’s Accounts

The question that obviously wakes up interest among people from other countries
considering a correspondent accounting change from traditional governmental to accrual
accounting is whether the new accrual accounting model is an innovation in the Finnish
local governments. How the accrual accounting information differs from the cameral
accounting information, what are the new information contents? Does the new model

4 The ‘traditional version of the intergenerational equity concept is based upon the 'golden rule'
that taxpayers in each period should finance all current expenditure and should make a
contribution to the financing of inherited productive assets commensurate with the benefits
they receive from those assets. (Musgrave and Musgrave, 1973, p. 607 and Robinson, 1998, p.
31-32)
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provide more relevant information than the old system? More relevant, to whom and for
what purposes?

The main function of the cameral system was to report the execution of the annual
budget. Therefore, the financial information was divided into the same three parts both
in the budget and in the accounting reports: operative or running part of the economy,
investments, and finance. The two most important financial statements were ‘Total
Expenditures and Revenues’ and the ‘Statement of Finance’. Total expenditures and
revenues were presented in three columns: as in the budget, in the accounts and the
variances (+/-) both in absolute figures and in percentage of the budget. Operative
expenditures were classified both in the budget and in accounts by nature, by area of
agency, and area of activity. The nature or source of the money classified operative
revenues. Investments were listed quite in details. In the Statement of Finance different
‘result’ figures were calculated, the most important and most often used the annual
contribution or result 2 (see Appendix 9.1, table 1). The basic structure of cameral
accounting information is presented in Appendix 9.1.

The accrual accounting information in the Finnish local governments consists of the
Profit and Loss Statement and the Balance Sheet. Also the Statement of Finance is
prepared as an additional statement for the accrual system. The new information
produced by the accrual accounting model can be listed in three points: 1) the Profit and
Loss Statement presented in a subtractive form and with five residues: operative, driving
and annual contribution, annual result and the bottom line surplus or deficit; 2)
depreciation accounting based on historical cost and a pre-set depreciation plan
(systematically made depreciations); and 3) the comprehensive historical cost Balance
Sheet information. The layout of the P/L Statement and the BS as well as the format of
the finance statement are presented in Appendix 9.2.

9.5.1. PROFIT AND LOSS STATEMENT

The change from the cameral to accrual accounting model was technically demanding,
but it is even more demanding with regard to accounting thinking. How to interpret the
new financial accounting information in the local governmental context. What is the role
of the annual budget and budgetary accounting compared to the accrual based financial
accounting information. Does this new accounting model mean a shift from an ex-ante
budgeting to ex-post financial reporting? Does the Profit and Loss Statement with
several residues provide more relevant information than the statement of Total
Expenditures and Revenues and the Statement of Finance for accountability purposes
and for decision making and balancing the municipal economy? Does the P/L statement
increase the so-called ‘tyranny of the bottom line’ (see Estes, 1996) in the local
government? For instance, these and many other questions still wait for conclusive
answers in the Finnish local governments.

9.5.2. DEPRECIATION ACCOUNTING

What is the meaning of historical cost depreciations in the municipal P/L statement? The
official interpretation given in the municipal accounting guide books is that the
depreciation figure is meant to cover (collect money) for re-investments and that the
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annual contribution figure should be big enough to cover the depreciations made
systematically according to a pre-set plan. The explanation may be correct in the
economy of stable money value. Even then it is reasonable to ask how to finance other
than re-investments and annual instalment of debts.

It seems to be the case that there is no correct or clear-cut interpretation for the
depreciation figure on the P/L statement and for the needed level of the annual profit
figures underneath depreciations. Annual contribution is the ‘income’ figure most often
discussed and compared in the Finnish local governments, but that figure was calculated
in the old cameral system too (see Appendix 9.1., the Statement of Finance: Annual
contribution = Result 2), and it is therefore not an outcome and merit of the accrual
accounting model. According to Finnish local governmental accounting handbooks
annual contribution ought to be positive and big enough to cover depreciation, i.e. the
annual contribution and depreciation figures are interpreted to represent the balance
measure of municipal economy. This kind of interpretation is too simplistic and lacks
theoretical foundation.

In the case of the City of Vaasa, the annual contribution has been positive and big
enough to cover the depreciation, and also the annual result has been positive in 1997
and 1998. But does this now mean that the economy of the City of Vaasa has been in
balance in these two years? It seems to us that the answer is ‘no’, because the amount of
debt has increased in huge amounts in both the two years (see Appendix 9.3.).

9.5.3. HISTORICAL COST BALANCE SHEET

The municipal version of cameral accounting in Finland contained the balance sheet
based on current value accounting. It was not produced as an elementary part of the
cameral accounting system but as a ‘by-product or outcome’ of the bookkeeping system.
Not only valuation but also other accounting problems, i.e. measurement, extensiveness,
and periodization problems are solved differently in the accrual accounting than in the
cameral accounting balance sheet. The historical cost accounting balance sheet of
accrual accounting includes more extensively all the assets of a municipality than the
old, current value balance sheet which contained only building land, buildings,
machinery, and other similar assets, but did not contain roads, streets, parks, bridges etc.
infrastructure assets. Even though the new balance sheet is more extensive in its scope
than the old one, the total value of assets (total of the balance sheet) in the historical cost
accounting is approximately 40% lower than the total of the current value balance sheet
of the cameral accounting in the Finnish municipalities. The question of course is not,
which of the two balance sheets is correct and which is not, but which provides more
useful information in the local governmental sector. Does the historical cost balance
sheet fulfil the stewardship control better than the current value balance sheet? What is
the meaning of the equity figure calculated as a residue on the basis of the balance
equation (equity = assets — debt) on the balance sheet? A part of the equity (a certain
nominal amount of money) is nominated to be the so-called basic equity which should
stay untouched on the balance sheet from one year to another.
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9.6. Summary and Conclusions

As pointed out earlier, there is an interdependence between accounting and its context.
Moreover, different metaphors can be used when studying organizations. Of particular
interest when studying the change from cameral to accrual accounting in local
governments, is the application of the political and machine metaphors, because these
metaphors have been used when studying local governmental and business
organizations.

Accrual accounting refers to a form of bookkeeping that records not only transactions
that result from the receipt and disbursement of cash but also the amounts that the entity
owes and that others owe to the entity. Thus, the realization principle is employed in the
revenue recognition, and the matching of revenues and expenses in closing the annual
accounts and in profit measurement (the matching principle is the central concept in the
revenue/expense or the income statement or the matching view of accrual accounting
particularly). The matching principle states that expenses should be recognised in the
same period as the associated revenues; that is, revenues are recognised in a given period
according to the realization principle, and the related expenses are then matched against
the revenues to calculate the annual profit.

Because a business firm’s expenditures and revenues generally relate to each other, we
find a causal link between the expenditures and revenues. The reason to sacrifice
expenditures is their ability to create revenues, and by sacrificing increased
expenditures, increased revenues can be expected. In this way, a business organization
consists of cause-effect relationships and resembles a ‘profit making’ machine. It is in
such a machine-like organizational context where accrual accounting with its matching
principle traditionally has been applied, and where the purpose of accounting is to
measure the profitability of the economic activities conducted during the accounting
period. In other words, the general objective of accrual accounting parallels the business
firm’s objectives to earn revenue from customers and to keep the costs smaller than
revenues (see Littleton, 1953, p. 68).

A local government, however, represents an organization that is very different from the
machine-like business organization. We do not find an unambiguous objective in
governmental organizations, because politicians from different parties represent different
interests and opinions of the inhabitants. Hence, different political parities have - and
should have - different objectives, resulting in ambiguous and conflicting objectives for
the governmental units as organizations. Due to this political dimension, the political
metaphor has been used in previous studies of local governments. In this context, the
annual budget is used to allocate money for different purposes and to estimate the
collection of money from different sources. Cameral accounting records actual
transactions and compares budgeted and actual figures to follow up the execution of the
budget. The cameral accounting system was tailored to fit into the political
environments.

Moreover, the monetary process of the governmental unit is more complicated than the
corresponding process of a firm (see Monsen and Nisi, 1998). Firms earn most of their
money as sales revenues from their customers and spend their money for purchasing
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production factors. Besides payments based on the input-output process transactions, i.e.
payments for production factors and fees received for goods and services delivered,
taxes, state grants and other money transfers play an important role in the governmental
monetary process. This means, among other things, that a direct link between services
and revenues is largely missing in the governmental context, and so is the link between
expenses and the monetary value of the output. Matching of revenues and expenses and
profit measurement are therefore even more arbitrary in the governmental context than
in the business firm context.

In the political systems, objectives are many and ambiguous and the uses of money as
well as sources of money are of several kinds. Consequently, the political governmental
context differs strongly from the ‘profit making machine’-like business context, and
therefore a different accounting model was developed centuries ago for use in
governmental organizations: cameral accounting. As we have pointed out above, this is a
particular kind of accounting thought with a strong money focus; it is not based upon the
matching principle as it is applied within accrual accounting thinking in the business
context. Neither is it based upon the realization principle, which also is difficult to apply
in the governmental sector for many types of transactions, such as taxes and state grants.
Grounded by these arguments we do not see much sense to handle political systems as
‘profit making machine’ - entities for profit calculation.

In addition to the money focus, two other important features characterize cameral
accounting: budgetary control and non-comprehensive balance sheet. Due to the lack of
a direct link between services and revenues, the budget is used as the instrument for
collecting and allocating money (taxes, state grants etc.) between and within
governmental organisations to produce various services. Moreover, due to the annual
focus of balancing revenues and expenditures, the cameral accounting system does not
generate financial data for a comprehensive balance sheet.

Summing up, we find great differences between local governmental and business
organisations. As a consequence of these differences, different accounting models,
cameral and accrual accounting, have been used by local governmental and business
organisations, respectively. In spite of this situation, however, Finnish local
governments have now introduced an accrual accounting model, and financial
information based on that model is presented in the annual accounts.’ Finnish local
governments still experience a transition period from cameral to accrual accounting and
therefore the meaning and importance of different financial information - budget figures
vs. actuals, the P/L statement and the Balance Sheet and the Statement of Finance
figures - are not yet crystallized.

The layout for the profit and loss statement (see in Appendix 9.2.) is copied from the
business P/L statement layout and contains several residues. The operative contribution
is the first of the residues, calculated as a remainder of the operative revenues and
operative expenses. This residue gives a falsified idea of matching. Charges and fees
from priced goods and services are matched against all operative expenses of the

5 The Finnish system represents mainly the AFR (Accrual Financial Reporting) in the
categorization presented by James Guthrie in FAM, Volume 14, No 1, 1998.
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municipality. This residue, however, will probably increase the business thinking in
municipalities and strengthen the idea of a municipality as a profit-making machine.

The annual contribution (i.e. running revenues ./. running expenditures; without
investments and capital transactions) is perceived as one of the critical economic
measures in the Finnish local governments. Annual contribution was calculated in the
cameral accounting (as a residue in the finance statement) as well as it is calculated in
the new accrual accounting model (as a residue in the P/L statement). In general, the
cameral total expenditure and revenue statement together with the finance statement
provided the same information as the accrual profit and loss statement; with an
exception of the historical cost depreciation figure. Therefore, the role of the historical
cost depreciation figure in financial accounts is critical and it really represents the new
information produced by the accrual accounting model. It represents an allocated cost
item (periodization), but what is its role, its appropriate meaning and use in the decision
making and from the stewardship and accountability point of view?

Depreciations, the annual result and surplus/deficit all contribute to the idea of profit
measurement; but so far without a clear-cut interpretation. What should be the level of
the profit and surplus in a local government? Annual contribution, profit or surplus is
needed to finance investments and annual debt instalments. But how much profit is
needed from the ‘economic balance’ point of view (actually from the intergenerational
and interperiod equity point of view)? How to define and how to measure the economic
balance? What are the key concepts in the ‘balance’ measurement. Are they
expenditures and revenues as budgeted and recorded in the traditional, money-focus
cameral system, or periodized expenses and revenues of accrual accounting, or maybe
pure cash outflows and cash inflows? We think that it is money that matters. Enough
money has to flow in to cover the costs. Balance of economy means balance of finance.
This is at least true in the smaller economic units (like families); why not in the bigger
ones, like in the local governments? The money-focused cameral accounting (including
the system of reservations for future investments; compare savings for bigger purchases
in the family context) was quite good from the economic balance point of view. The
accounting system cannot be blamed for the indebtedness of the local governments.
Loans are taken by decision makers. If the cash-flow argumentation is agreed then we
would ask, what do local governments benefit from ‘periodizing’ and from the accrual
accounting system based on the revenue and expense concepts? We think that a version
of cash or funds flow accounting model would provide the best basis for balancing a
municipal economy. The statement of finance has played an important role in the
cameral system (see Appendix 9.1.) and it is still needed as an extra statement for the
accrual accounting too.

The Finnish dynamic accounting theory interprets the balance sheet as a transfer
account. The layout of the historical cost balance sheet of accrual accounting (see the
balance sheet in Appendix 9.2.) is copied from business sector accounting and is more
comprehensive in its scope than the cameral current value balance sheet (see the balance
sheet in Appendix 9.1.). The monetary values of fixed assets in the accrual accounting
balance sheet are lower than in the cameral balance sheet values due to the different
valuation methods, historical cost vs. current value. Which of these valuation methods or
what method - if any - is most appropriate for local governments, is a topic discussed in
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some articles (see e.g. Robinson, 1998), but which still needs further discussions from
different point of views. The historic cost is for several reasons mostly applied in the
business sector, but its reliability and validity is often made questionable in the business

sector too.
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Appendix 9.1.: Layout of Financial Statements prepared in Cameral Accounting
in the Finnish Local Governments

Tax revenues

State grants

Operational

economy (net)
Operational

contribution

= Result 1

Interest income

Interest expense

Other financial income
Other financial expense
Annual contribution

= Result 2

Transfer of surplus from
previous years

Transfer of deficit from
previous years

Transfer from reserve funds
Transfer to reserve funds
Finance from own sources
= Result 3

Investments (net)

Loans given

Amortization of given loans
Change of debts
Surplus/deficit

Accounts of the
three previous
financial years

Accounts of the
financial year

Budget for
the financial
year

Difference
Accounts vs.
Budget

Table 1.: Statement of Finance
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Budget Actual
incl. changes accounts
made during

the financial year

Variance Execution-%
Budget vs.
accounts

EXPENDITURES
Operational expenditure
Investment expenditure
Finance expenditure
Total expenditure

REVENUES
Operational revenue
Investment revenue
Finance revenue
(incl. tax revenue
and state grants)
Total revenue

Table 2.: Total Expenditures and Revenues

ASSETS

FINANCIAL ASSETS
Cash

Deposits

Accrued revenue
Undeposit loans
Deferred expenditure
Receivables

Valuation items

Work in Process
Land and water areas
Buildings

Water supply
Harbours

Other non-fixed assets
Intangible assets

State assets
Other assets

ADMINSTRATED CAPITAL
Other receivables State capital
Short-term loan receivables Other capital
Fond special contribution Quarantee capital
Other capital
INVENTORIES
RESERVES
OUTGIVEN LOANS Appropriations transferred
Budgetary loans for next years
FIXED ASSETS EQUITY

Constructions and machinery

ADMINISTRATED ASSETS

LIABILITIES

SHORT-TERM DEBT
Payables
Deferred expenditure

LONG-TERM DEBT
Budgetary loans
Other long-term debt

Fund equities
Operative capital
Surplus of the financial year

Table 3.: The current Value Balance Sheet
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Appendix 9.2.: Layout of Financial Statements prepared in Accrual Accounting

in the Finnish Local Governments

OPERATIONAL REVENUE
Sales revenue
Charges
Subscriptions and allowances
Rents
Other revenue
Production for own use
Operational revenue total
OPERATIONAL EXPENSE
Wages and salaries
External services
Materials and goods
Allowances
Rents
Other costs
Operational expense total
Operational contribution

TAXES AND STATE GRANTS
Tax income
State grant
charging of VAT

Driving contribution

FINANCIAL REVENUE AND COST
Interest income
Other financial income
Interest expense
Other financial expense
Annual contribution

DEPRECIATION AND EXTRAORDINARY ITEMS
Depreciation of fixed assets
Extraordinary revenue
Extraordinary cost

Annual result

Change of reserves and funds

Annual surplus

Table 1.: Profit and Loss Statement
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Income finance
Annual contribution
Extraordinary items
Decrease of obligatory funds
Income finance total

Investments
Investments in fixed assets
Financial aid for investments
Sale of fixed assets

Investments net

Change of long-term receivable
decrease of loans given
increase of loans given
decrease of long-term
receivable

Change of long-term receivable

Decrease of long-term debt
Decrease of long-term debt

Need for finance

Finance with capital
Increase of long-term debt
Increase of other long-term
payable

Finance with capital

Change (decrease) of working

capital

Table 2.: Statement of Finance



Norvald Monsen and Salme Niisi

157

ASSETS

Fixed assets and other long-term
expenditures

Intangible assets

Intangible rights

Other long-term expenditure

Tangible assets

Land and water areas
Buildings

Constructions

Machines and inventories
Other tangible assets

Stocks and other long-term investments
Stocks and shares

Mass promissory notes

Loan receivables

Other investments

Valuation items

Assets in our administration
State assets
Other administrated assets

Current assets
Materials and supplies
Work in process

Receivables
Accounts receivables
Financial investments
Loan receivables
Other receivables

Cash and money in bank accounts

ASSETS TOTAL

LIABILITIES

Equity

Basic equity

Other own capital
Surplus/deficit of previous
financial years
Surplus/deficit of this year

Reserves
Voluntary reserves
Obligatory reserves

Valuation item

Capital in our administration
State fond
Other fond

Debt

Long-term debt

Loans from financial and
insurance institutions
Loans from public sector
Other long-term debt

Short-term debt

Loans from financial and
insurance institutions
Loans from public sector
Loans from other sources
Prepayments

Payables

Other short-term debt

LIABILITIES TOTAL

Table 3.: Historical Cost Balance Sheet



CHAPTER 10

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT INITIATIVES AT DIFFERENT
GOVERNMENTAL LAYERS IN THE NETHERLANDS

G. Jan van Helden and Nico P. Mol

10.1. Introduction

In the Netherlands, as in many other developed countries over the world, the reforms
characterized as New Public (Financial) Management have found general acclaim in
government organizations. These reforms have been summarized by Olson, Guthrie and
Humphrey (1998, p.18) in the following five categories, which are all of them easily
recognizable in the attempts at improvement of Dutch government governance.

1.

Changes in financial reporting systems, specifically the promotion of accrual-based
financial statements. In Dutch local and regional government accrual accounting has
been fully adopted in the eighties. In central government traditional cash accounting
as yet remains being applied to core departments, but since 1994 organization units
can be assigned an ‘agency’ status, enabling the application of accrual accounting
instead.

Development of market oriented management systems, with some emphasis on
internal and external pricing. In all layers of government full-cost pricing is being
promoted wherever possible. Within government organizations transfer pricing is
progressively applied (in central government specifically in transfers with the newly
constituted ‘agencies’).

Development of performance measurement. Performance indicators are generally in
use, in local and regional government often expanded into formal performance
budgets for activities.

Devolvement or delegation of budgets. In local and regional government the
introduction of decentralized budgeting generally followed the divisionalization of
organization structure widely implemented in the past decades (as e.g. in the well-
known Tilburg Model, cf. Herweijer and Mix, 1996). In central government such
decentralizations are being pursued as an attempt to reduce bureaucracy by enabling
organization units to some degree of self-management.

Changes to public sector audits, specifically aiming at value-for-money assessments.
This topic is being given a lot of attention and regularly new instruments are derived
from the literature to fulfill the operational audit objectives generally subscribed.
However, this category may prove to be the fundamental weakness persisting in
public financial management reform in the Netherlands, in local and regional as well
as in central government.

This paper will focus on the reforms with respect to financial planning and control in
Dutch government organizations. Both in local or regional and in central government
very similar objectives of performance management have been underlying the initiatives
developed in this respect. For local and regional government the so-called Policy and
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Management Instruments project tried to promote this objective, in central government a
Result Oriented Management Control initiative is intended to play a similar role.

The paper examines these developments, to arrive at some ‘lessons learned’ for the
future. In section 10.2., we will characterize the layers of government with respect to
relevant conditions for the intended performance based management control systems. In
section 10.3. the implementation of these systems - the Policy and Management
Instruments project and the Result Oriented Management Control initiative respectively
- will be reviewed. Section 10.4. will finally discuss some obstacles for performance-
based management.

10.2. Governmental Structure in the Netherlands

This section describes some important characteristics of the governmental structure in
the Netherlands. It will focus on the following issues:

- organizational size at each of the governmental layers;

- the extent to which these layers are mutually dependent;

- an indication of the type of functions these layers perform;

- the accounting standards to be applied at each of the governmental layers.

10.2.1.SIZE OF GOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS

The governmental structure in the Netherlands consists of three layers: the central, the
provincial (i.e. regional) and the municipal layer. Apart from an undivided central layer
with 14 departments, there are 12 provinces and about 550 municipalities. They differ in
size according to the number of inhabitants to a large extent, as is shown in tables 10.1.
and 10.2. Moreover, these tables illustrate the relationship between the number of
inhabitants and the number of employees of the organizations in question.

Number of Inhabitants Lower than | Between 750,00 | Larger than | total
750,00 and 1,500,00 1,500,00

Full-time equivalent Functions

(ftes)

less than 800 ftes 4 1 0 5
between 800 and 1200 ftes 1 2 1 4
more than 1200 ftes 0 0 3 3
total 5 3 4 12

Table 10.1.: Classification of Provinces: the Relationship between the Number of
Inhabitants and the Number of Full-time Equivalent Functions (ftes).
Source: Van Helden, 1999, p. 13.
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Municipal Size in Estimated Number of Number of
Number of Inhabitants Employees (in ftes) Municipalities
1000-10,000 15-65 137
10,000-20,000 65-140 188
20,000-50,000 140-400 165
50,000-100,000 400-1000 33
100,000-200,000 1000-3500 21
larger than 200,000 3500-25,000 4
Total 156,000 548

Table 10.2.: Classification of Municipalities: the Relationship between the Number of
Inhabitants and the Number of Full-time Equivalent Functions (ftes).
Sources: - estimated Number of Employees per Size Category Van Helden, 1998,
p. 93;
- number of municipalities per size category on the first of January
1998, CBS, 1998b, p. 64.

This relationship might be relevant within the context of this paper because evidently in
smaller municipalities with less than about 20,000 inhabitants, the scale of the
organization is only moderate: ranging from approximately 15 to 140 civil servants,
expressed in full-time equivalent jobs. These organizations will probably not introduce
advanced systems of planning and control. Organizational units are so small that direct
personal control will be preferred to formalized control systems based on ‘paper work’.
Furthermore, the educational background of managers and senior staff in charge of
finance are unlikely to be sufficient for the successful application of advanced methods
of management control. Also, the politicians, especially those on the executive commit-
tee of the council, are likely to be very involved in the details of policy planning and
control. As we move up the municipal scale, both the number of organizational units and
the size of each unit increases. There is then a growing distance between the political
and managerial levels and the decentralization of responsibilities to unit managers
becomes more important. Moreover, as direct personal control becomes more difficult,
there is an inducement to develop more advanced types of planning and control.

Basically, all provinces will be appropriate for introducing these planning and control
instruments because even the smallest provinces are sufficiently large in this respect.
The same holds for central government where the departments (ministries) are all large-
size organizations, although some autonomized units may have a relatively small scale.
The total number of (civilian) employees at the central government is about 120,000
spread over 14 departments.

10.2.2.THE NETHERLANDS AS A DECENTRALIZED UNITARY

The governmental structure in the Netherlands is based on the principles of the
decentralized unitary state. Unitarity implies on the one hand interdependence of the
governmental layers. On the other hand, it refers to some kind of hierarchical
relationships between the central, the provincial and the local level. The latter implies
that the regulatory role is concentrated at the central level, or at least that provinces and
municipalities are not permitted to establish regulations, which are not compatible with
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central laws and regulations. Another implication is that supervising authorities exist at
the central level towards the provincial level, as well at the provincial level towards the
municipal level (Toonen, 1998, pp. 38-39; Schouten, 1999, p. 9).

The characteristics of the Dutch unitary decentralized state appear clearly in the
financial relationships between central government on the one hand and provincial and
municipal government on the other hand. The unitarian element is reflected in a highly
centralized taxation system. Decentralization, however, may be inferred from the
relatively low share of central government expenditure. Table 10.3. presents
comparisons with six other West European countries. Obviously, financial relationships
between layers of government are characterized by a high degree of ‘downward tax

sharing’.

Average Share Average Share

central Government central Government

Taxation 1950-1990 Expenditure 1950-1990

The Netherlands 96.4 64.3
Belgium 93.9 81.7
Ireland 91.1 72.3
United Kingdom 87.8 71.8
France 87.7 77.0
Germany (West) 54.7 45.4

Table 10.3.; Financial Relations between Central and Local Governments in six West

European Countries
Source: Steunenberg and Mol, 1997, p. 238

The provincial and local governmental layers in the Netherlands are strongly dependent
upon central government funding. Provincial and local taxes as well as fees are only
small, whereas the major part of their income comes from general grants and block
grants which are supplied by central government (Van der Dusssen, 1992). Table 10.4.
gives more detailed information.

Source of Income Municipalities Provinces
in milliards
of Dutch in In milliards of

guilders | percentages Dutch guilders in percentages
General Grants 22.13 36.7% 1.67 32.9%
Block Grants 28.81 47.7% 1.94 38.3%
Taxes 5.09 8.4% 1.27 25.1%
Fees (‘heffingen’) 4.36 7.2% 0.19 3.7%
Total 60.38 100% 5.07 100%

Table 10.4.: Financial Relationships between Central Government and Provincial and
Local Government in the Netherlands in 1998.
Source: Dutch Central Government Budget Memorandum 1999, 1998, p. 255.
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10.2.3. FUNCTION CHARACTERIZATION OF GOVERNMENTAL LAYERS

The extent to which governmental functions are executive may determine the
opportunities for a fruitful application of performance-based management systems.
When functions are mainly non-executive (administrative), it is relatively difficult to
specify adequate performance indicators. Hence, it is worthwhile to characterize the
functions of the three governmental layers of the Netherlands.

Municipalities in the Netherlands perform a broad variety of functions, such as:

- welfare, culture, education, health care, sport and recreation;

- spatial planning and economic affairs;

- social services and employment programming;

- environmental affairs.

In many instances, the police, fire brigade, public transport and public utilities are
transferred to larger scale corporations, which operate outside the municipal administra-
tion. Evidently, some of the municipal functions, like spatial planning, are more or less
administrative, but the majority of the municipal functions can be characterized as
executive.

The provincial functions show an opposite picture. Although responsibilities for roads
and canals are executive, provinces mainly perform planning and coordinating
functions, such as regional, welfare, environmental and water planning. These functions
are administrative.

Central government takes an intermediate position in this respect. Central government in
the Netherlands is primary responsible for the traditional governmental functions, like
Defence, Foreign affairs and Justice. However, central government also covers nearly all
other governmental functions, but mainly in a regulating sense, leaving executive parts
to provinces and mostly to municipalities. Consequently, some central government
functions are executive whereas others are administrative.

10.2.4. CASH-BASED VERSUS ACCRUAL ACCOUNTING

In the new public (financial) management framework accrual accounting is considered a
fundamental characteristic of performance oriented management control systems.
Accountability with respect to performance will refer to costs of production, to judge
efficiency of activities performed. Assessment of product costs should be based upon
expenses for resources consumed instead of expenditures for resources purchased. In the
past decades, accounting systems for provincial and municipal government have indeed
developed from cash-based into fully accrual ones (Schouten, 1999, pp. 20-23). Thus,
for executive tasks in these government organizations product cost calculations may be
performed and judgments on efficiency in terms of these calculations established.

However, in central government traditional cash accounting has been maintained. For
core business activities in central government accrual accounting was generally
considered irrelevant (and even undesirable from the point of view of budget spending
control). But again the distinction between executive and non-executive tasks may be
invoked to plead accrual accounting for the first category. Organization units with
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predominantly executive tasks (EDP services, inspection and control units, law
enforcing agencies etc.) should be managed in accordance with efficiency objectives in
terms of product costs.

Thus, it has been decided to allow for a certain differentiation of accounting systems in
central government to accommodate these diverging requirements. Executive agencies
within government will thereby be enabled to use distinct - accrual - accounting systems
for their activities, linked by their cash balances to the general cash accounting system of
central government. Management information with respect to these agencies can thus be
adapted to their specific characteristics, but hierarchical (internal) supervision on their
activities will be maintained. To prevent a proliferation of such ‘autonomized’
accounting systems (endangering the unity principle of government budgeting)
admission criteria for this ‘agency status’ have been specified. Among these criteria
measurability of services delivered is again considered a corner stone.

In 1994 the first four of these formalized agencies were created: the EDP unit of the
Defence department, the immigration service of the Justice department, a service for
plant disease control in the Agriculture department and an entrepeneurial help-desk in
the department of Economic Affairs. Since then the agency status has been awarded to
some twenty organization units over the whole range of departments in central
government.

10.3. Application of Businesslike Planning and Control

Various financial management initiatives, which are comparable with international
trends in public management (Hood, 1991; Olson, et al., 1998) were taken in Dutch
government. One of the best-known of those initiatives at the municipal and provincial
level is the Policy and Management Instruments project. This section will address the
philosophy and impact of this project. Thereafter, this section will deal with the Result
Oriented Management Control initiative at the central governmental level.

10.3.1.THE PMI PROJECT FOR MUNICIPALITIES AND PROVINCES

The Policy and Management Instruments (PMI) project was an initiative of central
government in the Netherlands.' Its primary aim was to make local and provincial
authorities familiar with new ways of governance and management. It should be
emphasized that the PMI project could only stimulate rather than enforce these
organizations to use new management techniques.

' The Dutch equivalent of PMI is BBI, which is the abbreviation of ‘Beleids- en Beheers
Instrumentarium’. Apart from BBI, some cities in the Netherlands with more than 100,000
inhabitants developed their own financial management systems. Whereas the PMI project was
directed primarily to small and mid-size municipalities, the so-called Tilburg model is probably
the best-known example of public sector change in large Dutch cities. The main characteristics of
this model are performance-oriented management connected with divisionalisation (Schrijvers,
1993). More recently, attention was switched to customer-orientation, both by examining clients’
appreciation of city services, by measuring the outcome of policy programs, and by restructuring
the organization according to different types of activities, such as policy-making, production of

services and front-office (Korsten, 1996).
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The PMI project uses a planning and control focus: from planning, via reporting and
replanning to evaluation. In this respect, various new tools of governance and manage-
ment had to be developed. The presence of an output budget in which budget functions
are characterized by performance indicators is often considered to be the key element of
the new planning and control techniques (Houwaart et al., 1995, p. 12). Moreover, PMI
uses a hierarchical system of the planning and control cycle with interconnected budgets
and reports at various levels of the organization. Additionally, this project supposes
municipalities and provinces to structure their organization on the basis of policy fields.

More specifically, PMI recommends to use the following planning and control instru-

ments:

1. a medium-term plan which defines policy plans for the future rather than extrapola-
ting financial trends from the past;

2. an output budget which specifies performance measures related to inputs for all
policy fields;

3. a hierarchical planning and control system which encompasses budgets and reports
on the various organizational levels;

4. performance reports which take place during each budgetary cycle, offering
opportunities to manage, adjust and hold organizational units accountable;

5. the formulation of performance standards which indicate that values of performance
indicators are compared with target levels, in order to improve the quality of the
planning and control process;

6. auditing of relevant outcomes in order to evaluate the effectiveness of the policy
plans.

10.3.2. EMPIRICAL RESULTS OF THE PMI PROJECT

Table 10.5. provides information about the existence of these planning and control
instruments in an examination of eight mid-size municipalities and in an investigations
of all twelve provinces. This table shows that most of the municipalities and provinces
have a medium-term plan, an output budget, a hierarchical planning and control system,
and performance reports. However, performance standards turn out to be rare; in fact,
none of the municipalities or provinces possesses an instrument for auditing of
outcomes.

Provinces and municipalities show on average a similar picture of financial management
initiatives. However, this does not imply that within each of these governmental layers
differences do not occur. The study of the eight mid-size municipalities, for instance,
indicates that two from the eight municipalities are seriously lagging behind because
they do not possess an output budget and performance reports (Van Helden, 1998b, p.
22). Moreover, a recent survey study of all Dutch municipalities indicates that the
smaller the municipal scale, the lower the average usage of these instruments will be.
Generally speaking, this survey confirms the results of table 10.5., in the sense that
about 80% of the municipalities in the Netherlands apply output-oriented planning and
control instruments (Moret Emnst & Young, 1997, pp. 106-110). Another survey of a
small sample of 16 municipalities, with between 13,000 and 40,000 inhabitants found
that output budgeting is used by 67% of these municipalities (KPMG, Welschen, 1997,
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pp. 5, 33).? The examination of the 12 provinces shows that mid-size and large-size
provinces more intensively use performance-oriented budgeting than by small-size
provinces (Van Helden, 1999, p. 4).?

Type of Instrument Municipalities Provinces
1. a medium-term plan 75% 83%
2. an output budget 75% 100%
3. a hierarchical planning and control system 88% 75%
4. performance reports 81% 92%
5. the formulation of performance standards 6% 25%
6. auditing of relevant outcomes 0% 0%

Table 10.5.: Availability of Planning and Control Instruments in Municipalities and

Provinces
Sources: - Municipalities: Van Helden, 1998b, p. 22

- Provinces: Van Helden , 1999, p. 3.

10.3.3.RESULT ORIENTED MANAGEMENT CONTROL IN CENTRAL GOVERN-
MENT

In central government improvement of financial management has been pursued during
the last decades in a number of projects. At a general level the use of performance
indicators is being promoted. In recent years attention has been focused on the provision
of output and efficiency indicators in the budgets of the departments of central
government. According to the 1999 Budget Memorandum, efficiency indicators are
being provided for about 65% of relevant expenditures. Optimistically, the Budget
Memorandum moreover concludes to some progress over the years 1998 to 1999. We
may recall, however, that a very similar initiative to produce performance indicators for
central government budgets had already been started at the beginning of the eighties. In
the first years this initiative showed a rapid progress but nevertheless the project had to
be started all over again in the nineties (Bac, 1993, pp. 310-318).

Within the departments financial management initiatives are focusing at planning and
control in the so-called result oriented management control project. In this project a
further development of contract management initiatives dating from the eighties is being
pursued. Existing contracts with organization units had been found wanting with respect
to the specification of tasks to be performed. Often organization units contented
themselves with just a description of their tasks, when more accurate performance
indicators were not available. In the result oriented management control project the
provision of measurable output and/or process indicators is forwarded as a necessary
condition for accountability with respect to the contracts agreed upon.

2 See for some case-based research on new planning and control instruments in Dutch local
government: Schrijvers, 1993; Ter Bogt and Van Helden, 1999.

> Some progress has been achieved in applying performance budgeting. An investigation
referring to the beginning of the nineties came up with conclusion that only a minority of the
provinces actually had introduced performance indicators in the budgetary process (Bac, 1993,
p- 321).
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To assess the impacts of this result oriented management control project we have
reviewed a number of contracts for decentralized organization units in Dutch central
government. In our review we have focused on government organizations of a
sufficiently large size (see section 10.2.1.) encompassing units with more or less
executive tasks, for which the measurability requirements stated above could be
effectively met. The cases considered have been drawn from two organizations
specifically: the Internal Revenue Service (‘Belastingdienst’) in the department of
Finance and the department of Defence. The first has some 30,000 employees, the
second some 70,000.

With respect to the agencies (see section 10.2.4.) a recent evaluation report was
published by the department of Finance on behalf of the Council of Ministers, in which
the question is addressed to what extent favourable impacts may be attributed to the
agency status and the accrual accounting systems related to it.

Upon inspection of the IRS (Internal Revenue Service) and Defence contracts, the

following three levels of performance management could be distinguished.*

1. Provision of quantified measures of performance indicators for organization units.
We found such measures in all contracts considered. With respect to the IRS
performance indicators do refer to volumes of tax declarations and/or tax forms
issued for distinct categories of taxes, numbers of client visits and in-depth research
of records, percentages of arrears in tax debt assessment and debt collection etc. For
Defence units we may encounter numbers of missions to be produced (e.g. for
squadrons of the air force), numbers of trainees (for instruction centers) and volumes
of combat ready personnel and material (land forces).

2. Benchmarking with respect to the indicator values measured. We found this
benchmarking to be most advanced whenever a number of decentralized units are
performing similar activities. In the IRS we have the regional divisions enabling to
benchmarking based upon mutual comparisons (as in municipalities and provinces).
Detailed comparisons for these divisions do result in weighted aggregated scores for
the indicators measured, from which unambiguous rankings of the divisions are
derived. For many indicators specific target values have been established (e.g.
maximum percentages for arrears and minimum percentages for client visits and in-
depth research of records). In the Dutch Defence organization close similarities at the
level of contract management are however rare, especially for primary processes. In
the land forces, contracts have been drawn up for each of the only four brigades of
the Dutch army. These four units moreover are only limitly comparable because of
differences in tasks and mobilization levels. Benchmarking in Defence seems to be
limited to secondary activities like maintenance, which are again regionally
divisionalized.

3. Assessment of product costs. To evaluate production in terms of efficiency product
costs should be established. Otherwise benchmarking will only imply direct
comparisons of indicator values, with all possible interpretations of divergences.

For the IRS contracts for the Enterprise Division with respect to fiscal year 1999 have been
scrutinized, provided by the IRS as representative for the service as a whole. For Defence
three contracts for 1998 drawn up in accordance with the prescribed uniform format for
Defence have been investigated: for 13 Mechanized Brigade, Eindhoven Air Force Base and
the Royal Military Academy.
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Rankings in the IRS are being constructed by weighting of individual indicators in
indicator sets. Aggregated scores for regional divisions serving business clients e.g.
are deduced from three sets of indicators: cash flow results (weight 10%), treatment
of clients (80%) and internal control (10%). The first and last of these sets
encompass only a few items (cash flow results for instance are calculated from
volumes of tax obligations assessed and collected respectively). The second
however, is rather complicated: 28 separate indicators are weighted in its calculation.
A major obstacle to product cost assessment - notwithstanding the detailed
benchmarking systems used in the IRS - however remains: in all contracts
performance indicators and costs are presented disconnectedly. Neither for
individual indicators nor for sets of them values realized can be linked to costs
incurred to infer any judgement on efficiency of activities performed. The indicator
sets provided thus do not fulfill the requirements of coherent indicator systems from
which performance evaluations can be derived (Mol, 1996).

Assessment of product costs is explicitly intended in the agency model introduced in
1991. Application of accrual accounting is thereby supposed to create the necessary
conditions. The agency model certainly has gained some popularity. In 1998 19
organization units in central government had been awarded the agency status, implying
reform of their accounting systems to accruals. Together these agencies had a turnover
of Dfl 3.5 billion and over 25,000 employees (almost 25% of central government civil
service). During 1998 the agency model has been evaluated for all 14 agencies created
up to 1997.

The research question pivotal in the evaluation referred to the improvement of
performance attributed to the agency status. The report Continuing with Result, the
Agency Model 1991-1997 (Ministerie van Financién, 1998a) reviews to what extent
performance measurement - as required for the agency status - has actually been
developed and what additional improvements might be necessary to succeed in the
underlying objectives of result oriented management control.

All agencies report to use quantified indicators to measure their products and services
(even if for some of them not encompassing 100% of production). Thereby it is
conceded however, that the indicators measured need further refinement, specifically
with respect to quality characteristics. In particular, agencies generally do not report that
their indicators represent outputs: the indicators are supposed to represent ‘primary
processes’ in the agencies - but thereby they may refer to processes or inputs (hours) or
even just to costs.

Assessments in the report of the impacts of the agency status on performance
differentiate between two types of agencies involved. Seven of the agencies reviewed
are characterized by ‘quasi-market’ production. They cover costs through sales revenues
obtained from a number of clients. For these seven agencies clear indications of
improved performance in the research period are reported. Specifically, reductions in
tariffs are mentioned as evidence. However, for the other seven agencies producing on
behalf of one ‘principal’ only (the department to which they belong or one of its
directorates) such clear indications are absent. Performance measurement in these
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agencies does not provide evidence for whatever impacts might be attributed to the
management reforms implemented there.

In the Continuing with Result report the inadequacies of performance measurement in
the agencies are to some extent admitted. The report warns (1998b, pp. 49-51): ‘What is
crucial is to express products and services in volume and performance indicators and to
allocate costs to these indicators’, thereby pleading for more precise measurement
requirements for the agency status in the future involving ‘more or less detailed models
for product cost allocation’.

As an example of the problems encountered we may consider actual product cost
assessment in the Service for Penitentiary Institutions, one of the agencies reviewed. In
this service cost and product information is derived from two separate systems: cost
figures from a financial information system, product volumes from a capacity
information system. Product costs thereby can only be calculated through a division of
total costs by detention days - the most primitive ‘cost allocation method’ conceivable.
Thus again we are confronted here with defaulting linkages of performance indicators to
costs incurred.

10.3.4. CONCLUDING REMARKS

The aforementioned observations show that on average at the central, the provincial and
the local layers of Dutch government performance-oriented performance systems have
been introduced during the last decade. The relatively small-size organizations are
somewhat lagging behind in this respect.

Our analysis of the Dutch governmental structure in section 10.2. did not indicate strong
differences between governmental layers in their propensity to apply performance-based
planning and control. Although the empirical results on the actually introduced planning
and control systems (discussed in sections 10.3.1. to 10.3.3.) are not fully comparable,
some evidence is given for similarity of these systems in the three governmental layers
of the Netherlands.

However, the extent to which the systems introduced are in fact and effectively
performance oriented remains dubious. Our investigations at the level of central
government did show major deficiencies in the assessment of product costs: linkages of
costs to products (cost objects) were only weakly established. We may doubt, moreover,
if product cost assessments in municipal and provincial government is much more
advanced. Specifically we may question to what extent the purported ‘output budgets’
actually represent targeted product costs. Performance standards and audits of outcomes
(efficiency) are virtually absent (cf. table 10.6 in section 10.3.2.). Thus we might infer
comparable deficiencies in the implementation of the PMI project as encountered in the
strive towards result oriented management control in central government.

From this conclusion we will discuss in the last section some issues which may be
relevant in the development of performance management in Dutch government
organizations.
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10.4. Obstacles to Performance-based Management in Practice

Generalizing from the Dutch experiences reviewed in section 3, this section will pay
attention to three issues, which may impede the intended development of performance
management in government. First we will address the obstacles to product cost
assessments posed by cash-based accounting systems as used in Dutch central
government. Second, poor quality of performance indicators may be acknowledged as a
serious problem for performance management. Third, the adherence to a uniform control
framework in government organizations will be criticized.

10.4.1. CASH-BASED ACCOUNTING

In the development of result oriented management control in Dutch central government
the obstacles imposed by the existing cash accounting system have to be somehow
circumvented. For organization units which are not being awarded the agency status
performance management remains being dependent upon this system.

The advantages of accrual accounting are indeed formally acknowledged in a series of
management control reviews executed by the department of Finance in 1998. Eight
executive organization units - including the Internal Revenue Service - were being
reviewed on the value added of accrual accounting for their activities. For all eight units
this value added was acknowledged, albeit with a minority opposition for one of them
and some hesitations with respect to one of the others.

However, if we look into the arguments underlying this purported value added, we may
doubt if the necessity of accrual accounting for a result oriented management control as
such is recognized. In the general report on the eight reviews performed - Vision on
Result, published in 1998 - we encounter the following exposition on this value added
(1998b, p.9, our translation): ‘The favourable impacts of accrual accounting for the
result oriented management control model are narrowly related to the possibilities
accrual accounting offers for a calculation of standard costs for products and services.
Use of expenses instead of expenditures for this model has specifically value added if
expenditure and cost figures diverge. When expenditures are being allocated to products,
incidental capital expenditures would cause variations among years. Such variations
would trouble the view on relative efficiency and impede the development of time series
of costs and cost comparisons with other producers’.

In this exposition value added of accrual accounting is linked to a divergence of
expenditures and costs, which may eventually but not necessarily occur in production.
Clearly, the result oriented management model is considered feasible in a cash
accounting environment, whenever this divergence is absent or if it can be sufficiently
cured. In many government organizations, characterized by labour intensive modes of
production, expenditures (salaries) and resource costs (expenses on labour time) may in
fact be equated to each other. Moreover, capital expenditure may simply be adjusted to
obtain expense figures by accounting for inventories (e.g. to calculate fuel costs for
transport services). For durable capital assets, expenditures may often be treated in
management control as sunk costs for actual production (assets constituting a fixed
‘infrastructure’ for the budget period).
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Along these lines contract management in the Dutch department of Defence has
continued to try to embed performance management in the department’s cash accounting
systems. In the attempt to allocate costs to contracted outputs, as a first step the
adjustment of expenditures to expense elements thereby has been carefully planned. All
decentral budgets consist of three parts:*

1. an expenditure budget including all personnel and material resources for which the
rule expenditure equals expense is supposed to apply. This part is specified in four
items in a line-item format:

- military salaries and related expenditures;
- civilian salaries and related expenditures;
- other personnel expenditures;

- material expenditures.

2. A part for material resources, where resource consumption in the budget period may
deviate from purchase. For this part of the budget a cost module is being developed
(which however is not yet operational) to be fit into the financial information system.
It should in particular include expenses on ammunition - generally the most
important item in this part of the budget. In the 1998 contracts cost control with
respect to this item has been notably defective. In the existing financial information
systems, no linkages to the expense figures in the contracts can be established.

3. A part for transfers from other organization units. Services received from these units
are being accounted for in view of the required coordination of production.
However, they are in principle not controllable during the budget period: they should
be agreed upon in advance. Resource costs incurred for their production remain part
of the (expenditure/cost) budget of the service center, mission center budgets only
specify the deliveries these units are entitled to (so-called ‘drawing rights’). These
deliveries are listed in enumerations of considerable length in the contracts: up to a
hundred items may be specified for training facilities (distinguished in a number of
categories), maintenance of weapon systems, equipment and vehicles, housing and
infrastructure of several kinds etc. A general complaint with respect to this
specification of ‘drawing rights’ understandably concerns the enormous amount of
paper work involved.

These three part listings of resources bought/hired, used or received, stand apart from
the enumerations of performance indicators elsewhere in the contracts. No attempt is
made to engage in cost allocation by transforming the line-item format of the budget in a
program format. It is not clear, moreover, how such a transformation could be
accomplished. The numbers of items involved, the lack of data on the specific use of
those items and the deficient linkages between the three parts of the budgets in the
existing information systems would make the exercise far too complicated. Thus, in fact
no cost allocation is feasible in the decentral budgets. The reconciliation of expenditure
data with the intended expense information in the Defence management contracts
precludes itself the assessment of product costs required to arrive at performance
management as intended.

> Uniform prescriptions for all organization units have been formulated in the Defence

Management Control Policy Framework (‘Raamwerk Beleid bedrijfsvoering defensie’), a
document regularly updated. Our exposition is based on the Winter 1998 version of this
document.
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As a consequence, performance indicators do not have to represent cost objects to be
associated with distinct programs either. And indeed, generally they do not. Indicators
for some organization unit may e.g. contain percentages available for use of certain
types of equipment, labour time involved in training specific skills, values attached to
outcomes of military operations practiced and numbers of personnel deployed in peace-
keeping missions. Such indicators will generally not refer to identical or distinct
activities. They will rather represent characteristics of overall performance, as
decomposed in some relevant aspects - thereby giving an impression of what is being
accomplished in the ‘black box’ of the unit’s production processes. These characteristics
might be related to overall cost levels of the unit, but they do not constitute a grouping
of cost objects for cost allocation.

10.4.2. QUALITY OF PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

With respect to performance measurement in central government we expressed already
some doubts in section 10.3.3. on the progress actually accomplished. Notwithstanding
results reported for earlier attempts at performance measurement in the eighties (cf.
Sorber, 1993), the development of output and efficiency indicators needed a restart at
the end of the nineties. In municipal and provincial government more contirmuous
progress in the development of performance indicators has been made. However, we
may question the quality of the indicators arrived at.

Ter Bogt and Van Helden (1999, pp. 14-16) examined the quality of performance
indicators in six divisions of two big cities in the Netherlands, ie. Groningen and
Enschede. Their findings show that a majority of the indicators is input-throughput-
oriented (59%), whereas a minority of these indicators is output-oriented (38%);
indicators which are defined as outcomes do hardly exist (3%). This research was based
on budgets of the years 1990 through 1992. The same classification of performance
indicators has been used more recently by Beukert (1998, pp. 54-55) who investigated
the 1998 budgets of four policy areas in the cities of Tilburg, Delft, Lelystad and
Heerlen. His observations indicate that relatively more output indicators (56%) than
input/throughput indicators (36%) were provided in the cities’ budgets; 8% percent of
the indicators were specified as outcomes. So, from a performance-oriented perspective
these results show some progress in the quality of performance indicators, at least in big
Dutch cities, ranging from 75,000 to 150,000 inhabitants.

It is also interesting to look more closely to the performance indicators of the mid-size

municipalities which were addressed in section 10.3.2. Some general impressions will

do. The text book format of an output budget - ie. the number of units supplied

multiplied by the unit costs - is non-existent. On the contrary, many municipalities use a

format which aims to provide a broad set of data for each of the (about 80) policy fields,

such as:

- policy goals and developments;

- the types of activities which will contribute to the policy goals (mostly these
activities are not quantified in a numerical sense);

- discretion in municipal policy making, indicating the extent to which a municipality
can specify its own policy, or the degree to which policy is prescribed by central
government (this issue refers to some kind of controllability);
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- the available means expressed as Dutch guilders per year, so as a total amount of
money available for the policy field in question; sometimes this total amount of
money is subdivided in cost categories, such as personnel costs, capital costs and
costs of subsidies;

- several performance indicators related to the policy field.

The performance indicators show - generally speaking - a rather poor quality. For
example, typical indicators, such as average amount spent on cultural affairs per
inhabitant, or average amount spent on road maintenance per square kilometer neither
give indications about the volume of services nor about their quality. Furthermore, the
denominators in such calculations - the number of inhabitants or the number of square
kilometres - are not controllable. In other instances, rather heterogeneous indicators are
provided, such as in the field of library services with the number of clients, the number
of exhibitions, and the number of opening hours per week. In the case of policy fields
where adequate indicators are hard to find, such as with spatial planning, some rather
meaningless indicators are given, like the number of policy notes or plans without
referring to the differences in quality between these notes or plans. Sometimes, quality
indicators are provided, for example in the case of social security services where the
time to take a decision on a client’s approval has to meet a certain standard.

10.4.3. DIFFERENTIATED CONTROL

Both the PMI framework for municipalities and provinces (sections 10.3.1. and 10.3.2.)
and the result oriented management control approach in central government (section
10.3.3.) assume that quantitative targets about outputs can be deduced from the goals of
the organization and that differences between planned and realized targets indicate
whether adjustment is needed. It is questionable, however, whether these assumptions
are appropriate for all policy fields and in all circumstances (see also Hofstede, 1981;
Kloot, 1997).

The municipalities and provinces that used the PMI framework realized that not all tasks
or activities were suited to output-oriented control. Some municipalities and provinces
explicitly distinguished between ‘standard activities’ and ‘ad hoc activities’. Standard
activities involve remote control by politicians, which is aimed at results and implies a
lot of responsibilities for officials. It is difficult to structure ad hoc activities in advance,
and politicians are usually closely involved, which means that ‘results control’ cannot be
achieved easily.

Generally, the municipalities and provinces showed some confusion about the way in
which the planning and control of ad hoc activities should be combined with their
ordinary planning and control processes. For example, some of the provinces were
inclined to use a separate control framework for ad hoc activities which aimed to give
information about inputs, throughput times and possible effects at important moments
during the project term, so-called mile stones. These moments do not coincide with the
regular moments the reports on the execution of the budget are provided.

Differentiation in management control in central government encounters many
hesitations, especially from concern controllers in the departments. On a general level,
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the introduction of the agencies in 1994 may be considered a fundamental innovation in
this respect. However, too much proliferation of ‘autonomized’ accounting systems is
being discouraged by admission criteria for the agency status (including the
measurability of services delivered and the requirement of models for cost per product
calculations). Generally the need to adhere to the unity principle of government
budgeting is subscribed. Within the departments, uniformity seems to remain an
important criterion for management control as perceived by central organization units.
As an example we may refer to the three part budgets prescribed for all units within the
Defence department discussed in section 10.4.1. Obviously uniformity in budget
presentation can only be achieved in a line-item format: resources purchased or
consumed - personnel and material - will be easily categorized, whatever the programs
intended in the appropriations.

The question may now be raised why governmental organizations prefer to use a more
or less uniform control framework. In our opinion, the answer to this question has to
refer to the general source from which new planning and control systems are initiated.
Mostly, financial departments take a leading role in this respect. Although these
departments may also be pleased by a successful usage of new tools by accountable
managers, they will be primary interested in the need for coordination and consolidation.
The latter goals ask for uniformity. If, however, user needs were put first, probably a
more differentiated approach would come up.

There might also be another reason for using a uniform control framework in
government. Laughlin and Pallot (1998, pp. 385-388) emphasize the important role of
what they call ‘epistemic communities’. These are transnational networks of
professionals with recognized expertise and competence which enable them to have an
authoratative claim to relevant policy-making. These professionals pretend in a
convincing way that they can contribute to solutions in policy-making. Their attitude is
instrumental and they likely will provide relatively simple answers to difficult questions.
Because of their backgrounds in business environments, they probably will advise
governmental organizations to adopt businesslike tools and styles. More particularly, the
internationally oriented consultancy firms are good examples of epistemic communities.

It is our opinion that user needs for adequate information to plan and control
organization units must receive more attention. Performance-based management should
put the management in the center instead of the financial expertise. Financial
departments have to play a more supporting role then. Moreover, financial departments
should confine themselves to specifying minimum requirements for coordination and
consolidation, thus leaving room for local managers to define their own information
needs. It also implies that consultancy firms should play a more polite role in achieving
accounting and oirganizational change. Performance-based management is not a goal in
itself. It should aim to deliver high quality information, to contribute to organization
units which can be better controlled, and ultimately to achieve efficiency and
effectiveness of governmental operations.
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CHAPTER 11

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT REFORM IN NEW ZEALAND LOCAL
GOVERNMENT: A CENTRAL GOVERNMENT INITIATIVE OR A RESPONSE
TO LOCAL NEEDS?

June Pallot

11.1. Introduction

While New Zealand’s central government reforms are well known internationally, the
reforms at the local level have been equally dramatic. Changes following the
introduction of the Local Government Amendment Act (No. 2) 1989 constituted the most
radical restructuring of local government, its finances and its relationship with citizens
since the abolition of provinces in 1876. New Zealand local government is currently
experiencing a second wave of reforms, this time with a longer-term emphasis, as a
consequence of the Local Government Amendment (No. 3) Act 1996. Further local
government reform (including another round of amalgamation, corporatization of roads,
and privatization of other utilities) also appears to be on the government’s agenda. In
each round of changes, accounting has been a crucial ingredient.

At first sight, it appears that the changes in local government over the last decade are yet
another application of the model of public management developed in the New Zealand
central government. That model (see Boston et al 1996; Scott et al., 1997) has attracted
international acclaim for its grounding in economic theory, its consistent and
comprehensive application across all sectors, and its speed of implementation. Closer
examination, however, reveals that local government reform is more complex than
another manifestation of the New Zealand central government model and goes to the
heart of the nature and values of local government. The central-local government
relationship is a dynamic one in which accounting is inextricably entwined.

Efforts to explain the purpose of, and ultimately the rationale for, local government
follow one of two theoretical approaches which Loughlin (1986) refers to as a
functionalist view and an autonomist view. The functionalist view sees local government
as an agency of the state drawing its authority and mandate from the state i.e. local
government exists to provide a predetermined range of services. This provision is
evaluated primarily on efficiency grounds, the argument for local provision being that
local agencies are better placed to respond efficiently to local demands. Different
preferences are respected, information about preferences is more effectively transmitted
and interpreted, and redress ought to be quicker. In short, local agencies may be
expected to be more responsive to demands of citizens viewed as consumers. And if they
do not respond appropriately, consumers may move to a locality where public services
better meet their mix of needs (Tiebout, 1956). Prior to 1989 this has been the dominant
view of local government in New Zealand, as it had been in the British system on which
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it had been modelled (Stewart, 1996). Functionalists justify their view by reference to
the fact that Parliament gives local government its legal framework.

The functionalist view is to be contrasted with the autonomist paradigm which views
local government as a sphere of government in its own right i.e. local government
derives its legitimacy from its effectiveness in meeting community expectations and
local needs. This view is common in many European countries where the right of local
communities to govern their own affairs is a constitutional right. Accordingly, local
authorities have the right to take action on behalf of their communities except where it is
barred by law. The selection of services is based on consultation with citizens (as distinct
from consumers) and ‘reflects local priorities rather than a nationally determined list’
(Reid, 1999:166). Participation, then, is key and has an intrinsic value beyond the
instrumental achievement of effective and efficient public policies. Parliament sets the
legal framework but equally it does so for private sector companies and these are not
viewed as agents of the state.

This paper traces the reforms of local government in New Zealand, and the role of
accounting within them, in light of the underlying paradigms identified above. While
much of the theory on which the 1989 and 1996 legislation is based is of an economic or
accounting nature, which has a natural affinity with a functionalist view, it can be argued
that the ensuing practices also provide new opportunities for the exercise of local
autonomy and should also be considered in those terms. The material in this paper draws
upon the legislation, published documents (annual plan, annual report, funding policy
and long term financial strategy) from the various councils around New Zealand and a
series of interviews held with local authority managers and politicians during September
and October 1998.

11.2. Overview of Local Government in New Zealand

Since the abolition of provinces in 1876, New Zealand has had a unitary government
modelled on the British system. Local authorities in New Zealand may exercise only
those powers and functions specifically provided in statute. A ‘power of general
competence’ has been discussed over the years but never enacted (Officials Coordinating
Committee on Local Government, 1988, p. 58). Few functions are mandatory (resource
planning, civil defence, and public health responsibilities are among the exceptions);
some are taken for granted (sewage collection and rubbish disposal); others are a
reflection of the collective decision-making of elected representatives in power from
time to time, and might be expected to represent the preferences of citizens - housing
schemes, for example (see Bush, 1992: 109). Despite the lack of a power of general
competence, territorial authorities have, in practice, rarely been inhibited by the doctrine
of ultra vires from undertaking functions. Rather, it has been the reluctance of either rate
payers or central government to provide finance that has been the limiting factor. Apart
from grants for road construction and maintenance, local government receives very little
funding from central government; its primary sources of finance for operations are
property taxes (rates) and user charges.

For most of its history the pattern has been one of a strong central government and a
weak fragmented local government (Scott, 1979; Bush, 1980). Central government
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accounts for by far the largest share of government activity (88 percent on average from
1962 to 1997), illustrating the dominance of the centre, although there has been a slight
increase in the local government share of total government activity since 1978
(McDermott and Forgie, 1999). Scott (1979) noted that in 1974, in a country with a
population at that time of only 3 million, there were 991 local authorities. Approximately
one third of these were territorial authorities, that is, counties, cities, boroughs and
towns. The rest were ad hoc (single purpose) authorities ranging from electric power
boards, drainage boards, harbour boards and airport authorities to tiny rabbit destruction
boards. Numerous attempts at rationalization failed while the question of local
government finance formed what Bush (1980) referred to as ‘the endless agenda’'. When
it came to efficiency ‘the average local body was seen as ponderous, unresponsive and
inefficient’ (Anderson, 1993: 65).

The 1989 legislation changed all that. Almost overnight the number of local authorities
(also referred to in this paper as ‘councils’) was reduced from over 700 to a mere 85 - 72
territorial authorities (cities and districts) and 13 regional authorities>. One reason this
was now possible was that the central government had been on a program of such rapid
change in every area of the economy and society since 1984 that New Zealanders had
become accustomed to dramatic restructuring. Thus the local government changes were
swept up in the overall process of reform in New Zealand

11.3. The first Wave of Reform: Amalgamation and Accountability

In December 1987, the Minister of Local Government, Dr Michael Bassett, announced a

comprehensive program of reform of local and regional government based on the

following principles:

- local authorities should have clear, non-conflicting objectives, including a clear
separation between regulatory and service delivery functions;

- trade-offs between objectives should be made explicit and in a transparent manner,
and

- clear and strong accountability mechanisms should be encouraged.

As Horner (1989) notes, these reforms were in accordance with the same principles as
had informed the reforms of central government: the quest for clear linear accountability,
transparency in policy formulation, and greater operational efficiency. This approach
generated considerable reaction from councils as it was a radical departure from the
principles which had been incorporated into the original 1974 Local Government Act.

' For example, central government was not willing to consider general revenue sharing or block

grants while local government operated within an inefficient structure. Local government
opposed the various attempts at structural reform (those in positions of power in smaller
authorities were unwilling to give it up), leaving it weak and fragmented. The weakness of
local government enabled central government politically to impose a system of subsidies and
grants which was effective in implementing its own priorities (Ball, 1980).

Local government in New Zealand should be regarded as an entity in which regional councils
and territorial authorities have separate but complementary functions, rather than as two levels
of sub-national government where on is subordinate to the other. The responsibilities of
regional government are largely in the area of environmental management.



180 June Pallot

By the time the new legislation was passed, it was possible to detect ‘a shift in emphasis

from efficiency/rationality toward some of the more traditional values ascribed to local

government’ (Horner, 1989:6) Thus the purpose of local government according to the

1989 legislation is to provide:

- recognition of different communities, including their identities and values;

- definition and enforcement of appropriate rights in those communities;

- scope for communities to choose among different types of local facilities and
services;

- local authority trading activities which are competitively neutral;

- efficient and effective exercise of the functions, duties and powers of local
government, and

- participation of local people in the local government.

Many of the new features of local government introduced by the 1989 Act do indeed
follow the model established in central government described elsewhere (Scott et al.,
1990; Boston et al., 1991, 1996). For example, the elected council is ‘decoupled’ from
the day-to-day management of the authority. The council-appointed chief executive, like
counterparts in central government, is on a performance-based contract for up to five
years and is the employer of all other staff. The council’s job is to set ‘policy’ and
monitor performance of the chief executive; the CE and other officers are to manage
within that policy. Councils are encouraged to transfer commercial activities to Local
Authority Trading Enterprises (LATEs) under provisions almost identical in wording to
that covering State-Owned Enterprises at the central government level. The set of
financial statements to be produced and audited are much the same as for central
government departments, as is the requirement follow generally accepted accounting
practice and therefore adopt accrual accounting.

Where the local government legislation differs a little from the central government

formula, however, is in the requirements to consult with, and respond back to, their

ratepayers and electors about their plans and performance (Department of Internal

Affairs, 1992). Specifically, local authorities must include in their annual plan:

a. the intended significant policies and objectives to be achieved;

b. the nature and scope of the significant activities/outputs to be undertaken necessary
to achieve the outcomes;

c. the performance targets (quantity, quality, cost) for each output;

d. the resources and indicative costs including allowances for depreciation and a return
on capital’;

e. the sources of funds, and

f. the rating policy of the local authority.

Consolidated financial statements must also be provided in the annual report.

‘Return on capital’ was later amended to ‘cost of capital’ so as to cover both commercial and
non-commercial activities. This external reporting requirement proved unworkable, however
(Audit Office, 1994) and has subsequently been dropped although local authorities use cost of
capital information for internal management decision making.
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The Act requires that the process of adoption follows its special consultative procedure,
ensuring the availability of the draft plan, and the opportunity for submissions. Local
authorities must prepare and adopt a report how they have performed. A comparison
between actual and projected performance is required (s.223E), New Zealand being
somewhat unusual internationally in requiring that non-financial performance
information be audited (Pallot, 1999).

As a consequence of the accounting requirement to provide statements of service
performance (which, according to the relevant accounting standard, means reporting on
the quantity, quality and cost of outputs), many councils have put in place
comprehensive annual surveys of residents. These surveys involve one-hour individual
interviews with hundreds of randomly selected residents, canvassing their views on the
whole range of services provided by the council. Questions are asked about the
individual’s frequency of use, whether the services are value for money, whether the
council should change its spending priorities or the amount of spending and so forth.
Initially these surveys were seen as a way of meeting the requirement to report on the
quality of services and complemented technical measures (e.g. road roughness, accident
rates, pH value of water) or provided an indication of quality where other measures were
not readily available. They have also increasingly been viewed as a means of obtaining
‘customer’ or ‘consumer’ feedback. However, their role as a mechanism for citizen
participation should not be overlooked. As one councillor put it: ‘I do not believe that
consultation is necessarily democratic in the sense that those people who are best able to
take part in the consultation process are those who have got access to information, who
can comprehend the information and have the confidence and the resources to put
forward a convincing case... The advantage of the citizens’ survey is that it is not like
that. Because it is random, it does represent a cross section of people.’ (interview,
October, 1998)

In terms of delivery of services the legislation had an immediate impact on the way
services such as water supply, sewage systems, stormwater and land drainage, refuse
collection, commercial forestry and refuse disposal were provided (Department of
Internal Affairs, 1994) and resulted in significant cost savings (Douglas, 1994;
Williamson, 1994). However, it left some unfinished business. In particular, it became
apparent that the annual planning and consultative process established under the 1989
legislation was too short a planning horizon given the need to speak for future
generations with regard to community infrastructure services and facilities. By 1993
some of the more forward looking councils such as Christchurch (joint winner of the
1992 Bertelsmann award for best managed city in the world) had started to project
expenditure for the next 20 years on a rolling basis and to impose restraints which would
ensure that debt levels would remain both prudent and manageable during a period of
major investment (Slevin, 1996). In the case of Christchurch the investment commenced
in 1993 was largely a series of civic amenities designed to attract business and tourists to
the city and boost the local economy. The restraining policy limits are embodied in
published statements and financial ratios which fix, among other things, a time frame for
debt repayment, net interest as a percentage of consolidated gross revenue (8 percent),
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term debt as a percentage of both realizable and total assets (33 percent and 12 percent),
and net debt to funds flow from operations (not to exceed five times).*

11.5. The second Wave of Reform: looking Longer Term

In 1998, a second major wave of reform swept across local authorities as they arrived at
the implementation date of the Local Government Amendment Act (No. 3) 1996. This
legislation introduces what are probably the most significant financial and borrowing
management provisions for local government yet seen. At the very least, it builds on the
unfinished work of the 1989 reforms to local government and the sustainable
environmental management responsibilities of the Resource Management Act, and it is
likely that more reform is to follow concerning the Rating Powers Act 1988.

11.5.1. FACTORS LEADING UP TO THE NEW LEGISLATION

In part, the new legislation can be viewed as a further attempt to apply the model of
public management developed at the central government level in local government. Most
recent of the initiatives in central government had been the Fiscal Responsibility Act
1994 which included principles of managing debt to prudent levels, ensuring that
operating expenses did not exceed operating revenues, preserving the Crown’s net worth
at prudent levels, managing all fiscal risk, pursing policies that are consistent with the
predicability of level and stability of tax in future years (Richardson, 1994; Pallot,
1997a). The Act also required a number of statements to be issued to ensure
transparency of the government’s operations and activities. At the time this legislation
was passed there was also a call from the business community to have similar legislation
regulating local government activities and the government at the time had given the
commitment to explore this at some stage in the future. The 1996 Amendment Act can
be viewed as the government’s response.

It would be simplistic, however, to characterize the latest reforms as an imitation of
central government initiatives. The fact that councils such as Christchurch had initiated
long term financial planning well before the 1996 suggests that local initiatives were at
least as significant. Probably the most important factor was the experience of councils
with the limitations of the short planning horizon in the annual planning and consultative
process established under the 1989 Act. By extending the planning horizon and adopting
a more strategic approach, the effects of decisions (or indecisions) made today could be
understood in the context terms of the next fifteen years and beyond.

The need for a longer planning horizon was particularly important given the long life
cycle of infrastructure assets which form the bulk of local authority assets. In 1993 the
Audit Office had reported to Parliament that it was unable to provide assurance about the
long term financial condition of local authorities because of the lack of knowledge of the
condition of these assets and the absence of adequate strategic planning for service

* More recently the strategic emphasis of the council has been less on ‘bricks and mortar’ and

more on social infrastructure aimed at reducing poverty, crime etc by acting as catalyst and
facilitator of initiatives by the voluntary and business sectors of the community.
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requirements in the medium to long term. To provide that assurance, the Audit Office
stated that ‘local authorities must have in place the means to determine future demands
on their resources for repairing or replacing existing assets and long term plans or
strategies to indicate the nature and scope of activities they expect to be involved in’
(Audit Office, 1993: 41).

Initially, there was considerable resistance on the part of some councils to the
requirement to value infrastructure assets. Old information about cost and physical
condition was considered incomplete or irrelevant, meaning that councils faced the
difficult, large and potentially very costly task of valuing infrastructure. They argued that
the value of infrastructure was irrelevant because infrastructural assets were either not
saleable or not ever likely to be sold and that the costs of valuation outweighed any
benefits. Over the next two years the attitude of many councils changed. Although the
legislative requirement was the main reason for valuing infrastructure assets, councils
started to see some other benefits including the following:

a. It makes readers of the statements aware of the size of the public investment in
infrastructure for which the council is responsible.

b. It puts into perspective the on-going cost which the council incurs in maintaining and
replacing infrastructure.

c. The process of valuing requires that councils clearly identify the existence, location
and condition of infrastructure assets with the result that local government managers
and councillors improve their knowledge of the council’s infrastructure investment.

d. Annual information about the value of infrastructure is a first step in tracking trends
in infrastructure value over time and using that information to hold councils
accountable for the way that they manage infrastructure (Audit Office, 1994)

By 1991, 40 of the 85 councils had valued their infrastructural assets and included the value
in their statements of financial position. This number had increased to 84 by 1994. The
majority (55) use depreciated replacement cost as the basis for valuing infrastructure assets.
The appropriate method of reflecting depreciation in financial statements, however, was -
and remains - controversial (Pallot, 1996). We return to this issue later.

The perceived need to invest heavily in infrastructure renewal in the foreseeable future
also raised what had long been a contentious issue - the ability of local authorities to
raise finance on the open market. The previous borrowing powers available to local
government were restricted and used techniques that were expensive and inflexible
(Scott, 1979). Central government approval, via the Local Authority Loans Board was
required. The new borrowing provisions of the Amendment Act allow councils to
improve the equity in allocating benefits of services through longer loan periods. It also
allows a more prudent approach to risk management, thus potentially lowering the cost
of debt to councils. Importantly, it gives local government considerably more autonomy
vis-a-vis central government. Added to the fact that local government now receives
virtually no funding from central government other than for roads, local councils in New
Zealand have a considerable degree of financial independence.

Finally, there had been an alarming trend by large ratepayers within local authorities to
review democratic rate setting decisions through the courts (Audit Office, 1998). This
was an unsatisfactory state of affairs and one where the courts provided little consistency
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in their decisions although there was a strong tendency to require there to be a
relationship between rates paid and services provided. This, combined with the
Wellington City Council High Court decision that was subsequently overturned by the
Court of Appeal (Salter, 1996), caused parliament to respond with the Amendment Act.
Much of the Court of Appeal decision has been included in this Local Government
Amendment (No. 3) Act as described below.

The 1996 Amendment has introduced significant reforms to the way councils undertake
their business and fund activities. The purposes of the new legislation are to promote
prudent, effective and efficient financial management by local authorities. They are
required to manage their financial affairs (including debt) ‘prudently’ in the interests of
the district of the local authority or its inhabitants and ratepayers. Every three years,
starting in 1998, councils must adopt (after consultation with the community and
concurrently with the annual plan) a long-term financial strategy related to a period of
ten or more years. The long-term strategy is to cover expenditure (including the cost of
capital) and revenue, cashflow projections, asset management, and borrowing
requirements.

11.5.2.PRINCIPLES OF FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

Section 122 of the Amendment Act sets out six principles of financial management, in
an analogous fashion to the principles of responsible fiscal management at the central
government level:

1. Prudent management. All revenue, expenses, assets, liabilities and investments are to
be managed prudently, in the interests of the district of the local authority or of its
inhabitants and ratepayers, and only for lawful purposes.

2. Sustainability. Adequate and effective provision for the expenditure needs of the
local authority, as identified in the annual plan and the long-term financial strategy,
must be made. This principle recognizes concerns over the unknown state of
significant portions of local authority infrastructure.

3. Consideration of options. The benefits and costs of different options are to be
assessed in determining any long-term financial strategy, funding policy, investment
policy, or borrowing management policy, and in making any decision with
significant financial consequences (including a decision to take no action).

4. Lawful funding. The identified expenditure needs of the local authority are to be
funded by such lawful funding mechanisms as the local authority considers on
reasonable grounds to be appropriate.

5. Prudent debt management. Debt shall be maintained at prudent levels and in
accordance with the relevant provisions of the borrowing management policy. This
principle recognizes the issue of borrowing powers as an original reason for the
Local Government Act. The principle recognizes that a rational locally developed
system for debt management is a superior means of safeguarding ratepayers’ interests
in comparison to a rigid set of numerical caps and controls established by legislation
(for example a total debt to total assets ratio of no more than 40%).

6. Balancing of books. Operating revenues in any financial year shall be set at a level
adequate to cover all projected operating expenses. This is a principle similar to that
required of central government under the Fiscal Responsibility Act and this is the
provision that requires councils to include depreciation/decline in service potential in
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the operating expenses and hence cover these with operating revenue in the interests
of intergenerational equity.

11.5.3.DEVELOPMENT OF FUNDING POLICY

The intention of the legislation is that funding decisions should be related to who
benefits from the goods and services provided at any point in time and across time. From
the perspective of citizens, consideration of the costs and benefits of options is a crucial
part of the legislation. The term ‘benefits and costs’ is not confined to direct benefits or
to financial costs only. Instead, it is intended to encompass direct and indirect benefits
and costs (at least those of significance) and requires the application of economic as well
as financial principles. It is this provision, more than any other part of the Act, which
requires local authorities to review tradeoffs between activities and the different means
of undertaking particular activities including direct provision, provision through a LATE
or other local authority controlled structure, contracting out, long term franchising or
divestment and simply acting as a purchaser. It is also important to note that this
principle applies to all decisions with significant financial consequences and not simply
decisions taken in developing the long term financial strategies or the other policies.

As required by the legislation, councils classify each service according to which of three
types of benefits it provides: direct benefits, general benefits and control of negative
effects. Direct benefits are received directly by an individual or group (e.g. a parking
meter space provides direct benefit to motorists who use it). General benefits are
provided to the community as a whole (e.g. street lighting improves the security of
streets at night). The control of negative effects is needed to protect the community from
actual or potential problems (e.g. dog control or noise control). Most services provide
more than one of these three types of benefit. Section 122F of the 1996 Act specifies that
costs of any expenditure should be recovered at the time that the benefits of that
expenditure accrue. Section 122F specifies that as far as possible, direct benefits should
be paid for by corresponding user charges, costs of controlling negative effects should be
paid for by those who generate the need for such expenditure and public goods or goods
which generate general benefits may be paid for by rates. Councils examine which
groups (residential ratepayers, business ratepayers, rural ratepayers or non-ratepaying
institutions) receive the benefits from each service and the ratio of direct and indirect
benefits. The costs of providing the benefits are then allocated accordingly. The
legislation permits the councils to decide whether or not this allocation of costs should
be modified by issues of community interest, fairness and equity, council policy or
practicality and reallocate costs if appropriate.

Such decisions should not be viewed solely in functionalist terms but also in terms of an
autonomist perspective. Ultimately, the decisions described above are political and need
to be resolved by political means. Councils have differed as to whether they ratified
recommendations made by management, copied other councils, involved all their elected
members or just a subset of them in their initial analysis. Having examined the
experiences of nine councils which undertook early adoption of the 1996 legislation, the
Audit Office argued that only the elected representatives can properly make many of the
decisions required for the funding policy. While officers are required to produce much of
the information needed for the debate, it is not appropriate for elected representatives



186 June Pallot

just to sign off the final product (Audit Office, 1998: 64). Many councils held workshops
of councillors at which those who participated were fully briefed on the process, the
specific circumstances of each council activity, and the manner in which the activities
were carried out in their own council. Conduct of the workshops helped to ensure that
the interests of all sections of the community, to the extent that they are represented by
elected members, were properly considered. Several councillors interviewed commented
that it was the most interesting and fundamental debate they had ever had on values,
purposes and priorities.

The legislation requires councils to consult with the public before finalizing their
funding policy and the long term financial plan. This provides the opportunity for more
direct participation by the public. The time required to comply with the special
consultative procedure - in particular, the allocation of sufficient time or hearing public
submissions - can be difficult to predict and control, however. Taking too much time can
significantly affect an authority’s ability to meet the statutory deadlines for adopting the
strategy, policies and annual plan and forecasting the number of submissions that will be
received is not easy. The Audit Office suggested that these problems can be alleviated if
the council invests time in meeting with focus groups in the community to identify their
expectations and responds appropriately to these in issuing draft policies and plans;
engages in a consultation program to explain and promote the council’s intentions;
ensures that documents are comprehensive in detail and presented in a fashion that is
readily understood by the average reader (Audit Office, 1998). Many councils appear to
have followed these suggestions.

The analysis required by the Amendment Act is obviously based on theories of public
economics. It requires the mixing of accounting principles with funding mechanisms and
the uses of economic tools that are new to local government. It will not be surprising if
the various local authorities come up with quite different benefit allocations for various
similar functions given that economics is not an exact science and the theories that
underpin the public good concepts have been the subject of vigorous debate in the
literature for more than a century. Even if the same theories or economic models are
used, different communities may exhibit different characteristics and hence alter the
allocation of benefits. Add to this local government’s inexperience in the use of such
economic models and different interpretations are bound to occur.

11.6. Where to next?

Today local government in New Zealand is at a crossroads in terms of whether a
functionalist or an autonomist approach will dominate.

Global and local trends suggest a shift from a functionalist to an autonomist view.
Throughout the world, the nation state has come under challenge from two directions.
The first is from increasing globalization, with capital and citizens moving freely across
borders, and supra-national regulations which erode the monopoly role of sovereign
states. The second is growing recognition of the plurality of societies within nation states
which undermines the effectiveness of standardized policy solutions and demands
instead interventions based on local knowledge and input from affected communities.
Certainly the reforms have created opportunities for enhanced citizen participation,
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larger and stronger local councils, and greater financial autonomy through the relaxation
of the borrowing regime. Councils seem to vary widely in the strategy they have
adopted. Some are heavily engaged in contracting out, franchising and privatization of
services. Others have chosen to focus more on empowering employees and citizens.
Here, process and organizational culture may be seen as more important than structures
and the challenge is to find a variety of innovative ways to channel participation.

Ironically, just as individual local authorities are starting to exert their autonomy and
develop approaches and policies suited to the needs and circumstances of their individual
communities, there seem to be mounting pressures for central government to impose a
functionalist model. For example, the chairman of the Business Roundtable has argued:
‘Local government should be drastically slimmed down... In New Zealand, local
government operates within a framework laid down by central government. It is
perfectly open to central government to change that framework, as it has done many
times. Changes to the framework are being mooted right now in the form of the proposed
roading reforms.’ (Myers, 1998).

There is guarded support for the Business Roundtable’s stance, and the right of central
government control to define the function of local government, from the Minister of
Local Government: ‘I have some misgivings about the extent to which some councils,
and Christchurch City would certainly be an example, may be pushing the boundaries.
But I await the findings of research being undertaken before looking at what changes if
any may be necessary to the role of local government.’ (Williamson, 1998).

The Electricity Industry Reform Act 1998 has the effect of preventing local authorities to
from owning lines network assets as well as energy generation and retailing. This
amounts to enforced privatization, whether individual local councils like it or not. On its
own initiative, Papakura District Council has already ‘franchised’ maintenance and
operations of its water supply and wastewater disposal services to a multi-national
company (Audit Office,1998b). Other councils are following suit and it is possible that
central government will seek to impose such an approach on all local authorities in the
interests of more efficient delivery of services. Perhaps the most significant, in terms of
its impact on local government, however, are central government’s proposals for roading
reform. As the Minister of Local Government has stated: ‘Do we really need 74
territorial authorities with a population the size of a large Australian city?... With the
reform package (roading reform) some of these councils’ very reason for being will go.’
(Williamson, 1998, cited in Reid, 1999).

Already, central government’s requirement in 1990 that all councils receiving grants
from Transfund contract out their road construction and maintenance operations has had
a drastic impact on smaller territorial authorities. Formerly, roading was up to 60 percent
of their costs and the requirement to contract out has reduced their staff levels to as few
as 30 employees. The latest proposals (Ministry of Transport, 1999) go much further
although not as far as those in the report of the government-appointed Roading Advisory
Group (1997).

The key features of the proposed reforms are specialist road organizations and a shift
from rates (property taxes) to direct funding of roads. Four to eight regionally based
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local road companies would take over running local roads from New Zealand’s 74 local
authorities and a Crown-owned company (Transit New Zealand Limited) would operate
state highways and motorways. Another Crown-owned company, Transfund New
Zealand Limited, would provide road funding. The principal objective of the newly
created entities (following the State-owned enterprises model) would be to: operate as
successful businesses; be as profitable and efficient as comparable non-public
businesses; be good employers; and ‘exhibit a sense of social responsibility’.

Rates would no longer be used to fund roads. Instead, roads would be financed from a
Road Use Levy collected from petrol sales, vehicle licensing, usage of heavy vehicles
and light diesel vehicles (at higher levels than at present). Transfund would be
responsible for recommending the rates of these charges to the Minister of Transport.
Individual road users and groups of road users would be given greater choice in the way
they pay for their road use. They could also leave the levy system and choose an
alternative way of paying for their road use. These users could enter into contracts with
road providers either directly or through organizations that would establish themselves
as intermediaries for this purpose. Road users that choose alternative payment
arrangements would be free to rejoin the levy system. Public road companies would be
able to introduce tolls on specific roads and facilities and to introduce congestion prices
to restrain traffic demand on heavily used routes. The Roading Advisory Group had also
advised that transponder technology would soon be available to make direct charging of
all vehicles by kilometre, type of road and time of day a practical possibility.

The proposed road reforms are welcomed by some local councils who currently find
roading costs an almost unbearable burden on rates. Many local authorities, however, are
not keen on having these central government reforms imposed on them. The smallest
councils fear they will be driven out of existence while some of the larger ones (such as
Christchurch) object that commercial roading companies, keen to maximize the number
of vehicles on roads, will make the implementation of public transport strategies
difficult. They are also concerned about having to absorb smaller authorities and losing
their sense of local community.

11.6.1. ACCOUNTING ISSUES

If roads are to be corporatized, the accounting policies adopted will be important.
Indeed, if accounting encourages us to take a given presentation for granted (Hines,
1989:56) then the adoption of private sector valuation and depreciation practices may
already have encouraged a commercial view of roads as the ‘natural’ state of affairs. An
alternative view - that some assets are community property rather than government or
corporate property - was rejected by the designers of the Public Finance Act and this has
had flow-on effects for local government. Portraying roads as ‘community’ assets
(Pallot, 1992) recognizes that they have value not only to individual users and the
entities that manage them but that they form part of a common life and that the
community as a whole should have some say in decisions concerning them.

Valuation of roads, as noted earlier, was initially controversial but some consensus has
been reached that depreciated replacement cost is the most appropriate method. This
could change if roads were to be viewed commercially. Valuations could be based on
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expected future cash flows. In the electricity sector, distribution assets were revalued on
the basis of optimized deprival value. Electricity companies then focused on earning a
commercial rate of return on those increased values and prices to consumers increased.
Whether or not to include valuation of land underneath the roads is a further controversy
(Barton, 1999).

Perhaps even more controversial than presentation and valuation has been accounting for
depreciation. The accounting policy for depreciation of infrastructure assets has itself
been contested terrain between central government and local government. The
preference of local government managers (accountants and engineers) has been for
decline in service potential to be measured by the difference between planned and actual
renewals, making asset management plans crucial to the provision of accounting
information (Pallot, 1997b). A more recent position, to overcome problems of lumpiness
in capital expenditure has been a ‘two-step’ renewals based approach. Here the measure
of change in service potential is the long run average of future renewals expenditure
(over, say, twenty years) as indicated by the asset management plan. The ‘two steps’ are
(1) the long-run average of estimated future renewals is expensed (as depreciation) and
(2) actual renewals expenditure is capitalized. Repairs and maintenance are items that
would not have been included in the renewals plan and are therefore expensed.

Central government has preferred conventional straight line depreciation as practiced in
the private sector and has adopted this for depreciation of roads in the crown’s balance
sheet. In this it has support from the Institute of Chartered Accountants of New Zealand
(ICANZ) which now operates a single standards setting regime across both the public
and private sectors. In April 1998 ICANZ produced an exposure draft of a new standard
on Accounting for Property, Plant and Equipment in which it advocates conventional
depreciation for infrastructure assets i.e. the sum of the (straight-line) depreciation
calculations for each separately identifiable component. At the same time, changes in
legislation mean that local government is obliged to conform to Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice as defined in the Financial Reporting Act 1993. This means
standards approved by the Accounting Standards Review Board, which is oriented to the
private sector, has no local government representation, and normally approves standards
recommended by ICANZ. Thus there is every possibility that the approach preferred by
the centre will be enforced ahead of any preferences of local councils.

A centrally imposed approach which views depreciation as a cost of service delivery has
all the hallmarks of a functionalist paradigm. Viewed from an autonomist perspective,
however, depreciation policy has implications for democratic or community control over
the use of resources. When prices, taxes or rates are based on full costs, including
depreciation, it helps to ensure that funds equal to the depreciation of an asset are not
distributed and are retained in the business to maintain its asset strength i.e. capital
maintenance. The question in the public sector is whether such capital maintenance
decisions, particularly in the case of assets of significant public interest, should be the
prerogative of managers rather than of elected representatives or the public at large.
Since surplus funds can be accumulated within the organization prior to their being
needed to replace capital, they can be used to finance other activities in the short term
and this tends to undermine the control taxpayers or ratepayers would normally have
over management (Rutherford, 1983: 87). Aiken (1994) argues that ‘there can be no
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ultimate delegation of powers away from elected representatives with respect to the
allocation and balancing of scarce resources’ (p.17) and that ‘the main issue with capital
maintenance is the need for a direct (emphasis added) statement of what exactly is to be
maintained and under what authority’ (p.26).

An accounting approach which links depreciation calculations directly to publicly agreed
maintenance objectives, in the context of publicly available asset management plans and
associated financing plans, helps to avoid the risk that accounting manipulations will
remove significant decisions about the allocation of resources from the realm of public
debate. The financing plans force explicit public decision making about questions of
intergenerational equity rather than allowing these to be determined de facto through
non-transparent accounting manipulations.

The accounting controversy in New Zealand is exacerbated by the requirement in the
No. 3 Amendment Act for local authorities to fund ‘decline in service potential’
(depreciation). As a principle of financial management, section 122C of the Act states
that ‘operating revenues in any financial year should be set at a level adequate to cover
all projected operating expenses’. Section 122A of the Act states that ‘operating
expenses’ and ‘operating revenues’ have the meaning given to them under generally
accepted accounting practice. Depreciation is therefore an operating expense which has
to be funded. Having required depreciation to be funded, nothing in the Act says how the
funds generated can or should be used. There is also no requirement to use the funds
generated for the benefit of the activity whose assets have been depreciated. The
problem with the corporatization of roads is that it would remove them from the local
government consultative processes for annual and long term plans altogether. Even if
road users were in some way able to resist attempted price increases imposed by roading
companies, based on highly manipulable depreciation figures, the question remains as to
whether roads have broader social significance beyond their utility to individual
motorists.

11.7. Conclusion

Local government reform in New Zealand is in many respects consistent with the model
adopted at the central level, but it also reflects fundamental values such as the right of
communities to govern themselves and the opportunity for individuals to develop their
human potential through participation in a common life. While the first round of reforms
adopted new public management principles used at the central government level, it did
acknowledge the added importance of participation as a rationale for local government
and created some mechanisms by which more informed public discussion could take
place. The current round of reforms introduces some new initiatives, including a longer
term strategic perspective and explicit judgements about the public versus private nature
of goods and services. While ostensibly about better financial management, the new
legislation has implications for public management more generally. It extends the scope
and importance of public participation by requiring consultation not just on annual short
term issues but on matters affecting the next generation of citizens as well. The new
legislation governing borrowing potentially gives local authorities increased autonomy.
The extent to which this autonomy can be exercised, however, may depend on the extent
to which local government can withstand pressures from central government and other
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influential groups to minimize its role. In this context, accounting should be viewed not
just as a technology for measuring the cost of services in the interests of increased
efficiency, but as a process closed interwoven with community participation and control.
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CHAPTER 12

ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL REPORTING IN SPANISH REGIONAL
GOVERNMENTS: EXPLORING SIMILARITIES AND DIFFERENCES

Vicente Montesinos, José Manuel Vela and Bernardino Benito

12.1. Introduction

Spain is a country where the Governmental Accounting system is very homogeneous at
central and local level. In fact, the accounting regulations that are in force at local level
follow the main orientation and guidelines of the accounting system applied at Central
Government Level. This homogeneity has been a tradition in Spain, even when
considering the differences between business and governmental accounting, that are
rather close in their objectives, accounting principles and standards.

But the fact is that at Regional level, the accounting system that the different
governments adopt is rather heterogeneous. This is due to the fact that every region
(‘Comunidad Auténoma’, Autonomous Community) has the capacity to issue the
standards and regulations that define its accounting and financial reporting framework.
The result is that different reporting models co-exist with significant differences between
them. Even if some regions have developed sound financial reporting standards, their
accounting systems are usually less developed and less informative that the system
adopted by central government.

The purpose of that paper is to present, using a descriptive approach, the main
differences on accounting regulation among Spanish Regional Governments and to
identify the divergences on accounting practices they adopt. In order to obtain empirical
information, a questionnaire was filled in 1998 by head accountants in the Autonomous
Communities and Central Government. According to its purpose, the paper is divided in
three parts. The first one presents the main features that characterize Central
Government Accounting system in order to identify, in the second part, the main
differences with the accounting system adopted by the regions. The third part is
concerned with the existing differences on accounting practices between the different
Regional Governments, basically related with their organizational, financial and
budgetary characteristics, the compliance of the regional accounting model with the
provisions of Central Government accounting regulations, the accounting information
system and the form and content of financial statements. Users of accounting
information and their opinions considering the introduction of accounting innovations
are also analyzed. The last part of the paper presents some proposals concerned with a
possible harmonized accounting and reporting common framework, as a possible
guideline for future accounting recommendations still to be issued and that will require a
consensus effort between Central and Regional Governments in order to maintain the
traditional homogeneity that has characterized in the past the Governmental Accounting
system in Spain.
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12.2. Main Characteristics of Spanish Governmental Accounting

The reform of governmental accounting in Spain started in the early eighties, as a
consequence of the provisions of the 1977 General Budgeting Law (Ley General
Presupuestaria). This law encouraged the reform and enforced further developments as
the implementation of a first governmental accounting Chart of Accounts issued in 1981
(in force at Central Government Level since the first of January 1984). As described in
Montesinos & Vela (1996) , after fifteen years since then, the reform has allowed to
reach a new governmental accounting system quite advanced from a financial
perspective and that has attained significant improvements in the following fields:

12.2.1.LEGAL FRAMEWORK

A unique and clearly defined legal framework that is completed by a set of accounting
standards developed by a new Chart of Accounts issued in 1994 and in force at Central
Government level since the beginning of 1995. Local Governments also apply a Chart of
Accounts based on the 1981 Chart that was applied for Central Government. On the
contrary, Regional Governments offer different accounting systems that are ruled by their
own legislation and standards approved by the regional parliaments.

12.2.2. THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN FINANCIAL AND BUDGETARY ACCOUN-
TING INFORMATION

This is defined by the respective Charts of Accounts at Central and Local Government
levels. As we will see later, this relationship also offers at regional level quite different
solutions.

12.2.3. THE DEFINITION OF GAAP AND OBIJECTIVES OF FINANCIAL REPOR-
TING FOR CENTRAL GOVERNMENT AND LOCAL GOVERNMENTS

No common GAAP or objectives of financial reporting exist at regional level, due also to
the fact that every region issues them according to its own public finance legislation.

12.2.4. THE BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

After the reform of governmental accounting at local and central levels in Spain, a modified
accrual basis is used to prepare financial statements. This basis is very close to a full accrual
basis with two significant exceptions:

- Capital assets, when for direct public use by citizens, are recognized as capital
investments during construction and are written-off (expensed) when completed. This is
the case for infrastructure, defence and cultural assets. Consequently, no depreciation
expense is considered for these capital assets in the financial statement (operative
statement).

- Capital subsidies are recognized using modified cash basis and transferred to income
when collected or when receivable within three months or less. As a consequence of
this, there are no deferred revenues to be recognized in future periods.
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For budgetary reports, that are also included in the financial statements, there is no a clear
definition in the law of the basis of accounting to be used, even if this basis is very close to
a modified cash basis. In accordance with the General Chart of Accounts, budgetary
revenues and expenditures are recognized when the administrative decisions have been
adopted, independently of the time when the facts associated to them have occurred.
Consequently they are not accrued. We can conclude that two basis are simultaneously used
in the Spanish model: a modified accrual basis in financial accounting and a modified cash
basis in the budget. As budget execution statements are included in the annual financial
report with a balance sheet and an operative statement, its important to consider this
difference.

12.2.5. THE MEASUREMENT FOCUS

Concerning the measurement focus adopted, the differences between budget and financial
accounting are also important. Measurement foci are the criteria used to define what assets
and liabilities are taken into account in order to determine the entity's financial position. The
inclusion or non-inclusion of assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position
depends on the measurement focus adopted in any case (IFAC, 1991, p. 2; IFAC, 1993, pp.
12-18). According to IFAC (1993, par. 073), measurement foci used for assets reporting are:
current financial resources, total financial resources and economic resources. Liider (1989,
p-20; 1994, pp. 2-3) defines three types of measurement foci for net asset positions: the net-
monetary-debt measurement focus, the net-total-debt measurement focus and the equity
measurement focus.

In Spain, the general framework for preparation and presentation of governmental financial
accounting statements sets up the economic resources/equity focus as the general rule for
all the entities. In a similar way to the basis of accounting, there is a dual accounting
treatment - from a measurement focus point of view - for strictly financial statements and
budgetary reports. Financial statements (balance sheet and operative statement), are
prepared using ‘economic resources/equity focus’. There are, as pointed out before, some
exceptions to this general rule: the non-inclusion in the financial statements of certain
capital assets and the non-deferral of capital subsidies. As a consequence of these deviations
from a pure economic resources/equity focus, a ‘modified equity’ focus is properly set up by
general Spanish governmental accounting standards at Central and Local levels.

Budgetary reports pay attention to revenues and expenditures measured when cash is
collected or paid, or when related receivables and payables have short term maturity term,
normally three months or less. Budget has thus short-term financial and not economic and
equity reporting purposes, and expenditures rather than expenses are recognized in
budgetary reports. Expenses are included in the operative statement This is why
depreciation is disclosed in this statement and not in the budget. The budgetary
measurement focus is a financial one, that practically can be identified as a ‘current financial
resources’ focus.

In what concerns Regional Governments, the diversity among the accounting standards in
force in every region is again important, and an homogeneous measurement focus cannot be
identified.



198 Vicente Montesinos, José Manuel Vela and Bernardino Benito

12.2.6. THE CONTENT OF THE FINANCIAL REPORTS.

At Central and Local levels, the content of financial reports is structured around three main
types of statements: a statement of financial position (balance sheet), an operative statement,
and budget execution statements.

The presentation of a balance sheet with classified assets, equity and liabilities items,
provides a rationale and overall picture of the financial position of governmental entities.
Other additional and more detailed financial information is included in the notes, which
develop and complement the balance sheet figures and total amounts. It is important to note,
as we said before, that infrastructure assets are not included after their construction is
achieved.

Expenses and revenues are accrued in order to elaborate an operative statement, with some
exceptions as infrastructure assets depreciation. In this account, expenses and revenues are
classified by nature. Wealth and equity annual variations are thus reported in this statement,
providing a very useful information for long-term evaluation of the entities' financial
performance and its incidence on their future economic viability. The separated information
on operative, financial and unusual items is quite useful in order to implement comparative
analysis and forecasts.

Finally, the budget execution statements present the main budget execution figures for
revenues and expenditures and show the budgetary result of the year, that is different from
the bottom line of the operative statement. This is obviously due to the differences between
the measurement focus and basis of accounting applied for budget and financial accounting
pointed out above

At regional level, as we will analyze later, the situation is once again not uniform, and offers
different solutions according to the region that is considered.

After the reform of Spanish governmental accounting, we can conclude that the present
accounting system has an important informative dimension in what concerns financial
accounting. If we analyze the development of accounting standards, in fifteen years, a
conceptual framework has been defined as well as a set of Accounting Principles
(GAAP) quite similar to those considered for business entities. The reform has also
permitted to implement an accounting system that integrates budgetary accounting and
financial accounting in the structure of the Chart of Accounts. This is very useful for
reporting purposes, considering above all that the compulsory financial statements that
are now issued report not only budgetary figures, but also a balance sheet and an
operative statement for the overall accounting entity. As we will see now, the situation in
the regions is not the same.

12.3. Governmental Accounting and the Setting of Accounting Standards in
Spanish Regions

Spain has developed a reform that has followed a clear top-down orientation. Its means that
the accounting model was first implemented at Central Government Level, and then
extended to the lower levels of government (local level). This is why in Spain the
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accounting system of municipalities, reformed in 1990 following the model defined by the
Chart of Accounts of 1981, is very similar to the model of Central Government (Vela,
1996), even if the new 1994 Chart of Accounts is not yet applied at local level. But the fact
is that the accounting model applied at Central and local levels has not yet been fully
implemented at regional level.

In Spain, there is a body with an authoritative status in the issuance of governmental
accounting standards: the Intervencion General de la Administracién del Estado, IGAE
(Office of the Comptroller General of the State). This body elaborates the governmental
chart of accounts and its further developments at central and local Government levels..
While the authority in setting accounting standards is held by the IGAE for central and
local governments, regional governments are autonomous for that purpose. This
autonomy of the regions explains the different accounting models that can be identified
among them.

Spain, as a consequence of the decentralization process initiated in the late seventies, has

17 regional governments. Even if all the regional governments have the same

competencies, two groups of regions can be differentiated:

a. Regional Governments with a high level of competencies: Pais Vasco, Cataluiia,
Galicia, Andalucia, Navarra, Valencia and Canarias;

b. Regional Governments with a low level of competencies: Aragoén, Castilla la
Mancha, Castilla y Le6n, Extremadura, Asturias, Cantabria, la Rioja, Murcia,
Baleares and Madrid.

This decentralization process has been rather important, specially considering that in
1998, Central Administration represents a 65 % of all the consolidated expenditures of
Spanish Public Administrations, while in 1986, it represented a 75 % (see exhibit 12.1.).
It is also important to note that in 1998, regional governments represent a 31 % of the
total public investment managed by Public Administrations and a 9,6 % of their global
debt (see exhibits 12.2. and 12.3.).
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Years Total | % Central | % | Autonomous | % Local | %

public administration communities authorities

administrations Dy (2 2) 2)
1986 84,6 1100 64,1 |75.8 11,1 [13.1 9,4 |11.1
1987 92,1 | 100 68,3 |74.1 13,1 |14.3 10,7 |11.6
1988 98,8 | 100 69,3 170.1 17,0 {17.3 12,5 |12.6
1989 116,4 | 100 79,7 168.5 21,2 |18.2 15,5 {13.3
1990 139,2 | 100 95,1 |68.3 25,6 (18.4 18,5 {13.3
1991 151,9 {100 102,4 {674 29,6 {19.5 19,9 {13.1
1992 173,7 | 100 116,3 (67.0 34,8 [20.0 22,6 [13.0
1993 189,1 | 100 128,1 (67.8 37,9 {20.0 23,1 {12.2
1994 206,6 | 100 140,8 [68.2 42,1 |20.3 23,7 (11.5
1995 213,3 {100 143,9 |67.5 44,8 [21.0 24,6 [11.5
1996 235,1 [ 100 153,5 [67.9 49,1 |20.9 26,5 [11.2
1997 248,2 [ 100 167,0 [67.3 53,0 [21.4 28,2 [11.3
1998 255,4 | 100 167,6 |65.6 56,8 [22.2 30,9 [12.1

(1) Including Social Security and retirement Pensions
(2) Including financial debt reduction as budgetary expenses

Exhibit 12.1.: Consolidated Expenses of Spanish Public Administrations (.000 millions
of euros)

Source: ‘La descentralizacion del gasto publico en Espaiia. Periodo 1986-1998°, Ed.
Direccion General de Coordinacion con las Haciendas Territoriales,
Ministerio de Economia y Hacienda, Madrid, 2000.

Years | Total public| % | Central ad-| % |Autonomous | % Local | % Social | %
adminis- ministration communi- authorities security
trations ties
1989 11,8 | 100 3,7(314 3,6 31.0 3,7131.3 0,816.3
1999 14,6 | 100 491337 4,51(31.2 431289 0,916.2
1991 15,8 | 100 52323 5,6 35.6 4,1]259 0,9]6.2
1992 14,3 | 100 441299 53137.1 3,8126.9 0,864
1993 14,8 ] 100 4,7]32.1 5,2 (348 4,0 {27.0 0,9 6.1
1994 15,2 | 100 4,6 130.6 491322 49322 0,81]5.0
1995 15,1 100 541352 4,5130.1 4,4129.1 0,856
1996 13,7 | 100 3,8128.0 4,8135.0 4,2 1307 0,963
1997 14,0 | 100 4,3130.7 4,5|31.9 44319 0,815.5
1998 16,3 ] 100 4,7129.3 5,1131.0 5,6 | 34.0 0,9]57

Exhibit 12.2.: Gross Fixed Capital Formation in Spanish Public Administrations
(.000 millions of euros)

Source: ‘Cuentas financieras anuales de la economia espafiola’, Ed. Banco de
Espafia, Madrid, 2000.
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As we said before, the accounting systems and standards between the different regions
are not homogeneous, specially considering that every region can issue its own
accounting standards. Even if budgetary legislation is quite similar, the differences in
budgetary accounting also exist. Consequently, the comparability between the
accounting information provided by Spanish regions is very difficult to achieve,
specially considering two main reasons concerned with:

1. the absence of a common conceptual framework;

2. the accounting standards that are applied.

The absence of a common conceptual framework of accounting for all the regions is the
first reason that explains the lack of comparability of the accounting information they
provide. No common recognition criteria exist, the content of financial reports is not
harmonized, and even the objectives of financial reporting are sometimes different in its
content and disclosure. According to those objectives, three groups of regions can be
identified:

a. the region of La Rioja, were there is not a specific Finance Law that sets up those
objectives;

b. the regions where the objectives of financial reporting are only set up by a basic law.
This is the case of Andalucia, Aragén, Asturias, Baleares, Cantabria, Castilla la
Mancha, Castilla y Le6n, Catalufia. Madrid, Navarra, Pais Vasco and Valencia;

c. the regions where the objectives of financial reporting are set up by a basic law but
fully disclosed by other laws. This is the case of Canarias, Extremadura, Galicia and
Murcia.

Anyway, the basic objectives at regional level are concerned in general with:
- budget execution disclosure;

- situation and evolution of cash;

- disclosure of assets and liabilities;

- accountability.

The differences on the accounting standards applied also explains the lack of
comparability of the accounting information provided by Spanish regions. While the
standards concerned with the budget are quite uniform, the accounting standards not
homogeneous due to the lack of a common chart fully applied. Nevertheless, an
agreement exists for introducing 1994 Government Chart of Accounts by all Regional

Government. Late in 1999 the following standards setting policies can be described in

the Spanish regions:

a. regions that apply an own Chart of Accounts based on the Chart applied by the
Central Government. This is the case of the majority of regions;

b. regions that apply a an own Chart of accounts not based on the Chart applied by
Central Government. This is the case of Pais Vasco, that uses a Chart inspired in the
Spanish chart for business entities;

c. regions that do not apply any Chart. This is the case of Canarias and Navarra.

The lack of a common Chart of Accounts and a common conceptual framework, explain
why the accounting systems in Spanish regions are different. In order to appreciate
where the differences and similarities between those systems are, the authors of this
paper conducted a survey in 1988 that was addressed to all the Accounting offices in the
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different regions. The main objective of this survey was to analyze the divergences on
the accounting practices and to identify which regions in Spain present a more
informative accounting system. The main results of the survey are now presented.

12.4. Accounting Practices in Spanish Regions

The main objective of the survey developed in 1998 was to analyze the main accounting
practices adopted by Regional Governments in Spain. This survey confirmed that
regional governmental accounting systems are not homogeneous and that the differences
among them are significant. The survey was developed sending a questionnaire that
aimed to analyze the following points:

1. organizational, financial and budgetary characteristics of regional governments;

2. compliance of the regional accounting model with the provisions of Central
Government accounting regulations;

accounting information system:;

form and content of financial statements;

users and usefulness of accounting information;

availability and control of information;

accounting innovations in financial reporting.

Nownbkhw

12.4.1.ORGANIZATIONAL, FINANCIAL AND BUDGETARY CHARACTERIS-
TICS OF REGIONAL GOVERNMENTS

The regions in Spain have organizational, financial and budgetary characteristics that are
different, even if all of them approve a budget that is structured by programs. The taxes
they levy, the grants from central state and their participation in some of the Central
Government taxes are their main sources of revenue, even if Pais Vasco and Navarra
have a specific financing system. Only three regional governments represent 50% of
total regional governments, as shown on exhibits 12.4. and 12.5.: Andalucia, Comunidad
Valenciana and Catalufia. Those three regions represent also a 44% of all the population
of Spain.
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|Averadge Annual
Autonomous Surface Inhabitants Regional Density Variation
Communities (km2) (thousands) Distribution (inhab/km2) 1985-1995 (%)
Andalucia 87,599 7,080.0 18.1 80.8 0.56
Aragon 47,720 1,181.0 3.0 24.7 -0.17
Asturias 10,604 1,079.2 2.8 101.8 -0.40
Baleares 4,992 744.2 1.9 149.1 1.15
Canarias 7,447 1,545.5 3.9 207.5 0.84
Cantabria 5,321 525.3 1.3 98.7 0.02
Castilla-Leon 94,224 2,490.2 6.4 264 -0.42
Castilla-La Mancha 79,461 1,654.1 4.2 20.8 -0.09
Catalufia 32,113 6,093.5 15.5 189.8 0.14
Valencia 23,255 3,920.6 10.0 168.6 043
Extremadura 41,634 1,046.5 2.7 25.1 -0.29
Galicia 29,575 2,715.3 6.9 91.8 -0.32
Madrid 8,028 5,055.3 12.9 629.7 0.49
Murcia 11,314 1,076.6 2.7 95.2 0.73
Navarra 10,391 5244 1.3 50.5 0.14
Pais vasco 7,234 2,065.7 5.3 285.6 -0.40
La Rioja 5,045 263.2 0.7 52.2 0.09
Ceuta y Melilla 32 127.6 0.3 3,986.8 5.00
Spain 505,989 39,188.2 100.0 77.4 0.20

Exhibit 12.4.: 1995 Spanish Population and Surface by Regional Administrations
Source: ‘Informe econdmico-financiero de las Administraciones Territoriales en

1996°, Ed. Ministerio de administraciones Publicas, Madrid, 1997

Autonomous

Communities 1985 1990 1992 1993 1994 1995 1996 1997
Andalucia 2,9 7,3 9,2 9,8 11,3 10,8 13,7 13,7
Aragon 0,1 0,4 0,6 0,6 1,0 0,9 1,0 1,3
Asturias 0,2 0,4 0,5 0,6 0,6 0,6 0,9 0,9
Baleares 0,1 0,1 0,3 0,3 0,3 0,3 0,3 0,4
Canarias 0,4 1,2 1,5 1,6 1,7 2,6 2,8 2,9
Cantabria 0,1 0,3 0,3 0,3 0,3 0,3 0,3 0,5
Castilla-Leon 0,3 0,9 1,1 1,2 1,9 2,0 2,5 2,6
Castilla-La Mancha 0,2 0,7 1,0 1,1 1,6 1,8 1,9 2,3
Catalufia 2,5 6,4 8,2 8,9 9,4 9,9 10,0 10,8
Valencia 0,8 3,3 44 4,7 5,1 5,1 5,5 6,0
Extremadura 0,1 0,5 0,7 0,8 1,1 1,1 1,3 1,3
Galicia 0,8 2,1 3,7 4,0 4,4 4,7 49 5,2
Madrid 0,5 1,8 1,8 1,9 2,0 2,1 2,8 3,5
Murcia 0,1 0,4 0,4 0,5 0,5 0,5 0,6 0,8
Navarra 0,4 0,7 1,4 1,4 1,4 1,5 1,5 1,6
Pais Vasco 0,8 2,6 3,2 3,7 3,8 4,0 4,2 4,3
La Rioja 0,10 0,10 0,15 0,15 0,16 0,2 0,2 0,2

Exhibit 12.5.: Consolidated Budgets of Autonomous Communities ( years 1985-1997)
(.000 millions of euros)

Source: ‘Informe economico-financiero de las Administraciones Territoriales en
1996’, Ed. Ministerio de Administraciones Publicas, Madrid, 1997.
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From an organizational point of view, regional governments are also different, due to the
fact that the level of competencies they have received from Central Government is not
the same. Only seven regional governments have competencies on health, and some of
them have adopted a rather decentralized organization creating a significant number of
public corporations and autonomous entities (Pais Vasco, Catalufia and Andalucia). Nine
regional governments present a consolidated budget. Due to the different level of popu-
lation and competencies, regional governments offer big differences, even if the budge-
tary laws of all of them are quite similar. Some interesting figures are shown on the
exhibit 12.6.

Autonomous GDP (000 millions of | GDP per capita EU-15 real
communities €uros) (euros) | Convergence
Andalucia 68,410 9,386 60,4
Canarias 20,568 12,621 81,3
Catalufia 98,189 16,138 103,9
Galicia 29,771 10,867 70,0
Valencia 52,103 12,909 83,1
Aragon 16,564 13,980 90,0
Asturias 12,083 11,145 71,8
Baleares 15,781 20,473 131,8
Cantabria 6,300 11,970 77,1
Castilla-La Mancha 17,887 10,390 66,9
Castilla-Ledén 29,307 11,747 75,6
Extremadura 10,187 9,522 61,3
La Rioja 3,822 14,438 93,0
Madrid 83,147 16,535 106,5
Murcia 11,626 10,503 67,6
Pais Vasco 30,861 14,749 95,0
Navarra 7,942 15,280 98,4
Spain 515,824 12,970 83,5

Exhibit 12.6.: GDP and Real Convergence in Spanish
Autonomous Communities (year 1997)
Source: Alcaide Inchausti, 1999: 446-450

12.4.2.COMPLIANCE OF THE REGIONAL ACCOUNTING MODEL WITH THE
PROVISIONS OF CENTRAL GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTING REGULA-
TIONS

As we saw in the first part of the paper, the accounting system of Central Government is
characterized by the co-ordination of two systems: a budgetary accounting system and a
financial accounting system, that use different measurement foci and bases of
accounting. All Regional Governments develop the budgetary system, following similar
budget execution guidelines to the adopted at Central Level. But the fact is that not all
the Regional Governments develop a financial accounting system (see exhibit 12.7.).
This is the case of Baleares, Canarias, Cantabria, Extremadura and Galicia. The
accounting system in those regions is budget oriented and uses a modified cash basis,
while in the other regions development of a financial accounting system allows the
adoption of a modified accrual basis.
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In what concerns management accounting, it is very seldom developed, with the excep-
tion of Pais Vasco and Galicia. Anyway, as shown on exhibit 12.7., there are five
regional governments that expect to develop a management accounting system in the
future.

Autonomous communities ||Budgetary Area [Financial Accounting Area| Management Accounting Area
A|B|C|D| A B C D A B C D

Andalucia 5

Aragdn

Asturias 4 v

Baleares 4 v 4

Canarias 4 ve 7

Cantabria v v 4

Castilla-La Mancha 4 7

Castilla-Le6n 4 4

Catalufia 4 4

Extremadura 4 4

Galicia v/ 4

La Rioja v

Madrid

Murcia 4 4 4

Navarra v

Pais Vasco 4 4 V4

Valencia v

A: It is applied according to the law , B: Compulsory, C: Not applied but will be introduced

D: Not applied and is not expected to be introduced in the future

Exhibit 12.7.: The Accounting System of Regional Governments

12.4.3. ACCOUNTING INFORMATION SYSTEM

The accounting information system is supported by a specific software that allows to
process the information concerned with the budget of revenues and expenditures, non
budgetary transactions and liabilities. The design of the information system follows the
model of Central Government in Aragén, Asturias and Catalufia, while other regions as
Madrid, Pais Vasco or Murcia have developed accounting information systems that are
very heterogeneous and present important differences. One of the main weak points of
the regional accounting systems is the processing of the information related with fixed
assets and the definition of appropriate accounting entities. Only Murcia and Castilla la
Mancha have developed a fixed assets accounting system. The accounting entities
considered are quite different and there is not a common definition of the entities that
should be considered by the accounting systems. This fact stresses the problems that
arise when the information provided by the different regional governments is compared.

12.4.4.FORM AND CONTENT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The annual financial reports presented by regional governments are not homogeneous,
even if all of them include budget execution statements. A balance sheet and an opera-
tive statement is not always presented, specially in the case of the regional governments
that have not yet developed a financial accounting system. In this case , the annual
reports include mainly the information concerned with the budget and its execution.
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The survey has tried to identify the degree of similarity of the annual financial reports

presented by Regional governments with the annual financial report presented by Central

Government. If we consider 38 statements and items that are presented in this report, and

we analyze if they are disclosed by Regional Governments, the results evidence three

clear facts (see exhibits 12.8. and 12.9.):

1. the annual report of Central Government is more informative according to the
information disclosed;

.2. the degree of heterogeneity among the annual reports is high;

3. only six regions offer an annual report with a significant informative dimension, in
similar terms as the report presented by Central Government. This is the case of
Murcia, Castilla Ledn, Valencia, Madrid, Aragén and Andalucia.

Statement and Items Statements and items included by regional governments
Number % over total
Balance Sheet 11 69
Economic Result Account 12 75
Budget Stettlement statement 16 100
Operative statement 9 56
Funds Flow statement 10 63
Net financial savings statement 14 88
Cash flow statement 15 94
Budgetary changes statement 16 100
Non-disposed appropriation 12 75
Functional classification of expenditures 15 94
Projects of investment executed 9 56
Administrative contracting 3 19
Granted subsidies and transfers 7 44
| Agreements 2 13

Staff 2 . 13
Creditors not yet applied to the budget 6 ’ 38
Cash Advances 6 38
Obligations related to closed budgets 16 100
Expenditure commitments for future budgets 16 100
Net receivable total amount 15 94
Net collected revenues 14 88
Written off receivables 12 75
Returned revenues 13 81
Grants and transfers obtained 7 44
Fees, public and private prices 10 63
Net financial saving outflows 7 44
Receivables from previous years budgets 14 88
Budgetary receivables by maturity 3 19
Revenue Commitments 2 13
Revenue Commitments concerning future budget: 3 19
Expenses earmarked for specific purposes 4 25
Non financial fixed assets 4 25
Fixed assets managed for other public entities 2 13
Infrastructure assets 2 13
Financial Investments 10 63
Financial debts 15 94
Stocks 3 19
Overruled receivables 12 75

Exhibit 12.8.:  Statements and Items included in the Annual Accounts of Regional
Governments (no answers are available for Pais Vasco)
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Autonomous Statements included in the annual report of Central Government that are
communities also included in the annual report of Regional Governments with a similar
content
Number % over total

Murcia 36 95
Castilla-Leén 32 84
Valencia 28 74
Madrid 27 71
Arago6n 25 66
Andalucia 24 63
Galicia 21 55
Extremadura 19 50
Baleares N/A N/A
Catalufia 20 53
Canarias 13 34
Castilla-La Mancha 18 47

La Rioja 17 45
Cantabria 12 32
Navarra 10 26
Asturias 9 24

Pais vasco N/A N/A

N/A: No answer available
Exhibit 12.9.:  Statements in the Annual Report of Regional Governments, in
Comparison with Central Government

12.4.5.USERS AND USEFULNESS OF ACCOUNTING INFORMATION

According to the responsible persons of accounting information in the different regions,
this information is useful for the users showed in figure 12.1., with the degree indicated.
The users that seem more interested are those concerned with the management and
execution of budget and the audit and control bodies. An it is also clear according to the
results obtained in the survey, that a clear interest in budgetary information prevails.

A: Political representation organs/ B: Political responsibles / C: Public entity managers /
D: Budget Managers / E: Auditing and control bodies / F: Taxpayers and voters /
G: Suppliers / H: Creditors / I: Financial Institutions

Figure 12.1: Accounting Information Users and Usefulness of Information
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If we consider the opinion of the responsible persons of accounting in every region, and
the usefulness of financial statements, budgetary information is again considered as more
relevant. The balance sheet and the economic result account is not usually considered to
be very informative.

A: Balance Sheet / B: Economic Results Account / C: Budget Execution Statement /
D: Operative Statement / E: Funds flow statement / F: Net financial savings
statement / G: Cash statement

Figure 12.2.: Usefulness of Accounting Statements

12.4.6. AVAILABILITY AND CONTROL OF INFORMATION

Concemning the availability of accounting information, only 6 of the 17 Autonomous
Communities asserted that they elaborate an economic report starting from the
information included in the Financial and Budgetary General Accounts. As many users,
not only politicians, are concerned by the information included in this economic report,
accounting information must communicated in a clear and concise way. Citizenry is at
the end of the day, the most important user, as citizens are the customers of public
services, but they also pay by taxes for public activities and operations.

On the other hand, all the Autonomous Communities present their Financial and
Budgetary General Accounts before External Audit Institutions. Moreover, five
Communities had contracted out audits to private firms, always as a voluntary control.

12.4.7.ACCOUNTING INNOVATIONS IN FINANCIAL REPORTING

In the last part of our survey, we tried to analyze the opinions in the different regions
concerning the introduction of several accounting innovations. As shown on figure 12.3,,
the innovations that seem more interesting for the responsible persons of accounting
information are the introduction of accounting by objectives and responsibility (65% of
total opinions) and the inclusion on the financial reports of value for money indicators
(59% of total opinions). The innovations that seem less interesting are the inclusion of
infrastructure assets in the financial statements and the introduction of a full accrual
basis in the budget.
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A: Inclusion of infrastructure assets / B: Consolidation of financial statements /

C: Consolidation of budgets / D: Activity based costs / E: Value for money indicators /

F: Cost accounting / G: Budget and resource accounting / H: Budget and accounting by
objectives / I: Accrual budgets / J: Full Accrual Basis statements

Figure 12.3.: Usefulness of Accounting Innovations

On another hand, if the difficulty in introducing accounting innovations is considered,
the adoption of a full accrual basis on the budget, the introduction of objectives and
responsibilities on budgets and on accounting, and cost accounting, are evaluated with a
higher degree of difficulty (see figure 12.4.). On the contrary, the development of
consolidation of financial statements and of consolidated budgets is considered to be
easier by the responsible persons in developing accounting in the different regions.

If we consider both, usefulness and existing difficulties to introduce innovations,
consolidation appears as the reform that in those moments seems more possible to
develop. The introduction of a full accrual basis of accounting in the budget, and the
inclusion of infrastructure assets on the financial reports is on the contrary, considered

A: Full Accrual Basis / B: Accural in budgeting / C: Adjusted result with uncollectible receivables
D: Budget and accounting by objectives and responsability / E: Ressource accounting /
F: Cost accounting / G: Value for money indicators / H: Activity based costs / I: Consolidation of
budgets / J: Consolidation of financial statements / K: Inclusion of infrastructure assets

Figure 12.4.: Difficulty of Accounting Innovations
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12.5. Conclusion

Accounting reforms in Spanish Regional Governments are going on more slowly than in
other sectors of public administration, even important efforts are in progress, in order to
implement double entry accounting in all the regions. However, the accounting system
of Spanish Regional Governments is heterogeneous, diverse and not harmonized. The
general situation evidences, in spite of some improvements introduced by some regions,
that the accounting models have still an important budgetary orientation. The adoption of
modified cash basis and of measurement focus based on financial resources is the more
extended practice, even if some regional governments have adapted its reporting model
to the Central Government one and are progressively introducing a modified accrual
basis through the development of a financial accounting system. It is important to note
that the regions that seem more concerned with the improvement of their accounting
system, are usually regions that receive a significant amount of resources from the
European structural funds (Objective 1 regions). This is for example the case of Murcia,
Castilla Leon, Andalucia or Valencia, that have to report a significant amount of
information to the European Court of Auditors for control purposes.

Moreover, all the Autonomous Communities present their financial and budgetary
accounts before central and regional External Control Audit Institutions. Financial and
budgetary reporting is not wide enough and quality of information is neither good
enough for meeting the needs of citizens and other users need in a developed western
society.

As a summary, it can be remarked that important efforts are made by Autonomous
Communities in order implement accounting systems adapted to General Chart of
Accounts, applied by Central Administration. However some agreement on an
harmonization process is necessary, as there are important differences among the current
regional accounting practices and central administration accounting and reporting
standards. Common accounting and reporting standards are absolutely necessary, as
comparability of information must be guaranteed, specially considering the process of
political and administrative decentralization developed since 1978, when a democratic
Constitution was adopted in Spain. In our opinion, only Central Government can enforce
a consensus with the Regions in order to improve the accounting system through the
introduction of a harmonized model based on the 1994 Chart of Accounts, or perhaps a
new system for developing and implementing accounting standards and practices, that in
any case must make possible the comparability and even the consolidation of
governmental accounting information from central, regional and local public entities.
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CHAPTER 13

ACCRUALS ACCOUNTING APPROACHES IN THE UK PUBLIC SECTOR:
DIVERSITY AND CONVERGENCE

Sheila Ellwood

13.1. Introduction

Since the 1980s there have been extensive developments in financial accounting for
central government departments, local authorities and hospitals within the National
Health Service (NHS) in the UK. However, the developments have not been uniform -
different parts of the public sector have developed their previously diverse accounting
approaches over different timescales and along different lines. This article briefly sets
out the accounting frameworks of three parts of the UK public sector in the 1980s
together with conceptual thinking on the nature of public sector accounting at that time.
It then examines how each branch of public sector accounting in the UK has developed
using illustrations from the Ministry of Defence (MoD), Leeds City Council and
Hereford Hospitals NHS Trust. The contextual setting is analyzed to provide an insight
into why public service accounting developed in the 1990s. The final section considers
the extent of convergence and diversity in accounting for public services.

13.2. An Historical Perspective

This section examines public sector accounting frameworks in the 1980s in three areas
of the UK public sector - central government; the NHS and local authorities. The
conceptual thinking on public sector accounting (or rather the lack of it) at this time is
also summarized.

13.2.1. ACCOUNTING FOR CENTRAL GOVERNMENT DEPARTMENTS

Central government departments provide annual reports to Parliament. Until recently,
accounting for central government departments in the UK was almost exclusively cash
accounting. Cash accounting recognizes only cash inflows and outflows. This form of
accounting is adopted by most sovereign governments. Guthrie explains the main
features of annual cash accounting: This reflects the fundamental principle that no public
monies should be spent in ways and in amounts not specified in annual parliamentary
appropriations. Cash accounting records the cash receipts, payments and balances at the
time cash is exchanged, hence cash accounting financial statements have traditionally
shown sources of cash receipts, the allocation of cash expenditure and provided a
comparison of actual against budgeted expenditures. Guthrie (1998) p5.

It can therefore be claimed that cash accounting is simple, relatively cheap to operate
and objective. It also has close links to fiscal control and to monitoring public finance.
However, it has two blatant disadvantages: it provides no measure of the worth of the
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organization or its income; there is no measure of the ‘true’ cost of operating for period.
This first deficiency is highlighted by Rutherford (1992) when he referred to the
phenomenon of ‘selling the family silver’. Under cash accounting, the proceeds from
capital sales are shown as negative spending. Thus the accounting system does not report
economic reality and is giving incorrect signals. ‘On the basis of that information, the
rational decision-maker can only see revenue (no costs) and the decision must be to sell’
(Jones and Pendlebury, 1988, p70).

For business accounting, the accounting profession has for many years supported the
view expressed by the Financial Accounting Standards board (FASB) in the USA that
accrual accounting provides a better indication of an organization’s present and
continuing ability to generate favorable cash flows than cash accounting (Copping and
Skerratt, 1997). The International Accounting Standards Board (1989) supported the
FASB view that financial statements prepared on an accrual basis are more useful in
making economic decisions. In the UK, the accruals concept is embodied in Statement of
Standard Accounting Practice 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies, and in the
Companies Act 1995. On the other hand, accruals adjustments introduce subjectivity,
accruals accounting is more costly to operate and the important link with public sector
monitoring and management of liquid (cash) resources is less clear. Perrin observed the
situation in the 1970s and explained the view held by the Treasury of accounting for
central government departments: ‘The Treasury view was that accruals accounting
involving allocating costs between years on the basis of resource use rather than cash
funding was incompatible with Parliamentary sovereignty and therefore unacceptable.
Parliament voted cash funding year-on-year, so therefore the main control accounts,
reports and accountability must be on an annual cash basis.’ (Perrin, 1998) p8.

Other areas of the UK public sector had a modicum of accruals based accounting prior to
the 1990s. Under accruals accounting revenue and costs are recognized as they are
earned or incurred, not as money is received or paid. This approach requires cash flows
to be adjusted through the introduction of debtors, creditors, stock, depreciation and so
on. It can take many forms, for example, it can be based on historic cost or current value
accounting. According to accounting theory, accruals accounting has considerable
advantages over cash accounting by enabling measurement of goods and services
consumed and income earned and, moreover, providing a measure of capital.

13.2.2. ACCOUNTING IN THE NATIONAL HEALTH SERVICE

Prior to 1991 the National Health Service adopted a partial accruals approach. Health
service organizations produced detailed statements of income and expenditure, thus
adjustments for debtors; creditors and movements in stock levels were brought in before
the completion of annual accounting statements and the statement of balances (Balance
Sheet) showed current assets and liabilities. However, spending and funding for capital
items was kept completely separate. The service costs included no measure of capital
consumption (depreciation) and no fixed assets were shown in the statement of balances.
The omission of capital from health service accounting led to capital being termed a
‘free good’. This was claimed to lead to inefficient use of capital stock. The Ceri Davies
Report of 1983 for the Department of Health and Social Security portrayed poor asset
management when it criticized “the somewhat casual attitude adopted by many
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authorities to the handling of property matters in the NHS. We believe that this attitude
derives largely from the fact that property in the NHS is a ‘free good’.” Department of
Health and Social Security 1983, p19. A further problem was the consequent poor
comparability of health service costs both within the NHS and with the private sector.
Mellet (1990) explained the deficiency thus ‘The strength of comparisons within the
NHS is weakened by the possible existence of differences in the capital/revenue mix
dedicated to the same activities, as such comparisons, in the absence of capital costs, are
based on the revenue element alone. Comparison with the private sector are also
distorted as, in the long run, it must recover, and hence reflect in its charges and
costings, both revenue and capital costs, whereas in the NHS, the consequence of the
capital element may be neglected’ Mellet (1990) p271.

13.2.3.ACCOUNTING FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES

Prior to 1994/95 local authorities adopted a partial accruals approach but with some
accounting entries entered in the revenue statements for capital items. As in the NHS, the
accounting statements included debtors; creditors and stocks. But as Jones and
Pendlebury (1984) stated: ‘local authorities account for capital expenditure in a unique
way. There is no counterpart in any other kind of organization, business or non-
business.... The different practices adopted are reflected in different and unfamiliar
terminology’ Jones and Pendlebury (1984), p199.

The accounting entries for capital items were linked to capital financing. Local
authorities finance capital expenditure from loans; from the proceeds of asset sales; from
grants and from direct charges against local taxes. Each method had a different impact
on the accounts and reported costs of the local authority’s services, some in the year of
acquisition, others over an extended period.

Local authorities produced detailed statements of income and expenditure and balance
sheets (though not necessarily published) for each service or fund. No depreciation
charges were included, however, a ‘debt charge’ would be included if fixed assets had
been provided through loan finance. Thus the service costs included no consistent
measure of capital consumption (depreciation). Fixed assets were shown in the balance
sheet(s) but their valuation related to the financing method. Development of local
authority accounting away from this link with capital financing was restricted by law.

Prior to 1988 local authorities were legally obliged to debit the relevant operating
statements with principal and interest payments. Moreover, local authorities were not
permitted to budget for an operating deficit. The situation changed in 1988 when the
Local Government Finance Act set out that in place of the provision to debit debt
charges to individual operating statements, local authorities must make a ‘minimum
revenue provision’ for the local authority a whole. This legal change enabled the
introduction of a form of depreciation accounting.
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13.2.4. CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK FOR PUBLIC SECTOR ACCOUNTING

A conceptual framework for accounting has been defined as: ‘a constitution, a coherent
system of interrelated objectives and fundamentals that can lead to consistent standards
and that prescribes the nature, function and limits of financial accounting and financial
statements’ Scope and Implications of the Conceptual Framework Project, FASB (1976)

p2.

By 1990, in the UK as in many other countries, there had been considerable thought
given to conceptual frameworks in commercial accounting (ASSC 1975; Maeve 1981),
very little comparable attention had been given to public sector accounting.

Likierman (1983) suggested six objectives and functions of public sector financial
reports: compliance and stewardship; accountability and retrospective reporting;
planning and authorization information; viability; public relations; and a source of facts
and figures. However, he concluded ‘What is published varies greatly in the relative
emphasis given to each of these objectives and functions ...Indeed some published
documents are effectively only exercises in public relations and the financial information
plays a relatively minor role or is relegated to an additional, purely technical, document.
On the other hand, some public bodies are required to publish only accounts and do not
publish any more information to expand on them.’ Likierman (1992), p12.

In the USA, a research report by Drebin et al., (1981) ‘Objectives of Accounting and
Financial Reporting for Governmental Units’ had been commissioned for the National
Council on Governmental Accounting. However, empirical studies in the UK (e.g.
Butterworth et al., 1989; Likierman and Vass, 1984) largely failed to find ‘individuals
unequivocally external to the organization, who could be held to use financial statements
for any purpose’ Rutherford (1992). Also in 1992, Jones put forward a reason for this
lack of interest: ‘Why has there been comparatively much less theorizing, including
theorizing about conceptual frameworks, than in commercial accounting? In the UK, the
government has not needed to establish its legitimacy for many years, probably
centuries: it has the power to set and enforce its financial and accounting policies and,
one way or another, it has done this. It has not needed a conceptual framework. It has not
even needed to explain its accounting policies, or changes in them because voters have
no incentive to care and pressure groups only care about very narrow details. Moreover,
for the same reasons, politicians have no incentive to become generally involved in
accounting policies. Public sector accounting is therefore likely to be a matter for
government officials.’ Jones, R. (1992) p 262.

The UK public sector at the end of the 1980s was characterized by diverse accounting
practices and there was neither an overarching conceptual framework to public sector
accounting or apparently a strong interest in developing one.

13.3. Developments in the 1990s to Full Accruals Accounting in the UK Public
Sector

Despite this apparent disinterest in public sector accounting, throughout the 1990s the
UK public sector has experienced a concerted move towards full accruals based
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accounting. Areas of the public sector that had applied accruals accounting concepts
except in accounting for fixed assets introduced forms of depreciation accounting and
more commercial style accounts. Thus the NHS moved to introduce depreciation of
capital items and company style layouts for the accounting statements and a balance
sheet which included fixed assets. Local government shifted from financing charges to
depreciation charges where appropriate and fixed assets included in the balance sheet on
various valuation bases determined by the category of asset. However, the most dramatic
changes are to be seen in central government accounting where the introduction of
Resource Accounting and Budgeting (RAB) is to move government departments from
cash accounting to comprehensive accruals accounting and a framework for analyzing
expenditure by departmental aims and objectives.

13.3.1.1991 INTRODUCTION OF NHS INTERNAL MARKET (FULL ACCRUALS
ACCOUNTING)

The NHS White Paper, ‘Working for Patients’ (Department of Health, 1989) proposed
the introduction of an internal market in healthcare. On the inception of the market in
1991, the health service was separated into purchasers (health authorities and family
doctor fundholders) and providers (NHS trust hospitals and, initially in the first few
years of the market, units directly managed by health authorities). Following the
introduction of the NHS internal market, company style accounts were introduced for
NHS trust hospitals. Vignette 13.1., Hereford Hospitals NHS trust highlights the main
features of accruals accounting adopted by an NHS trust hospital.
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Operating income in 1997/98 of £43m.

At 31 March 1998 the Trust’s Balance Sheet showed:

»  Fixed assets valued at £27.3m (£25.7m purchased; £1.6m donated.)
- land 13%, buildings/ installations/ fittings 75%, equipment 13%

*  Stocks £0.5m

e Debtors £1.5m

«  Creditors falling due within one year £2.6m

The Accounting Policies:

Valuation of Fixed Assets (threshold £5,000 cost or more)

Land & Buildings

Valuations are carried out by the District Valuer at five-yearly intervals. Between valuations, price indices
are applied to arrive at current value.

The large majority of buildings (including land, where not separable, installations and fittings) are valued
by the DV at depreciated replacement cost. Exceptions - separable land, and land and buildings surplus to
requirements are valued at open market value; certain non specialised buildings in operational use are
valued at open market value for existing use; land and buildings held under finance leases are capitalised at
inception of the lease at fair value of the asset but may be subsequently revalued by DV.

Equipment

Valued at estimated net current replacement cost using an appropriate index.

Exceptions: surplus equipment valued at net recoverable amount; assets held under finance leases are
capitalised at fair value.

Depreciation [£1.7m in 1997/98: £1m buildings etc.; £0.7m equipment]

Charged on a straight line basis as follows:

Freehold land not depreciated

Leaseholds depreciated over primary lease term

Buildings, installations and fittings depreciated over estimated remaining life as advised by DV [in 1997/98
lives from 2 to 80 years used]

Equipment [including vehicles] is depreciated over the estimated life using standard asset lives [as set out in
the NHS Manual] for each category of equipment. Vehicles are depreciated over 7 years.

Donated Assets
Donated tangible fixed assets are capitalised at their valuation on receipt and are valued and depreciated as
above.

Stocks
Valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. This is considered to be a reasonable approximation to
current cost due to the high tumover of stocks.

Vignette 13.1:  Herefordshire Hospitals NHS Trust - 1997/98 Annual Accounts

The Hospital Trust produces accounts which follow the accruals concept with the
balance sheet including fixed assets; stocks; debtors and creditors (vignette 13.1.).
Herefordshire Hospitals NHS Trust Annual Report uses the Companies Act style layout
for the Income and Expenditure Account, Balance Sheet and Cash flow Statement with
an accompanying accounting policy statement and disclosure notes. The accounts are
prepared in accordance with the Manual of Accounts for NHS Trusts, they follow
commercial lines to give a ‘true and fair view’ and hence are generally expected to
prepare annual accounts in accordance with accounting standards issued or adopted by
the UK Accounting Standards Board (ASB). However, as can be gleaned from the
accounting policies statement and vignette 13.1., there are a number of points of
difference from generally accepted accounting practice. The Accounting Policies
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Statement begins ‘These accounts have been prepared under the historical costs
convention, modified by the application of current cost principles to tangible fixed
assets, and in accordance with directions issued by the Secretary of State for health to
show a true and fair view. These accounts comply with accounting standards issued or
adopted by the Accounting Standards Board, insofar as they are appropriate to NHS
Trusts.” Hereford Hospitals NHS Trust, Annual Report 1997/98 p36.

Whilst revaluations of fixed assets are common in UK company accounts, the annual
revaluation of assets through indexation is not. The ASB’s Draft Statement of Principles
(1995), which has recently been ‘confirmed’, submits that balance sheets should
increasingly use current values , but this has been countered strongly by the accounting
profession. In particular, Ernst and Young (1996) doubt the merits of any substantial
move towards a valuation-based system and away from one based on historic cost. There
are also examples where accounting standards have not been applied, for example,
capitalization of medical negligence costs, (CIPFA, 1998). A current bone of contention
is the Private Finance Initiative (PFI). Hereford Hospitals has recently signed a PFI
contract. Under FRSS Reporting the Substance of Transactions and SSAP21 Accounting
for Leases and Hire Purchase Agreements, it could be argued that such arrangements
should be shown ‘on balance sheet’. ASB and Treasury Guidance have differed.

13.3.2.1994 INTRODUCTION OF A NEW CAPITAL ACCOUNTING SYSTEM IN
LOCAL AUTHORITY ACCOUNTING

A new system of capital accounting was introduced in local authority accounts in
1994/95. The aim was twofold: to improve the quality of external financial reporting and
to help the authority manage its assets efficiently and effectively (CIPFA, 1993).

The new system was embodied in the Code of Practice on Local Authority. The Code is
recognized by the ASB as a Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP). SORPs are
produced by bodies recognized by the ASB as appropriate preparers of recommended
practice for particular sectors e.g. CIPFA for local authority accounting. When a SORP
is adopted by the ASB a negative assurance statement is displayed within the SORP
indicating that it does not appear to contain any fundamental points of principle that are
unacceptable in the context of current accounting practice or conflict with an existing
standard.

Vignette 13.2., Leeds City Council highlights the main features of accruals accounting
adopted by a local authority. The Council produces accounts which follow the accruals
concept with the balance sheet including fixed assets; stocks; debtors and creditors. The
Annual Report uses commercial style accounts, but not the formal layouts set out under
the Companies Act. The main statements are the Consolidated Revenue Account;
Consolidated Balance Sheet and Cash flow Statement which are produced together with
an accompanying accounting policy statement and disclosure notes. Under the Accounts
and Audit Regulations 1996 local authorities are required to prepare statements of
accounts which ‘present fairly’ the financial position and transactions of the local
authority. The SORP specifies the principles and practices required to prepare statements
of accounts that comply with this requirement. However, as is apparent from the
accounting policies statement and vignette 13.2., there are a number of points of
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difference from generally accepted accounting practice. The Accounting Policies
Statement begins ‘These accounts follow the appropriate accounting practices as
required by the Accounting Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in Great
Britain (1998). the code has been approved as a Statement of Recommended Practice
(SORP). The accounts have therefore been prepared using the historical cost convention
except in relation to fixed assets where the accounting treatment varies depending on the
type of asset. Full or part compliance with Statements of Standard Accounting Practice
and Financial Reporting Standards (FRS) are also identified where appropriate.” Leeds
City Council, Annual Report 1997/98 p12.

Net expenditure in 1997/98 of £565m.

At 31 March 1998 the Council’s Consolidated Balance Sheet showed:
*  Fixed assets valued at £2060m (operational £1933m)
Council dwellings 61.6% other land and buildings 32%, equipment 0.1% infrastructure 6.3%
» Stocks £3.8m
*  Debtors £58.1m
*  Creditors falling due within one year £115m

The Accounting Policies:

Valuation of Fixed Assets

Infrastructure assets e.g. highways

Assets in existence at 1st April 1994 are valued at the equivalent of any net loan debt outstanding at that date,
new assets and developments are included at construction cost. Balance sheet valuations are net of
depreciation (see below).

Community assets e.g. parks

Recorded at nominal [negligible] value

Operational land & properties and other operational assets

Valued on the basis of current value in existing use, unless of a specialist nature in which case they are
valued on a depreciated replacement cost basis.

Non-operational assets and investment properties

Valued on the basis of open market value.

Charge for use of Fixed Assets calculated on current valuation comprise:

= a notional interest charge. 1997/98 Rate specified by Central Government for all local authorities:
8.125% for infrastructure and community assets, 6% for remaining operational assets and non
operational assets.

= adepreciation charge in appropriate cases [£10.8m in 1997/98]: Property valuations undertaken by City
Valuer: all have an indefinite asset life in excess of 20 years no depreciation charged on property
1997/98]. Vehicles, plant and equipment depreciated over emaining life [£3.4m)].

» Infrastructure assets [£7.4m depreciation in 1997/98] depreciated :
- if acquired after 1st April 1994, according to 30 year asset life
- acquired before 1st April 1994, according to 15 year asset life

The authority is required to set aside a minimum revenue provision (Local Government and Housing Act

1989). If depreciation does not equal the prescribed amount a transfer to/ from the Capital Financing Reserve

is made for the difference [transfer to CFR £12.1m in 1997/98].

Stocks and Work in Progress

A large element of stocks are valued at latest purchase price (due to high turnover and low inflation).
Remainder are valued according to SSAP 9 i.e. at the lower of cost and net realisable value. WIP is included
at cost plus any attributable profit less any foreseeable losses.The new system required: asset registers to be
compiled including all the authority’s capital assets; valuing and periodically revaluing all assets for
inclusion in the authority’s balance sheet; calculating capital charges for the use of assets, to be shown in the
revenue accounts of services; and adjusting the authority’s summary revenue account so that these capital
charges do not affect directly the actual cash sums to be met from government grants and raised from local
taxation.

Vignette 13.2.: Leeds City Council - 1997/98 Annual Accounts
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As set out in vignette 13.2., the valuation of fixed assets depends on the category of
asset: community assets are recorded at nominal value; operational assets are generally
valued at current value, but for infrastructure assets in use prior to April 1, 1994, a
pragmatic approach of valuing assets at the equivalent of any net loan debt outstanding
was taken. The Council does not provide depreciation on property. Such treatment,
whilst adopted by several commercial companies would have been contrary to SSAP 12.
However, FRS15 issued in February 1999 acknowledges that depreciation may not be
charged if it is immaterial (though such assets are subject to impairment review under
FRSI11).

Some accounting treatments do not comply with accounting standards. For example
Leeds City Council states in its accounting policies ‘As pension costs have been
determined in accordance with relevant central government regulations, the City
Council, the City Council does not comply with the accounting requirements of SSAP 24
Accounting for Pension Costs and the liabilities included in the Balance Sheet are
therefore understated in respect of pension costs’ Leeds City Council, Annual Report
1997/98 p14.

The most manifest example of local authority accounting failing to comply with private
sector accounting practice is the inclusion of the principal element of repayment of
external debt as an expense in the local authority revenue account.

13.3.3.1998 RESOURCE ACCOUNTING IN CENTRAL GOVERNMENT

Central government is currently making the dramatic change from cash accounting to
resource accounting and budgeting (RAB) with ‘dry run’ financial reports 1998/99 to be
audited by National Audit Office but not ‘published’. RAB comprises a set of accruals-
based techniques; analysis of departmental expenditure by objectives and related to
outputs; and Parliamentary approval of spending plans and authorization of expenditure
expressed on an accruals basis. Under the accruals-based accounting system, each
government department will produce a set of consolidated accounts, covering all its
activities (including executive agencies). These accounts comprise: an operating account
(revenue account) reflecting all its income and expenditure for the period; a balance
sheet reflecting all of its fixed and current assets and liabilities at the end of the year; and
a cash flow statement reconciling the net operating cost to the department’s cash spend.
To illustrate the accruals accounting embodied within RAB, vignette 13.3. highlights the
main features of resource accounting as envisaged for the Ministry of Defence (MoD).
Although the MoD does not have the biggest cash budget in government, it does have
the largest range of assets by both number and value, as shown in the National Asset
Register published by the Treasury in 1997. Assets range from fish and chip shops to
Polaris submarines. Gillibrand and Hilton (1998) observed that ‘The MoD asset base is
such that capital charges and depreciation are likely to be at least as much as the current
cash procurement budget.’ Gillibrand and Hilton (1998) p23.
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Seven TLB areas have net assets worth more than £1,000m (3 over £10,000m)
Seven TLB areas have annual net operating costs of more than £1,000m (4 over £3,000m)

Fixed Asset Categories (RAB Manual):
Intangible - development expenditure; intellectual property rights (IPR)
Tangible -Land & buildings

Fighting equipment (FE)

Plant, machinery and vehicles (PMV)

Operational heritage assets

Non operational heritage assets

IT and communications equipment (IT & Comms)

Assets in the course of construction (ACOC)

Capital spares

The Accounting Policies:

Valuation of Fixed Assets

All fixed assets including ACOC and development expenditure, but with the exception of land and IPR are
revalued annually under Modified Historic Cost Accounting (MHCA) using indexation. Land and property
is revalued quingennially.

Property valuations on different bases: open market value for existing use (OMVEU); depreciated
replacement cost (DRC); modemn equivalent asset valuations (MEA); net recoverable amount (NRA); nil
value for certain non-operational heritage assets.

Non property fixed assets: Net current replacement cost (NCRC) i.e. the presumed method for the majority
of non property assets; MEA; NRA.

Capital charges

Comprises depreciation plus a cost of capital charge (currently set at 6%)

Depreciation

Land not depreciated. Other fixed assets depreciated on a straight line basis using standard asset lives (or
prescribed range).

Cost of capital

Applies to total net assets. Accounts maintained separately for each fixed asset category; stocks and for
other net assets. Cost of capital charge is debited to Operating Statement and credited to General Fund.
Stock

Stock is valued at current replacement cost (CRC) unless, exceptionally, historical cost applies or the
circumstances in which valuation at net realisable value is appropriate i.e. items not expected to be used/
s~1d in the ordinary course of business.

Debtors and Creditors

Cns. ~ecovery and income are recorded on an accruals basis and debtors are recorded in the Balance Sheet
at expected recovery value. Similarly, expenditure is recorded in the period to which it relates and creditors
included in the Balance Sheet.

Donated assets

Valued and depreciated as for purchased assets

Vignette 13.3.:  Ministry of Defence
11 Top Level Budget (TLB) Areas according to Function

The Public Accounts Committee has noted that the task of introducing RAB into the
MoD is greater than for any other department and perhaps as great as for all the other
departments combined (Robertson, 1999). The MoD produces accounts that follow the
accruals concept with the balance sheet including fixed assets; stocks; debtors and
creditors. The MoD Resource Accounting Manual purports to follow UK GAAP: ‘The
Resource Accounts are prepared in accordance with applicable Accounting and
Reporting Standards and United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice
(UKGAAP), to the extent that it is meaningful and appropriate in the public sector
context.” MoD Resource Accounting Manual, August 1998, para 2.1 (c).
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However, on viewing the plethora of valuation bases prescribed in the MoD Resource
Accounting Manual (see vignette 13.3.) it is difficult to recognize generally accepted
accounting practice. The Manual goes on to list the accounting standards and the extent
to which they apply. Table 13.1. lists the Accounting Standards which only apply
‘partially’ or ‘as adapted’.

Accounting Standard Application Further explanation/ comment

FRS2 Accounting for Partially ‘Requirements as to which entities are to be

Subsidiary Undertakings consolidated do not apply but consolidation
principles do apply’

FRS 3 Reporting Financial Partially ‘Section on disclosures in respect of historical

Performance cost profits and losses does not apply. The

sections on extraordinary items, taxation and
earnings per share are not relevant’

FRS 5 Related Party Applies as

Disclosures adapted

FRS 10 Goodwill and intangible | Applies as See vignette 13.3. - e.g. revaluation of

assets adapted development expenditure

FRS 11 Impairment of Fixed Applies as

Assets and Goodwill adapted

SSAP 9 Stocks and long term | Applies as See vignette 13.3. - use of current

contracts adapted replacement cost

Table 13.1.: MoD Resource Accounting - Accounting Standards applied partially or
adapted.

The inclusion of the cost of capital charge as an expense in the Operating Statement
under resource accounting (see vignette 13.3.) seems alien to UK GAAP. Moreover, the
overall layout of the Operating Cost Statement (HM Government, 1994) showing the
cost of resources consumed during the year appears markedly different from that set out
under the Companies Act.

The Head of the Government Accountancy Service, Andrew Likierman has enunciated
the original presumption set out in the 1994 Green Paper (HM Government, 1994 para
2.16) that UK GAAP would be adopted in RAB: ‘The advantages of doing so, rather
than having to devise a new framework, were seen to be to give a read-across to other
organizations in both private and public sectors, to help in an understanding for those
outside government familiar with accrual-based accounts and to work on an established
framework, adapted as necessary for the particular circumstances of central
government.’ Likierman, A. (1998), p19.

The adherence to UK GAAP has been supported by the Treasury Select Committee: ‘We
recognize that the particular circumstances of the public sector will require some
adaptation of UK GAAP and welcome the Treasury’s assurance that it is not expected
that departures from GAAP to be large or extensive.” Treasury Select Committee, (1996)
para 13.

This support was reinforced by the Public Accounts Committee (PAC, 1997).
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However, the list of adaptations to accounting standards, the multitude of valuation bases
and the cost of capital charge could be argued to have moved resource accounting
considerably from GAAP. Jones (1998) compared a typical opening sentence of a
company’s accounting policies statement with the equivalent sentence required by the
Manual: ‘These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention
modified to account for the revaluation of fixed assets, and stocks where material, at
their value to the business by reference to their current costs.” p139 Resource
Accounting Manual.

Jones concluded that whilst the statement is literally true, it ‘might be argued that the
historic cost convention has been modified out of all recognition.” (Jones, 1998, p14).

Public sector accounting in the UK at the end of the 1990s is vastly different from public
sector accounting at the end of the 1980s. However, it is still diverse, and it operates on
markedly different accounting conventions (despite protestations to the contrary) from
those adopted in the commercial sector. Why then have we moved away from simplistic
cash style accounting to more sophisticated forms of accruals accounting often far more
sophisticated than in the private sector?

13.4. The Contextual Setting

Historical changes in situations have often been assumed to be ‘progressions’ towards
the current position, (Hopwood, 1987). However, as seen in the above UK examples,
development is fragmentary. Miller and Napier (1993) point out that the rise of
calculative technologies are determined in a ‘piecemeal fashion’ and outcomes are not
associated with beginnings. Nevertheless there are some common threads both in the
pressure for reform of public sector accounting and the forms of accruals based
accounting developed in response to this pressure.

13.4.1. THE UK PUBLIC SECTOR MANAGEMENT REFORMS

Throughout the 1980s and the 1990s the UK government implemented a programme of
reform across the public services. There was a move to differentiate across government
between activities which are at the core of the public sector, and must remain so and the
remaining functions which can be undertaken either within or outside the public sector.
The privatization of nationalized monopoly utilities, such as British Telecom, British
Gas, the UK electricity industry and the English water industry, took place after the
Conservative Party’s return to power in 1979 as part of a general transfer of ownership
from the public to the private sector (March, 1991). For services continuing to be funded
through the public sector, a key characteristic of the reforms was the separation of
purchasers and providers (Le Grand and Bartlett, 1993). In addition, the services of
public sector providers have been opened up whenever possible to compulsory
competitive tendering, or ‘market testing’, against private sector organizations (and/ or
other public sector providers) to ensure that they offer the best value in terms of price
and quality. The Citizen’s Charter (1991) aimed to raise standards of service in the
public sector through the setting and publishing of service standards and more
independent inspectorates. This general shift towards a more ‘commercial’ ethos has
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highlighted the need for a more commercial style of accounting, involving a move from
a cash or partial accruals basis of accounting to a full accruals basis.

The National Health Service and Community Care Act 1990 reformed the structure of
the NHS by introducing an internal market, whereby the responsibility for purchasing, or
commissioning health care services has been separated from the responsibility for
providing them. Ellwood (1996) explains that the introduction of capital charges
including a return on capital in the hospital costs and consequently prices was threefold:
to increase the awareness of health service managers of the costs of capital; to provide
incentives to use capital efficiently; and to ensure that capital costs are fully reflected in
the pricing of hospital services in order to promote fair competition within the NHS and
also between NHS hospitals and private sector hospitals (i.e. ‘a level playing field’).

In local government, the number of local authority services subject to compulsory
competitive tendering, (under which local authority direct service providers had to
compete for contracts with alternative providers), expanded throughout the 1980s.
Initially, only ‘blue collar’ activities such as refuse collection were affected, but by the
early 1990s the process had been extended to cover many professional activities such as
leisure management and financial services. Again such measures require improved
accruals-based accounting to provide valid cost comparisons.

Similarly, in central government, the Financial Management Initiative was designed to
encourage departments to produce better information on objectives, output and
performance. In 1988 under the Next Steps measures, the executive functions of
government (delivering services, collecting taxes, regulating, enforcing and researching)
as distinct from the policy formulation functions (supporting Ministers) were to be
restructured into executive agencies. Each would have a named chief executive,
accountable directly to Ministers and a ‘policy and resources framework’ giving it clear
focus and targets. By 1995, almost three-quarters of the UK’s home civil service had
been transferred to agencies (Talbot, 1996). A number of agencies have ‘trading fund’
status which enables them to manage their activities like a commercial company.
Executive agencies and trading funds are required to prepare financial statements on an
accruals basis along the lines of the commercial sector. Resource accounting and
Budgeting takes this a stage further: ‘Consolidated resource accounts would be prepared
for each whole department by consolidating the accounts of each of its individual
accounting units. These would comprise the ‘centre’ of the department and its executive
agencies, including Trading Funds. Defining the boundary in this way ensures that it
corresponds to the responsibilities of its principal Accounting Officer’ HM Government
(1994), para 2.21.

The boundary is also important, not just in terms of the reporting entity for accruals-
based accounting but in terms of the wider aspects of RAB: the resource budgeting and
expenditure control aspects. The accruals-based accounts were seen as providing ‘a
better picture of the true cost of department’s activities’ (National Audit Office, 1995,
p3) and improving ‘stewardship and accounting for assets and liabilities’. The new
system under RAB of matching resources to objectives and outputs would help
Parliament focus on cost and achievement. Thus RAB was seen as a logical corollary to
the reforms emanating since 1982.
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Thus UK public sector management reforms provided the impetus for more commercial
style accounting in health, local government and central government. The specific focus
was largely in obtaining improved information on resource costs enabling comparisons
between service providers within the public sector and with private sector providers.
Accruals accounting enabled more reliable, ‘full’ costs to be derived and the private
sector style of accounting fitted well with the Conservative government’s commercial
ethos.

13.4.2.FISCAL CONTROL

Control of public sector finance has also contributed to the development of public sector
accrual accounting in the UK. From its inception, it was envisaged that the change to an
accruals accounting basis in central government would impact on the presentation of
public sector plans (HM Government, 1994). However, the new budgeting framework
could only be introduced once the new accounting systems were in place. The accruals
approaches adopted in local government are also entwined with fiscal matters i.e. the
minimum revenue provision to ensure finances raised are adequate to meet debt
repayment. In 1997, this fiscal control aspect of resource accounting received new
vigour following the Code for Fiscal Stability (HM Treasury, 1997) produced under the
new Labour government which spelt out how RAB fitted with the government financial
strategy. In its Economic and Fiscal Strategy Report (ESFR), the government’s
commitment to ‘the golden rule’ (that over an economic cycle, the Government will only
borrow to finance public investment and not to fund current expenditure) was seen to fit
well with an accruals accounting approach (HM Treasury, 1998a). Although originally it
was not envisaged to produce ‘whole of government resource accounts’ because of the
differences between various departments (HM Government 1994, para 2.24), in July
1998 the Government’s proposals for publishing audited, consolidated accounts for the
whole of the public sector from 2005-2006 based on GAAP were published (HM
Treasury, 1998b). Given the diversity across the UK public sector highlighted earlier, the
production of whole of government accounts, consolidating the accounts of a wide range
of different entities across the public sector -including central government, the NHS and
local authorities - clearly raises difficulties.

13.4.3. THE INTERNATIONAL PERSPECTIVE

Inevitably UK accounting is influenced by the international scene, The UK is by no
means the first or only country to go down the commercial accounting route for public
services. New Zealand, has had legal requirements since 1989 to: ‘report in accordance
with generally accepted accounting practice (i.e. on a full accrual accounting basis) in
both central and local government, New Zealand has now been dealing with the issue at
a practical level for a number of years’ Pallot, 1997 p225.

As in the UK, the introduction of accruals based accounting followed a period of
fundamental and philosophical and structural change. Pallot summarizes the key
objectives as better management of publicly owned resources and a higher standard of
accountability. Again, as in the UK, a wide diversity of approaches exists in relation to
accounting for public sector assets, in New Zealand’s case despite seven years of
application.
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Australian experience of accruals accounting also has its origins in a series of
administrative reforms in the name of improved ‘efficiency’, ‘effectiveness’, ‘respon-
siveness’ and ‘accountability’ (Guthrie,1998). Commercialization and contracting out
reforms started to impact on government agencies: ‘By the early 1990s a major shift in
public administration had taken place in that now the focus was on cost control and the
identification of ‘full costs’ and ‘liabilities’ of an agency’ Guthrie 1998 p7.

Accruals accounting has also been introduced in a number of other countries such as
Sweden, Finland and the USA (Hansen et al., 1998). In Sweden, as a development from
the new management system of comparing outputs with resources consumed in the
public sector, government agencies moved to an accruals accounting approach between
1991 and 1994. In Finland as part of the new public management reforms, accruals
accounting was adopted in local government in 1997 and central government in 1998. In
the USA, the federal government made a commitment to full accruals accounting
following statements on federal accounting issued by the Federal Accounting Standard
Advisory Board, but accruals accounting was only introduced in 1998 and the approach
adopted does not capitalize military and heritage assets.

There has therefore been wide international interest in, and experience of, accruals
accounting and budgeting in government. The introduction of the approach has usually
been a corollary of management reforms aimed at improving efficiency. There are also
international examples of whole of government accounts modelled on accrual
accounting: New Zealand has produced such accounts since 1993 and in Australia, New
South Wales whole of government accounts have been produced on an annual basis
since 1992 and were produced by the Commonwealth (Federal) Government on a trial
basis only in 1994/95.

13.5. Convergence and Diversity

There is considerable convergence in the purpose and perceived value of accruals based
accounting measures for public sector services. However, diversity in accounting
frameworks abounds.

13.5.1. THE PERCEIVED VALUE OF ACCRUALS BASED ACCOUNTING FOR
PUBLIC SERVICES

The proposed value of accruals based accounting was set out in the UK accounting
developments for the health service, local government and central government. The
benefits of accruals accounting have been summarized by Evans (1995):

- better measurement of costs and revenues including comparisons between years;

- greater focus on outputs rather than inputs;

- more efficient and effective use of resources e.g. through charges for fixed assets;

- full cost of providing a service can be compared with outside suppliers;

- abetter indication of the sustainability of Government policy;

- improved accountability;

- better financial management ;

- greater comparability of management performance results.



228 Sheila Ellwood

These views have been echoed internationally e.g. Mellor (1996), OECD (1993).
However, there has been some concern expressed recently as to whether the practical
achievements stand up to scrutiny (Guthrie, 1998; Stanton and Stanton, 1998; and Froud
et al., 1998). Nevertheless there is a general consensus in favor of the move away from
cash based or partial accruals accounting to full accruals for public sector services

13.5.2.DIVERSITY IN ACCOUNTING FRAMEWORKS

The introduction of accruals based accounting techniques in the UK has been espoused
as adherence to commercial sector accounting practice. In the UK, commercial sector
accounting operates within the regulatory framework of the Companies Acts and the
accounting standard setting process. Since 1990, responsibility for the setting of
accounting standards in the private sector has been vested in the Accounting Standards
Board (ASB) which replaced the former Accounting Standards Committee (ASC). The
ASC produced Statements of Standard Accounting Practice (SSAPs), the ASB produces
Financial Reporting Standards (FRSs). Differences between accounting standards and
the policies followed by NHS hospitals, local authorities and central government
departments have been highlighted earlier.

The ASB has a Public Sector and Not-for-Profit Committee which assists the Board in
its scrutiny of Statements of Recommended Practice (SORPs) e.g. the local authority
code developed by recognized special interest groups such as CIPFA. In 1996 the
Financial Reporting Advisory Board (FRAB) to the Treasury was established. FRAB’s
terms of reference are to ‘advise HM Treasury on the application of financial reporting
principles and standards in respect of central government bodies for which the Treasury
has responsibility for issuing or approving directions. FRAB membership includes a
nominee from the ASB (currently the chairman of the Public Sector and Not-for-Profit
Committee).

The ASB itself acknowledges that it has only a limited role in the public sector. In its
‘Forward to Accounting Standards’ it states that ‘The prescription of accounting
requirements for the public sector in the United Kingdom is a matter for the
Government. Where public sector bodies prepare annual reports and accounts on
commercial lines, the Government’s requirements may or may not refer specifically
either to accounting standards or to the need for the financial statements concerned to
give a true and fair view. However, it can be expected that the Government’s
requirements in such cases will normally accord with the principles underlying the
Board’s pronouncements, except where in the particular circumstances of the public
sector bodies concerned the government considers these principles to be inappropriate or
considers others to be more appropriate.’

Thus the ASB has very little direct role in the development of public sector accounting.
In the UK, the term ‘GAAP’ does not have a precise meaning. In the USA. ‘GAAP’
stands for ‘generally accepted accounting principles’ and auditors state in their reports
whether the financial statements ‘present fairly’, in conformity with general accounting
principles. The common use of the term GAAP was introduced to the UK by the book
UK GAAP: Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in the United Kingdom first
published in 1989 by Arthur Young, and now published by Emst & Young. GAAP, is
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explained by Emnst & Young: ‘GAAP is a dynamic concept which requires constant
review, adaptation and reaction to changing circumstances. We believe that use of the
term ‘principle’ gives GAAP an unjustified and inappropriate degree of
permanence....The UK’s Accounting Standards Board (ASB) recognized this in its
Statement of Aims, which discusses the Board’s ongoing need to issue new accounting
standards, or amend existing ones, ‘in response to evolving business practices, new
economic developments and deficiencies being identified in current practice.” We
believe that GAAP goes far beyond mere rules and principles, and encompasses
contemporary permissible accounting practice’.

They go on to conclude that GAAP: ‘includes the accounting principles contained in
accounting standards, the requirements of the Companies Act and the Stock Exchange,
together with any other acceptable accounting treatments not incorporated in the official
literature.’

This definition of UK GAAP is similar to that given in the Government White Paper
(HM Government, 1994) i.e. ‘the accounting and disclosure requirements of the
Companies Act (1985) and accounting standards supplemented by accumulated
professional judgement.” However the Resource Accounting Manual suggests that there
is a: ‘General consensus that it is founded upon ....the Companies Act....pronouncements
by the Accounting Standards Board....[and] the body of accumulated knowledge built up
over time and promulgated in, for example, textbooks, technical journals and research
papers; for the purposes of the resource Accounting Manual, GAAP, is taken to mean
primarily the first two, interpreted in the light of the last three.’

The illustrations from the NHS trust; the City Council and the Ministry of Defence
clearly show that the accruals accounting approaches adopted in the public sector do not
always comply with accounting standards or bear close resemblance to Companies Act
requirements. ‘True and fair’ is now the rubric used in reporting for central government
departments, the NHS and many other areas of the public sector, (although local
government accounts carry a ‘presents fairly’ audit opinion) CIPFA, 1998. However,
‘true and fair’ seems to be measured quite differently from commercial companies.

On the other hand, it could also be argued that in some respects the accruals accounting
adopted in the public sector is ahead of the private sector, the public sector is using
techniques which the ASB wants the private sector to embrace. In 1995 the ASB
published the Draft Statement of Principles (ASB, 1995), but the document was
withdrawn the following year largely due to opposition from the accounting profession.
A revised draft published March 1999 largely reaffirms the philosophy of the original
document. The ASB believes that current values should replace cost-based measures in
many cases and the balance sheet will state many items at current values. Perhaps the
public sector has overtaken the private sector, it has moved from simplistic cash or
partial accruals accounting to sophisticated accruals accounting based largely on current
values whilst the accounting profession in the commercial sector has resisted following
the lead of the ASB in this respect.

A similar diversity between public sector accounting and the commercial sector has been
noted by Pallot (1998) despite New Zealand having formally adopted commercial
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GAAP. Again it is claimed that in some respects, public sector accounting is more
advanced than the private sector: ‘Financial statements at all levels in the New Zealand
government are described as being on ‘modified historic cost basis’ although effectively
they are close to being on a current cost basis. For example, all fixed assets including
infrastructure assets and heritage assets, are revalued at least every three years. The New
Zealand government has therefore moved further towards current cost accounting than
most organizations in the private sector in New Zealand.’ Pallot and Ball, 1998 p239.

In 1992, Jones had argued that there was little interest in public sector accounting and it
was therefore likely to be a matter for government officials.” In 1999, it seems that in the
UK, leaving public sector accounting to government officials (or Treasury officials
meeting under the guise of the Financial Reporting Advisory Board) has resulted in
those government officials introducing accounting treatments which have been resisted
by the commercial sector. In the public sector the treatment of less conventional assets
such as fighting equipment, infrastructure assets and, of course, heritage items coupled
with the absence of historical cost data has led to the introduction of various valuation
approaches (but with emphasis on current value) while the commercial sector has
attempted to retain (modified) historical cost.

Thus the diverse approaches adopted for accruals accounting in the public services have
moved public service accounting from simplistic cash or partial accruals accounting to
full accruals accounting often in a form more sophisticated or advanced than the private
sector. However, the development of public sector accounting has not been driven by a
clear vision of a conceptual framework for public sector accounting or strong adherence
to a private sector model. Evidence from both the UK and internationally is clear that it
is managerial reforms, a focus on efficiency and a belief in commercial approaches that
led to major changes in public sector accounting. Accruals accounting has flourished in
the 1990s but diversity in accounting practice within public services and between the
public and private sectors remains.
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